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GE Digital UK Limited (formerly GE Intelligent Platforms
Limited)

Strategic Report
Tradiractors prasect Loe r strateg 2 r2po-t [o the vear erded 31 Dacemoper 2020
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GE Digital UK Limited (formerly GE Intelligent Platforms
Limited)

Strategic Report

Liquidity risk
For smoft term wor<ng canta ¢Jreoses, tne comoany Jblises srot tesm borrowing fac ites orovided by the
Ut mate parent company

Approved oy the Board on 15 Navember 2021 ard sigred an its benalf by:
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GE Digital UK Limited (formerly GE Intelligent Platforms
Limited)
Directors' Report

Te dactyrs orasenl trer 7anoct and t 1arcia statemerts fartre year e~ded 21 Decarrper 2020

Principal activity
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GE Digital UK Limited (formerly GE Intelligent Platforms
Limited)

Directors' Report

Reappointment of auditor
KPMG LLPw i ~25i0~ as auditar on completion of the company's 2020 aud T,

Foliows~g a givoa: 72 tandencg exercise oy GE. De otte LLP wit be apoo ~ted as tne Compary's cuditor for tre
J g Y pany
~axt gudit cycie
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GE Digital UK Limited {formerly GE Intelligent Platforms
Limited)

Statement of Directors' Responsibilities
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Independent Auditor's Report to the Members of GE Digital UK Limited {formerly
GE Intelligent Platforms Limited)

Opinion
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Independent Auditor's Report to the Members of GE Digital UK Limited {formerty
GE Intelligent Platforms Limited)
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Independent Auditor's Report to the Members of GE Digital UK Limited {formerly
Gt Intelligent Platforms Limited)

0
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Independent Auditor's Report to the Members of GE Digital UK Limited (formerly
GE Intelligent Platforms Limitecd]
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Independent Auditor's Report to the Members of GE Digital UK Limited {(formerly
GE Intelligent Platforms Limited]

The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

Th s “2nart is mads soley (o 78 CoMpany s memo=25, 35 a sody, i accordance w'ir Crapler 3 of Part 16 of the
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GE Digital UK Limited (formerly GE Intelligent Platforms
Limited)

Profit and Loss Account and Other Comprehensive Income
for the Year Ended 31 December 2020

2020 2019

Note £ 000 £0C0
Turnover 4 £975 8315
Cost of sales i€ 3321 i6 395]
Gross profit 1093 1,620
Admin stratva axgenses 11.393) R
Otrergoeclnog roome 5 -
Operating profit 5 12 423
Interast razzyan.e and 5 Qs Iome N 36 G’
Profit before tax = =3
iz« orooft 11
Profit for the year 1on 55
JUoer Comaranansye rooms .
Total comprehensive incame for the year L35 s3C

Tra Zoowe "eslL ts ware derved Brom o ma 75 002701 205
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GE Digital UK Limited {formerly GE Intelligent Platforms
Limited)

Registration number: 03828642

Balance Sheet
as at 31 December 2020

2020 2019
Note £ 000 £ 000

Fixed assets

Irtarg bie asses 12 - -
Targibie assets 13 - -
Rt of use a338ts la L4 47
[~y astmeants is 115 L1s

Current assets

Deotors amou~is fad ~g due after more (ma1 o0 year A 1066

Cestars amcdnts ' rg dus asths apre yea 14 35547 53037
Cas~atbar<arg ~rand 237 132
Creditors: ArmoL-ts i g dagw inr o2 yeyr 1 4,582 12483
Net current assets 32333 31,293
Total assets less current liabilities EES 51450
Brovigons f2 a2 13 1

Net assets 32301 31430

Capital and reserves

Cred Soosrare Tan e 21300

Erooyes sr0re 00320 25Ut 72330 o2 =R
Proftand 2ss a0ioumt Q0.7 3337
Shareholders’ funds 2331 2150
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GE Digital UK Limited (formerly GE Intelligent Platforms
Limited)

Statement of Changes in Equity
for the Year Ended 31 December 2020

Employee
Caled up share based Profit and
share Other equity loss Total
capital reserves reserve account equity
£ 000 £000 £ 000 £000 £000

At E Jaruaty 2020 21830 - 1137, G337 21,450

Comprehensive income for
the year
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GE Digital UK Limited {formerly GE Intelligent Platforms

Limited)

Statement of Changes in Equity
for the Year Ended 31 December 2020

Employee
Called up share based  Profit and loss Total
share capital equity reserve dccount equity
£ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £000
A1 Jaruary 2019 21800 1222 9,247 32269
Comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year - 390 590
Orher compzrenersve Toome -
Tata comprenersye ccome fortra
vear - 30 520
Equity snare based sayment experse
racogrised dur mg the v2ar 479 - AN
Recogrges made by SE comoary 0
raspact Of sharg oot 003 exarg sad
Jurng treyeor EES 1937
At i1 Decemier 2019 <1 3C0 e 2835/ 31450
~eoratEs ot aog2i 3t 33 faen anctend oot o bhese T oD O sLatemen
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GE Digital UK Limited (formerly GE Intelligent Platforms
Limited)

Notes to the Financial Statements

1 Generalinformation
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2 Accounting pelicies

Summary of significant accounting policies and key cccounting estimotes
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GE Digital UK Limited {formerly GE Intelligent Platforms
Limited)

Notes to the Financial Statements

2 Accounting policies {continued)

Exemption from preparing group accounts

Tracompany S5 152 fasdos d‘u'y comzary ard s exemiot from the “equrement to 0 epars group aCCoarts Dy
vtz of sectorn 401 of tne Compa~es Act 2006 These financa! statements toaerefore aresert nformatior
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Basis of measurement
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GE Digital UK Limited (formerly GE Intelligent Platforms
Limited)

Notes to the Financial Statements

2 Accounting policies {continued)

Common control transactions
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GE Digital UK Limited (formerly GE Intelligent Platforms
Limited)

Notes to the Financial Statements

2 Accounting policies {continued)

Turnover [continued)

Contract assets and recenabies

Wirara goods or services gre transfer-ed o toe custamer pefore tha customa poys considerat o, 0
cayment 5 dug, - "

reprasant

u
cont-act gssets gre recogrsad Cortiact assets ate aciuded
g fight te consderat o fom semvices delyvared

~d adyacces are recognssd » e cauria sh2et when the comporvs night o

dto~a
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GE Digital UK Limited {formerly GE Intelligent Platforms
Limited|

Notes to the Financiol Statements

2 Accounting policies {continued)

Foreign currency transactions and balances
Tre gocounts 472 praseatad in ster g b cmas B2 comoary's fo-ctiona ard gresentatl org’ cur2ocy

]
O
)
i
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5
l4s)

-
D
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(o}
D
[oR
-

Transactons i~ foregr carandi
gssets and ac!tes deromingt2d r -
aCrne 3hest daa Tre gons o7 05525 ars
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d72 tracs aten Lsing trae excaange rata rulng at tre
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Taxation
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GE Digital UK Limited (formerly GE Intelligent Platforms
Limited)

Notes to the Financigi Statements

2 Accounting policies (centinued)

Investments
investnerts © grouo ardetaxkings are shown at cost ‘ess orov 5102 o impairment.

At each baance srzet date the company reviews the carmyirg amounts of 115 nvastmerts to determice
whetner trace s gny indicabon that those nvestments nave suffered gn mparment foss, (f such 'nd cation
awists, tha -ecoveraoe amount of tne irvestmert s estimatad sased anits far value tess costs of disposar and
valae ' ouse. Where the mecove ol e amourt of the irvestment s less tra- the cay Ag vaiue ¢ imca rment
ars2d noraft aedinss account n tes cerod

15515 ey

Intangible assets

Zoodw |

Bosmass Jomie ~ator, gaoduw s 0T amartsed Conseguerty e comnary 4395 2ot amort se gocdat O
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GE Digital UK Limited (formerly GE Intelligent Platforms
Limited)

Notes to the Financial Statements

2 Accounting policies {continued)

Leases {continued)

Wmare contraots Cortan a 2ase coun'ed eatn a0 agresment o purchase o7 320 orer goods 07 satv fes | g
ron- 2052 COTRINENis the nor-aase comaorerts ate dertfed and aoindried for sesarately fromiboe tease
component Me corsidz-aton r 2 cootract s ainooted o tre ease and nor- 2052 COMBoTENS 07 O reidtve

standaione orce casis us ng tte o7 ro gies  IFRS LS

1arircreasng toe Tty tg amou b maflec
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B
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GE Digital UK Limited {formerly GE Intelligent Platforms
Limited)

Notes to the Financial Statements

2 Accounting policies {continued)

Pensions

Tre comoory s a memoer of g grsup persor par sroviding berefts based on fna pensionadle oay. The
group oensior oian, GE Penson Plan, covers g numoer of Ur ted Kirgdom subs'diary compan-es of Generg
Elsctric Cormpany Trers s no contractuai agreement or stated oohcy for crarg g the et defined henefit cost
for the pan as o whole 2 )r*rtuo.ltm entitas <o the ~gt def ned pan=fit cost is recogrised fuly n tne
sengrate frars o staterments of the grous ertity tnat s egady, the orrcpal emn oyer for tre plar, waer s
GEH Acld ~gs Tre comopoiy ecognises ¢ ot eguor 10 rer contrbancn oaveoe for tne gericd The
CONtNSulinr Dayase By the catte et ag emo oyars nthe 5Z Persion Plas ars based o~ tre iatast schadu e of
cortrbutons agreed oetween the Trusiee of fre GF Ps-sion Plan ard tre ¢ noipa 2mplover

T~e comaary aso opeates a defred cortrcutor pession scheme Th
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GE Digital UK Limited (formerly GE Intelligent Platforms
Limited)

Notes to the Financial Statements

2 Accounting policies [continued)

Financial instruments

initial recognition
The compary "ecogrsas finarcal gssats ard fransa oo tas e tre 2garce snaet when, and anly wher, 102
o]

Toany oecomes 2oty 1o e contractasl prov siors of the finanoia instrument,

Afrancg oseR famess s a3 trade gector watrodl o g foact Trans g comoorantt s imitialy measa e at
far va ue oius for a9~ tem ~ot at far va ae through orof 1 o oss IFVTPLL transactar Costs trat ate o rect,
plidge’ ntJ,e 12 b3 dcgusiton o s3us A tade debtor wtnoat ¢ osgn ﬁc:m fronc ~g comoorent s intaly
megsared attre tronsaction sros

-rmanca ac tes gte ontaly tacogesad at farc waus, regresentog tre orooeads t2ceved nat of tram ums,
d * a L

DEI0JNE Tro ransact o Zosts it ot

Classification and subsequent measurement
Suosegaenl tnonta measorenent fezoca assets aod Tratca ao tes at2 messatad ot 2thes amod 32

cast o forva ue
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GE Digital UK Limited (formerly GE Intelligent Platforms
Limited)

Notes to the Financial Statements

2 Accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued}

Impairment of financial assets

Tre comogny scogmises loss aliowarces fo- expected credit losses
amortsed cost, dadt rvastments waasured at FYTOC! and contract ass
The compory measdres 0ss o owances af gr amodnt 2guo 1o febme ECL except for otrer dec. s2cant es
1~d pana catarces for woch “'@df rox he the rek of et orear “ng over the 24pectad ife of the firgne gl
irstrument! hos Aot ncreased sigeificant v s nce nital recogn ton wenich are measJaiad 0s 12-monte tCL

Loss cttowgrees for trade recenooes ardg contact assets 02 Jways medsaraa at 20 2modnr 2 3aa 1o fetime
CL Trade recevapies ard conp-att assets win sgnfzant franting comoonart 72 megsarat usng o

gerers madei desor bed ahove,
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GE Digital UK Limited (formerly GE Intelligent Platforms
Limited)

Notes to the Financial Statements

4  Turnover
A geograot a0 anayss of tarouer 535 fortes

2020 2019
£ 000 £000

Jmrad < ~gdom 282 1317
Rest of £arap 7243 6,703
)54 25 :
Rastofrrewor d 19 -

;975 3012

Contract assets and liabilities

2020 2019
£000 £000

5 OQther cperating income

Tragrayss of bra comoan, 5 stess onesat ~o ~zome for e veqs s as folons

2020 2019
£000 £ 000

Facoverad ~torcoamazar, 52 280 o4

6 Operating profit
Coeratng oraft sstated ofta 2oy g

2026 2019
Note £000 £ 000

Cerraranon 2xlernid 12 14 53 o7

log cmeel ol n g oo 333203 17 3.

Oiffaca~ce oefore gn avInange 42 ay
Zuze s



GE Digital UK Limited (formerly GE Intelligent Platforms

Limited)

Notes to the Financial Statements

7 Interest receivable and similar income

2020 2019

£ 000 £ 000
Irterest recewvable from group comoar2s BE a7
8 Staff costs
The aggregate 20y ol costs baciud ~g dractors remureratay wer2 as folows

2020 2019

£ 000 £ 000
Wages grd 3a.ares 5052 4204
SOCQ Security Costs 7o/ 791
Otre” pensin” Zosts 223 133
Spare-gasad oy mest esnanses/incame 2nd EYE

521¢ =303
Tre aseragz numice” of persons empoyed oy e company o0 ad e~y dr2ctest durrg tre vt archvsed o
COragory w1 as fatong

2020 2019

No. No

Prodacton &7 aa
93 Auditor's remuneration

2020 2019

£000 £ 000
Az Ziime fronog stalaTeris S 12




GE Digital UK Limited {formerly GE Intelligent Platforms

Limited)

Notes to the Financial Statements

10 Directors' remuneration

Mo directars rece ved ary remunergt oon regcact 0f §27IC25 L2 102 CoMoaay duTrg tre current or preted.ng

Frarao year

=N

A oftre directors are @30 d rectors of  groun undetakeg -

nerotsgnfoent

11 Taxation

Tax crargediicred tedh itz oraft and 053 azooant

2020
£0C00

Current taxation

I Nt Malo s il Co -

regpect of tre comoany. The gooroor ate orooort on of trai sery cos or selaf of tne comagry
I

N do nor soeaf o Yy TRCBVE ary ramytetatgt 1

consderad to

2019
£ 000

P e N e L TR
[ IR ARG IRGU R O R

Vire UK S0

Tre t2¢ 3532532d 13-

5 =
stardard rare of Zo0oa

TOr A ~ tra UK of 13902019 197

et Iz Ire

Tea dfferances a2 recort ot o oy

2020 2019

£ 000 £ 000
Frottoeto=tar 132 LD
N FaloTs [INoiall for I I-Wo [ als 1o ts Ble b= kls T
LON-aels e toome L 175
Tenenzes rot deduct ole T ok outnos2s 11= 73
Srrap 2 ettarEn . oons dergt or 134 L

Tatanto< cnargaicred t -




GE Digital UK Limited (formerly GE Intelligent Platforms
Limited)

Notes to the Financial Statements

11 Taxation {continued)

Factors trat may affect future tax charges

Aroncrease rtne UK corporation tax rate fram 13% to 25% feffective 1 Apri 20231 was substantively eracted
on 2y May 20210 The ymzact of tre acnourced futire rate rarge or the Prgedal statemeris s not
corsderad motsrag

Trere ae ng otrer factors that may sig~ificasty affect futa-e tax crarges

tmera wacs ra e ounis of proveded o unorow ded deferrad taxauon 0s a0 51 Cecemier 2020 o 31 vecamoer
2519

12 Intangible fixed assets

Goodwill
£ 000

Cost
AL saedary 2020 2491

A131 Degamoe 702 941
Amortisation and impairment

At 1 daeoony 2020 Jul
AL ST Lacemozs 200G Sl
Net book value

AT ST Dereros -

Y]

iy
o



GE Digital UK Limited (formerly GE intelligent Platforms
Limited)

Notes to the Financial Statements

13 Tangible assets

Land and Plant &
buildings machinery Total
£000 £ 000 £ 000

Cost or valugtion

AL January 2020 - . -
Trarsferred from Gererz Eeltoc Erergy Uk Lmited 155 129 234
AL 31 Detamber 2370 155 129 234

Depreciation

AL 1 Janagry 2020 . . .
Tryrcfarrad from Gareral Eaatns By UK Lmtad 135 123 153
Charge fortre vear 25 g
AL 3 Docerrner P07 155 129 oY

Net bock volue

At 31 Docermper 2020 N - :
ALZ] Decerier 2013 -

G2escy Eeltto Eranyy UK L omcad oont sutea and tanstaerad (e plsiress ond assats oo o og targs 2
355275] of L5 G- Sof t orepary noexchooge fon srdtes ~tra [omnary

L%}
[}é]

2

L

[
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GE Digital UK Limited {formerly GE Intelligent Platforms
Limited)

Notes to the Financial Statements

14 Right of use assets

Vehicles
£ 000

Cost
at 1 jgnaary 2020 29
Dsnosas 11
At 31 Decempe 2020 33
Depreciation
Ar 1 Jangary 2620 g
Deoragigt on cravge 27
At 31 Decemibyer 200 7o
Net book value
At 31 Decemoer 2025 14
Ardl Decempar 2019 472

15 Fixed asset investments

Investments in

subsidiary
companies
£ 000
Cost
AL Jaraany 20075 23566
At 31 Dezemnzar 2020 23500
Impairment
At 1 Jonuan, F020 73451
Ap 3 Decarrer 2000 23451
Net book value
Ar 3] Dacerpen D22 B 11T
A* 2] Dara~ges 7010 1Lt

Y
D
'




GE Digital UK Limited {formerly GE Intelligent Platforms
Limited]

Notes to the Financial Statements

15 Fixed asset investments [continued)

Tra diractars of the comoary ~ave unda-la<er g evew of tne comoary's investrent 1 Jrodo drderta< ngs as
at 31 Decemoer 2020, Trera gre ro nd.cations of mparme~: a~d the carvying va des 2f the rvestments ove

cotrect

Ceta s of tne camoary's g-oup undertaxings as 2t 31 Decarber 2570 are as folows

Proportion of

Name of subsidiary Registered office Class of shares held ownership interest
GE intal gert Potforns 3-d Fioar 1 Ash ey ZSrdimar, 1200
i3rac<na i L tad Road Aitircro™

Crashre WATY 20T,

U ted kengdom

DIt geEet Pottores I Tanfaid 2droagr, Ydeany, 1500
- Lmnas IHIS0A Lrtad

K rgdom
Wiates Lare Trusiass IrdFgor 1Asrey Zrdeany [N
Lmtad Road Atr oo

Crasmore Waly 200

Lo rad kegdom

16 Debtors

2020 2019
£C00 £ 000

Cue after more than one year

Amouarts recoyergo e on tortacts 1 leo -
Due within one year
Trade coctes 3- 1572
AMoLTTS o oy 9oL andettas tg3 33203 3027
2 oce or sactegcts 7 -
75 1aar
35342 BRI

wved from gz ardeio ~gs ace wrsecdtad and reoopacs o deoend Irterast s tzreved oo

Ot e2s gn s abee rates ke footaate it LiS0R

[}
L,
(



GE Digital UK Limited (formerly GE intelligent Platforms

Limited)

Notes to the Financial Statements

17 Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year

2020 2019
£ 000 £ 000
Trade creditors 143 75
Accruals ard defered imcome 1213 30l
Amounts oveed to groun underta<ings 2065 1411
Other taxat o~ and 50C10 sec by 433 453
Other credtas 22 141
Legseiakltes 1y 42
Cortractran tes 55
4537 2483
Armsunts owed oy 9700 urdertak rgs ara ansetured and renayeo e on demaord,
18 Provisians for lighilities
Warranty
provisions
£ 000
AL T Jarmoan, 2020
Addtars dur~gime 200 1
At 3] Dacemross TOR e
Vazoranty oroes oros actoucted for oranas e agosl, 2o ms Ctooaector bt o2 2lns 3 ta Teut e
t=e Jncar ~ g 2003



GE Digital UK Limited {formerly GE Intelligent Platforms
Limited]

Notes to the Financial Statements

19 Share capital

Allotted, called up and fully paid shares

2020 2016

Na. 000 £ 000 No. 0600 £ 000

Qrdimary srares of £0.50 ence 23087 14,543 44600 21800
Deferrad sngres of EDSC2019 - £0

2acn 37400 13730 -

62,487 34743 43 500 21250

Deferred shares
Trg daferrag srgres

25 0y MO wGt g Tghts forantta trer ~odars o
st amy gerecg meet g of o3

L TS erttamerts o

o
cart £ 23te ooy 2 oooad desinted oy tre omo oy

{{]
Ll
[}
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GE Digital UK Limited (formerly GE Intelligent Platforms
Limited)

Notes to the Financial Statements

20 Pension commitments

Tha company 5 4 membe of ¢ g-aup pensicr o a- providing benefits pased o finai gensionaole oay. The
group ce~son olan GE Persior Plan, covers a ~umber of United Kingdom subsid’ary compames of Genera,
Eiectric Company. Trere s ro contractua agreement or stated oolcy for charging tre net defned bereht cost
for tre plan as 1 whoe to partciparrg erttes so the net defired oeneft cost ‘s recognised fuily o the
separate firanc @' statemerts of the group ertty trat 1s egaly the prinCpn employer for tha pian, whch s
GEH Haid ngs. Tre comonny -ecogmsss o 2ost equdi to ther contricator payabe for tre D erad Ire
controutior navaole oy the partc'pat ng emo ovars o the GE Pers o Plar are oasad 20 the atest scraduie of
Zorte but ans agresd setwesn tne Trustes of bhe GE Pesior Pan ard the concpal employer

e fast fulf actag o varaaton wos ceed oot s at 31 Maree 2013 oy a quabfed wdesendert actuary. Al thes
Jate there was a funding surp'us of £13¢ mison grd a fund rg \eve af 103.0%

Tre comoany 2'so 20eraies a 1mfnead
seporately from tnose of tne o
oroftard G55 QCCOUrt redras

U

{”e parsor charge for tre yaar was €275 200 2019 £al320 LA nQ £225 000 12019 £103 0001 nrespect
ftre Jef mad cortr ounon soreme. [ere war2 ~g g St dng 07 pr2odd cortr outors gt 2mes i negirrityg
2 treendoftre hrgrc a'y 207
21 Share-based payments
of the Comgany ore s et f\u”‘“:“a‘ﬁ N srg 2 aohoes ang ests

noaTy e t“e 12073

Lerrs oM J7a 1378

cEect o Dwmpary Ling Tanm
cerods angieg o an
i g*-;.*t dore s

e sl
oo =

Lgate o

oy ore ‘1 IhIgETe

tremert. AL graris
orment a3 Zomogniargn

Ve anTTa -

o
, of catsde 2omectors

A5 M

3
PE2ctmc Jomoany il
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GE Digital UK Limited {formerly GE Intelligent Platforms
Limited)

Notes to the Financial Statements

22 Ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party

Tre comoory's mmedote pareat s GE Grd So utions s Lrmited, g compary cgg sterad at et 1 Lssue
W 4 wissae [rdusing Estate Sast Lspours Co Antnm Nortsero irsiard 8723 2LL, fro~ 10 Fegraary 2071
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS. Our public communications and SEC filings may contain statements related to future,
not past, events. These forward-looking statements often address our expected future business and financial performance and financial
condition, and often contain words such as "expect,” "anticipate,” "intend,” “plan," "believe,” "seek,” "see," "will," "would," "estimate.”
“forecast," "target," "preliminary,” or "range.” Forward-looking statements by their nature address matters that are, to different degrees,
uncertain, such as statements about the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business operations, financial results and financial
position and on the world economy; our expected financial performance, including cash flows, revenues, organic growth, margins,
earnings and earnings per share; macroeconomic and market conditions and volatility; planned and potential business or asset
dispositions; our de-leveraging plans, including leverage ratios and targets, the timing and nature of actions to reduce indebtedness and
our credit ratings and outlooks; GE's and GE Capital's funding and liquidity; our businesses’ cost structures and plans to reduce costs;
restructuring, goodwill impairment or other financial charges; or tax rates.

For us, particular uncertainties that could cause our actual results to be materially different than those expressed in our forward-looking

statements include:

+ the continuing severity, magnitude and duration of the COVID-19 pandemic, including impacts of the pandemic, of businesses' and
governments’ responses to the pandemic and of individual factors such as aviation passenger confidence on our operations and
personnel, and on commaercial activity and demand across our and cur customers’ businesses, and on glebal supply chains;

+  the extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic and related impacts will continue to adversely impact our business operations,
financial performance, results of operations, financial position, the prices of aur securities and the achievement of our strategic
objectives;

= changes in macroeconomic and market conditions and market volatility {including developments and volatility arising from the
COVID-19 pandemic), including interest rates, the value of securities and other financiat assets (including our equity ownership
position in Baker Hughes), oil, natural gas and other commaodity prices and exchange rates, and the impact of such changes and
volatility on our financial position and businesses;

- our de-leveraging and capital allocation plans, including with respect to actions to reduce our indebtedness, the timing and amount
of GE dividends, organic investments, and other priorities;

«  further downgrades of our current short- and long-term credit ratings or ratings outlooks, or changes in rating application or
methadology, and the related impact on our liguidity, funding profile, costs and competitive position;

*  GE's liquidity and the amount and timing of our GE Industrial cash flows and earnings, which may be impacted by customer,
supplier, competitive, contractual and other dynamics and conditions;

+  GE Capital's capital and liquidity needs, including in connection with GE Capital’s run-off insurance operations and discontinued
operations, the amount and timing of required capital contributions to the insurance operations and any strategic actions that we
may pursue; the impact of conditions in the financial and credit markets on GE Capital's ability to sell financial assets; the
availability and cost of funding; and GE Capital's exposure to particular counterparties and markets, including through GECAS to
the aviation sector and adverse impacts related to COVID-18;

«  our success in executing and completing asset dispositions or other transactions, including our plan to exit our equity ownership
position in Baker Hughes, the timing of closing for such transactions and the expected proceeds and benefits to GE;

+ global economic trends, competition and geopolitical risks, including changes in the rates of investment or economic growth in key
markets we serve, or an escalation of sanctions, tariffs or other trade tensions between the U.S. and China or other countries, and
related impacts on our businesses' global supply chains and strategies;

«  market developments or customer actions that may affect levels of demand and the financial performance of the major industries
and customers we serve, such as secular, cyclical and competitive pressures in our Power business, pricing and other pressures in
the renewable energy market, leveis of demand for air travel and other dynamics related to the COV{D-19 pandemic, conditions in
key geographic markets and other shifts in the competitive landscape for our products and services;

»  operational execution by our businesses, including the operations and execution of our Power and Renewable Energy businesses,
and the performance of our Aviation business;

« changes in law, regulation or policy that may affect our businesses, such as trade policy and tariffs, reguiation related to climate
change, and the effects of tax law changes;

+  our decisions about investments in new products, services and platforms, and our ability to launch new products in a cost-effective
manner;

*  our ability to increase margins through implementation of operational changes, restructuring and other cost reduction measures;

+ the impact of regulation and regulatory, investigative and legal proceedings and legal compliance risks, including the impact of
Alstom and other investigative and legal proceedings;

+ the impact of actual or potential failures of our products or third-party products with which our products are integrated, and related
reputational effects;

+  the impact of potential information technology, cybersecurity or data security breaches at GE or third parties; and

+  the other factors that are described in "Risk Faciors” in this form 10-K report.

These or other uncertainties may cause our actual future results to be materially different than those expressed in our forward-looking
statements. We do not undertake to update our forward-looking statements. This document includes certain forward-looking projected
financial information that is based on current estimates and forecasts. Actual results could differ materially.



ABOUT GENERAL ELECTRIC. General Electric Company (General Electric, GE or the Company) is a high-tech industrial
company that operates worldwide through its four industrial segments, Power, Renewable Energy, Aviation and Healthcare, and its
financial services segment, Capital. See the Segment Operations section within Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition {MD&A) for segment business descriptions and product and service offerings. See the Consolidated Results section within
MD&A and Results of Qperations and Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements for information regarding our recent business
portfolio actions. Results of segments reclassified to discontinued operations have been recast for all periods presented.

Wae serve customers in over 170 countries. Manufacturing and service operations are carried out at 82 manufacturing plants located in
28 states in the United States and Puerto Rico and at 148 manufacturing plants located in 34 other countries.

In all of our global business activities, we encounter aggressive and able competition. In many instances, the competitive climate is
characterized by changing technology that requires continuing research and development. With respect to manufacturing operations,
we believe that, in general, we are one of the leading firms in most of the major industries in which we participate. The businesses in
which GE Capital engages are subject to competition from various types of financial institutions.

As a diverse global company, we are affected by world economies, instability in certain regions, commadity prices, foreign currency
volatility and policies regarding trade and imports. See the Segment Operations section within MD&A for further information. Other
factors impacting our business include:

= product development cycles for many of our products are long and product quality and efficiency are critical to success,

- research and development expenditures are important to our husiness,

«  many of our preducts are subject to a number of regulatory standards and

« changing end markets, including shifts in energy sources and demand and the impact of technology changes.

We own, or hold licenses to use, numerous patents. New patents are continuously being obtained through our research and
development activities as existing patents expire. Patented inventions are used both within the Company and are licensed to others. GE
is a trademark and service mark of General Electric Company.

Because of the diversity of our products and services, as well as the wide geographic dispersion of our production facilities, we use
numerous sources for the wide variety of raw materials needed for our operations. We have not been adversely affected by our inability
to obtain raw materials.

The strength and talent of our workforce are critical to the success of our businesses, and we continually strive to attract, develop and
retain personnel commensurate with the needs of our businesses in their operating environments. The Company’s human capital
management priorities are designed to support the execution of our business strategy and improve organizational effectiveness. We
monitor various factors across our priorities, including as a part of our business operating reviews during the year. The priorities focus
on:

«  Protecting the health and safety of our workforce: GE is committed to establishing and maintaining effective health and safety
standards and protocols across our businesses, ensuring continuous process improvement and providing ongoing education.

»  Sustaining a Company culture based in leadership behaviors of humility, transparency and focus with a commitment to unyielding
integrity: GE's organizational culture supports talent attraction, engagement and retention and ensures our ways of working are
strongly connected to our goals.

+  Developing and managing our talent to best support our organizational goals: GE's approach to talent management aims to ensure
strong individual and company performance; our development offerings are designed to support these goals.

= Promoting inclusion and diversity across the enterprise: GE is committed to fostering an inclusive culture, where everyone feels
empowered to do their best work.

At year-end 2020, General Electric Company and consalidated affiliates employed approximately 174,000 people, of whom
approximately 56,000 were employed in the United States. Our Power, Renewable Energy, Aviation, Healthcare, and Capital segments
employed approximately 34,000, 40,000, 40,000, 47,000 and 2,000 people, respectively. In addition, Corporate employed
approximately 10,000 employees. Compared to the year-end 2019 figure of 205,000, the number of those employed at year-end 2020
decreased primarily as a result of restructuring, including actions at GE businesses to manage risk and proactively mitigate the financial
impact from COVID-19 and efforts to reduce Carporate costs, and business exits.

In the United States, GE has approximately 5,990 union-represented manufacturing and service employees, the majority of whom are
covered by four-year collective bargaining agreements ratified in August 2019. GE’s relationship with employee-representative
organizations outside the U.S. takes many forms, including in Europe where GE engages employees’ representatives’ bodies such as
works councils and trade unions in accordance with local law.

General Electric’s address is 1 River Road, Schenectady, NY 12345-6939; we also maintain executive offices at 5 Necco Street,
Boston, MA 02210. GE's Internet address at www.ge.com, Investor Relations website at www.ge.com/investor-relations and our
corporate blog at www.gereports.com, as well as GE's Facebook page, Twitter accounts and other sccial media, including
@GE_Reports, contain a significant amount of information about GE, including financial and other information for investors. GE
encourages investors to visit these websites from time to time, as information is updated and new information is posted. Additional
information on non-financial matters, including environmental and social matters, our integrity policies and our Diversity Annual Report,
is available at www.ge.com/sustainability and www.ge.com/about-us/diversity. Website references in this report are provided as a
convenience and do not constitute, and should not be viewed as, incorporation by reference of the information contained on, or
available through, the websites. Therefore, such information should not be considered part of this report.



Our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports are
avaflable, without charge, on our website, www.ge.com/investor-relations/events-reports, as soon as reasonably practicable after they
are filed electronically with the U.S, Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). Copies are also available, without charge, from GE
Corporate Investor Communications. Reports filed with the SEC may be viewed at www.sec.gov.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF

OPERATIONS {MD&A). The consolidated financial statements of General Electric Company combine the industrial manufacturing
and services businesses of GE Industrial with the financial services businesses of GE Capital and are prepared in conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). Unless otherwise noted, tables are presented in U.S. dollars in millions. Certain
columns and rows within tables may not add due to the use of rounded numbers. Percentages presented in this report are calculated
from the underlying numbers in millions.

Discussions throughout this MD&A are based on continuing operations unless otherwise noted. Results for the years ended December
31, 2020 versus 2019 are discussed within this report. Refer to cur Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019
for discussions of results for the years ended December 31, 2019 versus 2018. The MD&A should be read in conjunction with the
Financial Statements and Notes to the consolidated financial statements. For purposes of the financial statement display of sales and
costs of sales in our consolidated Statement of Earnings (Loss), “goods” is required by SEC regulations to include all sales of tangible
products, and "services" must include all other sales, including other services activities. In our MD&A section of this report, we refer to
sales under product services agreements and sales of both goods (such as spare parts and equipment upgrades) and related services
(3uch as muniluring, maintenance and repairs) as sales of "services,” which is an important part of our operations.

Effective December 31, 2020, in order to enhance our financial statement presentation, we voluntarily made the following reporting
changes for all periods presented:

«  changed our presentation of GE Industrial restructuring program costs. Previously these costs were recorded within Corporate
Items and Eliminations. Now these costs are recorded within segment profit, except for significant, higher-cost programs that
continue to be recorded within Corporate ltems and Eliminations. This change better aligns restructuring expense with cash
spend at the segments, driving accountability in both managing costs and benefits;

+ changed the presentation of our Statement of Financial Position to reflect the classification of assets and liabilities into current
and non-current and revised the definition of operating working capital in our Statement of Cash Flows, to drive increased
transparency to operational drivers for near- and long-term cash needs and enhanced linkage to free cash flows metrics;

+  began presenting research and development (R&D} expenses separately as part of costs and expenses in our consolidated
Staterment of Earnings (Loss) to provide increased transparency to R&D spend and trends as part of GE's total investment in
innovation. These costs were previously reported in costs of goods and services sold; and

»  ceased reporting GE Capital as an equity method investment within the GE Industrial column. This change simplified reporting
for GE Industrial and has no impact on the GE Capital or Consalidated columns. Consistent with our historical practice, all
commercial transactions between GE Industrial and GE Capital continue to be reported on arms-length terms and are
eliminated upon cansolidation.

We believe investors will gain a better understanding of our company if they understand how we measure and talk about our results.

Because of the diversity in our businesses, we present our financial statements in a three-column format, which allows investors to see

our industrial operations separately from our financial services operations. We believe that this provides useful information to investors.

When used in this report, unless otherwise indicated by the context, we use these terms to mean the following:

+  Consolidated - the adding together of GE Industrial and GE Capital, giving effect to the elimination of transactions between the
two. We present consolidated results in the left-side column of our consolidated Statements of Earnings (Loss), Financiat Position
and Cash Flows.

«  GE Industrial - the adding together of all industrial affiliates, giving effect to the elimination of transactions among such affiliates.
Any intercompany profits resulting from transactions between GE Industrial and GE Capital are eliminated at the GE Industrial
level. We present the results of GE Industrial in the center column of our consolidated Statements of Earnings (Loss), Financial
Position and Cash Flows.

+  GE Capital — the adding together of all affiliates of GE Capital giving effect to the elimination of transactions among such affiliates.
We present the results of GE Capital in the right-side column of our consolidated Statements of Earnings (Loss), Financial Position
and Cash Flows.

In the accompanying analysis of financial information, we sometimes use information derived from consolidated financial data but not
presented in our financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP. Certain of these data are considered "non-GAAP financial
measures” under SEC rules. See the Non-GAAP Financial Measures section for the reasons we use these non-GAAP financial
measures and the recongiliations to their most directly comparable GAAP financial measures.



CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

2020 SIGNIFICANT DEVELOPMENTS. Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) Pandemic. The COVID-19 pandemic has impacted
global economies, resulting in workforce and travel restrictions, supply chain and production disruptions and reduced demand and
spending across many sectors. Since the latter part of the first quarter of 2020, these factors have had a material adverse impact on our
operations and financial performance, as well as on the operations and financial performance of many of the customers and suppliers in
industries that we serve. This section provides a brief overview of how we have been responding to current and potential impacts
related to COVID-19 on GE's operations and financial condition and results, with additional details provided throughout the MD&A and
other relevant sections of this report.

During 2020, we adopted operational and governance rhythms across the Company, and with our Board of Directors, to coordinate and
oversee actions related to the COVID-19 pandemic, including an internal task force to protect the health and safety of our employges
globatly and maintain business continuity; the assessment of financial and operating impacts, financial planning and mitigating cost,
cash, and other actions in response; funding and liquidity management and related treasury actions; enterprise risk management and
other functional activities across our global commercial, supply chain, human resources, controllership, government affairs, and other
organizations. In particular, we took a series of actions to enhance and extend our liguidity at both GE and GE Capital (as described
under "Liability Management and Deleveraging Actions” below), and we continue tc evaluate market conditions as they evolve and take
precautionary measures to strengthen our financial position. We ended the year with $36.6 billion of consclidated cash, cash
equivalents and restricted cash, in addition to our available credit lines of $20.2 billion. See the Capital Resources and Liquidity section
for further information.

While factors related directly and indirectly to the COVID-19 pandemic have been impacting operations and financial performance at
varying levels across all our businesses, the most significant impact to date has been at our Aviation segment and our GE Capital
Aviation Services (GECAS) aircraft leasing business within our Capital segment. The pandemic has had and continues to have a
material adverse effect on the global airline industry, resulting in reduced flight schedules worldwide, an increased number of idle
aircraft, lower utilization, workforce reductions and declining financial performance within the airline industry. This has decreased
demand for higher margin service revenues within our Aviation segment directly impacting our profitability and cash flows during 2020.
Qur Healthcare segment experienced increased demand for certain types of products and setvices, including ventilators, monitoring
solutions, x-ray, anesthesia and point-of-care ultrasound product lines, partially offset by decreased demand in other parts of the
business as patients have postponed certain procedures and hospitals have deferred spending. Our ather businesses were also
adversely impacted by market developments, including delays or cancellations of new projects, new orders and related down payments.
In addition, workplace, travel and supply chain disruptions have caused delays of deliveries and the achievement of other billing
milestones directly impacting our profitability and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2020. We anticipate many of these
impacts related to demand, profitability and cash flows will continue in future periods depending on the severity and duration of the
pandemic. For additional details about impacis related to Aviation and GECAS, Healthcare and our other businesses, refer to the
respective segment sections within MD&A,

Each of GE's businesses and Corparate are taking cost and cash actions to manage risk and proactively mitigate the financial impact
from COVID-19, as supply and demand dynamics continue to shift. In 2020, we executed more than $2 billion in operational cost
reduction and more than $3 billion in cash preservation actions across the company, including more than $1 billion in operational cost
reduction and more than $2 billion in cash preservation actions at Aviation, to right-size its cost structure and preserve its ability to serve
customers.

The ultimate impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our operations and financial perfermance, and on those of customers and suppliers
in industries that we serve, depends on many factors that are not within our control, including the severity and duration of the pandemic;
governmental, business and individuals’ actions in response to the pandemic; and the development, availability and public acceptance
of effective treatments or vaccines. See the Risk Factors section for further information about related risks and uncertainties.

BioPharma. On March 31, 2020, we completed the sale of our BioPharma business within our Healthcare segment to Danaher
Corporation for consideration of $21.1 billion, and recognized a pre-tax gain of $12.4 billion. See the Segment Operations - Healthcare
section and Note 2 for further information.

Asset Impairments. In the third quarter of 2020, we recognized non-cash pre-tax impairment charges of $0.4 billion related to property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets at our Steam business within our Power segment due to our recent announcement to exit
the new build coal power market. We will continue to monitor the operating results and cash flow forecasts for the remaining business.
In the second quarter of 2020, we recognized a non-cash pre-tax impairment charge of $0.9 billion related to goodwill at our Additive
reporting unit within our Aviation segment. The Steam and Additive charges were recorded within earnings from continuing operations at
Corporate. In the second quarter of 2020, we recognized a non-cash pre-tax impairment charge of $0.8 billion related to goodwill in our
GECAS reporting unit within our Capital segment. In the year ended December 31, 2020, we recognized non-cash pre-tax impairments
of $0.5 billion on our GECAS leasing portfolio. See Segment Operations - Capital and Notes 7 and 8 for further information.

Liability Management and Deleveraging Actions, We reduced our consalidated borrowings by $15.8 billion in 2020, driven primarily
by debt tenders at GE Industrial and GE Capital of $4.2 billion and $11.9 billion, respectively, GE Capital maturities of $10.5 billion, and
repayment of GE Industrial commercial paper of $3.0 billion, partially offset by new debt issuances at GE Industrial and GE Capital of
$7.5 billion and $6.0 billion, respectively. GE Industrial net debt* ended at $32.3 billion at December 31, 2020, down $15.5 billion from
December 31, 2019, primarily driven by lower debt, a higher cash balance, and pension pre-funding of $2.5 billion in the fourth quarter
of 2020. See the Borrowings section of Capital Resources and Liguidity and Note 11 for further information.

"Non-GAAP Financial Measure



SEC Settlement. As previously reported on December 8, 2020, GE reached a settlement with the SEC that concluded and resolved the
SEC's investigation of GE in its entirety. Under the settlement, among other terms, GE paid a civil penalty of $0.2 billion in December
2020, of which $0.1 billion was recorded at Corporate and $0.1 billion was recorded at GE Capilal. See Note 23 for further information.

SUMMARY OF 2020 RESULTS. Consolidated revenues were $79.8 hillion, down $15.8 billion (16%) for the year primarily driven by
decreased GE industrial revenues of $14.6 billion and decreased GE Capital revenues of $1.5 billion. GE Industrial organic revenues*
were $73.2 billion, down $10.9 bilion (13%) driven by our Aviation and Power segments, partially offset by our Healthcare and
Renewabie Energy segments.

Continuing earnings per share was $0.59. Excluding gains (losses) on business dispositions, non-operating benefit costs, unrealized
gains {losses) on investments, goodwill impairments, restructuring and other charges, Steam asset impairments, debt extinguishment
costs, the SEC settlement, and U.S. tax reform, Adjusted earnings per share* was $0.01.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, GE industrial profit was $7.3 billion and profit margins were 10.0%, up $5.5 billion, driven by
the gain on the sale of our BioPharma business of $12.4 billion, lower interest and other financial charges of $0.8 billion, decreased
goodwill impairments of $0.6 billion, decreased non-operating benefit cost of $0.4 billion and lower charges for significant, higher-cost
restructuring programs of $0.2 billion, partially offset by decreases at our industrial segments, an increase of §2.8 billion in losses on
our investment in Baker Hughes, impairment charges of $0.4 billion retated to property, plant and eguipment and intangible assets at
our Steam business, and the SEC settlement charges. Adjusted GE Industrial organic profit* decreased $4.7 billion, primarily as a result
of the impacts of COVID-19, particularly at our Aviation segment, partially offset by an increase at Healthcare.

GE Industrial cash flows from {used for) operating activities (CFOA) of continuing operations were ${1.3) billicn and $4.6 billion for the
years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respeclively. GE Industrial CFOA decreased primarily due to lower net income, largely as a
result of COVID-19 impacts, GE Pensicn Plan contributions of $2.5 billion in 2020 and higher cash paid for taxes, partially offset by
lower cash used for operating working capital. GE Industrial free cash flows (FCF)" were $0.6 billion and $2.3 billion for the years ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. GE Industrial FCF* decreased primarily due to lower net income, partially offset by lower
cash used for operating working capital and a decrease in additions to property, plant and equipment and internal-use software. See the
Capital Resources and Liquidity - Statement of Cash Flows section far further information.

Orders are contractual commitments with customers to provide specified goods or services for an agreed upon price. Backlog is unfilled
customer orders for products and product services (expected life of contract sales for product services).

GE INDUSTRIAL ORDERS 2020 2019 2013
Equipment $ 36,841 § 44,951 % 49 276
Services 35,137 45,303 45,523

Total orders(a) $ 71,879 § 90,254 % 94,799

(a) Orders included $1,136 million, $3,643 million and $3,210 million related to BioPharma for the years ended December 31, 2020,
2019 and 2018, respectively.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, orders decreased $18.3 billion (20%) on a reported basis and decreased $14.8 billion (17%)
organically, with decreases at Aviation, primarily driven by declines in both commercial equipment and service orders due to COVID-19
and the 737 MAX grounding; at Power primarily driven by a decrease in equipment orders; and at Renewable Energy primarily due to a
decrease in services orders; partially offset by an increase at Healthcare. Equipment orders were down $5.0 billion {12%) organically
and services orders were down $9.8 billion (22%) organicaily. Excluding BioPharma, orders decreased $15.0 billion (17%) organically.

GE INDUSTRIAL BACKLOG 202¢ 2019 2018
Equipment % 73,286 § 78,968 § 77,126
Services 313,234 325,605 273,499

Total backlog(a) $ 386520 § 404572 § 350,625

{a)} Backlog as of December 31, 2020 excludes the BioPharma business due to its disposition in the first quarter of 2020. Backlog as of
December 31, 2019 and 2018 included $1,247 million and $905 million, respectivety, retated to BioPharma.

As of December 31, 2020, backlog decreased $18.1 billion (4%) from the prior year primarily driven by Aviation due to a reduction in
our Commercial Services backiog and cancellations of commercial equipment orders. The reduction in Commercial Services reflects
lower anticipated engine utilization, the cancellation of equipment unit orders, customer fleet restructuring and contract modifications.
Power decreased due to sales outpacing new orders; Healthcare decreased with the disposition of the BioPharma business of $1.2
billien; and Renewable Energy increased due to new orders outpacing sales. Excluding the BioPharma disposition, backlog decreased
$16.8 billion (4%) from December 31, 2019.

*Non-GAAP Financial Measure



Remaining performance obligation (RPQ), a defined term under GAAP, is backlog excluding any purchase order that provides the
customer with the ability to cancel or terminate without incurring a substantive penalty, even if the likelihood of cancellation is remote
based on historical experience. We plan to continue reporting backlog as we believe that it is a useful metric for investors, given its
rejevance lo total orders. See Note 25 for further information.

December 31, 2020 Equipment Services Total
Backlog 3 73.286 3 313234 § 386520
Adjustments (27,294) (128,626) (155,921)
Remaining performance obligation g 45991 § 184,608 $ 230,600

Adjustments to reparted backlog of $155.9 billion as of December 31, 2020 are largely driven by adjustments of $146.3 billion in our
Aviation segment: (1) backlog includes engine contracts for which we have received purchase arders that are cancelable; (2} our
services backlog includes contracts that are cancelable without substantive penalty, primarily time and materials contracts; (3) backlog
includes engines contracted under long-term service agreements, even if the engines have not yet been put into service. These
adjustments to reported backlog to the extent realized are generally expected to be satisfied beyond one year.

2020 2019 2018

Consolidated revenues $ 79,619 % 95214 $ 97,012
Equipment 37.620 43,080 43,679

Services 35,480 44,639 45,359

GE Industrial revenues 3 73,100 § 87719 § 89,038
GE Capital revenues 3 7245 § 8741 % 9,551

For the year ended December 31, 2020, consolidated revenues decreased $15.6 billion (16%), primarily driven by decreased
Industrial revenues of $14.6 billion and decreased GE Capital revenues of $1.5 billion.

GE fndustrial revenues decreased $14.8 billion (17%), with decreases in services and equipment. The decrease in services was
primarily at Aviation, driven by lower commercial spare part shipments, decreased shop visits and the cumulative impact of changes in
billing and cost assumptions in our long-term service agreements; and at Power, due to declines in transactional part sales and
upgrades at Gas Power. The decrease in equipment was primarily at Aviation, due to fewer commercial install and spare engine unit
shipments; and at Healthcare, due to the disposition of the BioPharma business; partially offset by increases at Renewable Energy,
primarity from Onshore Wind with more wind turbine shipments than in the prior year, and Offshore Wind; and at Gas Power, due to an
increase in Heavy-Duty gas turbine unit shipments. This decrease included the net effects of dispositions of $3.6 billion and the effects
of a strenger U.S. dollar of $0.3 billion. Excluding the effects of acquisitions, dispositions and foreign currency, GE Industrial organic
revenues* decreased $10.9 billion {(13%), with a decrease in services revenues of $8.8 billion (20%) and a decrease in equipment
revenues of $2.1 billion (5%). GE Industrial organic revenues™ decreased at Aviation and Power, partially offset by increases at
Healthcare and Renewable Energy Excluding the BioPharma disposition, GE Industrial organic revenues* decreased $10.9 billicn
(13%).

GE Capital revenues decreased $1.5 bitlion {17%), as a result of volume declines and lower gains. These volume declines were
primarily at GECAS related to lower interest income attributable to the sale of PK AirFinance and lower rental revenue on our aircraft
leasing portfolio, and at Working Capital Solutions (WCS) related to lower purchases of GE Industrial customer receivables and the run-
off of the GE Capital supply chain finance program (See GE Industrial Working Capital Transactions within MD&A for further
information). '

{Per-share amounts in dollars and diluted) 2020 20619 2018
Continuing earnings (loss) attributable to GE common shareholders 3 5355 % (44} 3 (21.438)
Continuing earnings (loss) per share $ 0.59 § (oons {2.47)

For the year ended December 31, 2020, consolidated continuing earnings increased $5 4 billion, due to increased GE Industrial
profit of $5.5 billion and decreased provision for GE Industrial income taxes of $0.9 billicn, partially offset by an increase in GE Capital
losses of $1.2 billion.

GE Industrial profit increased $5.5 billion driven primarily by the gain on the sale of our BioPharma business of $12.4 billion, lower
interest and other financial charges of $0.8 billion, decreased goodwill impairments of $0.6 billion, decreased non-operating benefit cost
of $0.4 billion and lower charges for significant, higher-cost restructuring programs of $0.2 billion; partially offset by decreases at our
industrial segments, an increase of $2.8 billion in losses on our investment in Baker Hughes, impairment charges of $0.4 billion related '
to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets at our Steam business, and the SEC settlement charges. GE Industrial profit
margin was 10.0%, an increase of 790 basis points, primarily due to the same net increases as described above. Adjusted GE industrial
profit* was $2.5 billion, a decrease of 65% organically*, primarily due to a decrease at our Aviation segment, partially offset by an
increase at Healthcare and a decrease in Adjusted corporate operating costs*. Adjusted GE industrial profit margin® was 3.4%, a
decrease of 520 basis points organically”, primarily due to the sarme net decreases as described above, At Aviation, the primary drivers
were lower volume on commercial spare part and commercial spare engine shipments, decreased shop visits and net unfavarable
changes of $1.1 billion ta the estimated profitability in its long-term service agreements. At Healthcare, the primary drivers were cost
reductions and increased demand for Healthcare Systems (HCS) products used directly in response to COVID-19, partially offset by
decreases in Pharmaceutical Diagnostics (PDx} volume.

“Non-GAAP Financial Measure



GE Capital continuing losses increased $1.2 billion primarily due to an impairment of goodwill of $0.8 hillion {pre-tax), volume declines,
higher mark-to-market effects and other impairments, including $0.5 billion (pre-tax) on the GECAS fixed-wing aircraft portfolio as a
result of COVID-19 and related market impacts, lower gains, debt tender costs, the SEC settlement charge and the nenrecurrence of a
2019 tax reform enactment adjustment. These increased losses were partially offset by the nonrecurrence of a $1.0 billion pre-tax
charge identified through the completion of our 2019 annual insurance premium deficiency review, higher tax benefits including the tax
benefit related to the BioPharma sale and lower excess interest cost. Gains were $0.4 billion and $0.7 billion in 2020 and 2019,
respectively.

AVIATION AND GECAS 737 MAX. Aviation develops, produces, and sells LEAP aircraft engines to Boeing, Airbus and COMAC
through CFM International (CFM}, a company jointly owned by GE and Safran Aircraft Engines, a subsidiary of the Safran Group of
France. The LEAP-1B engine is the exclusive engine for the Boeing 737 MAX. In March 2019, global regulatory authorities ordered a
temporary fleet grounding of the Boeing 737 MAX. In May 2020, Boeing resumed production of the 737 MAX, In November 2020, the
U.S. Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) lifted the grounding notice for the 737 MAX and Boeing commenced aircraft deliveries to
customers in compliance with FAA regulatory requirements in December 2020. A number of other global regulators since the FAA's
action have also lifted the orders that suspended 737 MAX operations for airlines under their jurisdictions. Aviation commercial
equipment backlog as of December 31, 2020 includes approximately 9,600 LEAF engines, including the impact of approximately 1,500
LEAP-1B unit order cancellations in 2020. See the Segment Operations - Aviation section for further information. During 2020, CFM and
Boeing reached an agreement to align production rates for 2020 and secure payment terms for engines delivered in 2018 and 2020. In
2020, Aviation received payments, net of progress collections, of $0.5 billion for engines delivered in 2019. A final payment of $0.2
billion, net of progress collections, is expected to be received in the first quarter of 2021 for engines delivered in 2019. CFM and Boeing
continue to work closely to ensure a successful reentry into service, with a strong commitment to safety while navigating industry
disruption.

During 2020, GECAS agreed with Boeing to restructure its 737 MAX orderbook including previously canceled positions, resulting in 77
orders now remaining. As of December 31, 2020, GECAS owned 29 of these aircraft, 26 of which are contracted for lease to airlines
that remain obligated to make contractyal rental payments. In addition, GECAS has made pre-delivery payments to Boeing related to
77 of these aircraft on order and has made financing commitments to acquire a further 186 aircraft under purchase and leaseback
contracts with airlines.

As of December 31, 2020, we have approximately $1.7 billion of net assets ($3.2 billion of assets and $1.5 billion of labilities) related to
the 737 MAX program that primarily comprised Aviation accounts receivable offset by progress collections and GECAS pre-delivery
payments and owned aircraft subject to iease. No impairment charges were incurred related to the 737 MAX aircraft and related
balances, as we continue to believe these assets are recoverable over their contractual or useful lives. We continue to monitor 737
MAX retumn to service and return to delivery developments with our airline customers, lessees and Boeing.

LEAP continues to be a strong engine program for us, and we delivered 815 LEAP engines for Boeing and Airbus platforms in the year.

SEGMENT OPERATIONS. Segment revenues include sales of products and services by the segment. industrial segment profit is
determined based on performance measures used by our Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM), who is our Chief Executive Officer
(CEQ), to assess the performance of each business in a given period. in connection with that assessment, the CEO may exclude
matters, such as charges for impairments, significant, higher-cost restructuring programs, manufacturing footprint rationalization and
other similar expenses, acquisition costs and other related charges, certain gains and losses from acquisitions or dispositions, and
certain litigation setttements. See the Corporate ltems and Eliminations section for additional information about costs excluded from
segment profit,

Segment profit excludes results reported as discontinued operations and the portion of earnings or loss attributable to noncontrolling
interests of consclidated subsidiaries, and as such only includes the portion of earnings or loss attributabte to our share of the
consolidated earnings or loss of consolidated subsidiaries.

interest and other financial charges, income taxes and non-operating benefit costs are excluded in determining segment profit for the
industrial segments. Interest and other financial charges, income taxes, non-operating benefit costs and GE Capital preferred stock
dividends are included in determining segment profit (which we sometimes refer to as net earnings) for the Capital segment. Other
income is included in segment profit far the industrial segments.

Certain corporate costs, such as those related to shared services, employee benefits, and information technology, are allocated to our
segments based on usage. A portion of the remaining corporate costs is allocated based on each segment's relative net cost of
operations.



SUMMARY OF REPORTABLE SEGMENTS 2020 2019 2018

Power $ 17,589 % 18,625 § 22,150
Renewable Energy 15,666 15,337 14,288
Aviation 22,042 32,875 30,566
Healthcare 18,009 19,942 19,784
Capital 7,245 8,741 9,551
Total segment revenues 80,551 95519 96,339
Corporate items and eliminations (932) (305) 673
Consolidated revenues $ 79,619 % 95214 § 97,012
Power 3 274 % 291 § {1,105)
Renewable Energy (715) (791) 140
Aviation 1,229 6,812 6,454
Healthcare 3,060 3,737 3,522
Capital {1,710} (530) {489)
Total segment profit 2,138 9,519 8,521
Caorporate items and eliminations 8,239 {1,825) {2,201)
GE Industrial goodwill impairments (877) (1,486) (22,136)
GE industrial interest and other financial charges {1,333) (2,119) (2,415)
GE industrial non-operating benefit costs (2,424) (2,828) {2,740)
GE Industrial benefit (provision) for income taxes (388) (1,309) (467)
Earnings {loss) fram continuing operations attributable to GE common shareholders 5,355 (44} (21,438)
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes (125) (5.335) (1,363)
Less net earnings (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests, discontinued operations — 60 1
Earnings {loss} from discontinued operations, net of taxes and noncontrolling interests (125) (5,395) (1,364)
Consolidated net earnings (loss) attributable to GE common shareholders 3 5230 § {5439) % {22,802)

POWER. Power serves power generation, industrial, government and other customers worldwide with products and services related to
energy production. Our products and technologies harness resources such as oil, gas, fossil, diesel, nuclear and water to produce
electric power and include gas and steam turbines, full balance of plant, upgrade and service solutions, as well as data-leveraging
software. We have organized the businesses within our Power segment into Gas Power and Power Portfolio.

Gas Power - offers a wide spectrum of heavy-duty and aeroderivative gas turbines for utilities, independent power producers and
numerous industrial applications, ranging from small, mobile power to utility scale power plants. Gas Power also delivers maintenance,
service and upgrade solutions across total plant assets and over their operational lifecycle.

Power Portfolio - offers steam power technology for fossil and nuclear applications including boilers, generators, steam turbines and
Air Quality Control Systems (AQCS) to help efficiently produce power and provide performance over the life of a power plant. Power
Portfolio also applies the science and systems of power conversion to provide motors, generators, automation and control equipment
and drives for energy intensive industries such as marine, ail and gas, mining, rail, metals, test systems and water. It also offers
advanced reactor technologies solutions, including reactors, fuels and support services for boiling water reactors, through joint ventures
with Hitachi for nuclear fleets,

Competition & Regulation. Worldwide competition for power generation products and services is intense. Demand for power
generation is global, and as a result, is sensitive to the economic and political envircnments of each country in which we do business.
Our products and services sald to end customers are often subject to many regulatory requirements and performance standards under
different federal, state, foreign and energy industry standards.

Significant Trends & Developments. We continue to execute for our customers through COVID-19, prioritizing safety first and
foremost. From an operations perspective, we are working within our supply chain and with our suppliers to catch up on parts and
project scope that were delayed as a result of COVID-19. Despite difficult travel and customer site restrictions, we continue to service
our customers' installed base and have completed roughly 90% of all planned outages in the year. From a market perspeclive, both
gas-based electricity generation and GE gas turbine utilization has remained stable. Qur ability to close transactions, particularly
services parts & upgrades, has been impacted by constrained customer budgets and access to financing due to oil prices and
economic slowdown, especially in Gas Power. Although there may be market challenges in the near term, we believe gas will play a
critical role in the energy transition and our view of the market has not materially changed, albeil timing on new orders is harder to
forecast.

Power continues to right size its business to better align with market demand and drive its businesses with an operational rigor and
discipline that is focused on its customers’ lifecycle experience. tn Gas Power, we continue to size the business for a 25-30 GW market,
although acknowledge that the size any given year can vary. We remain focused on our underwriting discipline and risk management to
ensure we are securing deals that meet our financial hurdles and we have a high confidence to deliver for our customers.



Locking ahead, we anticipate the power market to continue to be impacted by overcapacity in the industry, continued price pressure
from competition on servicing the installed base, and the uncertain timing of deal closures due to financing and the complexities of
working in emerging markets. Market factors related to the energy transition such as greater renewable energy penetration and the
adoption of climate change-related policies continue lo impact long-term demand, to differing degrees across markets globally. As such,
we announced in the third quarter of 2020 that we will be exiting the new build coal power market, while continuing to service our
customers’ installed base.

We continue to invest in new product development, such as our HA-Turbines, and upgrades as these are critical to our customers and
the long-term strategy of the business. In 2020, we supplied the first purpose-built hydrogen-burning power plant in the U.S. with Gas
Power's 7HA.02 turbine. Qur fundamentals remain strong with approximately $80 billion in backlog and a gas turbine installed base
greater than 7,000 units, including approximately 1,800 units under tong-term service agreements.

Orders Sales
fin units) 2020 2019 20820 2019
GE Gas Turbines 68 74 71 53
Heavy-Duty Gas Turbines(a) 57 63 51 38
HA-Turbines(b) 20 18 21 1
Aeroderivatives(a} 11 11 20 18
GE Gas Turbine Gigawatts{c) 15.0 136
(a) Heavy-Duty Gas Turbines and Aeroderivatives are subsets of GE Gas Turbines.
(b) HA-Turbines are a subset of Heavy-Duty Gas Turbines.
(c) Gigawatts reported associated with financial orders in the periods presented.
2020 2019 2018
Equipment $ 17127 % 17,661 $ 18,763
Services 62,448 67,640 66,230
Total backiog $ 79,575 $ 85302 $ 84,993
Equipment $ 4597 $§ 5215 $ 9319
Services 11,390 11,684 13,328
Total orders $ 15986 $ 16,899 $ 22645
Gas Power $ 12655 $§ 137122 $ 13,296
Power Portfolic 4,935 5,503 8,853
Total segment revenues $ 17589 $§ 18,625 $ 22150
Equipment $ 6707 $ 6247 § 8077
Services 10,883 12,378 14,073
Total segment revenues(a) $ 17589 $§ 18625 § 22150
Segment profit (loss)(b}(c) $ 274§ 2G4 $  (1,105)
Segment profit margin 16 % 16 % 5.0 %

(a) Power segment revenues represent 24% and 22% of total industrial revenues and total segment revenues, respectively, for the year
ended December 31, 2020.

{b) Power segment profit represents 4% of total industrial profit for the year ended December 31, 2020,

(¢} Included restructuring charges of $16 million, $94 million and $297 million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018,
respectively, that were previously reported within the Corporate segment and were reclassified into the Power segment results in the
fourth quarter of 2020 for all pericds presented. For a summary of all restructuring charges by segment, see the Other Consalidated
Information section.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, segment orders were down $0.9 billion (%), segment revenues were down $1.0 billion
(6%) and segment profit was down 6%,

Backlog as of December 31, 2020 decreased $5.7 billion (7%) from December 31, 2019, primarily driven by sales outpacing new
orders.

Orders decreased $0.8 billion (4%) organically, primarily due to decreases in Gas Power Heavy-Duty Gas Turbine unit and services
orders and Steam equipment orders.

Revenues decreased $0.9 billion {5%) organically*, primarily due to decreases in Gas Power services revenues, primarily related to
decreases in transactional part sales and upgrades, partially offset by increases in Gas Power equipment revenues related to 13 more
Heavy-Duty gas turbine unit shipments. Steam equipment and service revenues also decreased.

Profit decreased 7% organically* due to lower revenues, charges of approximately $0.3 billion related to an under-performing JV in
China, charges related ta contracts, a charge for a specific customer credit event at Gas Power, and a quality reserve at Power Portfolio
on the legacy product line that we have since exited in Power Conversion, partially offset by continued efforts to right size the business
across Gas Power and Power Portfolio.

*Nan-GAAP Financial Measure



RENEWABLE ENERGY. Renewable Energy includes one of the broadest portfolios in the industry to provide end-to-end solutions for
our customers demanding reliable and affordable renewable energy by combining onshore and offshore wind, blades, hydro, storage,
solar and grid solutions, as well as hybrid renewables and digital services offerings. We have installed more than 400 gigawatts of clean
renewable energy equipment and equipped more than 90 percent of utilities with our grid solutions in developed and emerging markets.

Onshore Wind — delivers technology and services for the onshore wind power industry by providing smart, modular turbines that are \
uniquely situated for a variety of wind environments. Wind services help customers improve cost, capacity and performance of their
assets over the lifetime of the fieet, utilizing digital infrastructure to monitor, predict and optimize wind farm energy performance. Cur
QOnshore Wind business supports a turbine installed base of approximately 50,000 units. For reporting purposes, Onshore Wind
includes the operations of our blade manufacturer, LM Wind.

Grid Solutions Equipment and Services (Grid) — equips power utilities and industries worldwide to bring power reliably and efficiently
from the point of generation to end power consumers. Grid offers a comprehensive portfolio of equipment, hardware, protection and
control, automation and digital services. Grid is also equipped to address the challenges of the energy transition by safely and reliably
connecting intermittent renewable energy generation to transmission networks.

Hydro Solutions — represents mare than 25 percent of the total installed hydropower capacity worldwide through a pertfolio of
solutions and services for hydropower generation, including the design, management, construction, installation, maintenance and
operation of both large hydropower plants and small hydropower solutions, as well as offering a comprehensive asset management
pragram to hydropower plant operators.

Offshore Wind — |eads the industry in offshore wind power technologies and offshore wind farm development with the Haliade-X, the
world's most powerful offshore wind turbine instalied today.

Hybrid Solutions — provides reliable, affordable and dispatchable integration of renewable energies that drive vital stability to the grid
and includes unigue applications to integrate storage and renewable energy generation sources, such as wind, hydropower and solar. i

Competition & Regulation. While many factors, including government incentives and specific market rules, affect how renewable

energy can deliver outcomes for customers in a given region, renewable energy is increasingly able to compete with fossil fuels in terms .
of levelized cost of electricity. However, continued competitive pressure from other wind and hydro turbine manufacturers as well as

from other energy sources, such as solar photovoltaic, reinforced by a general move to electricity auction mechanisms, has driven price

pressure and the need for innovation.

We continue to invest in generating wind turbine product improvements, including larger rotors, taller towers and higher namepiate
ratings that continue to drive down the cost of wind energy, and in exploring new ways to further improve the efficiency and flexibility of
ouwr hydropower technology with new innovative turbine designs and digital solutions. As industry medels continue to evolve, our digital
strategy and investments in technical innovation will position us to add value for customers looking for clean, renewable energy.

Significant Trends & Developments. Renewable energy is in a rapid transition period and competes in the marketplace against
existing and new conventional energy sources. Wind energy is currently the second-largest contributor to renewable capacity growth
with fiydropower projected to remain the fargest renewable efectricity source through 2023.

We continue to observe growth across the global onshore wind market together with a positive impact on deliveries and installations in
the U.S. from the Production Tax Credit (PTC) cycle and customer preference shifting to larger, more efficient units to drive down costs
and compete with other power generation options. Despite the competitive nature of the market, onshore wind arder pricing has
stabilized globally. Several energy-refated tax credit extensions were passed into law in December 2020 further extending the phase-
down of U.S. PTCs. Under the current legislation, onshore wind projects that begin construction in 2021 will also qualify far a 60% PTC.
We expect high levels of production observed in 2020 to continue for 2021 deliveries at Onshore Wind and are closely monitoring our
execution during this period.

Additicnally, offshore wind projects that begin construction before 2026 are eligible to elect either the PTC or the Investment Tax Credit
{ITC), with the ITC extended by five years at the full rate. We have received full certification for our Haliade-X 12- and 13MW prototypes
and during the fourth quarter of 2020 reported orders within Offshore Wind for the supply of 95 Haliade-X 13MW units for the first phase
of the Dogger Bank Wind Farm in the U.K.

New product introductions remain important to our onshore and offshore customers who are demonstrating the willingness to adopt the
new technolagy of larger turbines that decrease the levelized cost of energy. During 2020, we delivered our first Onshore SMW Cypress
units and have reported more than 800 of these units in backlog. We have observed significant market demand for our Offshore
Haliade-X units and based cn existing customer commitments, expect to report additional orders and backlog for the next two phases of
Dogger Bank and for offshore projects in the U.S. upon obtaining final notification o proceed. We are preparing for large scale
production of Haliade-X in response to this market demand.

The grid market remains challenging as we continue to experience pricing pressure in the High Voltage Direct Current (HYDC) and High
Voltage (HV) product lines. The hydropower industry continues to maximize value and grid flexibility with refurbishments, repower and
pumped storage projects to support both wind and sclar expansion. The Grid and Hydro businesses are executing their turnaround
plans and we are expecting improved operating results in 2021,



Despite the COVID-19 pandemic, we have continued to deliver for our customers, while taking all necessary precautions for our
employees, and returned our manufacturing locations and long-term project sites to pre-COVID-19 capacity levels and operations.
While we do not believe the long-term outlook far renewable energy products and services has materially changed, we are monitoring
the impact of the pandemic on the renewable energy industry, including electricity cansumption forecasts and customer capital
expenditure fevels, supply chain, availability of financing and our ability to execute on equipment and long-term projects, including the
impact of possible customer related delays. In response to volume declines in certain of our businesses, we implemented additional
cost reduction measures, restructuring and cash preservation actions.

Orders Sales
Onshore and Offshore (In units) 2020 2019 2020 2019
Wind Turbines 3,602 4,325 3,744 3424
Wind Turbine Gigawatts 12.7 12.8 10.8 9.5
Repower units 504 1,269 1,022 1,057
2020 2019 2018
Equipment $ 17470 $ 16,297 $ 14,385
Services 12,531 11,233 9,285
Total backlog $ 30,001 $ 27,5830 $ 23,670
Equipment $ 14109 $ 13,964 $ 11,763
Services 2,218 2,920 3,520
Total orders $ 16,328 $ 16,884 $ 15283
Onshore Wind $ 10,881 $ 10,421 $ 8,220
Grid Solutions equipment and services 3,585 4,016 4,579
Hydro, Offshore Wind and Hybrid Solutions 1,200 900 1,489
Total segment revenues $ 15,666 $ 15337 $ 14,288
Equipment $ 12,859 $ 12267 $ 11,419
Services 2,807 3,069 2,870
Total segment revenues{a) 15,666 $ 15337 14,288

i en
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Segment profit (loss}{b)(c) (715) % (791) 140
Segment profit margin (4.6) % (5.2) % 1.0 %

(a) Renewable Energy segment revenues represent 21% and 19% of total industrial revenues and total segment revenues,
respectively, for the year ended Dacember 31, 2020.

(b} Renewable Energy segment profit represents {10)% of total industrial profit for the year ended December 31, 2020.

(c) included restructuring charges of $200 million, $125 million and $152 million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and
2018, respectively, that were previously reported within the Corporate segment and were reciassified into the Renewable Energy
segment resuits in the fourth quarter of 2020 for all periods presented. For a summary of all restructuring charges by segment, see
the Other Consolidated Information section.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, segment orders were down $0.6 billion (3%), segment revenues were up $0.3 billion
(2%) and segment profit was up $0.1 billion (10%).

Backlog as of December 31, 2020 increased $2.5 billion (9%} from December 31, 2019, primarily from Offshore Wind due to our first
Haliade-X order from Dogger Bank Wind Farm, new Cypress platform orders mainly in Onshore Wind Europe and an increase in Hydro,
These increases were partially offset by sales exceeding new orders at Grid, primarily as a result of increased commercial selectivity in
certain product lines.

Orders decreased $0.4 billion (3%) organically, primarily due to lower Onshore Wind turbine and repower unit orders in North America
compared to the prior year due to the PTC phase down and lower orders at Grid. These decreases were partially offset by increased
orders at Offshore Wind of Haliade-X, cther regions of Onshore Wind, LM Wind, Hybrid Solutions and Hydro.

Revenues increased $0.6 billion (4%) organically”, primarily from Onshore Wind with 300 more wind turbine shipments on a unit basis,
and 13% more an a megawatt basis, and at Offshore Wind and Hybrid Solutions compared to the prior year. These increases were
partially offset by lower Grid revenues, primarily attributable to lower volumes in the Power Transformer product line, and lower Hydro
revenues.

Profit increased $0.1 billion (6%) organically*, as the impact of higher saies volume at Onshore Wind, the favorable impact of cost
reduction measures and improved project execution exceeded higher restructuring costs and the nonrecurrence of a $0.1 billion non-
cash gain from the termination of two Offshore Wind contracts in 2019,

*Non-GAAP Financial Measure



AVIATION. Aviation designs and produces commercial and military aircraft engines, integrated engine components. electric power and
mechanical aircraft systems, We also provide aftermarket services to support our products.

Commercial — manufactures jet engines for commercial airframes. Our commercial engines power aircraft in all categories: regional,
narrowbody and widebody. We also produce and market engines and aftermarket services through joint ventures with Safran Group of
France and Raytheon Technologies Corporation via their Pratt & Whitney segment. Commercial provides maintenance, component
repair and overhaul services (MRQ), including sales of replacement parts.

Milifary — manufactures jet engines for military airfframes. Our military engines power a wide variety of military aircraft including fighters,
bombers, tankers, helicopters and surveillance aircraft, as well as marine applications. We provide maintenance, component repair and
overhaul services, including sales of replacement parts.

Systems & Other - provides engines, components, systems and services for commercial and military segments. This includes engines
and compaonents for business, general aviation and aeroderivative segments, along with avionics systems, aviation electric power
systems and gear and transmission components. Additionally, we provide a wide variety of products and services including additive
machines from Concept Laser and Arcam EBM, additive materials (including metal powders from AP&C), and additive engineering
services through our consultancy brand AddWorks™.

Competition & Regulation. The global businesses for aircraft jet engines, maintenance, component repair and overhaul services
(including parts sales) are highly competitive. Both domestic and international markets are important to the growth and success of the
business. Product development cycles are long and product quality and efficiency are critical to success. Research and development
expenditures are important in this business, as are focused intellectual property strategies and protection of key aircraft engine design,
manufacture, repair and product upgrade technologies. Aircraft engine and systems orders tend to follow civil air travel and demand and
military procurement cycles.

Our product, services and activities are subject to a number of glabal regulators such as the U.S. Federal Aviation Administration (FAA),
European Union Aviation Safety Agency (EASA}, Civil Aviation Administration of China (CAAC) and other regulatory bodies.

Significant Trends & Developments. The global COVID-19 pandemic continues to have a material adverse effect on the global airline
industry. A key underlying driver of Aviation's commercial engine and services businesses is global commercial air traffic, which in tumn
is driven by economic activity and consumer and business propensity to travel. Since the beginning of the pandemic in the first quarter
of 2020, we have seen varied levels of recovery in global markets. Government travel restrictions, public health advisories, individuals’
propensity to travel and continued cases of the virus have alt impacted the level of air travel. Due to the global airline industry
contraction, Aviation’s airline and airframe customers are taking measures to address reduced demand, which, in turn, continue to
materially impact Aviation's business operations and financial performance. As a result, our long-term service agreement billings
decreased approximately 19% from the prior year, partially mitigated by customer billings for contract terminations, modifications and
annual contractual minimum engine flight hours. Aviation is closely monitoring government actions and economic and industry
forecasts, although such forecasts continue to evolve and reflect the uncertainty about the severity and duration of the decling in
commercial air traffic. Aviation regularly tracks global departures, which as of December 31, 2020, were approximately 40% below the
pre-COVID-19 baseline. More broadly, we are in frequent dialogue with our airline and airframe customers about the outlook for
commercial air travel, new aircraft production, and after-market services. Given the current trend, we expect domestic travel routes
primarily served by narrowbody aircraft to recover before long-haul, international travel routes which are primarily served by widebody
aircraft. We continue to expect the engine aftermarket recovery to lag departure trends across regions and fleets, which would result in
long-term service agreement billings and cash to recover prior to associated revenues and profits. Consistent with industry projections,
Aviation continues to estimate the duration of the market recovery to be prolonged over multiple years dependent on cantaining the
spread of the virus, effective inoculation programs and government collaboration to encourage travel, particularly around quarantine
requirements.

Aviation has taken several business actions to respond to the current adverse environment, including a reduction of approximately 25%
of its total global workforce. For the year ended December 31, 2020, Aviation realized more than $1 billion in aperational cost reduction
and $2 billion in cash preservation actions, including a headcount reduction of over 11,000 employees. Aviation expects ta realize cost

and cash savings in 2021 as a result of the actions taken in 2020 and further initiatives in 2021. The business is actively monitoring the
pace of demand recovery to ensure the business is appropriately sized for the future. In addition, we continue to partner with our airfine
and leasing customers and are working closely with our airframe partners to align praduction rates for 2021 and beyond.

Aviation's operational and financial performance is impacted by commercial air traffic, shop visit and spare part demand, fleet
retirements, and demand for new aircraft. We monitor and forecast each of these factors as part of Aviation’s long-term planning
process, which may result in additional business restructuring actions. Given the uncertainty related to the severity and length of the
global COVID-19 pandemic and the impact on these factors across the aviation sectar and specific customers, Aviation could be
required to record charges, impairments, or other adverse financial impacts in future periods if actual resuits differ significantty from
Awviation's current estimates.

As it refates to the military envirenment, Aviation continues to forecast strong military demand creating future growth opportunities for
our Military business as the U.S. Department of Defense and foreign governments have continued flight operations, and have allocated
budgets to upgrade and modernize their existing fleets. During 2020, Aviation experienced supply chain execution challenges which
resulted in fewer engine and spare part shipments than the prior year. The business is actively addressing these matters to enable
future grawth in Military.



Total engineering, comprised of company, customer and partner-funded and nonrecurring engineering costs, decreased compared to
prior year in line with the changes in the commercial environment. For the year ended December 31, 2020, company-funded research
and development spend decreased compared to 2019, and we expect the reduction to continue in line with the actions outlined above.
However, customer and partner-funded engineering efforts, primarily in our Military business, increased compared to the prior year. In
September 2020, Aviation announced it received certification from the FAA for the GE9X engine, the world’s largest and most powerfut
commercial aircraft engine.

Aviation is taking actions to protect its abifity to serve its customers now and as the global airline industry recovers. While its near-term
focus remains on navigating the COVID-19 pandemic, Aviation's deep history of innovation and technology leadership, commercial
engine installed base of approximately 37,700 units, military engine installed base of approximately 26,500 units, with approximately
12,500 units under long-term service agreements. and $260 billion backlog represents strong long-term fundamentals. Aviation is taking
actions to protect and strengthen its business and seeks to emerge from this crisis stronger and drive lang-term cash and profitable
growth over time.

Crders Sales
{In units. except where noted) 2020 2019 2000 2019
Commercial Engines 678 2,390 1,487 2,863
LEAP Engines{a) 351 1,568 815 1,736
Military Engines 1,023 801 683 17
Spares Rate(b) $ 18.0 % 31.0

{a) LEAP engines are a subset of Commercial Engines )
{b} Commercial externally shipped spares and spares used in time & material shop visits in millions of dollars per day.

2020 2019 2048
Equipment $ 34,486 $ 39131 $ 37,831
Services 225,927 234,114 185,696
Total backlog $ 260,412 $ 273,245 $ 223,527
Equipment $ 8119 § 14459 $ 15268
Services 13,471 22,280 20,248
Total orders $ 21,590 $ 35738 $ 35517
Commercial Engines & Services $ 13,017 $ 24217 $ 22,724
Military 4,672 4,389 4,103
Systems & Other 4,453 4,269 3,740
Total segment revenues $ 22,042 $ 32875 $ 30,566
Equipment $ 8582 $ 12,737 % 11499
Services 13,460 20,138 19,067
Total segment revenues(a) $ 22,042 $ 32,875 $ 30,566
Segment profit (loss}{b)(c) $ 1,229 $ 6,812 $ 6,454
Segment profit margin 56 % 207 % 211 %

(a) Aviation segment revenues represent 30% and 27% of total industrial revenues and total segment revenues, respectively, for the
vear ended December 31, 2020.

(b) Aviation segment profit represents 17% of total industrial profit for the year ended December 31, 2020,

(c) Included restructuring charges of $26 million, $8 million and $12 million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018,
respectively, that were previously reported within the Corporate segment and were reclassified into the Aviation segment results in
the fourth quarter of 2020 for all periods presented. Far a summary of all restructuring charges by segment, see the Other
Consolidated Information section.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, segment orders were down $15.1 billion (41%), segment revenues were down $10.8
billion (33%) and segment profit was down $5.6 billion (82%).

Backlog as of December 31, 2020 decreased $12.8 billion (5%} from December 31, 2019, primarily due to a reduction in our
Commercial Services backlog and cancellations of commercial equipment orders, which included approximately 1,500 LEAP 1-B unit
order cancellations and 22 GE9x unit order cancellations. The reduction to Commercial Services backlog reflects estimates of lower
engine utilization, the partial cancellation of long-term service agreements related to the equipment unit order cancellations, and
anticipated customer fleet restructuring and contract modifications. Backlog adjustments could be necessary in future periods for
additional cancellations of new commercial engine orders, fleet retirements, or changes to customer aircraft utilization and operating
behavior.



Orders decreased $14.8 billion (41%) organically, primarily driven by lower commercial equipment and service orders as airline
customers have slowed or deferred new engine orders, as well as delayed maintenance and repair operations while existing fleets have
lower utilization or been grounded. Mititary orders increased 21% compared io the prior year primarily driven by equipment and new
development orders.

Revenues decreased $10.5 billion (32%) organically*. Equipment revenues decreased, primarily due to 1,376 fewer commercial install
and spare engine unit shipments, including 921 fewer LEAP units and 228 fewer CFM56 units versus the prior year, in part due to the
737 MAX grounding and production stowdown. Commercial Services revenues decreased, primarily due to lower commercial spare part
shipments, decreased shop visits and the cumulative impact of changes in billing and cost assumptions in our long-term service
agreements. Military revenues increased primarily due to increased revenues on development contracts and engine shipment mix,
partially offset by fewer engine and spare part shipments due to supply chain execution challenges.

Profit decreased $5.6 billion (82%) organically*, primarily due to lower volume on commercial spare part and commercial spare engine
shipments, and decreased shop visits in our service agreements. During the year ended December 31, 2020, Aviation recorded
expenses of $0.5 billion due to lower production volumes and initiated restructuring actions given decreases in demand primarily related
to commercial engines. Aviation also recorded pre-tax charges totaling $0.2 billien due to expected future losses related primarily to
customer credit risk given the current environment. In addition, Aviation recorded net unfavorable changes of $1.1 billion to the
estimated profitability in its long-term service agreements. This decrease includes a $0.6 billion pre-tax charge to reflect the cumulative
COVID-18 pandemic-related impacts of changes to billing and cost assumptions for certain long-term service agreements, reflecting
lower engine utilization, anticipated customer fleet restructuring and contract modifications as a resuft of current and forecasted market
conditions. Additional adjustments could occur in future pericds and could be material for certain long-term service agreements if actual
customer operating behavicr differs significantly from Aviation's current estimates.

HEALTHCARE. Healthcare provides essential healthcare technologies to developed and emerging markets and has expertise in
medical imaging, digital solutions, patient monitoring and diagnostics, drug discovery and performance improvement solutions that are
the building blocks of precision health. Products and services are sold worldwide primarily to hospitals and medical facilities.

Healthcare Systems — develops, manufactures, markets and services a broad suite of products and solutions used in the diagnosis,
treatment and monitering of patients that is encompassed in imaging, ultrasound, life care solutions and enterprise software and
solutions. Imaging includes magnetic resonance, computed tomography, molecular imaging, x-ray systems and complementary
software and services, for use in general diagnostics, women's health and image-guided therapies. Ultrasound includes high-frequency
soundwave systems, and complementary software and services, for use in diagnostics tailored to a wide range of clinical settings. Life
Care Solutions (LCS) includes clinical monitoring and acute care systems, and complementary software and services, for use in
intensive care, anesthesia delivery, diagnostic cardiology and perinatal care. Enterprise Digital Solutions (EDS) includes enterprise
digital, artificial intelligence applications, censulting and Command Center offerings designed to improve efficiency in healthcare
delivery and expand global access to advanced health care.

Pharmaceutical Diagnostics - researches, manufactures and markets innovative imaging agents used during medical scanning
procedures to highlight organs, tissue and functions inside the human body, to aid physicians in the early detection, diagnosis and
management of disease through advanced in-vive diagnostics. These products include both contrast imaging and molecular imaging
agents.

BioPharma — This business was sold on March 31, 2020. It delivered products, services and manufacturing solutions for drug
discovery, biopharmaceutical production, and celtular and gene therapy technolegies, so that scientists ¢an discover new ways to
predict, diagnose and treat disease.

Competition & Regulation. Healthcare competes with a variety of U.S. and non-U.S. manufacturers and services providers.
Customers require products and services that allow them to provide better access to healthcare, improve the affordability of care and
improve the quality of patient outcomes. Key factors affecting competition include technological innovations, productivity sclutions,
competitive pricing and the ability to provide lifecycle services. New technalogies and solutions could make our products and services
obsoclete unless we continue to develop new and impraved offerings. Our products are subject to regulation by numerous government
agencies, as well as laws and regulations that apply to various reimbursement schemes or other government funded healthcare
pregrams.,

Significant Trends & Developments. During the first half of 2020, there was an increase in demand for certain of our products that are
highly correlated in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, inciuding ventilators, monitoring solutions, x-ray, anesthesia and point-of-care
ultrasound product lines. However, we also saw reduction in demand and delays in procurement in other products and services that
were not critical to the response efforts or where procedures could be postponed (magnetic resonance, contrast agents and nuclear
tracers). We have experienced some moderation in COVID-19 related demand in the secend half of 2020 and have experienced some
recovery in overall hospital spending, though this varies by market. The pandemic is still driving uncertainty in our markets globally, as
well as additional supply chain and logistics casts, and we expect this to continue. We expect capital expenditures, particularly in private
markets, to remain under pressure from revenue declines and cauticus spending related to COVID-19 impacts. In response to
continuing near-term volatility and cost pressures, we have driven structural cost reduction and cash optimization actions that began in
the first quarter of 2020,

*Non-GAAP Financial Measure



The global healthcare market has continued 1o expand, driven by macro trends relating to growing and aging populations, increasing
chronic and lifestyle-related diseases, accelerating demand for healthcare in emerging markets, and increasing use of diagnostic
imaging. Technclogical innovation that makes it possible to address an increasing number of diseases, conditions and patients in a
more cost-effective manner has also driven growth across each of our global markets.

The Healthcare Systems (MCS) equipment market over the long term continues to expand at low single-digit rates or better, while
demand continues for services on new equipment as well as on our existing installed base. However, there is short-term variation driven
by market-specific political, environmental and economic cycles, There has been some maderation in tariffs in both U.S. and China,
however, this is subject to changes in U.S -China trade regulations. Long-term growth in emerging markets is driven by trends of
expanding demand and access to healthcare. Developed markets are expected to remain steady in the near term driven by macro
trends in the healthcare industry.

The Pharmaceutical Diagnostics (PDx) business is well positioned in the contrast agent and nuclear tracer markets. This market is
expected to grow over the long-term, driven by continued diagnostic imaging procedure growth and increasing contrast and tracer-
enhanced biomarkers of these same procedures, as these products help to increase the precision of the diagnostic information
provided to clinicians. After we experienced reduced demand in the first half of 2020, we saw an increase in the second half of 2020 for
PDx products as procedure volume increased.

We continue focusing on creating new products and digital solutions as well as expanding uses of existing offerings that are taifored to
the different needs of our global customers. GE Healthcare recently introduced the Voluson™ SWIFT, an industry-first Sono-automation
tool, which leverages artificial intelligence to automatically identify fetal anatomy, enhancing workflow by more than 70%. In addition, we
lauinched the next version of Mural Virtual Care Solution, which provides clinical decision support with a view of patients' status across a
care area, hospital or system. We also completed the acquisition of Prismatic Sensors AB, which specializes in photon counting
Computed Tomography (CT).

2020 2019 2018

Equipment $ 5538 $ 6978 $ 6,254
Services 11,562 11,480 11,155
Total backlog $ 17,100 $ 18,458 $ 17,409
Equipment $ 10811 $ 12959 $ 12,574
Services 7,835 8,213 8,323
Total orders $ 18,645 § 21172 $ 20,897
Healthcare Systems $ 15387 $ 14648 $ 14,886
Pharmaceutical Diagnostics 1,792 2,005 1,868
BioPharma 830 3,289 3,010
Total segment revenues $ 18,009 $ 19,942 $ 19,784
Equipment $ 9,992 $ 11,585 $ 11,422
Services 8,017 8,357 8,363
Total segment revenues(a) $ 18,009 $ 19,942 $ 19,784
Segment profit {loss)(b)(c) $ 30860 $ 3737 § 3522

Segment profit margin 17.0 % 187 % 178 %

{(a) Healthcare segment revenues represent 25% and 22% of total industrial revenues and total segment revenues, respectively, for the
year ended December 31, 2020.

(b) Healthcare segment profit represents 42% of total industrial profit for the year ended December 31, 2020.

(c) Included restructuring charges of $134 millicn, $159 million and $176 million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and
2018, respectively, that were previously reported within the Corporate segment and were reclassified into the Healthcare segment
results in the fourth quarter of 2020 for all periods presented. For a summary of all restructuring charges by segment, see the Gther
Consolidated Information section.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, segment orders were down $2.5 billion (12%), segment revenues were down $1.9
billion {10%) and segment profit was down $0.7 billion (18%]}.

Backlog as of December 31, 2020 decreased $1.4 billion (7%) from December 31, 2019, primarity due to the BioPharma disposition.
Excluding Biopharma, backlog decreased $0.1 billion.

Orders increased $0.3 billion (1%) organically, due to increases in demand for COVID-19 related products, including a $0.3 billion order
from the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services to deliver 50,000 ventitators in partnership with Ford, partially offset by PDx.
Excluding BioPharma, orders were up $0.1 billion organically.

Revenues increased $4.7 billion (4%) organically*, driven by increased demand in HCS products used directly in response to
COVID-19, partially offset by reduced volume in PDx from a decrease in non-essential routine procedures. Excluding BioPharma,
revenues increased $0.6 billion (4%) organically*.

Profit increased $0.5 billion {17%) organically*, primarily due to cost reductions and increased demand for HCS products used directly
in response to COVID-19, partially offset by decreases in PDx volume. Excluding BioPharma, profits increased $0 .4 billion (17%)
crganically™.

*Non-GAAP Financial Measure



CAPITAL. Capital is the financial services division of GE focused on customers and markets aligned with GE's industrial businesses
across developed and emerging markets. We provide financial products and services around the globe that build on GE's industry
specific expertise in aviation, power, renewables and other activities to capitalize on market-specific opportunities. While there are
customer benefits and knowledge sharing advantages linking GE’s industrial and capital businesses, the financial and operational
relationships are maintained with arms-length terms as though the businesses were independent.

GE Capital Aviation Services (GECAS) — an aviation lessor and financier with over 50 years of experience. GECAS provides a wide
range of assets including narrow- or widebody aircraft, regional jets, turboprops, freighters, engines, helicopters, financing and
materials. GECAS offers a broad array of financing products and services on these assets including operating leases, sale-leasebacks,
asset trading and servicing, and airframe parts management. GECAS owns, services or has an order more than 1,600 aircraft and
serves approximately 205 customers in 73 countries from a network of 15 offices around the world.

Energy Financial Services (EFS) — a global energy investor that provides financial solutions and underwriting capabilities for Power
and Renewable Energy to meet rising demand and sustainability imperatives.

Working Capital Solutions (WCS) - provides working capital services primarily by purchasing GE Industrial customer receivables.
Insurance — Refer to the Other ltems - Insurance section for a detailed business description.

Competition & Regulation. The businesses in which we engage are highly competitive and are subject to competition from various
types of financial institutions including banks, investors, such as sovereign weaith funds, hedge funds and private equity investors,
leasing companies, finance companies associated with manufacturers and insurance and reinsurance companies. For our GECAS
operations, competition is based on lease rate financing terms, aircraft delivery dates, condition and availability, as well as available
capital demand for financing. For our EFS operations, competition is primarily based on deal structure and terms. As we compete
globally, EFS’ success is sensitive to project execution and merchant electricity prices, as well as the economic and political
environment of each country in which we do business.

The businesses in which we engage are subject to a variety of U.S. federal and state laws and regulations. Our insurance operations
are reguiated by the insurance departments in the states in which they are domiciled or licensed, with the Kansas Insurance
Department {KID) being our primary state regulator.

Significant Trends & Developments. We continue to evaluate strategic options to accelerate the further reduction in the size of GE
Capital, some of which could result in material financial charges depending on the timing, negotiated terms and conditions of any
ultimate arrangements,

At GE Capital, the primary effect of the COVID-19 pandemic pertains to its GECAS business. The pandemic has led to worldwide
reduction of flight schedules and it is difficult to predict its longer-term impact. Additionally, the related market volatility resulted in higher
credit spreads on the investment securities held by our run-off insurance business, which resulted in marks and impairments taken in
the first quarter, which, starting in the second guarter more than recovered in 2020.

As of December 31, 2020, GECAS owned 917 fixed-wing aircraft, of which 27 with a book value of $0.6 billion were available to lease to
customers (aircraft on the ground). We test recoverability of each fixed-wing aircraft in our operating lease portfolio at least annually.
Additionally, we perform quartery evaluations in circumstances such as when assets are re-leased or current lease terms have
changed.

Given the environment, we accelerated our review in the second guarter to focus on leases with higher risk of repossession based on
our assessment of customer credit risk default and any unplaced leased assets rolling-off over the next 12 months, which represented
approximately 20% of our fixed-wing aircraft operating lease portfelio. In addition, we performed our detailed annual portfolio review in
the third quarter of 2020, which incorporated third-party appraisal data, updates to ali cash flow assumptions as well as evolving market
and customer dynamics that we are monitoring. These analyses resulted in pre-tax impairments of $0.5 billion in 2020, primarily on our
fixed-wing aircraft operating lease portfolio. Pre-tax impairments were $0.1 billion in 2319, The increase in pre-tax impairments was
driven by declining cash flow projections of the future collectability of rents on aircraft and engines currently under contract related to
market impacts resulting from the pandemic. Continued deterioration in cash flow projections, including current rents, downtime, release
rates and residual assumptions could result in future impairments in the operating lease portfolio.

Based on the resulting pressure on its airline customers, GECAS continues to work with customers on restructuring requests as they
arise. As a result of these requests, we have executed agreements with customers to reschedule certain lease payments. As of
December 31, 2020, we have a contractually deferred balance of $0.4 billion. In addition, we have invoiced $0.3 billion under these
agreements and collected about 84%. We expect to continue to receive requests for rent deferrals and/or lease restructures from our
global airline customers as a result of COVID-19 and related market impacts. An extended disruption of regional cr international travel
could result in an increase in these types of requests in future periods, which could result in an increase to the trade receivable balance.
As GECAS evaluates future lease restructures, there is a risk of lease modifications that could have a material adverse effect on
GECAS operations, financial position and cash flows.

In October 2020, Pacific Investment Management Company (PIMCO), one of the world's premier fixed income investment managers,
and GECAS announced they had reached a preliminary agreement to develop an aviation leasing venture to support up to $3 billion in
aircraft asset financings. PIMCO and GECAS have executed certain of the definitive agreements and obtained relevant regulatory
clearances for the venture.



We annually perform premium deficiency testing in the aggregate across our run-off insurance portfolio in the third quarter. As a result of
the testing, we identified no premium deficiency. See the Other ltems section and Note 12 for further information.

GE Capital received $2 hillion of additional capital contributions from GE in the fourth quarter of 2020. See the Capital Resources and
Liquidity section for further informaticn.

As previously mentioned, GE reached a settlement with the SEC and paid a civil penalty of $0.2 billion in December 2020, of which $0.1
billicn was recorded and paid at GE Capital. See Note 23 for further information.

December 31, 2020  December 31, 2019

GECAS 3 35863 § 37,979
EFS 2,385 1,823
WCS(a) 5,884 9,014
Insurance 50,824 46,266
Other continuing operations{a)(b) 18,569 22,463
Total segment assets $ 113,526 % 117,546

3.4:1 3.9:1

GE Capital debt to equity ratio

{(a) In the first quarter of 2020, the remaining Industrial Finance assets of $268 million were transferred to Other continuing operations.

{b) Included cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash of $13,245 million as of December 31, 2020 and $17,618 million as of
December 31, 2019.

2020 2019 2018
GECAS $ 3947 % 4895 § 4,944
EFS 74 145 144
WCS 334 829 1,451
Insurance 29486 2,904 2,941
Other continuing operations {55) 31) 4l
Total segment revenues(a) 7.245 § 8,741 % 9,551
GECAS $ (786) $ 1,029 § 1,225
EFS 52 121 85
WCS 66 234 305
Insurance 189 (6811) (157)
Other continuing operations(b) (1,232) {1,303} (1,947)
Total segment profit (loss) $  (1L.710) 8 (530) % {489)

(a) Capital segment revenues represent 9% of total segment revenues for the year ended December 31, 2020.

{b) Other continuing operations primarily comprised excess interest costs from debt previously allocated (o assets that have been sold
as part of the GE Capital Exit Plan, preferred stock dividend costs and interest costs not allocated to GE Capital businesses, which
are driven by GE Capital's interest allocation process. Interest costs are allocated to GE Capital businesses based on the tenor of
their assets using the market rate at the time of origination, which differs from the asset profile when the debt was originated. As a
result, actual interest expense is higher than interest expense allocated to the remaining GE Capital businesses. All preferred stock
dividend costs have become a GE Industrial obligation in January 2021. See Note 186 for further information. In addition, we
anticipate unallocated interest costs to gradually decline as debt matures and/or is refinanced.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, segment revenues decreased $1.5 billion (17%) and segment losses were up $1.2
billion.

Capital revenues decreased $1.5 billion (17%), as a result of volume deciines and lower gains. These volume declines were primarily at
GECAS related to lower interest income attributable to the sale of PK AirFinance and lower rental revenue on our aircraft leasing
portfolio, and at WCS related to lower purchases of GE Industrial customer receivables and the run-off of the GE Capital supply chain
finance program (See GE Industrial Working Capital Transactions for further information). Capital losses increased $1.2 billion, primarily
due to an impairment of goodwill of $0.8 billion (pre-tax), volume declines, higher mark-to-market effects and other impairments,
including $0.5 billion (pre-tax) on the GECAS fixed-wing aircraft portfolio as a result of COVID-19 and related markel impacts, lower
gains, debt tender costs, the SEC settlement charge and the nonrecurrence of a 2019 tax reform enactment adjustment. These
increased losses were partially offset by the nonrecurrence af a §1.0 billion pre-tax charge identified thraugh the completion of aur 2019
annual insurance premium deficiency review, higher tax benefits including the tax benefit related to the BioPharma sale and lower
excess interest cost. Gains were $0.4 billion and $0.7 billion in 2020 and 2019, respectively, which primarily related to sales of certain
GECAS aircraft and engines resulting in gains of $0.2 billion and $0.4 billion in 2020 and 2019, respectively, and the sale of equity
method investments resulting in gains of $0.1 billion and $0.2 billion in 2020 and 2019, respectively, at EFS.



CORPORATE ITEMS AND ELIMINATIONS. Corporate ltems and Eliminations is a caption used in the Segment Operations —
Summary of Reportable Segments table to reconcile the aggregated results of our segments to the consolidated results of the
Company. The Caorporate items and Eliminations amounts related to revenues and earnings include the results of disposed businesses,
certain amounts not included in industrial operating segment results because they are exciuded from measurement of their operating
performance for internal and external purposes and the elimination of intersegment activities. In addition, the Corporate Iltems and
Eliminations amounts related to earnings include certain costs of our principal retirement plans, significant, higher-cost restructuring
programs and other costs reported in Corporate.

Corporate items and eliminations includes the resuits of our Lighting segment, through its disposition in the second quarter of 2020, and
GE Digital business for all periods presented.

2020 2019 2013

Revenues
Caorparate revenues $ 1313 % 1,791 % 2,783
Eliminations and other (2,245) (2,096) (2.110)
Total Corporate Items and Eliminations 3 (932) $ {305) $ 673
Operating profit (cost)
Gains (losses} on disposals and held for sale businesses § 12472 8 4 8 1,370
Restructuring and other charges {680) (886) (2,056)
Steam asset impairments(a) (Notes 7 and 8) (363) — —
SEC settlement charge(b) (100) — —
Unrealized gains {losses) {1,911) 793 —
Goadwill impairments(c) {Note 8) {728) (1,488)  (22.136)
Adjusted total corporate operating costs (Non-GAAP) (1,328) (1,736) {1,514}
Total Corporate ltems and Eliminations (GAAP) $ 7,362 §  (3,311)% (24,337)

Less: gains (losses), impairments and restructuring & other 8,689 (1,575) (22,822}
Adjusted total corporate operating costs (Non-GAAR) 3 (1,328} $ (1.736) $ {1,514)
Functions & operations $ (1.028) $ (1.295) % (1,622}
Environmental, health & safety (EHS) and other items (104) {258) 169
Eliminations (195) (184) (61
Adjusted total corporate operating costs (Non-GAAP} $ (1,328) % (1.736) % (1,514)

{a) Included non-cash pre-tax impairment charges of $429 million, net of $66 million attributable to noncontrolling interests far the
Steam business within our Power segment in 2020.

{b) GE reached a setllement with the SEC and paid a civil penalty of $200 million in December 2020, of which $100 million was
recorded and paid at Corporate and $100 million was recorded and paid at GE Capital.

(c) Included non-cash pre-tax impairment charge of $877 million, net of $149 million attributable to noncontrolling interests for the
Additive reporting unit within our Aviation segment in 2020.

Adjusted total corporate operating costs” excludes gains (losses) on disposals and held for sale businesses, significant, higher-cost
restructuring programs, unrealized gains (losses) and goodwill impairments. We believe that adjusting corporate costs to exclude the
effects of items that are not closely associated with angoing corparate operations provides management and investors with a
meaningful measure that increases the period-to-period comparability of our ongoing corporate costs.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, revenues decreased by $0.6 billion, primarily as a result of a $0.5 billion decrease in
revenues due to the sale of our Current and Lighting businesses in April 2019 and June 2020, respectively, and $0.1 billion of higher
inter-segment eliminations. Corporate costs decreased by $10.7 billion due to $12.5 billion of higher net gains, primarily driven by $12.4
billion of gains from the sale of our BioPharma business in 2020. Corporate costs also decreased by $0.8 billion due to $1.5 billion of
goodwill impairment charges related to our Renewable Energy segment in 2019 as compared to $0.7 billion of net goodwill impairment
charges refated to our Aviation segment in 2020. In addition, Corporate costs decreased by $0.2 billion due to lower restructuring and
other charges in 2020, primarily at Corporate and Power, partially offset by higher restructuring at Aviation. These decreases were
partially offset by $2.7 hillion of higher net unrealized losses, primarily related to a $1.8 billion mark-to-market loss on our Baker Hughes
shares and a $0.1 billion impairment on our Ventures portfolio in 2020, as compared to a $0.8 billion mark-to-market gain on our Baker
Hughes shares in 2019. Corporate recognized $0.4 billion of non-cash impairment charges related to property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets at our Steam business within our Power segment in 2020. in addition, Corporate costs increased by $0.1 billion due to
the settlement of the SEC investigation in 2020.

Adjusted total corporate operating costs* decreased by $0.4 billion in 2020 primarity as the result of $0.3 billion of cost reductions within
our Digital business and functions and $3.2 billion of iower costs primarily associated with existing EHS matters. Qverali, eliminations
were relatively flat due to higher intercompany elimination activity from project financing investments associated with wind energy
projects in our Renewable Energy segment and higher GE industrial inter-segment eliminations, offset by lower spare engine sales fram
our Aviation segment to our GECAS business.

“Non-GAAP Financial Measure



COSTS AND GAINS NOT INCLUDED IN SEGMENT RESULTS. As discussed in the Segment Operations section, certain amounts
are not included in industrial segment results because they are exciuded from measurement of their operating performance for internal
and external purposes. These amounts relate primarily to significant, higher-cost restructuring programs, goodwill impairment charges
and gains/(losses) on acquisition and disposition activities.

Costs Gains {Losses)

2020 2019 20138 20298 2019 2018
Power $ 583 § 307 § 20178 § 49 % 2) % 988
Renewable Energy 13 1,637 3,114 — — —
Aviation 1,099 — 7 14 — (1186)
Healthcare 3 43 58 12,364 (n 785
Total Industrial segments $ 1,698 % 1,888 $ 23357 $§ 12427 § 4) 1,657
Corporate ltems and Eliminations 173 488 857 (1.866) 801 {288)
Total GE Industrial $ 1,871 % 2374 § 24214 % 10,561 § 797 % 1,370

OTHER CONSOLIDATED INFORMATION

RESTRUCTURING. Restructuring actions are essential to our cost improvement efforts for both existing operations and those acquired.
Restructuring and other ¢harges relate primarily to workforce reductions, facility exit costs associated with the consolidation of sales,
service and manufacturing facilities, the integration of acquisitions, and certain other asset write-downs such as those associated with
product line exits. We also recognize an obtigation for severance benefits that vest ar accumulate with service. We continue to closely
monitor the econamic environment and expect to undertake further restructuring actions to more closely afign our cost structure with
earnings goals. This table is inclusive of all restructuring charges in our segments.

2020 2019 2018
Workforce reductions $ 856 $ 823 % 989
Plant closures & associated costs and other asset write-downs 332 349 1,449
Acquisition/disposition net charges 66 180 612
Other — 9) —
Total restructuring and other charges $ 1,254 $ 1,343 § 3,050
Cost of product/services $ 570 % 386 % 1,092
Selling, general and administrative expenses 697 993 1,838
Other income (13) {36) $ 120
Total restructuring and other charges % 1,254 % 1,343 § 3,050

2026 2619 M3
Power 3 236 § 402 § 1,301
Renewable Energy 213 176 301
Aviation 397 8 18
Healthcare 137 201 222
Corporate 245 529 1,110
GE Industrial restructuring and other charges $ 1229 § 1,315 § 2,852
Capital 25 28 a8
Total restructuring and other charges by business 5 1254 % 1,343 % 3,050
Restructuring and othar charges cash expenditures $ 1,175 § 1,209 8§ 1,480

Liabilittes associated with restructuring activities were approximately $1.3 billion, $1.7 billion, and $2.6 billion, including actuarial
determined post-employment severance benefits of $0.7 billion, $1.C billion, and $1.8 billion as of December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018,
respectively.

INTEREST AND OTHER FINANCIAL CHARGES 2020 2019 2018
GE Industrial $ 1333 § 2,115 % 2,415
GE Capital 2,186 2,532 2,882

The decrease in GE Industrial interest and other financial charges for the year ended December 31, 2020 was driven primarily by lower
interest on borrowings due to repayments of intercompany loans from GE Capital and lower losses related to the completion of tender
offers to purchase GE Industrial senior notes (including fees and other costs associated with the tenders), and lower expenses on sales
of GE Industrial current receivables mainly driven by lower sales of receivables and lower benchmark interest rates. The primary
components of GE Industrial interest and other financial charges are interest on short- and long-term borrowings and financing costs on
sales of receivables. Total GE Industrial interest and other financial charges of $0.9 billion and $1.3 billion were recorded at Corporate
and $0.5 billion and $0.8 billion were recorded by GE tndustrial segments for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019,
respectively.



The decrease in GE Capital interest and other financial charges for the year ended December 31, 2020 was primarily due fo lower
average borrowings balances due to maturities and a decrease in average interest rates due to changes in market rates, partially offset
by higher net interest on assumed debt resulting from a decrease in intercompany loans to GE Industrial which bear the right of offset
(see the Borrowings section of Capital Rescurces and Liguidity for an explanation of assumed debt and right-of-offset loans), and the
$0.2 billion loss resulting from the completion of tender offers to purchase GE Capital senior notes {including fees and other costs
associated with the tenders). GE Capital average borrowings were $55.8 billion, $61.8 billion and $78.7 billion in 2020, 2019 and 2018,
respectively. The GE Capital average compasite effective interest rate {including interest allocated to discontinued operations) was
4.0%, 4.2% and 3.8% in 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS. Refer to Note 13 for our pensicn and retiree benefit plans.

INCOME TAXES

CONSOLIDATED 2020 2018 2018
Effective tax rate (ETR} (9. 1% 63.2 % {0.4)%
Provision (benefit) for income taxes $ @474 3 726 % 93
Cash income taxes paid{a) 1,291 2,228 1,868

(a) Included taxes paid related to discontinued operations.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, the consolidated income tax benefit was $0.5 billion. The change in tax from a tax provision
in 2019 to a tax benefit for 2020 was primarily due to the decrease in pre-tax income excluding the gain from the sale of our BioPharma
business and non-deductible goodwill impairment charges and a decrease in valuation allowances on non-U.S. deferred tax assets
partially offset by the increase in tax expense associated with the disposition of the BioPharma business in 2020 compared to the
amount recognized on preparatory steps for the planned disposition in 2019 and a decrease in benefit from the completion of the
Internal Revenue Service (IRS) audits.

Absent additional taxes enacted as part of U.S. tax reform and non-U.S. losses withoul a tax benefit, our consolidated income tax
provision is generally reduced because of the benefits of lower-taxed global cperations as certain non-U.S. income is subject to local
country tax rates that are below the U.S. statutory tax rate.

The rate of tax on our profitable non-U.S. earnings is below the U.S. stafutary tax rate because we have significant business operations
subject to tax in countries whera the tax on that income is lower than the U.S. statutory rate and because GE funds certain non-U.S.
operations through foreign companies that are subject to low foreign taxes. Most of these earnings have been reinvested in active non-
U.S. business operations and as of December 31, 2020, we have not decided to repatriate these earnings to the U.S. Given U.S. tax
reform, substantially all of our net prior unrepatriated earnings were subject to U.S. tax and accordingly we generally expect to have the
ability ta repatriate available non-U.S, cash without additional U.S. federal tax cost and any foreign withholding taxes on a repatriation to
the U.S. would potentially be partially offset by a U.S. fareign tax credit.

A substantiat portion of the benefit for lower-taxed non-U_S. eamings related to business operations subject (o tax in countries where
the tax on that income is lower than the U.S. statutory rate is derived from our GECAS aircraft leasing operations located in [reland
where the earnings are taxed at 12.5%, our Power operations located in Switzerland where the earnings are taxed at between 9% and
18.6% and our Aviation operations located in Singapore where the earnings are primarily taxed at a rate of 8%.

The rate of tax on non-U.S. operations is increased, however, because we also incur losses in foreign jurisdictions where it is not likely
that the losses can be utilized and no tax benefit is provided for those losses and valuation allowances against loss carryforwards are
provided when it is no longer likely that the losses can be utilized. In addition, as part of U.S. tax reform, the U.S. has enacted a tax on
“base eroding” payments from the U.S. We are continuing to undertake restructuring actions to mitigate the impact from this provision.
The U.S. has also enacted a minimum tax on foreign earnings (global intangible low tax income}. Because we have tangible assets
outside the U.S. and pay significant foreign taxes, we generally do not expect a significant increase in tax liability from this new U.S.
minimum tax. Overall, these newly enacted provisions increase the rate of tax on our non-U.3. operations.

BENEFIT/{EXPENSE) FROM GLOBAL OPERATIONS 2020 2018 2018
Benefit/{expense) of foreign tax rate difference on non-U.$. earnings $ 90 $ 27 % (292)
Benefit of audit resolutions 129 86 225
BioPharma disposition and preparatory restructuring 1.447 {633) —
Other {186) (526) (973)
Total benefit/{expense) $ 1,480 § {1,046) % (1,040)

The amounts reported above exclude the impact of U.S. tax reform which is reported as a separate line in the reconciliation of the U.$.
federal statutory income tax rate to the actual tax rate in Note 15.
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For the year ended December 31, 2020, the change from an expense from global operations in 2019 to a benefit from global
operations in 2020 reflects the lower rate of tax on the disposition of the BioPharma business in 2020 compared to an amount of tax
recognized on preparatory steps for the planned disposition in 2019 and a decrease in valuation allowances on non-U.S. deferred tax

assets.

A more detailed analysis of differences between the U.S. federal statutory rate and the consolidated effective rate, as well as other
information about our income tax provisions, is provided in the Critical Accounting Estimates section and Note 15. The nature of
business activities and associated income taxes differ for GE Industrial and for GE Capital; therefore, a separate analysis of each is
presented in the paragraphs that follow.

GE INDUSTRIAL EFFECTIVE TAX RATE 2020 2019 2018
GE Industrial ETR 53 % 727 % (2.3Y%
GE Industrial provision for income taxes $ 388 $ 1309 $ 467

For the year ended December 31, 2020, the GE Industrial provision for income taxes decreased primarily due to the decrease in pre-
tax income excluding the gain from the sate of our BioPharma business and non-deductible goodwill impairment charges and a
decrease in valuation allowances on non-U.S. deferred tax assets partially offset by the increase in tax expense associated with the
disposition of the BioPharma business in 2020 compared to the amount recognized on preparatory steps for the planned disposition in
219 and A decrease in henefit from the completion of the IRS audits.

GE CAPITAL EFFECTIVE TAX RATE 2020 2019 2018
GE Capital ETR 411 % 89.3 % 899.7 %
GE Capital provision {benefit) for income taxes $ (862) B (582) §  (374)

For the year ended December 31, 2020, the GE Capital tax benefit increased primarily due to the decrease in pre-tax income
excluding non-deductible goodwill impairment charges and due to larger benefits on global operations including a tax benefit associated
with the disposition of the BioPharma business in 2020.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT. We conduct research and development (R&D) activities to continually enhance our existing
products and services, develop new products and services to meet our customers' changing needs and reguirements, and address new
market opportunities. In addition to funding R&D internally, we also receive funding externally from our customers and partners, which
contributes to the overall R&D for the company.

GE funded Customer and Partner funded(b) Total R&D

2020 2019 2018 2020 2019 2018 2020 2019 2018
Power $ 317 8 314 % 409 % 13 % 13 8 58 330 % 327 3 414
Renewable Energy 466 522 413 19 9 11 485 531 424
Aviation 707 906 950 1,090 811 564 1,797 1,817 1,514
Healthcare 845 994 968 27 25 23 872 1,019 9N
Carporate(a) 231 382 675 106 89 48 336 471 722
Total $ 2565 % 3118 % 3415 % 12555 1,046 % 650 § 3820 § 4,164 § 4,065

(a) Includes Giobal Research Center and Digital business.
(b} Customer funded is principally U.S. Government funded in our Aviation segment.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS. Discontinued operations primarily include certain businesses in our GE Capital segment (our
mortgage portfolio in Poland and trailing liabilities associated with the sale of our GE Capital businesses) and our Baker Hughes and
Transportation segments. See Notes 2 and 23 for further financial information regarding our businesses in discontinued operations.

The mortgage portfolio in Poland (Bank BPH) comprises floating-rate residential mortgages, 87% of which are indexed to or
denominated in foreign currencies (primarily Swiss francs). At December 31, 2020, the total portfolio had a carrying value of $2.4 billion
with a 1.61% 90-day delinquency rate and an average loan to value ratio of approximately 63.0%. The portfolio is recorded at the lower
of cost or fair value, less cost to sell, and inctuded a $0.3 billion impairment, which reflected market yields as well as estimates with
respect to ongoing litigation in Poland related to foreign currency-denominated mortgages and other factors. See Note 23 for additional
information about this litigation and the potential for further adverse developments to result in further losses related to these loans in
future reporting periods.



CAPITAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY

FINANCIAL POLICY. We intend to maintain a disciplined financial policy, including maintaining a high cash balance. We are targeting a
sustainable long-term credit rating in the Single-A range, achieving a GE Industrial net debt*-to-EBITDA ratio of less than 2.5x and a
dividend in line with our peers aver time, as well as maintaining a less than 4-to-1 debt-to-equity ratio for GE Capital. in addition to net
debt™-tc-EBITDA, we also evaluate other leverage measures, including gross debt-to-EBITDA, and we will ultimately size our
deleveraging actions across a range of measures to ensure we are operating the Company based on a strong balance sheet. We
intend to continue to decrease our GE Industrial leverage over time as we navigate this period of uncertainty, although we now expect
to achiave our GE Industrial leverage target over time.

LIQUIDITY POLICY. We maintain a strong focus on liquidity and define our liquidity risk tolerance based on securces and uses to
maintain a sufficient liquidity position to meet our obligations under both normal and stressed conditions. We intend to maintain a high
level of cash and maximize flexibility as we navigate the current environment. At both GE Industrial and GE Capital, we manage our
liquidity to provide access to sufficient funding to meet our business needs and financial obligations, as well as capital allocation and
growth abjectives, throughout business cycles.

GE Industrial has continued to enhance its cash management operations, targeting increased linear cash flow, lower factoring, and
reducing restricted cash. As a result, we reduced our intra-quarter borrowings by $3.6 billion in 2020 and reduced our GE Industrial

cash needs to belaw approximately $13 billion on a go-forward basis. However, we will continue holding elevated cash levels through
this period of uncertainty.

At GE Capital, we continue to hald cash lavels to cover at least 12 months of long-term debt maturities.
We believe that our consolidated liquidity and availability under our revolving credit facilities wil! be sufficient to meet our liquidity needs.

CONSOLIDATED LIQUIDITY. Fallowing is a summary of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at December 31, 2020,

December 31, 2020 December 31. 2020
GE Industrial 3 23,209 U.S. $ 18,934
GE Capital 13,421 Non-U.S. 17,696
Consolidated 5 36,630 Consolidated $ 36,630

Cash held in non-U.3. entities has generally been reinvested in active foreign business operations; however, substantially all of our
unrepatriated earnings were subject to U.S. federal tax and, if there is a change in reinvestment, we would expect to be able to
repatriate available cash (excluding amounts held in countries with currency controls) without additional federal tax cost. Any foreign
withhalding tax on a repatriation to the U.S. would potentially be partially offset by a U.S. foreign tax credit.

GE INDUSTRIAL LIQUIDITY. GE Industrial's primary sources of liquidity consist of cash and cash equivalents, free cash flows from our
operaling businesses, monetization of receivables, and short-term borrowing facilities, including revolving credit facilities. Cash
generation can be subject to variability based on many factors, including seasonality, receipt of down payments on large equipment
orders, timing of billings on long-term contracts, market conditions and our ability to execute dispositions. Additionally, as previously
reported, we launched a program in the third quarter of 2020 to fully monetize our Baker Hughes position over approximately three
years. Consistent with the program’s design, we received initial proceeds of approximately $0.4 billion in the fourth quarter of 2020 and
$0.7 billion in January 2021. See Note 26 for further information.

GE Industrial cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash totaled $23.2 billion at December 31, 2020, including $2.2 billion of cash held
in countries with currency control restrictions and $ .4 billion of restricted use cash. Cash held in countries with currency controls
represents amounts held in countries that may restrict the transfer of funds to the U.S. or timit our ability to transfer funds to the U.S.
without incurring substantial costs. Restricted use cash represents amounts that are not available to fund operations, and primarily
comptised funds restricted in connection with certain ongoing litigation matters.

In the fourth quarter of 2020, GE Industrial took actions to continue to solidify its financial position through a $2.5 billion pre-funding to
the GE Pension Plan as well as the repayment of $1.5 billion of intercompany loans to GE Capital. Based on our current assumptions,
we do not anticipate further centributions to the GE Pension Plan through 2023.

As previously communicated, GE Industrial provided a capital contribution to GE Capital in the fourth quarter of 2020 of $2.0 biltion, in
line with the first quarter 2020 insurance statutory funding. In 2021, GE Industrial expects to provide an additional contribution to GE
Capital in line with the existing insurance statutory funding requirement of approximately $2.0 billion. Further 2021 capital contributions
will depend on GE Capital's performance, incluging GECAS operations and the Insurance statutory asset adequacy testing results, in
light of the uncertain environment. Going forward, we anticipate GE Capital’s liquidity and capital needs will be met through a
combination of GE Capital liquidity. GE Capital asset sales, GE Capital future earnings and capital contributions from GE (ndustrial.

GE CAPITAL LIQUIDITY. GE Capital's primary sources of liquidity consist of cash and cash equivalents, cash generated from asset
sales and cash flows from our businesses, as well as GE Industrial repayments of intercompany loans and capital contributions from
GE Industrial. We expect to maintain a sufficient liquidity position to fund our insurance obligations and debt maturities. See the
Segment Operations - Capital section for further information regarding allocation of GE Capitat interest expense to the GE Capital
businesses.

*Non-GAAF Financial Measure



GE Capital cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash totaled $13.4 bilion at December 31, 2020, excluding $0.5 billion of cash in
insurance entities, which was classified as All other assets on the GE Capital Statement of Financial Position. See Note 10 for further
information about classification of cash in insurance entities.

GE Capital provided capital contributions to its insurance subsidiaries of $2.0 billion, $1.9 billion and $3.5 billion in the first quarters of
2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and expects to provide further capital contributions of approximately $7 billion through 2024,
including approximately $2.0 billion in the first quarter of 2021, pending completion of our December 31, 2020 statutory reperting
process, which includes asset adequacy testing. These contributions are subject to ongoing manitoring by KID, and the total amount to
be contributed could increase or decrease, or the timing could be accelerated, based upon the results of reserve adequacy testing or a
decision by KID to modify the schedule of contributions set forth in January 2018. We will continue to manitor the interest rate
environment, including the impact of reinvestment rates and our investment portfolio performance, and other factors in determining the
related effect on our expected future capital contributions. See the Critical Accounting Estimates section for discussion of the sensitivity
of interest rate changes to our insurance liabilities. GE is required to maintain specified capital levels at these insurance subsidiaries
under capital maintenance agreements. Going forward, we anticipate funding any capital needs for insurance through a combination of
GE Capital liquidity, GE Capital asset sales, GE Capital future earnings and capital contributions from GE Industrial.

BORROWINGS. Consolidated total borrowings were $75.1 billion and $80.9 billion at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019,
respectively, a decrease of $15.8 billion ($16.3 billion excluding intercompany eliminations). See the following table for a summary of
GE Industrial and GE Capital borrowings.

GE Industrlal December 31, 4020 December 31, 2019 GE Gapital December 31, 202¢ December 31, 2019
Commercial paper Senior and subordinated

$ — % 3,008 notes $ 30,087 § 36,501
GE Industrial senior notes Senior and subordinated

notes assumed by
18,994 15,488 GE Industrial 22,390 31,368

Intercompany loans from Intercompany loans to
GE Capital 3,177 12,226 GE Industrial (3,177) (12,2286)
Other GE Industrial Other GE Capital
borrowings 1,352 2,195 borrowings 1,944 3,358
Total GE Industrial Total GE Capital
adjusted borrowings(a) $ 23523 § 32,917 borrowings(a){b} $ 52,144 § 59,00t

{a) Consolidated total borrowings of $75,067 million and $90,882 million at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively,
are net of intercompany eliminations of $600 million and $1,036 million, respectively, of other GE Industrial borrowings from GE
Capital, primarily related to timing of cash settlements associated with GE Industrial receivables monetization programs.

(b) Included $5,687 million and $4,234 million at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively, of fair value adjustments for
debt in fair value hedge relationships. See Note 21 for further information.

The reduction in GE Industrial adjusted borrowings at December 31, 2020 compared to December 31, 2019, was driven primarily by
$9.0 billion (including $1.5 billion in the fourth quarter of 2020) of repayments of intercompany loans from GE Capital, debt repurchases
of $4.2 billion, lower commercial paper of $3.0 billion, and net repayments and maturities of other debt of $1.1 billion, partially offset by
issuances of new long-term debt of $7.5 billion and $0.6 billion related to changes in foreign exchange rates.

GE Industrial net debt* was $32.3 billion and $47.9 hillion at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively. The reduction
was driven primarily by $9.0 billion of repayments of intercompany loans from GE Capital, an increase in the net cash deduction of $4.2
billion due to a higher cash balance, the repurchase of $4.2 billion of debt, a reduction in after-tax pension and principal retiree benefit
plan liabilities of $1.8 billion, a reduction in commercial paper of $3.0 billion, and net repayments and maturities of other debt of $1.1
billion, partialty offset by new issuances of new long-term debt of $7.5 billion and $0.6 billion related to changes in foreign exchange
rates.

The reduction in GE Capital adjusted borrowings at December 31, 2020 compared to December 31, 2019, was driven primarily by debt
repurchases of $11.9 billion (including $2.2 billion in the fourth quarter of 2020}, long-term debt maturities and other repayments of
$10.7 billion (including $2.8 billion in the fourth quarter of 2020}, and lower non-recourse borrowings of $0.8 billion, partially offset by GE
Industrial repayments of intercompany loans of $9.0 billion {which has the effect of increasing GE Capital borrowings), issuances of new
long-term debt of $6.0 billion, $1.4 billion of fair value adjustments for debl in fair value hedge relationships, and $0.5 billion related to
changes in foreign exchange rates.

Liability Management Actions. In 2020, we took a series of actions to enhance and extend our liquidity at both GE Industrial and GE
Capital, issuing a total of $13.5 billion of longer-dated debt and reducing near-term maturities by $10.5 billion in the second quarter, with
the remaining $3 billion to be leverage neutral in GE Capital by the end of 2021. Following are details of these and other actions.

in the second quarter of 2020, GE Industrial issued a total of $7.5 billion of senior notes, and used the proceeds to complete a tender

offer to purchase $4.2 billion of GE senior notes, to reduce commercial paper and other debt by $1.8 billion, and to repay $1.5 billion of
intercompany loans from GE Capital. The total of these transactions was leverage neutral for GE Industrial within the second quarter.

*Non-GAAP Financral Measure



In the second quarter of 2020, GE Capital issued a total of $6.0 billion of senior notes and used the proceeds to complete a tender offer
to purchase a total of $3.8 billion of debt. In the fourth quarter of 2020, GE Capital completed a tender offer to purchase a total of $2.2
billion of debt with maturities from 2021 through 2023 using the $1.5 billion of proceeds from the GE Industrial repayment of

intercompany loans as well as existing cash.

The following table provides a raconciliation of total short- and long-term borrowings as reported on the respective GE Industrial and GE
Capital Statements of Financial Position to borrowings adjusted for assumed debt and intercompany loans:
GE industrial ~ GE Capital Consclidated
$ 42736 $ 32931 § 75,067
(22,390) 22,390 —
3,177 (3,177) —
(19.213) 19,213 —
$ 23523 5 52,144 % 75,067

December 31, 2028

Total short- and long-term borrowings

Debt assumed by GE Industrial from GE Capital

Intercompany loans with right of offset

Total intercompany payable (receivable) between GE Industrial and GE Capital
Total borrowings adjusted for assumed debt and intercompany loans

In 2015, senior unsecured notes and commercial paper were assumed by GE Industrial upon its merger with GE Capital. Under the
conditions of the 2015 assumed debt agreement, GE Capital agreed to continue making required principal and interest payments on
behalf of GE Industrial, resulting in the establishment of an intercompany receivable and payable between GE Industrial and GE
Capital. in addition, GE Capital has pericdically made intercompany loans to GE Industrial with maturity terms that mirror the assumed
debt. As these loans qualify for right-of-offset presentation, they reduce the assumed debt intercompany receivable and payable

between GE Industrial and GE Capital, as noted in the table above.
The remaining intercompany loans from GE Capital to GE Industrial bear the right of offset against amounts owed by GE Capital to GE

Industrial under the assumed debt agreement and can be prepaid by GE Industrial at any time, in whaole or in part, without premium or
penalty. These loans are priced at market terms and have a collective weighted average interest rate of 3.7% and term of approximately

15.2 years at December 31, 2020.

GE Industrial has in place committed revolving credit lines. The following table provides a summary of committed and avaitable credit

lines.

GE INDUSTRIAL COMMITTED AND AVAILABLE REVOLVING CREDIT FACILITIES December 31, 2020 December 31, 2018

Unused back-up revalving syndicated credit facility $ 15,000 % 20,000
Unused revolving syndicated credit facility — 14,772
Bilateral revalving credit facilities 5,238 7,225
Total committed revolving credit facilities $ 20,238 3 41,997
Less offset provisions — 6,700
Total net available revolving credit facilities $ 20,238 § 35,297

Under the terms of an agreement between GE Capital and GE Industrial, GE Capital has the right to compel GE Industrial to borrow
under the $15.0 billion unused back-up revolving syndicated credit facility. Under this agreement, GE Industrial would transfer the
proceeds to GE Capital as intercompany loans, which would be subject to the same terms and conditions as those between GE

Industrial and the lending banks. GE Capital has not exercised this right.

The following table provides a summary of the activity in the primary external sources of short-term borrowings for GE Industrial in the
fourth quarters of 2020 and 2019. GE Industrial uses its bilateral revolving credit facilities from time to time to meet its short-term

liquidity needs.
GE Industrial  Bilateral Revolving

Cemmercial Paper Credit Facilities Total

2020 Average borrowings during the fourth quarter $ — % 473 § 473
Maximum borrowings outstanding during the fourth quarter — 1,150 1,150

Ending balance at December 31 — — —

2019 Average horrowings during the fourth quarter $ 2,994 § 1,272 & 4,265
Maximum borrowings outstanding during the fourth quarter 3,231 1,500 4,731

Ending balance at December 31 3,018 — 3,018

In the third quarter of 2020, we reduced our ending commercial paper balance to zero. Total average and maximum borrowings in the
table above are calculated based on the daily outstanding balance of the sum of commercial paper and revolving credit facilities.



CREDIT RATINGS AND CONDITIONS. We have relied, and may continue to rely, on the short- and long-term debt capital markets to
fund, among other things, a significant portion of our operations. The cost and availability of debt financing is influenced by our credit
ratings. Moody's Investors Service (Moody's), Standard and Poor's Global Ratings (S&P), and Fitch Ratings (Fitch) currently issue
separate ratings on GE Industrial and GE Capital short- and long-term debt. The credit ratings of GE Industrial and GE Capital as of the
date of this filing are set forth in the table below,

Moody's 3&P Fitch

GE industrial  Qutlook Negative Negative Stable
Short term p-2 A-2 F3

Long term Baat BBB+ BEB

GE Capital Outlook Negative Negative Stable
Short term pP-2 A-2 F3

Long term Baa1 BBB+ BBB

We are disclosing our credit ratings and any current quarter updates to these ratings to enhance understanding of our sources of
liquidity and the effects of our ratings on our costs of funds and access to liquidity. Our ratings may be subject to a revision or
withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating organization, and each rating should be evaluated independently of any other rating. For
a description of some of the potential consequences of a reduction in our credif ratings, see the Financial Risks section of Risk Factors
in this report.

Substantially all of the Company's debt agreements in place at December 31, 2020 do nol contain material credit rating covenants.
GE’s unused back-up revolving syndicated credit facility and certain of our bilateral revolving credit facilities contain a customary net
debt-to-EBITDA financial covenant, which GE satisfied at December 31, 2020.

The Company may from time to lime enter into agreements that contain minimum ratings requirements. The following table provides a
summary of the maximum estimated potential liquidity impact in the event of further downgrades with regards to the most significant
contractual credit ratings conditions of the Company.

Triggers Below At December 31, 2020
BBB+/A2P-2 $ 709
BBB/A-3/P-3 768
BBB- and below 1,432

The amounts in the table above represent the incremental estimated liquidity impact that could occur if we were to fall below each given
ratings level.

Our most significant contractual ratings requirements are related to ordinary course commercial activities, our receivables sales
programs, and our derivatives portfolio. The timing within the quarter of the potential liquidity impact of these areas may differ, as can
the remedies to resolving any potential breaches of required ratings levels.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE AND INTEREST RATE RISKS. As a result of our global operations, we generate and incur a significant portion
of our revenues and expenses in currencies other than the U.S. daotlar. Such principal currencies include the euro, the Chinese
renminbi, the British pound sterling and the Indian rupee, among others. The effects of foreign currency fluctuations on earnings,
excluding the earnings impact of the underying hedged item, was less than $0.1 billion, $0.1 billion, and $0.3 billion for the years ended
December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. This analysis excludes any offsetting effect from the forecasted future transactions
that are economically hedged.

Exchange rate and interest rate risks are managed with a variety of techniques, including selective use of derivatives. We apply policies
to manage each of these risks, including prohibitions on speculative activities. Following is an analysis of the potential effects of
changes in interest rates and currency exchange rates.

It is our policy to minimize exposure to interest rate changes with regards to our borrowings and their impact to interest and other
financial charges. We fund our financial investments using a combination of debt and hedging instruments so that the interest rates of
our borrowings match the expected interest rate profile on our assets. It is our policy to minimize currency exposures and to conduct
operations either within functional currencies or using the protection of hedge strategies. To test the effectiveness of our hedging
actions, for interest rate risk we assumed that, on January 1, 2021, interest rates increased by 100 basis points and the increase
remained in place for the next 12 manths and for currency risk of assets and liabilities denominated in other than their functional
currencies, we evaluated the effect of a 10% shift in exchange rates against the U.S. dollar. The analyses indicated that our 2020
consolidated net eamings would decline by less than $0.1 billion for interest rate risk and approximately $0.1 billion for foreign
exchange risk.



LIBOR REFORM. In connection with the potential transition away from the use of the London interbank offered rate (LIBOR) as an
interest rate benchmark, on November 30, 2020, the ICE Benchmark Administration Limited {IBA) announced a consuitation on its
intention to cease the publication of the one-week and two-month USD LIBOR settings immediately following the LIBOR publication on
December 31, 2021, and the remaining USD |.IBOR settings immediately following the LIBOR publication on June 30, 2023. This
followed an announcement on November 18, 2020, that IBA would consult on its intention to cease the publication of all GBP, EUR,
CHF and JPY LIBOR settings immediately foliowing the LIBOR pubtication on December 31, 2021.

The Company’s most significant exposures to LIBOR relate to preferred stock issued by GE Industrial and certain floating-rate debt
securities issued by GE Capital, for which contraciual fallback language exists. Additionally, with respect to our derivatives portfolio, we
are managing the transition from LIBOR based on industry-wide LIBOR reform efforts, including the recently released LIBOR protocols
issued by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association. None of these exposures are benchmarked to one-week or two-month
USD LIBOR.

We are in the process of managing the transition and any financial impact will be accounted for under Accounting Standards Update
(ASU) 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting, which
we adepted in the fourth quarter of 2020. See Note 1 for further information.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS We manage the cash flow performance of our industrial and financial services businesses
separately, in order to enable us and our investors to evaluate the cash from operating activities of our industrial businesses separately
from the cash flows of our financial services business.

Transactions between GE Industrial and GE Capital are reported in the respective columns of our statement of cash flows, but are
eliminated in deriving our consolidated statement of cash flows. Intercompany loans from GE Capital to GE Industrial are reflected as
cash from (used for} financing activities at GE Industrial and cash from (used for) investing activities at GE Capital. Capital confributions
from GE Industrial to GE Capital are reflected as cash used for investing activities at GE Industrial and cash from financing activities at
GE Capital. See the GE Industrial working capital transactions section and Notes 4 and 24 for further informaticn regarding certain
transactions affecting our consolidated Statement of Cash Flows.

The following provides information on our cash flows in 2020 compared with 2019. Refer to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2019 for information regarding cash flows in 2019 compared with 2018.

GE INDUSTRIAL CASH FLOWS FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS. The most significant source of cash in GE Industrial CFQA is
customer-related activities, the largest of which is coliecting cash resulting from product or services sales. The most significant
operating use of cash is to pay our suppliers, employees, tax authorities, contribute to post retirement plans and pay others for a wide
range of material, services and taxes.

GE Industrial measures itself on a GE Industrial free cash flows” basis. This metric includes GE Industrial CFOA plus investments in
property, plant and equipment and additions to internal-use software; this metric excludes any dividends received from GE Capital and
any cash received from dispositions of property, plant and equipment. We believe that investors may also find it useful to compare GE's
Industrial free cash flows* performance withaut the effects of cash used for taxes retated to business sales and contributions to the GE
Pension Plan. We believe that this measure hetter allows management and investors to evaluate the capacity of our industrial
operations to generate free cash flows.

2020 CFOA (GAAP) AND FREE CASH FLOWS (FCF) BY SEGMENT (NON-GAAP)

Renewable Corporate &
Power Energy Aviation Healthcare Eliminations GE industrial

CFOA (GAAP) $ 285 § (328) % 763 % 3143 % 5.117) $ (1,254}

Add: gross additions to property, plant (245) (302) (737) (258) (40) {1.579)

and equipment

Add: gross additions to internal-use (25) (11) (61) (24) (23) {143)

software

Less: GE Pension Plan funding — — — — (2,500) (2,500)

Less: taxes related to business sales — — — — (1,082) (1,682}
Free cash flows (Non-GAAF) $ 15 % (641) § 3 % 2,863 § {1,598) $ 606

*Non-GAAP Financial Measure



2019 CFOA (GAAP) AND FCF BY SEGMENT (NON-GAAP)

Renewable Corporate &
Power Energy Aviation Healthcare Eliminations GE {ndustrial

CFOA (GAAP) 3 (1,200} % (512) § 5552 % 3024 & (2,250} & 4,614

Add: gross additions to property, plant (277} {455} (1,031) {395) (59) (2,216)

and equipment

Add: gross additions to internal-use (46} (14) (107} {79 (28) (274)

software

Less: GE Pension Plan funding — — — — — —

Less: taxes related to business sales — — — — (198) (198)
Free cash flows (Non-GAAP) $ (1.523) $ (980) % 4415 § 2550 § (2,139) $ 2,322

2018 CFOA (GAAP) AND FCF BY SEGMENT (NON-GAAP)

Renewable Carporate &
_ L Power Energy Aviation Healthcare Eliminations GE {ndustrial
CFOA (GAAP) $ (1,849) $ 406 $ 5373 % 3485 % (6,714) § 7™
Add: gross additions fo property, plant (358) (297) (1,070} (378) (131) (2,234)
and equipment
Add: gross additions to internal-use (86) (1) (73) (90) (67) (306}
software
Less: GE Pension Plan funding — — — — {6.000) (6,000)
Less: taxes related to business sales — — — — (180) (180}
Free cash flows (Non-GAAP) $ (2.273) % 98 3 4230 % 3,018 3 (731) % 4,341

GE Industrial cash used for operating activities was $1.3 billion in 2020, an increase of $5.9 billion compared with 2019, primarily
due to: a general decrease in net income (after adjusting for the gain on the sale of BioPharma and non-cash losses related to our
interest in Baker Hughes), primarily due to COVID-19 impacts in our Aviation segment; GE Pension Plan contributions {which are
excluded from GE Industrial free cash flows™) of $2.5 billion; partially offset by a decrease in cash used for operating working capitat of
$2.0 billion; lower provisions for income taxes of $0.9 hillion; and an increase in cash paid for income taxes of $0.5 billion. increases in
Aviation-related customer allowance accruals {which is a component of All other operating activities) of $0.5 billion were $0.2 billion
higher compared with 2019,

Wae utilized the provision of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act {CARES Act) which allows employers to defer the
payment of Social Security taxes and, as a result, we deferred $0.3 billion as of December 31, 2020.

The decrease in cash used for working capital was due to: a decrease in cash used for current receivables of $3.3 billion, which was
primarily driven by lower volume, partially offset by a higher decrease in sales of receivables; an increase in cash generated by
inventories, including deferred inventory, of $2.5 billion, which was primarily driven by lower material purchases, partially offset by lower
liguidations; and changes in current contract assets of $0.7 billion, primarily due to a net unfavorable change in estimated profitability of
$1 1 billion at Aviation {see Note 9). These decreases in cash used for working capital were partially offset by: an increase in cash used
for accounts payable and equipment project accruals of $2.9 billion, which was primarily as a result of lower volume in 2020 and higher
disbursements related to purchases of materials in prior periods; and lower progress collections and current deferred income of $1.7
billion, which included a partial offset due to early payments received at our Aviation Military equipment business of $0.7 billion in 2020
as part of the U.S, Department of Defense's efforts to support vendors in its supply chain during the pandemic.

GE Industrial cash from investing activities was $17.7 billion in 2020, an increase of $13.7 billion compared with 2019, primarily due
to: net proceeds from the sale of our BioPharma business of $20.3 billion; lower capital contributions from GE Industrial to GE Capital of
$2.0 billion; partially offset by the nonrecurrence of proceeds from the spin-off of our Transportation business of $6.2 billion (including
the sale of our retained ownership interests in Wabtec); and lower proceeds from sales of our stake in Baker Hughes of $2.6 billion
(including the sale of a portion of our retained ownership interests in 2020). Cash used for additions to property, plant and equipment
and internai-use software, which is a companent of GE Industrial free cash flows*, was $1.7 billion in 2020, down $0.8 billion compared
with 2019,

GE Industrial cash used for financing activities was $10.9 billion in 2020, an increase of $3.3 billion compared with 2019, primarily
due to: higher repayments of intercompany loans from GE Capital of $7.5 billion; a reduction in commercial paper of $3.0 billion;
reductions of other debt of $0.8 billion; partially offset by new principal issuances of long-term debt of $7.5 billion in the second quarter
of 2020 and lower repurchases of long-term debt of $0.6 billion.

GE INDUSTRIAL CASH FLOWS FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS. GE Industrial cash used for investing activities in 2019 was
primarily due to the deconsolidation of Baker Hughes cash as a result of the reduction in our ownership interest in the segment in the
third quarter of 2019. GE Industrial cash used for financing activities in 2019 primarily reflects payments of Baker Hughes dividends to
noncontrolling interests.

*Non-GAAP Financial Measure



GE CAPITAL CASH FLOWS FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS. GE Capital cash from operating activities was $3.5 billion in
2020, an increase of $1.8 billion compared with 2019, primarily due to: cash collateral received, which is a standard market practice to
minimize derivative counterparty exposures, and settliements received on derivative contracts {(components of All other operating
activities} of $1.9 billion in 2020, an increase of $0.6 billion compared with 2019 as well as a general increase in cash generated from
earnings (loss) from continuing operations. These are partially offset by an increase in trade receivables due to short-term extensions of
payment terms to customers of $0.3 billien driven primarily by COVID-19 and other market related effects.

GE Capital cash from investing activities was $8.2 billion in 2020, a decrease of $1.2 billion compared with 2019, primarily due to:
lower proceeds from business dispositions of $3.9 billion; lower net collections of financing receivables of $3.2 billion; a decrease in
cash related to our current receivables and supply chain finance programs with GE Industrial of $1.9 billien; higher net purchases of
equity investments of $1.5 billion and a decrease of GECAS sales deposits of $1.1 billion primarily driven by COVID-19 and other
market related effects; partially offset by repayments of GE Capital intercompany loans {a component of All other investing activities} by
GE Industrial of $9.0 billion in 2020, an increase of $7.5 billion compared with 2019; an increase in cash received related to net
settlements between our continuing operations (primarily our Corporate function) and businesses in discontinued operations of $2.2
billion and a decrease in net purchases of investment securities of $0.3 billion.

GE Capital cash used for financing activities was $16.7 billion in 2020, an increase of $9.7 billion compared with 2019, primarily due
to: higher net repayments of borrowings of $8.5 billion and a lower capital contribution from GE Industrial to GE Capital of $2.0 billion;,
partially offset by lower cash settiements on derivatives hedging foreign currency debt of $1.1 billion.

GE INDUSTRIAL WORKING CAPITAL TRANSACTIONS. Sales of Receivables. in order to manage short-term liquidity and credit

exposure, GE Industrial may sell current customer receivables to GE Capital and third parties. These transactions are made on arms-
length terms and any discount related to time value of money is recognized within the respective GE Industrial business in the period
these receivables were sold to GE Capital or third parties. See Note 4 for further information.

Supply Chain Finance Programs. GE Industrial facilitates voluntary supply chain finance programs with third parties, which provide
participating GE Industrial suppliers the opportunity to sell their GE Industrial receivables to third parties at the sole discretion of both
the suppliers and the third parties.

At December 31, 2020 and 2019, included in GE Industrial’s accounts payable is $2.9 billion and $2.4 billion, respectively, of supplier
invoices that are subject to the third-party programs. Total GE Industrial supplier invoices paid through these third-party programs were
$4.9 billion and $1.4 billion for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, raspectively.

Previously, GE Capital operated a supply chain finance program for suppliers to GE Industriai's businesses. The remaining GE
Industriat liability associated with the funded participation in the GE Capital program is presented as accounts payable and amounted to
$0.1 billion and $2.1 billicn at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Cash flows associated with the decrease in this liability are
reflected as cash used for operating activities at GE Industrial and cash from investing activities at GE Capital, and are eliminated in our
consolidated statement of cash flows.

INTERCOMPANY TRANSACTIONS BETWEEN GE INDUSTRIAL AND GE CAP!ITAL. Transactions between related companies are
made on arms-length terms and are reported in the GE Industrial and GE Capital columns of our financial statements, which we believe
provide useful supplemental information to our consalidated financial statements. Consistent with our historical practice, all commercial
transactions between GE Industrial and GE Capital continue to be reported on arms-length terms and are eliminated upon
consolidation. See Note 24 for further information.

GE Capital Finance Transactions. During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2018, GE Capital acquired from third parties 20
aircraft with a list price totaling $1.7 billion and 51 aircraft with a list price totaling $6.4 billion, respectively, that will be leased to others
and are powered by engines manufactured by GE Aviation and affiliates. GE Capital also made payments to GE Aviation and affiliates
retated to spare engines and engine parts of $0.2 billion and $0.7 billion, which included $0.1 billion and $0.6 billion to CFM
International, during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Additionally, GE Capital had $2.1 billion and $2.0
billion of net book value of engines, originally manufactured by GE Aviation and affiliates and subsequently leased back to GE Aviation
and affiliates at December 31, 2020 and 2018, respectively.

Also, during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, GE Industrial recognized equipment revenues of $2.3 billion and $1.6
billion, respectively, from customers within our Power and Renewable Energy segments in which GE Capital has been an investee or is
committed to be an investee in the underlying projects. At December 31, 2020 and 2019, GE Capital had funded related investments of
$1.3 billion and $0.6 billion, respectively.

For certain of these investments, in order to meet its underwriting criteria, GE Capital may obtain a direct guarantee from GE Industrial
related to the performance of the third party. GE Industrial guarantees include direct performance or payment guarantees, return on
investment guarantees and asset value guarantees. As of December 31, 2020, GE Industrial had outstanding guarantees to GE Capital
on $0.9 billion of funded exposure and $0.1 billion of unfunded commitments, which included guarantees issued by industrial
businesses. The recorded contingent liability for these guarantees was insignificant as of December 31, 2020 and is based on individual
transaction level defaults, losses and/or returns.



CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES. Accounting estimates and assumptions discussed in this section are those that we
consider to be the most critical to an understanding of our financial statements because they involve significant judgments and
uncertainties. Actual results in these areas could differ from management'’s estimates. See Note 1 for further information on our most
significant accounting policies.

REVENUE RECOGNITION ON LONG-TERM SERVICES AGREEMENTS. We have long-term service agreements with our customers
predominately within our Power and Aviation segments that require us to maintain the customers’ assets over the contract terms, which
generally range from 5 to 25 years. However, contract modifications that extend or revise contracts are not uncommon. We recognize
revenue as we perform under the arrangements using the percentage of completion method which is based on our costs incurred to
date relative to our estimate of total expected costs. This requires us to make estimates of customer payments expected to be received
over the contract term as well as the costs to perform required maintenance services.

Customers generally pay us based on the utilization of the asset (per hour of usage for example} or upen the occurrence of a major
event within the contract such as an overhaul. As a result, a significant estimate in determining expected revenues of a contract is
estimating how customers will utilize their assets over the term of the agreement. The estimate of utilization, which can change over the
contract life, impacts both the amount of customer payments we expect to receive and our estimate of future contract costs. Customers’
asset utilization will influence the timing and extent of overhauls and other service events over the life of the contracl. We generally use
a combination of both historical utilization trends as well as forward-looking information such as market conditions and potential asset
retirements in developing our revenue estimates.

To develop our cost estimates, we consider the timing and extent of fufure maintenance and averhaul events, including the amount and
cost of labor, spare parts and other resources required to perform the services. In developing our cost estimates, we utilize a
combination of our historical cost experience and expected cost improvements. Cost improvements are only included in future cost
estimates after savings have been observed in actual results or proven effective through an extensive regulatory or engineering
approval process.

We routinely review estimates under long-term service agreements and regularly revise them to adjust for changes in outiook. These
revisions are based on objectively verifiable information that is available at the time of the review. Contract modifications that change
the rights and obligations, as well as the nature, timing and extent of future cash flows, are evaluated for potential price concessions,
contract asset impairments and significant financing to determine if adjustments of earnings are required before effectively accounting
for a modified contract as a new contract.

We regularly assess expected billings adjustments and customer credit risk inherent in the carrying amounts of receivables and contract
assets, including the risk that contractual penalties may not be sufficient to offset our accumutated investment in the event of customer
termination. We gain insight into future utilization and cost trends, as well as credit risk, through our knowledge of the installed base of
equipment and fleet management strategies through close interaction with our customers that comes with supplying critical services
and parts over extended periods. Revisions may affect a long-term services agreement's total estimated profitability resulting in an
adjustment of earnings.

On December 31, 2020, our net long-term service agreements balance of $1.3 billion represents approximately 0.7% of our total
estimated life of contract billings of $188.4 billion. Qur contracts {on average} are approximately 20.9% complete based on costs
incurred to date and aur estimate of future costs. Revisions to our estimates of future billings or costs that increase or decrease total
estimated contract profitability by one percentage point would increase or decrease the long-term service agreements balance by $0.4
billion. Cash billings collected on these contracts were $8.9 billion and $11.5 billion during the years ended December 31, 2020 and
2019, respectively.

See Notes 1 and 9 for further information.

IMPAIRMENT OF GOODWILL AND QOTHER IDENTIFIED INTANGIBLE ASSETS. We perform our annual goodwill impairment testing
in the fourth quarter. In assessing the possibility that a reporting unit's fair value has been reduced below its carrying amount due to the
occurrence of events or circumstances between annual impairment testing dates, we consider all available evidence, including (i) the
results of our impairment testing from the most recent testing date {in particular, the magnitude of the excess of fair value over carrying
value cbserved), (i} downward revisions to internal forecasts or decreases in market multiples (and the magnitude thereof), if any, and
(iiiy declines in market capitalization below book value (and the magnitude and duration of those declines), if any.

We determine fair value for each of the reporting units using the market approach, when available and appropriate, or the income
approach, or a combination of both. We assess the valuation methodology based upon the relevance and availability of the data at the
time we perform the valuation. If multiple valuation methodologies are used, the results are weighted appropriately.

Valuations using the market approach are derived from metrics of publicly traded companies or historically completed transactions of
comparable businesses. The selection of comparable businesses is based on the markets in which the reporting units cperate giving
consideration to risk profiles, size, geography, and diversity of products and services. A market approach is limited to reporting units for
which there are publicly traded companies that have the characteristics similar to our businesses.



Under the income approach, fair value is determined based on the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at an
appropriate risk-adjusted rate. We use our internal forecasts to estimate future cash flows and include an estimate of long-term future
growth rates based on our most recent views of the long-term outlook for each business. We derive our discount rates using a capital
asset pricing model and analyzing published rates for industries refevant to our reporting units to estimate the cost of equity financing.
We use discount rates that are commensurate with the risks and uncertainty inherent in the respective businesses and in our internally
developed forecasts. Discount rates used in our annual reporting unit valuations ranged from 10.5% to 22.56%.

Estimating the fair value of reporting units requires the use of significant judgments that are based on a number of factors including
actual operating results, internal forecasts, market observable pricing multiples of similar businesses and comparable fransactions,
possible control premiums, determining the appropriate discount rate and long-term growth rate assumptions, and, if multiple
appreaches are being used, determining the appropriate weighting applied to each approach. It is reasonably possible that the
judgments and estimates described above could change in future periods.

We review identified intangible assets with defined useful lives and subject to amortization for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the related carrying amounts may not be recoverable. Determining whether an impairment loss has
occurred requires the use of our internal forecast to estimate future cash flows and the useful life over which these cash flows will occur.
To determine fair value, we use our internal cash flow estimates discounted at an appropriate discount rate. i

See Notes 1 and 8 for further information.

INSURANCE AND INVESTMENT CONTRACTS. Refer to the Other ltems - Insurance section for further discussion of the accounting
estimates and assumptions in our insurance reserves and their sensitivity to change. Also see Notes 1 and 12 for further information.

PENSION ASSUMPTIONS. Refer to Note 13 for our accounting estimates and assumptions related to our postretirement benefit ptans.

INCOME TAXES. Our annual tax rate is based on our income, statutory tax rates and tax planning oppertunities available to us in the
various jurisdictions in which we cperate. Tax laws are complex and subject to different interpretations by the taxpayer and respective
governmental taxing authorities. Significant judgment is required in determining our tax expense and in evaluating our tax positions,
including evaluating uncertainties. We review our tax positions quarterly and adjust the balances as new information becomes available.
Our income tax rate is significantly affected by the tax rate on our global operations. In addition to local country tax laws and
regulations, this rate can depend on the extent earnings are indefinitely reinvested outside the U.S. Historically U.S. taxes were due
upon repatriation of foreign earnings. Due to the enactment of U.S. tax reform, repatriations of available cash from foreign earnings are
expected to be free of U.S. federal income tax but may incur withholding or state taxes. Indefinite reinvestment is determined by
management’s judgment about and intentions concerning the future operations of the Company. Most of these earnings have been
reinvested in active non-U.S. business operations. At December 31, 2020, we have not changed our indefinite reinvestment decision as ‘
a result of tax reform but will reassess this on an ongoing basis. 1

We evaluate the recoverability of deferred income tax assets by assessing the adequacy of future expected taxable income from all
sources, including reversal of taxable temporary differences, forecasted operating earnings and available tax planning strategies, which
heavily rely on estimates. We use our historical experience and our sheort- and long-range business forecasts to provide insight. Further,
our global and diversified business portfolio gives us the opportunity to employ various prudent and feasible tax planning strategies to
facilitate the recoverability of future deductions. Amounts recorded for deferred tax assets related to non-U.S. net aperating losses, net
of valuation allowances, were $2.1 billion and $2.2 billion at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Of this, $0.1 billion and $0.2
billion at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, were associated with losses reported in discontinued operations, primarily related
to our legacy financial services businesses, and $0.2 billion was related to held for sale assets at December 31, 2019.

See Other Consolidated Information — Income Taxes section and Notes 1 and 15 for further information.

LOSS CONTINGENCIES. Loss contingencies are uncertain and unresolved matters that arise in the cordinary course of business and
result from events or actions by others that have the potential to result in a future loss. Such contingencies include, but are not limited
to, environmental obligations, litigation, regulatory investigations and proceedings, product quality and losses resulting from other
events and developments. When a loss is considered probable and reasonably estimable, we record a liability in the amount of our best
estimate for the ultimate foss. When there appears to be a range of possible costs with equal likelihcod, liabilities are based on the low-
end of such range. However, the likelihood of a loss with respect to a particular contingency is often difficult to predict and determining a
meaningful estimate of the loss or a range of loss may not be practicable based on the information available and the potential effect of
future events and negotiations with or decisions by third parties that will determine the ultimate resolution of the centingency. Moreover,
it is not uncommon for such matters to be resolved aver many years, during which time relevant developments and new information
must be continuously evaluated to determine both the likelihood of potential loss and whether it is possible to reasonably estimate a
range of possible loss. Disclosure is provided for material loss contingencies when a loss is probable but a reasonable estimate cannot
be made, and when it is reasonably possible that a loss will be incurred or the amount of a loss will exceed the recorded provision. We
regularly review contingencies to determine whether the likelihood of loss has changed and to assess whether a reasonable estimate of
the loss or range of loss can be made. See Note 23 for further information.



OTHER ITEMS

INSURANCE. The run-off insurance operations of North American Life and Health {(NALH) primarily include Employers Reassurance
Corporation (ERAC) and Union Fidelity Life Insurance Company (UFLIC). ERAC was formerly part of Employers Reinsurance
Corparation (ERC) until the sale of ERC to Swiss Re in 2006. UFLIC was formerly part of Genworth Financial Inc. (Genworth) but was
retained by GE after Genworth's initial public offering in 2004,

ERAC primarily assumes long-term care insurance and life insurance from numerous cedents under various types of reinsurance
treaties and stopped accepting new policies after 2008. UFLIC primarily assumes long-term care insurance, structured settlement
annuities with and without life contingencies and variable annuities from Genwoith and has been closed to new business since 2004.
The vast majority of NALH's reinsurance exposures are long-duration arrangements that still involve substantial levels of premium
collections and benefit payments even though ERAC and UFLIC have not entered into new reinsurance treaties in about a decade.
These long-duration arrangements involve a number of direct writers and contain a range of risk transfer provisions and other
contractual elements. In many instances, these arrangements do not transfer to us 100 percent of the risk embodied in the
encompassed underlying policies issued by the direct writers. Furthermore, we cede insurance risk to third-party reinsurers for a portion
of our insurance contracts, primarily on long-term care insurance policies.

Cur run-off insurance liabilities and annuity benefits primarily comprise & liability for future policy benefits for those insurance contract
claims not yet incurred and claim reserves for claims that have been incurred or are estimated to have been incurred but not yet
reported. The insurance liabilities and annuity benefits amounted to $42.2 billion and $39.8 billion and primarily relate to individual long-
term care insurance reserves of $21.3 billion and $21.0 billion and structured settlement annuities and life insurance reserves of $10.7
billion and $11.1 billion, at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The increase in insurance liabilities and annuity benefits of $2.4
billion from December 31, 2019 to December 31, 2020 is primarily due to an adjustment of $2.5 billion resulting from an increase in
unrealized gains on investment securities that would result in a premium deficiency should those gains be realized.

In addition to NALH, Electric Insurance Company (EIC) is a property and casualty insurance company primarily providing insurance to
GE and its emplayees with net claim reserves of $0.3 billion at both December 31, 2020 and 2019.

We regularly monitor emerging experience in cur run-off insurance operations and industry developments to identify trends that may
help us refine our reserve assumptions. We believe recent elevated mortality across our portfolio and lower fong-term care insurance
claims are short term in nature and attributable to COVID-19, However, the effects of COVID-19, including the timing and success of
vaccinations, remain uncertain and may result in variability in levels of future mortality and long-term care insurance claims activity,
including changes in policyholder behavior {e.g., policyholder willingness to enter long-term care facilities or seek care at home), among
others.

These monitoring activities also allow us to evaluate opportunities to reduce our insurance risk profile and improve the results of our
run-off insurance operations. Such opportunities may include the pursuit of future premium rate increases and benefit reductions on
long-term care insurance contracts in accordance with our reinsurance contracts with our ceding companies; recapture and reinsurance
transactions to reduce risk where economically justified; investment strategies to improve asset and liability matching and enhance
investment portfolio yields; and managing our expense levels.

Key Portfolio Characteristics

Long-term care insurance contracts. The long-term care insurance contracts we reinsure provide coverage at varying levels of benefits
to policyholders and may include attributes that could result in claimants being on claim for longer periods or at higher daily claim costs,
or alternatively limiting the premium paying period, compared to contracts with a lower level of benefits. For example, policyholders with
a lifetime benefit period could receive coverage up to the specified daily maximum as long as the policyholder is claim eligible and
receives care for covered services; inflation protection options increase the daily maximums to protect the policyholder from the rising
cost of care with some options providing automatic annual increases of 3% to 5% or policyholder elected inflation-indexed increases for
increased premium; joint life policies provide coverage for two lives which permit either life under a single contract to receive benefits at
the same time or separately; and premium payment options may limit the period over which the policyholder pays premiums while still
receiving coverage after premium payments cease, which may limit the impact of our benefit from future premium rate increases.

The ERAC long-term care insurance portfolio comprises more than two-thirds of our total long-term care insurance reserves and is
assumed from approximately 30 ceding companies through various types of reinsurance and retrocession contracts having complex
terms and conditions. Compared to the overall long-term care insurance block, it has a lower average attained age with a larger number
of policies (and covered lives, as over one-third of the palicies are joint life policies), with lifetime benefit pericds andfor with inflation
protection options which may result in a higher potential for future claims.

The UFLIC long-term care insurance block comprises the remainder of our total long-term care insurance reserves and is more mature
with policies that are more uniform, as it is assumed from a single ceding company, Genworth, and has fewer policies with lifetime
benefit periods, no jeint life policies and slightly more policies with inflation protection options.

As further described within the Premium Deficiency Testing section below, we reconstructed our future claim cost projections in 2017
utilizing trends observed in aur emerging experience for older ctaimant ages and later duration policies. Also described within that
section are key assumption changes in 2020.



Presented in the table below are GAAP and statutory reserve balances and key attributes of our long-term care insurance portfolio.

December 31, 2020 ERAC UFLIC Total
Gross GAAP future policy benefit reserves and claim reserves $ 15757 % 5570 % 21,327
(Gross statutory future policy benefit reserves and claim reserves(a) 24,081 5,843 30,924
Number of policies in force 190,000 62,000 252,000
Number of covered lives in force 254,000 §2,000 316,000
Average policyholder attained age 76 83 78
Gross GAAP future policy benefit reserve per policy (in actual doltars) $ 70600 % 56,900 $ 67,200
Gross GAAP future policy benefit reserve per covered life (in actual dollars) 52,800 56,900 53,600
Gross statutory future policy benefit reserve per policy (in actual dollars)(a} 113,800 77,000 104,700
Gross statutory future policy benefit reserve per covered life (in actual dollars){a) 85,100 77,000 83,500
Percentage of policies with:

Lifetime henefit period 69 % 34 % 61 %

Inflation protection option 81 % 91 % 84 %

Joint lives 34 % — % 25 %
Percentage of policies that are premium paying 2% 80 % 74 %
Policies on claim 11,000 8.800 19,800

(a) Statutory balances reflect recognition of the estimated remaining statutory increase in reserves of approximately $5.5 billion through
2023 under the permitted accounting practice discussed further below and in Note 12.

Structured settlement annuities and fife insurance contracts. We reinsure approximately 29,100 structured settlement annuities with an
average attained age of 53. These structured settiement annuities were primarily underwritten on impaired lives (i.e., shorter-than-
average life expectancies) at arigination and have projected payments extending decades into the future. Our primary risks associated
with these conlracts include mortality (i.e., tife expectancy or longevity), mortality improvement {i.e., assumed rate that mortality is
expected to reduce over time), which may extend the duration of payments on life contingent contracts beyond our estimates, and
reinvestment risk (i.e., a low interest rate environment may reduce our ability to achieve our targeted investment margins). Unlike long-
term care insurance, structured settlemeant annuities offer no ability ta require additional premiums ar reduce berefits.

Qur life reinsurance business typically covers the mortality risk associated with various types of life insurance palicies that we reinsure
from approximately 150 ceding company relationships where we pay a benefil based on the death of a covered life. As of December 31,
2020, across our U.5. and Canadian life insurance blocks, we reinsure approximately $80 billion of net amount at risk (i.e., difference
between the death benefit and any accrued cash value) from approximately 2 million policies with an average attained age of 59. In
2020, our incurred claims were approximately $0.6 billion with an average individual ciaim of approximately $50,000. The largest
product types covered are 20-year level term policies, which represent approximately 35% of the net amount at risk and a significant
portion are anticipated to lapse (i.e., the length of time a policy will remain in force) over the next 3 years as the policies reach the end
of their 20-year level premium period.

Investment portfolio and other adjustments. Qur insurance liabilities and annuity benefits are primarily supported by investment
securities of $42.0 billion and $38.0 billion and commercial mortgage loans of $1.8 billion and $1.9 billion at December 31, 2020 and
2019, respectively. Additionally, we expect to purchase approximately $7 billion of new assets through 2024 in conjunction with
expected capital contributions from GE Capital to our insurance subsidiaries, of which approximately $2.0 billion is expected to be
contributed in the first quarter of 2021, pending completion of our December 31, 2020 statutory reporting process, which includes asset
adequacy testing. Qur investment securities are classified as available-for-sale and comprise mainly investment-grade debt securities.
The portfolio includes $8.2 billion of net unrealized gains that are recorded within Other comprehensive income, net of applicable taxes
and other adjustments as of December 31, 2020.

In calculating our future policy benefit reserves, we are required to consider the impact of net unreatized gains and losses on our
available-for-sale investment securities supporting our insurance contracts as if those unrealized amounts were realized. To the extent
that the reaiization of gains wouid resuft in a premium deficiency, an adjustment is recorded fo increase future policy benefit reserves
with an after-tax offset to Other comprehensive income. At December 31, 2020, the entire $8.2 billion balance of net unrealized gains
on our investment securities required a related increase to future policy benefit reserves. This adjustment increased from $5.7 billion in
2019 to $8.2 billion in 2020 primarily from higher unrealized gains within the investment security portfolio supporting our insurance
contracts as a result of decreased market yields. See Note 3 for further information about our investment securities,



We manage the investments in our run-off insurance operations under strict investment guidelines, including limitations on asset class
concentration, single issuer exposures, asset-liability duration variances, and other factors to meet credit quality, yield, liquidity and
diversification requirements associated with servicing our insurance liabilities under reasonable circumstances. This process includes
consideration of various asset allocation strategies and incorporates information from several external investment advisors to improve
our investment yfeld subject to maintaining our ability to satisfy insurance liabilities when due, as well as considering our risk-based
capital requirements, regulatory constraints, and tolerance for surplus volatility. With the expected capital contributions from GE Capital
through 2024, we intend to add new asset classes to further diversify our portfolio, including private equity, senior secured loans and
infrastructure debt, among others. Asset allocation planning is a dynamic process that considers changes in market conditions, risk
appetite, liquidity needs and other factors which are reviewed on a periodic basis by our investment team. Investing in these assets
exposes us to both credit risk (i.e., debtor’s ability to make timely payments of principal and interest) and interest rate risk (i.e., market
price, cash flow variability, and reinvestment risk due to changes in market interest rates). We regularly review investment securities for
impairment using both quantitative and qualitative criteria.

Our run-off insurance operations have approximately $0.8 billion of assets held by states or other regulatory bodies in statutorily
required deposit accounts, and approximately $32.2 billion of assets held in trust accounts associated with reinsurance contracts and
reinsurance security trust agreements in place between either ERAC or UFLIC as the reinsuring entity and a number of ceding insurers.
Assets in these trusts are held by an independent trustee for the benefit of the ceding insurer, and are subject to various investment
guidelines as set forth in the respective reinsurance contacts and trust agreements. Some of these trust agreements may allow a
ceding company to withdraw trust assets from the trust and hold these assets on its balance sheet, in an account under its control for
the benefit of ERAC or UFLIC which might allow the ceding company to exercise investment control over such assets.

Critical Accounting Estimates. Our insurance reserves include the following key accounting estimates and assumptions described
below.

Future policy benefit reserves. Future policy benefit reserves represent the present value of future policy benefits less the present value
of future gross premiums based on actuarial assumptions including, but not limited to, morbidity (i.e., frequency and severity of claim,
including claim termination rates and benefit utilization rates); morbidity improvement {i.e., assumed rate of improvement in morbidity in
the future); mortality (i.e., life expectancy or longevity); mortality improvement (i.e., assumed rate that mortality is expected to reduce
over time}; policyholder persistency or lapses {i.e., the length of time a policy will remain in force); anticipated premium increases or
benefit reductions associated with future in-force rate actions, including actions that are: (a) approved and not yet implemented, (b) filed
but not yet approved, and (c) estimated on future filings through 2028, on long-term care insurance policies; and interest rates.
Assumptions are locked-in throughout the remaining life of a contract unless a premium deficiency develops.

Claim reserves. Claim reserves are established when a claim is incurred and represents our best estimate of the present value of the
ultimate obligations for future claim payments and claim adjustment expenses. Key inputs include actual known facts about the claim,
such as the benefits available and cause of disability of the claimant, as well as assumptions derived from our actual historical
experience and expected future changes in experience factors. Claim reserves are evaluated periodically for potential changes in loss
estimates with the support of qualified actuaries, and any changes are recorded in earnings in the period in which they are determined.

Reinsurance recoverables. We cede insurance risk to third-party reinsurers for a portion of our insurance contracts, primarily on long-
term care insurance policies, and record receivabies for estimated recoveries as we are not relieved from our primary obligation to
policyholders or cedents. These receivables are estimated in a manner consistent with the future policy benefit reserves and claim
reserves. Reserves ceded to reinsurers, net of allowance, were $2.6 billion and $2.4 billion at December 31, 2020 and 2019,
respectively, and are included in the caption Other GE Capital receivables in our consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

Premium Deficiency Testing. We annually perform premium deficiency testing in the third quarter in the aggregate across our run-off
insurance portfolio. The premium deficiency testing assesses the adequacy of future policy benefit reserves, net of unamortized
capitalized acquisition casts, using current assumptions without provision for adverse deviation. A comprehensive review of premium
deficiency assumptions is a complex process and depends on a number of factors, many of which are interdependent and require
evaluation individually and in the aggregate across all insurance products. The vast majority of our run-off insurance operations consists
of reinsurance from multiple ceding insurance entities pursuant to treaties having complex terms and conditions. Premium deficiency
testing relies on claim and policy information provided by these ceding entities and considers the reinsurance treaties and underlying
policies. In order to utilize that information for purposes of completing experience studies covering all key assumptions, we perform
detailed procedures to conform and validate the data received from the ceding entities. Our long-term care insurance business includes
coverage where credible claim experience for higher attained ages is still emerging, and to the extent future experience deviates from
current expectations, new projections of claim costs extending over the expected life of the policies may be required. Significant
uncertainties exist in making projections for these fong-term care insurance contracts, which requires that we consider a wide range of
possible outcomes.



The primary assumptions used in the premium deficiency tests include:

Morbidity. Morbidity assumptions used in estimating future palicy benefit reserves are based on estimates of expected incidences of
disability among policyholders and the costs associated with these policyholders asserting claims under their contracts, and these
estimates account for any expected future morbidity improvement. For long-term care exposures, estimating expected future costs
includes assessments of incidence (probability of a claim), utilization {amount of available benefits expected to be incurred) and
continuance (how fong the claim will last). Prior to 2017, premium deficiency assumptions considered the risk of anti-selection by
including issue age adjustments to morbidity based on an actuarial assumption that long-term care policies issued to younger
individuals would exhibit lower expected incidences and claim costs than those issued to older policyholders. Recent claim experience
and the development of reconstructed claim cost curves indicated issue age differences had minimal impact on claim cost projections,
and, accordingly, beginning in 2017, issue age adjustments were eliminated in developing morbidity assumptions. Higher morbidity
increases, while lower morbidity decreases, the present value of expected future benefit payments.

Rate of Change in Morbidity. Our annual premium deficiency testing incorporates our best estimates of projected future changes in the
morbidity rates reflected in our base claim cost curves. These estimates draw upon a number of inputs, some of which are subjective,
and all of which are interpreted and appiied in the exercise of professional actuarial judgment in the context of the characteristics
specific to our portfolios. This exercise of judgment considers factors such as the work performed by internal and external independent
actuarial experts engaged to advise us in our annual testing, the observed actual experience in our portfolios measured against our
base projections, industry developments, and other trends, including advances in the state of medical care and health-care technology
development. With respect to industry developments, we take into account that there are differences between and among industry
peers in portfolio characteristics (such as demographic features of the insured populations), the aggregate effect of morbidity
improvement or deterioration as applied to base claim cost projections, the extent to which such base cost projections reflect the most
current experience, and the accepted diversity of practice in actuarial professional judgment. We assess the potential for any change in
morbidity with reference to our existing base claim cost projections, reconstructed in 2017. Projected improvement or deterioration in
morbidity can have a material impact on our future claim cost projections, bath on a stand-alone basis and also by virtue of influencing
other variables such as discount rate and premium rate increases.

Mortality. Mortality assumptions used in estimating future policy benefit reserves are based on published morality tables as adjusted for
the resulis of our experience studies and estimates of expected future mortality improvement. For life insurance products, higher
mortality increases the present value of expected future benefit payments, while for annuity and long-term care insurance contracts,
higher mortality decreases the present value of expected future benefit payments.

Discount rafe. Interest rate assumptions used in estimating the present value of future policy benefit reserves are based on expected
investment yields, net of related investment expenses and expected defaults. in estimating future investment yields, we consider the
actual yields on our current investment securities held by our run-off insurance cperations and the future rates at which we expect to
reinvest any proceeds from investment security maturities, net of other operating cash flows, and the projected future capital
contributions into our run-off insurance operations. Lower future investment yields result in a lower discount rate and a higher present
value of future policy benefit reserves.

Future long-term care premium rate increases. Long-term care insurance policies allow the issuing insurance entity to increase
premiums, or alternatively allow the policyholder the option to decrease benefits, with approval by state regulators, should actual
experence emerge worse than what was projected when such policies were initially underwritten. As a reinsurer, we rely upon the
primary insurers that issued the underlying policies to file proposed premium rate increases on those policies with the relevant state
insurance regulators. While we have no direct ability to seek or to institute such premium rate increases, we often collaborate with the
primary insurers in accordance with reinsurance contractual terms to file proposed premium rate increases. The amount of times that
rate increases have occurred varies by ceding company. We consider recent experience of rate increase filings made by our ceding
companies along with state insurance regulatory processes and precedents in establishing our current expectations. Higher future
premium rate increases fower the present value of future policy benefit reserves and lower future premium rate increases increase the
present value of future policy benefit reserves.

Terminations. Terminations refers ta the rate at which the underlying policies are cancelled due to either mortality, 1apse (non-payment
of premiums by a policyholder), or, in the case of long-term care insurance, benefit exhaustion. Termination rate assumptions used in
estimating the present value of future policy benefit reserves are based on the results of our experience studies and reflect actuarial
judgment. Lower termination rates increase, while higher termination rates decrease, the present value of expected future benefit
payments.

In 2017, based on elevated claim experience for a porticn of our long-term care insurance contracts, we initiated a comprehensive
review of all premium deficiency testing assumptions across all insurance products, resulting in a reconstruction of our future claim cost
projections for long-term care insurance products. While our long-term care insurance claim experience has shown some emerging
modest favorable experience, it remains largely in-tline with those reconstructed projections. However, the extent of actual experience
since 2017 to date is limited in the context of a long-tailed, multi-decade portfolio.



2020 Premium Deficiency Testing. We completed our annual premium deficiency testing in the aggregate across our run-off
insurance portfolio in the third quarter of 2020. These procedures included updating experience studies since our last test completed in
the third quarter of 2019, independent actuarial analysis and review of industry benchmarks. As we experienced a premium deficiency
in 2019, our 2020 premium deficiency testing started with a zero margin and, accordingly, any net adverse development would result in
a future premium deficiency. Using our most recent future policy benefit reserve assumptions, including changes to our assumptions
related to morbidity, future premium rate increases and discount rate, the 2020 premium deficiency testing results indicated there was a
pasitive margin of less than 2% of the recorded future policy benefit reserves, excluding Other adjustments, at September 30, 2020. As
a result, the assumptions updated in connection with the premium deficiency recognized in 2019 remain locked-in and will remain so
unless another premium deficiency oceurs in the future.

The increase in the premium deficiency testing margin from our 2019 testing was primarily attributable to modestly favorable emerging
morbidity experience in our long-term care insurance portfolio, primarily at the older attained ages, in the period since the 2017
reconstruction of our future claim cost projections {$0.4 billion) and higher projected future premium rate increase approvals ($0.2
billion), partially offset by a decline in the overall discount rate to a weighted average rate of 5.70% compared to 5.74% in 2019 ($0.2
billion). This decline in the discount rate from 2019 to 2020 reflects a lower expected reinvestment rate, due to lower benchmark interest
rates in the U.S, increasing to a lower expected long-term average investment yield over a longer period and slightly lower actual yields
on our investment security portfolic, partially offset by increased allocations to higher yielding asset classes introduced with our 2018
strategic initiatives, which included a modest decline in expected yield compared to 2019 assumptions.

As noted above, while our observed long-term care insurance claim experience has shown some emerging medest favorable
experience in the period since the 2017 reconstruction of our future claim cost projections, it remains largely in-line with those
reconstructed projections. Based on the application of professional actuarial judgment to the factors discussed above, we have made
no substantial change to our assumptions concerning morbidity improvement, mortality, mortality improvement, or terminations in 2020.
As with ali assumptions underlying our premium deficiency testing, we will continue to monitor these factors, which may result in future
changes in our assumptions.

Since ocur premium deficiency testing performed in 2019, we have implemented approximately $0.3 billion of previously approved long-
term care insurance premium rate increase actions and expect higher projected future premium rate increase approvals of
approximately $0.2 billion. Our 2020 premium deficiency test includes approximately $1.9 billion of anticipated future premium
increases or benefit reductions associated with future in-force rate actions. This represents a decrease of $0.1 billion from our 2019
premium deficiency test to account for actions that are: (a) approved and not yet implemented, (b} filed but not yet approved, and {c}
estimated on future filings through 2028 and includes the effects of the lower discount rate mentioned above and longer anticipated
timing to achieve certain premium rate approvals.

As a result of exposure period cut-off dates to permit experience to develop and lags in ceding company data reporting from our ceding
companies, the impact of COVID-19 is not reflected in the experience studies data used in our 2020 premium deficiency testing.
However, we assessed certain scenarios to understand potential impacts associated with COVID-19 and. due to the insignificance and
short-term nature of such uncertain future impacts, including the natural offsets from mortality in the aggregate across our run-off
insurance products, concluded adjustments to our primary assumptions used in the premium deficiency testing were not warranted.

When results of the premium deficiency testing indicate overall reserves are sufficient, we are also required to assess whether
additional future policy benefit reserves are required to be accrued over time in the future. Such an accrual would be required if profits
are projected in earier future periods followed by losses projected in later future years (i.e., profits followed by losses). When this
pattern of profits followed by losses is projected, we would be required te accrue a liability in the expected profitable years by the
amount necessary to offset projected losses in later future years. We noted our projections as of third quarter 2020 indicate the present
value of projected earnings in each future year to be positive, and therefore, no further adjustments to our future policy benefit reserves
were required at this time.

GAAP Reserve Sensitivities. The results of our premiurm deficiency testing are sensitive to the assumptions described above.
Considering the results of the 2020 premium deficiency test which resulted in a small margin, any future net adverse changes in our
assumgptions may reduce the margin or result in a premium deficiency requiring an increase to future policy benefit reserves. For
example, adverse changes in key assumptions related to our future policy benefits reserves, holding alf other assumptions constant,
would have the following effects on the projected present value of future cash flows as presented in the table below. Any future net
favorabie changes to these assumptions could result in a lower projected present value of future cash flows and additional margin in our
premium deficiency test and higher income over the remaining duration of the portfolio, including higher investment income, The
assumptions within our future policy benefit reserves are subject to significant uncertainties, including those inherent in the complex
nature of our reinsurance treaties. Many of our assumptions are interdependent and require evaluation individually and in the aggregate
across all insurance products. Small changes in the amounts used in the sensitivities or the use of different factars could result in
materially different outcomes from those reflected below.



Hypothetical change in 20290
assumption

Estimated increase to
projected present value of
future cash flows {pre-tax)

2019 assumption 2020 assumption

Long-term care insurance 1.25% per year over 12 1.25% per year over 12 23 basis point reduction $600
morbidity improvement to 20 years to 20 years No morbidity improvement $3.400
Long-term care insurance Based on company Based on company 5% increase in doilar $1.000
morbidity experience experience amount of paid claims
Long-term care insurance 0.5% per year for 10 0.5% per year for 10 1.0% per year for 10 $400
mortality improvement years with annual years with annual years with annual
improvement graded to  improvement graded to  improvement graded to
0% over next 10 years 0% overnext 10 years 0% over next 10 years
Total terminations:
Long-term care Based on company Based on company Any change in termination $1,100
insurance mortality experience experience assumptions that reduce
Long-term care Varies by block, attained Varies by block, attained total terminations by 10%
insurance lapse rate age and benefit period;  age and benefit period,
average 0.5-1.15% average 0.5 - 1.15%
Long-term care Based on company Based on company
insurance benefit experisnce experience
exhaustion
Long-term care insurance Varies by block based Varies by block based 25% adverse change in $500
future premium rate on fiting experience on filing experience premium rate increase
increases success rate
Discount rate:
Qverall discount rate 5.74% 5.70% 25 basis point reduction $900

25 basis point reduction; Less than $100
grading to a long-term
average investment yield

of 5.8%

Reinvestment rate 3.05%: grading to a
long-term average

investment yield of 5.9%

2.70%, grading fo a
long-term average
investment yield of 5.8%

Structured settlement Based on company Based ¢n company 5% decrease in mortality $100

annuity mortality experience experience

Life insurance mortality Based on company Based on company 5% increase in martality $300
experience experience

Statutory Considerations. Our run-off insurance subsidiaries are reguired to prepare statutory financial statements in accordance with
statutary accounting practices. Statutory accounting practices, not GAAP, determine the required statutory capital levels of our
insurance legal entiies.

Statutory accounting practices are set forth by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners (NAIC} as well as state laws,
regulation and general administrative rules and differ in certain respects from GAAP. Under statutory accounting practices, base
formulaic reserve assumptions typically do not change unless approved by our primary regulator, KID. In addition to base reserves,
statutory accounting practices require additional actuarial reserves (AAR) be established based on results of asset adequacy testing
reflecting moderately adverse conditions (i.e., assumptions include a provision for adverse deviation (PAD) rather than current
assumptions without a PAD as required for premium deficiency testing under GAAP). As a result, our statutory asset adequacy testing
assumptions reflect less long-term care insurance morbidity improvement and for shorter durations, restrictions on future long-term care
insurance premium rate increases, no life insurance mortality improvement and a lower discount rate, among other differences. As a
result, several of the sensitivities described in the table above would be less impactful an our statutory reserves.

The adverse impact on our statutory AAR arising from our revised assumptions in 2017, including the collectability of reinsurance
recoverables, is expected to require GE Capital to contribute approximately $14.5 billion additional capital, to its run-off insurance
operations in 2018-2024. For statutory accounting purposes, KID approved our request for a permitted accounting practice to recognize
the 2017 AAR increase over a seven-year period. GE Capital provided capital contributions to its insurance subsidiaries of $2.0 billion,
$1.9 billion and $3.5 billion in the first guarter of 2020, 2018 and 2018, respectively. GE Capital expects to provide further capital
contributions of approximately $7 billion through 2024 (of which approximately $2.0 billion is expected to be contributed in the first
quarter of 2021, pending completion of our December 31, 2020 statutory reporting process, which includes asset adequacy testing},
subject to ongoing monitoring by KID. GE is a party to capital maintenance agreements with ERAC and UFLIC under which GE is
required to maintain their minimum statutory capital levels at 300% of their year-end Authorized Control Level risk-based capital
requirements as defined from time to time by the NAIC,



If our future policy benefit reserves established under GAAP are realized over the estimated remaining life of our run-off insurance
obligations, we would expect the $14.5 billion of capital contributed to the run-off insurance operations over the 2018 to 2024 period to
be considered statutory capital surplus at the end of the estimated remaining life with no additional charge to GAAP earnings. However,
should the more conservative statutory assumptions be realized, we would be required to record the difference between GAAP
assumptions and statutory assumptions as a charge to GAAP earnings in the future periods.

See Other ltems - New Accounting Standards and Notes 1 and 12 for further information.

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS. The Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB}) issued ASU No. 2018-12, Financial Services -
insurance {Topic 944): Targeted Improvements to the Accounting for Long-Duration Contracts with an effective date for periods
beginning after December 31, 2021, with an election to adopt early. On November 5, 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-11, Financial
Services - Insurance {Topic 944). Effective Date and Early Application which defers the effective date for all insurance entities by one
year and allows the early application transition date to be either the beginning of the prior period or the earliest prior period presented.
We are evaluating the effect of the standard on our consolidated financial statements and anticipate that its adoption will significantly
change the accounting for measurements of our long-duration insurance liabilities. The ASU requires cash flow assumptions used in the
measurement of various insurance liabilities to be reviewed at least annually and updated if actual experience or other evidence
indicates previous assumptions need to be revised with any required changes recorded in earnings. Under the current accounting
guidance, the discount rate is based on expected investment yields, while under the ASU the discount rate will be equivalent to the
upper-medium grade {i.e., single A} fixed-income instrument yield reflecting the duration characteristics of the liability and is required to
be updated in each reporting period with changes recorded in other comprehensive income. In measuring the insurance liabilities under
the new standard, contracts shall not be grouped together from different issue years. These changes result in the elimination of
premium deficiency testing and shadow adjustments. While we continue to evaluate the effect of the standard on our engoing financial
reporting, we anticipate that the adoption of the ASU will materially affect our financial statements. As the ASU is only applicable to the
measurements of our long-duration insurance liabilities under GAAP, it will not affect the accounting for our insurance reserves or the
levels of capital and surplus under statutory accounting practices.

NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES. We believe that presenting non-GAAP financial measures provides management and
investors useful measures o eévaluate performarce and trends of the total company and its businesses. This includes adjustments in
recent periods to GAAP financial measures 1o increase period-to-period comparability following actions to strengthen our overall
financial position and how we manage our business.

In addition, management recognizes that certain non-GAAP terms may be interpreted differently by other companies under different
circumstances. In various sections of this report we have made reference to the following non-GAAP financial measures in describing
our (1} revenues, specifically GE Industrial organic revenues by segment; BioPharma organic revenues, GE Industrial organic
revenues, and GE Industrial equipment and services organic revenues (2) profit, specifically GE Industrial organic profit and profit
margin by segment; BioPharma organic profit and profit margin, Adjusted GE Industrial profit and profit margin (excluding certain items);
Adjusted GE Industrial organic profit and profit margin; Adjusted earnings {loss); and Adjusted earnings (loss) per share (EPS), and (3)
debt balances, specifically GE Industrial net debt. The reasons we use these non-GAAP financial measures and the reconciliations to
their most directly comparable GAAP financial measures fallow.



GE INDUSTRIAL ORGANIC REVENUES, PROFIT (LOSS) AND PROFIT MARGIN BY SEGMENT (NON-GAAP)

Revenugs Segment profit {loss) Protit margin
2020 2019 Vo 2020 2019 V% 2020 2019 Vpts

Power (GAAP) $17,589 $18,625 €)% $ 274 & 291 (8)% 16% 16% —pls

Less: acquisitions 19 19 (3) (V)

Less: business dispositions 15 104 2 7

Less: foreign currency effect (64) — 10 —
Power arganic (Non-GAAP) $17,619 $18,502 (5% $ 266 $ 287 (7)% 15% 1.6% (0.1)pts
Renewable Energy (GAAP) $15,666 $15,337 2% $ (715) 8% (791) 0% (46)% {52)% 0.6pts

Less: acquisitions — — — —

Less: business dispositions 8 94 - (11)

Less: fareign currency effect (167) — 16 —
Renewabie Energy
organic (Non-GAAP) $15,824 $15,243 4% § (731)$ (781) 6% (46)% (51)% 0.5pis
Aviation (GAAP) $22,042 $32,875 (33)% % 1,229 § 6,812 (82)% 56% 207 % (151)pts

Less: acquisitions - - - -

Less: business dispositions 13 369 {2) (2)

Less: foreign currency effect (3) — (5) —
Aviation organic (Non-GAAP) $22,032 532,506 (32)% $ 1,237 $ 6,814 (82)% 56% 21.0% (154)pts
Healthcare (GAAP) $18,009 519,942 (10)% $ 3,060 $ 3,737 (18)% 17.0% 187 % (1.7)pts

Less: acquisitions 55 21 (13} 4)

Less: business dispositions 21 2,603 2y 1,411

Less: foreign currency effect (46) — (8) —
Healthcare organic (Non-GAAP) $17.97¢ 517,318 4% § 3,081 % 2630 7% 171% 152% 1.9pts
Less: BioPharma arganic {Non-GAAP) 839 762 380 31

Healthcare excluding BioPharma

organic {(Non-GAAP) $17,140 $16,557 4% $ 2701 § 2319 6% 158% 140% 1.8pts

We believe these measures provide management and investors with a more complete understanding of underlying operating results
and trends of established, ongoing operations by excluding the effect of acquisitions, dispositions and foreign currency, as these
activities can obscure underlying trends. We also believe presenting organic revenues* and organic profit* separately for our industrial
businesses provides management and investors with useful information about the trends of our industrial businesses and enables a

more direct comparison to other nan-financial companies.

BIOPHARMA ORGANIC REVENUES, PROFIT (LOSS) AND PROFIT MARGIN (NON-GAAP)

Revenues Segment profit {loss) Profit margin
2020 2018 V% 2020 2019 V% 2020 2019 Vopts

BioPharma (GAAP) $ 830 % 3,289 (75)% $ 382 § 1,472 (74)% 460% 448% 1.2pts

Less: acquisitions — -— — —

Less: business dispositions — 2,527 — 1,161

Less: foreign currency effect $ (9) — $ 2 —
BioPharma organic (Non-GAAP) $ 839 § 762 10% § 380 % 3N 22% 453% 408% 45pis
GE INDUSTRIAL ORGANIC REVENUES (NON-GAAP} 2020 2019 Ve
GE Industrial total revenues (GAAP) $ 73,100 % 87,718 (17)%
Adjustments:

Less: acquisitions 138 37

Less: business dispositions{a) 58 3,631

Less: foreign currency effect(b) (276) —
GE Industrial organic revenues (Non-GAAP) $ 73,180 % 84,051 (13)%

(a) Dispositions impact in 2019 primarily related to our BioPharma business within our Healthcare segment, with revenues of $2,527
million, Lighting with revenues of $299 million, and Hamble Aerostructures within our Aviation segment, with revenues of $203

miflion.
{b) Primarity the Brazilian real, euro and Indian rupee.

We betieve these measures provide management and investors with a more complete understanding of underlying operating results
and trends of established, ongoing operations by excluding the effect of acquisitions, dispositions and foreign currency, as these

activities can obscure underlying trends.

*Non-GAAP Financial Measure



GE INDUSTRIAL EQUIPMENT ORGANIC REVENUES (NON-GAAP) 2020 2019 ¥

GE Industrial total equipment revenues (GAAP) 3 37,620 § 43,080 (13)%
Adjustments:

Less: acquisitions 13 14

Less: business dispositions 19 3,193

Less: foreign currency effect {174) —
GE Industrial equipment organic revenues (Non-GAAP) 3 37,781 § 30,873 (5)%
GE INDUSTRIAL SERVICES ORGANIC REVENUES {(NON-GAAP) 2029 2019 o
GE Industrial total services revenues (GAAP) $ 35480 $ 44,639 (21¥%
Adjustments: ‘#7@

Less: acquisitions . 125 23

Less: business dispositions 39 438

Less: foreign currency effect (102) —
GE Industrial services organic revenues {Non-GAAP) $ 35419 % 44,178 (20}%

We believe this measure provides management and investors with a more complete understanding of underlying operating results and
trends of established, angoing operations by excluding the effect of acquisitions, dispositions and foreign currency, as these activities
can obscure underlying rends.

ADJUSTED GE INDUSTRIAL PROFIT AND PROFIT MARGIN 2020 2019
GE Industrial total revenues (GAAP) § 73,100 $ 87,719
GE Industrial total costs and expenses (GAAP) 77,252 88,118
Less: GE Industrial interest and other financial charges 1,333 2115
Less: non-operating benefit costs 2,424 2,828
Less: restructuring & other{a) 693 922
Less: Steam asset impairments(a) 363 —
Less: SEC settlement charge(a) 100 —
Less: goodwill impairments(a) 728 1,486
Add: noncontrolling inlerests {161} 6
Adjusted GE Industrial costs (Non-GAAP) 71,450 80,773
GE Industrial other income (GAAF) 11,444 2,200
Less: unrealized gains (losses)(a) (1,911) 793
Less: restructuring & other(a) 13 36
Less: gains (losses) and impairments for disposed or held for sale businesses(a) 12,472 4
Adjusted GE Industrial other income (Non-GAAP) 871 1,367
GE Industrial profit {GAAP)} 5 7.291 % 1,801
GE industrial profit margin (GAAP) 10.0 % 21%
Adjusted GE Industrial profit (Non-GAAP) $ 2520 % 8,313
Adjusted GE Industrial profit margin (Non-GAAP} 34 % 9.5 %

{a) See the Corporate ltems and Eliminations section for further information.

We believe GE Industrial profit and profit margins adjusted for the items inciuded in the above reconciliation are meaningful measures
because they increase the comparability of period-to-period results.

ADJUSTED GE INDUSTRIAL ORGANIC PROFIT (NON-GAAP) 2020 2019 Y%
Adjusted GE Industrial profit (Non-GAAF) 3 2520 % 8313 (70) %
Adjustments:

Less: acquisitions (4) 6

Less: business dispositions (3) 1,064

Less: foreign currency effect 22 —
Adjusted GE Industrial organic profit (Non-GAAP) $ 2505 % 7.244 (65) %
Adjusted GE Industrial profit margin (Non-GAAP) 34 % 9.5 % {6.1)pts
Adjusted GE Industrial organic profit margin (Non-GAAP) 3.4 % 8.6 % {5.2}pts

We believe this measure provides management and investors with a more complete understandin? of underlying operating results and
trends of established, ongoing operations by excluding the effect of acquisitions, dispositions and foreign currency, as these activities
can ohscure underlying trends.



ADJUSTED EARNINGS (LOSS) AND ADJUSTED EPS 2020 2019

{NON-GAAP) {Per-share amounts in doflars Earnings EPS  Earnings EPS
Consolidated earnings (loss) from continuing operations
attributable to GE common shareholders (GAAP)(a) $ 5342 % 061§ (45) % (0.01)
Add: Accretion of redeemable noncontrolling interests (RNCI) (151) (0.02) — —
Less: GE Capital earnings (loss) from continuing operations
attributable to GE common sharehclders (GAAP) {1.710) (0.20) (530) (0.06)
GE Industrial earnings {loss) (Non-GAAP) 6,901 0.79 485 0.06
Nan-operating benefits costs {pre-taxj (GAAP} (2,424) (0.28; (2,828) {0.32)
Tax effect on non-operating benefit costs 509 0.06 594 0.07
Less: non-operating benefit costs (net of tax) {1.915) (0.22)  (2.234) (0.26)
Gains (losses) and impairments for disposed or held for sale businesses (pre-tax)(b) 12,472 1.42 4 —
Tax effect on gains (losses) and impairments for disposed or held for sale businesses (+.080) {0.12) 34 —
Less: gains (losses) and impairments for disposed or held for sale businesses (net of tax) 11,392 1.30 39 —
Restructuring & other {pre-tax}(b) (680) (0.08) (886) (0.10)
Tax effect on restructuring & other 151 0.02 187 0.02
Less: restructuring & other (net of tax) {529) (0.06) (699) {(0.08)
Less: SEC settlement charge (pre-tax and net of tax) (100) (0.01} — —
Steam asset impairments (pre-tax)(b) (363) (0.04) — —
Tax effect on Steam asset impairments 37 — — —
Less: Steam asset impairments (net of tax) {326) (0.04) — —
Goodwill impairments (pre-taxj(b) (728j (0.08}  (1,485) (0.17}
Tax effect on goodwill impairments {23) — (55) {0.01)
Less: goodwill impairments {net of tax) {751) (0.09y  (1,541) {0.18)
Unrealized gains (losses} (pre-tax){b} (t.911) (0.22) 793 0.09
Tax effect on unrealized gains (losses) 460 0.05 {114) {0.01)
Less: unrealized gains (losses) (net of tax) {1.451) (0.17) 879 0.08
Debt extinguishment costs (pre-tax) (83) (0.01) {255) {0.03)
Tax effect on debt extinguishment costs 13 — 53 0.01
Less: Debt extinguishment costs (net of tax) (50) (0.01) {201) {0.02}
BioPharma deal expense (pre-tax) — — — —
Tax on BioPharma deal expense — — (6847) (0.07)
Less: BioPharma deal expense (net of tax) — — (647) {0.07)
Accretion of RNCI (pre-tax) (151) (0.02) — —
Tax effect on accretion of RNCI — — — —
Less: Accretion of RNCI (net of tax) (151} (0.02) — —
Less: GE Industrial U.S. tax reform enactment adjustment {51) (0.01) {101) {0.01)
Adjusted GE Industrial earnings (loss) (Non-GAAP) $ 833 % 010 % 5191 § 059
Capi ings inui i i
G GE common Shatehotiors (GAAR) " cperatons atribuasie (1.710)  (©20)  (530)  (0.06)
Insurance premium deficiency test charge (pre-tax) — — (972) (0.11}
Tax effect an insurance premium deficiency test charge — _ 204 0.02
Less: Insurance premium deficiency test charge (net of tax) — — (768) (0.09)
Goodwill impairments {pre-tax) (839) (0.10) — —
Tax effect on goodwill impairments 3 — — —
Less: goodwill impairments (net of tax) (836) (0.10} — —
Less: SEC settlement charge (pre-tax and net of tax) {100) (0.01) — —
Debt extinguishment costs (pre-tax) (238] (0.03) — —
Tax effect on debt extinguishment costs 44 — — —
Less: debt extinguishment costs (net of tax) (194) (0.02) — —
Less: GE Capital U.S. tax reform enactment adjustment 2 — 99 0.01
Less: GE Capital 1ax benefit related to BioPharma sale 143 0.02 — —
Adjusted GE Capital earnings (loss) (Non-GAAP) $ (724)% (0.08)% 133 § 0.02
Adjusted GE Industrial earnings (loss) (Non-GAAP) $ 833% 010 % 5191 § 059
Add: Adjusted GE Capital earnings (loss) (Non-GAAP) (724} (0.08) 139 0.02
Adjusted earnings (loss) (Non-GAAP) $ 109§ 001 % 5330 % 061

{a) Earnings for per-share calculation includes altocation of participating securities pursuant to the two-class method. See Note 18 for
further information. Earnings-per-share amounts are computed independently. As a result, the sum of per-share amounts may not
equal the total.

(b) See the Corporate Items and Eliminations section for further information.



The service cost for our pension and other benefit plans are included in adjusted earnings*, which represents the ongoing cost of
providing pension benefits to our employees. The components of non-operating benefit costs are mainly driven by capital altocation
decisions and market performance. We believe the retained costs in Adjusted earnings* and Adjusted EPS* provides management
and investors a useful measure to evaluate the performance of the fotal company and increases period-to-period comparability. We
also use Adjusted EPS” as a performance metric at the company level for our annual executive incentive plan for 2020. We believe
presenting Adjusted Industrial earnings™ and Adjusted Industrial EPS™ separately for our financial services businesses also provides
management and investors with useful information about the relative size of cur industrial and financiat services businesses in relation
to the total company.

GE INDUSTRIAL NET DEBT {(NON-GAAP) December 31, 2020  December 31, 2019
Total GE Industrial short- and long-term borrowings (GAAP) $ 42,736 % 52,059
Less: GE Capital short- and long-term debt assumed by GE industrial 22,390 31,368
Add: intercompany loans from GE Capital 3177 12,226
Total adjusted GE Industrial borrowings $ 23,523 % 32,97
Pension and principal retiree benefit plan liabilities (pre-tax)(a) 25,492 27,773
Less: taxes at 21% 5,363 5,832
Pension and principal retiree benefit ptan liabilities (net of tax) 5 20,139 % 21,941
GE Industrial operating lease liabilities 3,133 3,369
GE Industrial preferred stock 5,918 5,738
Less: 50% of GE Industrial preferred stock 2,959 2,869
50% of preferred stock $ 2,959 % 2,869
Deduction for total GE Industrial cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash (23,209) (17,613)
Less: 25% of GE Industrial cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash (5,802} (4,403)
Deduction for 75% of GE Industrial cash, cash equivatents and restricted cash $ (17,407) § (13,210)
Total GE Industrial net debt (Non-GAAP) $ 32,347 § 47,886

{a) Represents the sum of the net deficit of principal pension, other pension, and principai retiree benefit plans as disclosed in Note 13,

In this document we use GE Industrial net debt*, which is calcutated based on rating agency methodologies. We are including the
calculation of GE industrial net debt” to provide investars more clarity regarding how the credit rating agencies measure GE Industrial
leverage.

OTHER FINANCIAL DATA
FIVE-YEAR PERFORMANCE GRAPH
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The annual changes for the five-year period shown in the above graph are based on the assumption that $100 had been invested in
General Electric common stock, the Standard & Poor's 500 Stock Index (S&P 500), the Standard & Poor’s 500 Industrials Stock Index
(S&P Industrial) and the Dow Jones Industrial Average (DJIA} on December 31, 2015, and that alt quarterly dividends were reinvested.
The cumulative dollar returns shown on the graph represent the value that such investments would have had on December 31 for each
year indicated. In 2020, we began measuring GE's relative perfoermance against the S&P Industrial index for performance share unit
awards. In previous years we have provided the DJIA, and it is included in the above graph for comparison purposes only.

With respect to “Market Informaticn,” in the United States, General Electric common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange
under the ticker symbol "GE" (its principal market). General Electric common steck is alse listed on the London Stock Exchange,
Euronext Paris, the SIX Swiss Exchange and the Frankfurt Stock Exchange.

As of January 31, 2021, there were approximately 365,000 shareholder accounts of record.
*Non-GAAP Financiai Measure



PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES BY THE ISSUER AND AFFILIATEDR PURCHASERS. GE did not repurchase any equity
securities during the three months ended December 31, 2020.

RISK FACTORS. The following discussian of the material factors, events and uncertainties that may make an investment in the
Company speculative or risky contains “forward-looking statements,” as discussed in the Forward-Looking Statements section. These
risk factors may be important to understanding any statement in this Form 10-K report or elsewhere. The risks described below should
not be considered a complete list of potential risks that we face, and additional risks not currently known to us or that we currently
consider immaterial may also negatively impact us. The following information should be read in conjunction with the MD&A section and
the consolidated financial statements and related notes. The risks we describe in this Form 10-K report or in our other SEC filings could,
in ways we may not be able to accurately predict, recognize or control, have a material adverse effect on our business, reputation,
financial position, results of operations, cash flows and stock price, and they could cause our future results to be materially different
than we presently anticipate.

STRATEGIC RISKS. Strategic risk relates to the Company's future business plans and sirategies, including the risks associated with:
the global macra-environment; competitive threats, the demand for our products and services and the success of our investments in
technology and innovation; our portfolio of businesses and capital allocation decisions; dispositions, acquisitions, joint ventures and
restructuring activity; intellectual property; and other risks.

COVID-19 - The global COVID-19 pandemic has had and is expected to continue to have a material adverse impact on our
operations and financial performance, as well as on the operations and financial performance of many of the customers and
suppliers in industries that we serve, Our operations and financial performance have been negatively impacted by the COVID-19
pandemic that has caused, and is expected to continue to cause, the glebal slowdown of economic activity {including the decrease in
demand for a broad variety of goods and services), disruptions in global supply chains and significant volatility and disruption of
financial markets. Across all of our businesses, we have experienced and expect to continue to experience operational challenges from
the need to protect employee health and safety, site shutdowns, workplace disruptions and restrictions on the movement of people, raw
materials and goods, both at our own facilities and at these of our customers and suppliers. We also have experienced, and expect to
continue experiencing, lower demand and volume for products and services (particularly at GE Aviation, as described below, and also
for portions of GE Healthcare's business), customer requests for potential payment deferrals or other contract modifications, supply
chain under-liquidation, delays of deliveries and the achievement of other billing milestones, delays or cancellations of new projects and
related down payments and other factors related directly and indirectly to the COVID-19 pandemic that adversely impact our
businesses.

In particular, the interruption of regional and international air travel from COVID-19 is having a material adverse effect on our airdine and
airframer customers, the viability of their businesses and their demand for our services and products. In this context, we have observed
a significant increase in the number of requests for payment deferrals, contract modifications, aircraft lease restructurings and similar
actions acress the aviation sector, which may lead to additional charges, impairments and other adverse financial impacts, or to
customer disputes, at GE Aviation and GE Capital Aviation Services. Disruption of the aviation industry, which could continue for an
uncertain period of time, is particularly significant for GE, as we have depended on the strength of our Aviation business as we have
been working to improve the operations and execution of other GE businesses and strengthen the company's balance sheet. As a
result, disruption of the aviation industry, which could continue for an uncertain period of time, is particularly significant for GE.

The ultimate impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our operations and financial performance depends on many factors that are not
within our control, including, but not limited, to: the severity and duration of the pandemic, including the impact of coronavirus mutations
and resurgences; governmental, business and individuals’ actions that have been and continue to be taken in response to the
pandemic (including restrictions on travel and transport and workforce pressures); the impact of the pandemic and actions taken in
response on global and regional economies, travel, and economic activity; the development, availability and public acceptance of
effective treatments or vaccines; the availability of federal, state, local or non-U.S. funding programs; general economic uncertainty in
key global markets and financial market volatility; global economic conditions and levels of economic growth; and the pace and extent
of recovery when the COVID-19 pandemic subsides. A number of accounting estimates that we make have heen and will continue to be
affected by the COVID-19 pandemic and uncertainties related to these and other factors, and our accounting estimates and
assumptions may change over time in response to COVID-19 (see Note 1). As the COVID-19 pandemic continues to adversely affect
our operating and financial results, it may also have the effect of heightening many of the other risk factors described below.



Global macro-environment - Our growth is subject to global economic, political and geopolitical risks. We operate in virtually
every part of the world, serve customers in over 170 countries and received 56% of our revenues for 2020 from outside the United
States. Our operations and the execution of our business plans and strategies are subject to the effects of global economic trends,
geopolitical risks and demand or supply shocks from events that could include war, a major terrorist attack, natural disasters or actual or
threatened health emergencies (such as COVID-19). They are also affected by local and regional economic environments and policies
in the U.S. and other markets that we serve, including interest rates, monetary policy, inflation, ecenomic growth, recession, commodity
prices, currency volatility, currency controls or other limitations on the ability to expatriate cash, sovereign debt levels and actual or
anticipated defaults on sovereign debt. For example, changes in lecal economic conditions or outlooks, such as lower rates of
investment or economic growth in China, Europe or other key markets, affect the demand for ar profitability of our products and services
outside the U.S., and the impact on the Company could be significant given the extent of our activities outside the United States.
Political changes and trends such as populism, protectionism, economic naticnalism and sentiment toward multinational companies and
resulting tariffs, export controls or other trade barriers, or changes to tax or other faws and policies, have been and may continue to be
disruptive and costly to our businesses, and these can interfere with our global operating model, supply chain, production costs,
customer relationships and competitive position. Further escalation of specific trade tensions, such as those between the U.S. and
China, or in global trade conflict more broadly could be harmful to global economic growth, and related decreases in confidence or
investment activity in the global markets would adversely affect our business performance. We also do business in many emerging
market jurisdictions where economic, political and legal risks are heightened.

Industry dynamics and outlooks - The strategic priorities and financial performance of our businesses are subject to major
trends in our industries, such as decarbonization and digitization, and we may not appropriately plan for or adapt quickly
enough to dynamics that in some cases can take many years to play out. Our long-term operating results and competitive position
depend substantially upon our ability to continually develop, introduce, and market new and innovative technology, products, services
and platforms, to modify existing products and services, to customize products and services, to maintain long-term customer
relationships and to increase our productivity over time as we perform on long-term service agreements. A failure to appropriately plan
for future customer demand and industry trends may adversely affect our delivery of products, services and outcomes in line with our
projected financial performance or cost estimates, and ultimately may result in excess costs, build-up of inventory that becomes
obsolete, lower profit margins and an erosion of our competitive position. In some cases, major disruptive dynamics can arise quickly in
our industries, such as the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on air travel and the outlook for a return to flight at pre-pandemic levels,
as described above. in other cases, we must anticipate and respond to market and technological changes driven by broader trends
such as decarbonization efforts in response to climate change, or increased digitization in healthcare or other industries we serve or
growth in industrial automation, that present bath risks and opportunities for our businesses. For example, the significant decreases in
recent years in the levelized cost of energy for renewable sources of pawer generation (such as wind and solar}, along with ongoing
changes in government, investor, customer and consumer policies, commitments, preferences and considerations related to climate
change, in some cases have adversely affected, and are expected to continue to affect, the demand for and the competitiveness of
products and services related to fossil fuel-based power generation, including sales of new gas turbines and the utilization and servicing
needs for existing gas power plants. Continued shifts toward greater penetration by renewables in both new capacity additions and the
proportionate share of power generation, particularly depending on the pace and timeframe for such shifts across different markets
globally, could have a material adverse effect on the performance of our Power business and our consolidated results. While the
anticipated market growth and generation share for renewable energy over time is favorable for our wind businesses, there too we face
uncertainties related to the future anticipated levels of government subsidies and credits, significant price competition among wind
equipment manufacturers, dynamics between onshore and offshore wind power, potential further consolidation in the wind industry and
competition with other sources of renewable energy such as solar. In addition, the achievement of deep decarbonization goals over the
coming decades is likely to depend in part on technologies that are not yet deployed or widely adopted today but may become more
important over time (such as grid-scale batteries or other storage solutions, hydrogen-based power generation, carbon capture and
sequestration or advanced nuclear power), and we may not adequately position our businesses to benefit from the growth in adoption
of these technologies. These trends related to the global energy transition and decarbonization, including the relative competitiveness
of different types of product and service offerings within and across our energy businesses, as well as for GE Aviation, will continue to
be impacted in ways that are uncertain by factors such as the pace of technological developments and related cost considerations, the
levels of economic growth in different markets around the world and the adoption of climate change-related policies (such as carbon
taxes, cap and trade regimes, increased efficiency standards, greenhouse gas emission reduction commitments, incentives or
mandates for particular types of energy or policies that impact the availability of financing for certain types of projects) at the national
and sub-national levels or by private actors.



Competitive environment - We are dependent on the maintenance of existing product lines and service relationships, market
acceptance of new product and service introductions and technology and innovation leadership for revenue and earnings
growth. The markets in which we operate are highly competitive in terms of pricing, product and service quality, product development
and introduction time, customer service, financing terms and shifts in market demand, and competitors are increasingly offering
services for our installed base. Our businesses are also subject to technological change and require us to continually attract and retain
skilled talent. The introduction of innovative and disruptive technolegies in the markets in which we operate also poses risks in the form
of new competitors (including new entrants from outside our traditional industries, such as competitors from digital technology
companies), market consolidation, substitutions of existing products, services or solutions, niche players, new business models and
competitors that are faster to market with new or more cost-effective products or services. Because the research and development
cycle involved in bringing products in our businesses to market is often lengthy, it is inherently difficult to predict the economic
conditions and competitive dynamics that will exist when any new product is complete, and our investments, to the extent they result in
bringing a preduct to market, may generate weaker returns than we anticipated at the outset. Our capacity to invest in research and
development efforts to pursue advancement in a wide range of technologies, products and services also depends on the finangial
resources that we have available for such investment relative to other capital allocation prigrities, and to the extent there may be under-
investment that could lead to loss of sales of our products and services in the future, particularly in our long-cycle businesses. The
amounts that we do invest in research and development divert resources from other potential investments in our businesses, and our
efforts may not lead to the development of new technologies or products on a timely basis or meet the needs of aur customers as fully
as competitive offerings.

Restructuring & retention - We have been undertaking extensive cost reduction and restructuring efforts; these efforts may
have adverse effects on our operations, employee retention, results and reputation and may not achieve the expected
benefits. We continue undertaking restructuring actions that include workforce reductions, global facility consolidations and other cost
reduction initiatives. These actions have been a central component of our ongoing efforts to improve operational and financial
performance, and we have also taken additional actions or accelerated the pace of actions to mitigate the adverse financial effects of
COVID-19 on our businesses. The extent of change across our organizational structure, senior leadership, culture, functional alignment,
outsourcing and other areas poses risks in the form of personnel capacity constraints and institutional knowledge less that could lead to
missed performance or financial targets, loss of key personnel and harm to our reputation. The risk of capacity constraints is also
heightened with the number of interdependent and transformational business portfolio and internal actions that we have been
undertaking during a period of significant restructuring and cost reduction across the Company. Moreover, if we do not successfully
manage our restructuring and other transformational activities, the anticipated operational improvements, efficiencies and other benefits
might be delayed or not realized, and our operations and business could be disrupted. Risks associated with these actions include
unforeseen delays in implementation of workforce reductions, additional unexpected costs, adverse effects on employee morale, loss of
key employees or other retention issues, inability to attract and hire talented professionals or the failure to meet operational targets due
to the loss of employees or work stoppages, any of which may impair our ability to achieve anticipated cost reductions or may otherwise
harm our business or reputation and have an adverse effect on our competitive position or financial performance.

Business portfolio - Our success depends on achieving our strategic and financial objectives, including through dispositions,
acquisitions, integrations and joint ventures. Over the past several years we have been pursuing a variety of dispositions, including
the ongoing monetization of our remaining equity ownership position in Baker Hughes. The proceeds from those dispositions have been
an important source of cash flow for the Company as part of our strategic and financial planning. When we seek fo sell certain
businesses, equity interests or assets, we may encounter difficulties in finding buyers or in market conditions that could delay or prevent
the accomplishment of our objectives, and declines in the values of equity intarests (such as cur remaining interest in Baker Hughes) or
other assets that we sell can diminish the cash proceeds that we realize. We may dispose of businesses or assets at a price or on
terms that are less favorable than we had anticipated, or with purchase price adjustments or the exclusion of assets or liabilities that
must be divested, managed or run off separately. We can alsc be subject to limitations in the form of regulatory or governmental
approvals that may prevent certain prospective counterparties from completing transactions with us or delay us from executing
transactions on our preferred timeline, or arising from our debt or other contractual abligations that limit our ability to complete certain
transactions. Moreover, dispositions have the effect of reducing the Company's cash flow and earnings capacity, resulting in a less
diversified portfolio of businesses and increasing our dependency on remaining businesses for our financial results from ongoing
operatians. Dispositions or other business separations also often involve continued financial involvement in the divested business, such
as through continuing equity ownership, retained assets or liabilities, transition services agreements, commercial agreements,
guarantees, indemnities or other current or contingent financial obligations or liabilities. Under these arrangements, performance by the
divested businesses or other conditions outside our control could materially affect our future financial results. With respect to
acquisitions, joint ventures and business integrations, we may not achieve expected returns and other benefits on a timely basis or at all
as a result of changes in strategy or separation/integration challenges related to personnel, IT systems or other factors. Executing on all
types of portfolio transactions can divert senior management time and resources from other pursuits. In addition, in connection with
acquisitions over time, we have recorded significant goodwill and other intangible assets on our balance sheet, and if we are not able to
realize the value of these assets, we may be required to incur charges relating to the impairment of these assets. We also participate in
a number of joint ventures with other companies or gavernment enterprises in various markets around the world, including joint
ventures where we have a lesser degree of control over the business operations, which may expose us to additional operational,
financial, reputational, legal or compliance risks.



Intetlectual property - Qur intellectual property portfolio may not prevent competitors from independently developing products
and services similar to or duplicative to ours, and the value of our intellectual property may be negatively impacted by
external dependencies. Qur patents and other intellectual property may not prevent competitors from independently developing or
selling products and services similar to or duplicative of ours, and there can be no assurance that the resources invested by us to
protect our intellectual property will be sufficient or that our intellectual property portfolio will adequately deter misappropriation or
improper use of our technology. Trademark licenses of the GE brand in connection with dispositions may negatively impact the overall
value of the brand in the future. We also face competition in some countries where we have not invested in an intellectual property
portfolio. If we are not able to protect our intellectual property, the value of our brand and other intangibie assets may be diminished,
and our business may be adversely affected. We also face attempts to gain unauthorized access to our IT systems or products for the
purpose of improperly acquiring our trade secrets or confidential business information. The theft or unauthorized use or publication of
our trade secrets and other confidential business information as a result of such an incident could adversely affect our competitive
position and the value of our investment in research and development. In addition, we are subject to the enforcement of patents or other
intellectual property by third parties, including aggressive and opportunistic enforcement claims by non-practicing entities. Regardless of
the merit of such claims, responding to infringement claims can be expensive and time-consuming. If GE is found to infringe any third-
party rights, we could be required to pay substantial damages or we could be enjoined from offering some of our products and services.
The value of, or our ability to use, our intellectual property may also be negatively impacted by dependencies on third parties, such as
our ability to obtain or renew on reasonable terms licenses that we need in the future, or our ability ko secure or retain ownership or
rights to use data in certain software analytics or services offerings.

OPERATIONAL RISKS. Operational risk relates to risks arising from systems, processes, people and external events that affect the
operation of our businesses. It includes risks related to product and service lifecycle and execution; product safety and performance;
information management and data protection and security, including cybersecurity; and supply chain and business disruption.

Operational execution - Operational challenges could have a material adverse effect on our business, reputation, financial
position, results of operations and cash flows. The Company's financial results depend on the successful execution of our
businesses’ operating plans across all steps of the preduct and service lifecycle. We continue working to improve the operations and
execution of our businesses and our ability to effect the desired improvements will be a significant factor in determining the financial
performance of the Company as a whole. For example, new product introductions remain important to onshore and offshore wind
customers, and in that environment the Renewable Energy business will need to continue to prioritize product quality, delivery and other
aspects of its operational execution as new technology of larger turbines is introduced, including the Haliade-X offshore wind turbine.
Operational failures at any of our businesses that result in quality problems or potential product, environmental, health or safety risks,
could have a material adverse effect on our business, reputation, financial position and resuits of operations. In addition, a portion of aur
business, particularty within our Power and Renewable Energy businesses, involves large projects where we take on, or are members
of a consortium responsible for, the full scope of engineering, procurement, construction or other services. These types of projects often
pose unique risks related to their location, scale, complexity, duration and pricing or payment structure. Performance issues or schedule
delays can arise due to inadequate technical expertise, unanticipated project modifications, developments at project sites,
environmental, health and safety issues, execution by or coordination with suppliers, subcontractors or consortium partners, financial
difficulties of our customers or significant partners or compliance with government regulations, and these can lead to cost overruns,
contractual penalties, liquidated damages and other adverse consequences. Where GE is a member of a consortium, we are typically
subject to claims based on joint and several liability, and claims can extend to aspects of the project or costs that are not directly related
or limited to GE's scope of work or over which GE does not have control. Operational, quality or cther issues at large projects, or across
our projects portfolio more broadly, can adverseiy affect GE’s business, reputation or results of operations.

Product safety - Our products and services are highly sophisticated and specialized, and a major failure or similar event
affecting our products or third-party products with which our products are integrated can adversely affect cur business,
reputation, financial position, results of operations and cash flows. We produce highly sophisticated products and provide
specialized services for both our own and third-party products that incorporate or use complex or leading-edge technology, including
both hardware and software. Many of our products and services involve complex industrial machinery or infrastructure projects, such as
commercial jet engines, gas turbines, onshore and offshore wind turbines or nuclear power generation, and accordingly the impact of a
catastrophic product failure or similar event could be significant. In particular, actual or perceived design or production issues related to
new product introductions or relatively new product tines can result in significant reputational harm to our businesses, in addition to
direct warranty, maintenance and other costs that may arise. A significant product issue resulting in injuries or death, widespread
outages, a fleet grounding or similar systemic consequences could have a material adverse effect on our business, reputation, financial
position and results of operations. We may also incur increased costs, delayed payments or lost equipment or services revenue in
connection with a significant issue with a third party's product with which our products are integrated, or if parts or other components
that we incorporate in our products have defects or other gquality issues. For example, the LEAP-1B engine that our Aviation business
develops, produces and sells through CFM is the exclusive engine for the Boeing 737 MAX, which was subject to a global fleet
grounding for nearly two years until November 2020 following two fatal crashes that were unrelated to the LEAP engine. The pace and
success of the 737 MAX's safe return to service and the corresponding LEAP engine production rates will have material significance to
the results and outlook of our Aviation business, There can be no assurance that the operational processes around product design,
manufacture, performance and servicing that we or our customers or other third parties have designed to meet rigorous quality
standards will be sufficient to prevent us or our customers or other third parties from experiencing operational process or product
failures and other problems, including through manufacturing or design defects, process or other failures of contractors or third-party
suppliers, cyber-attacks or other intentional acts, software vulnerabilities or malicious software, that could result in potential praduct,
safety, quality, regulatory or environmental risks.



Cybersecurity - Increased cybersecurity requirements, vulnerabilities, threats and more sophisticated and targeted computer
crime pose a risk to our systems, networks, products, solutions, services and data. Increased global cybersecurity vulnerabilities,
threats, computer viruses and more sophisticated and targeted cyber-related attacks, as well as cybersecurity failures resulting from
human error and technological errors, pose a risk to the security of GE's and its customers', partners', suppliers’ and third-party service
providers' infrastructure, products, systems and networks and the confidentiality, availability and integrity of GE's and its customers'
data. As the perpetrators of such attacks become more capable (including sophisticated state or state-affiliated actors), and as critical
infrastructure is increasingly becoming digitized, the risks in this area continue to grow. A significant cyber-related attack in one of our
industries, even if such an attack does not involve GE products, services or systems, could pose broader disruptions and adversely
affect our business. For example, we have observed an increase in third-party breaches at suppliers, service providers and software
providers, and our efforts to mitigate adverse effects on GE if this trend continues may be less successful in the future. The increasing
degree of interconnectednegss between GE and its partners, suppliers and customers also poses a risk to the security of GE's network
as well as the larger ecosystem in which GE operates. There can be no assurance that our attempts to mitigate cybersecurity risks by
employing a number of measures, including employee training, monitering and testing, performing security reviews and requiring
business partners with connections to the GE netwark to appropriately secure their information technology systems, and maintenance
of protective systems and contingency plans, will be sufficient to prevent, detect and limit the impact of cyber-related attacks, and we
remain vulnerable to known or unknown threats. In addition to existing risks, the adoption of new technologies in the future may also
increase our exposure to cybersecurity breaches and failures. While we have developed secure development lifecycle design practices
to secure our software designs and connected products, an unknown vulnerability or compromise could potentially impact the security
of GE’s software or connected products, lead ta the loss of GE intellectual property, safety risks or unavailability of equipment. We also
have access to sensitive, confidential or personal data or information in certain of our businesses that is subject to privacy and security
laws, regulations or customer-imposed controls. Despite our use of reasonable and appropriate controls to protect our systems and
sensitive, confidential or personal data or information, we have vulnerability to security breaches, theft, misplaced, lost or corrupted
data, programming errors, employee errors and/or malfeasance (including misappropriation by departing employees) that cauld
potentially lead to material compromising of sensitive, confidential or personal data or information, improper use of our systems,
software solutions or networks, unauthorized access, use, disclosure, modification or destruction of or denial of access to information,
defective products, production downtimes and operational disruptians. Data privacy and protection laws are evolving, can vary
significantly by country and present increasing compliance challenges, which increase our costs, affect our competitiveness and can
expose us to substantial fines or other penalties. In addition, a significant cyber-related attack could result in other negative
conseguences, including damage to our reputation or competitiveness, remediation or increased protection costs, litigation or regulatory
action,

Supply chain - Significant raw material shortages, supplier capacity constraints, supplier or customer production disruptions,
supplier quality and sourcing issues or price increases can increase our operating costs and adversely impact the
competitive positions of our products. Our reliance on third-party suppliers, contract manufacturers and service providers, and
commodity markets to secure raw materials, parts, compcnents and sub-systems used in our products expases us to volatility in the
prices and availability of these materials, parts, companents, systems and services. As out supply chains extend into many different
countries and regions around the world, we are also subject to global economic and geapolitical dynamics and risks associated with
exporting components manufactured in particular countries for incorporation into finished products completed in other countries. In
addition, some of our suppliers or their sub-suppliers are limited- or sole-source suppliers. We also have internal dependencies on
certain key GE manufacturing or other facilities. Disruptions in deliveries from a key GE facility or from our third-party suppliers, contract
manufacturers or outsourced or other service providers, capacity constraints, production disruptions up- or down-stream, price
increases, or decreased availability of raw materials or commaodities, including as a result of war, natural disaster, actual or threatened
public health emergencies or other business continuity events, adversely affect our operations and, depending on the length and
severity of the disruption, can limit our ability to meet our commitments to customers or significantly impact our operating profit or cash
flows. Quality, capability, compliance and sourcing issues experienced by third-party providers can also adversely affect our costs,
margin rates and the quality and effectiveness of our products and services and result in liability and reputational harm; the harm to us
could be significant if, for example, a quality issue at a supplier or with components that we integrate into our products results in a
widespread quality issue across one of our product lines or our fleet. In addition, while we require our suppliers to implement and
maintain reasonable and appropriate contrals to protect information we provide to them, they may be the victim of a cyber-related attack
that could lead to the compromise of the Company’s intellectual property, persanal data or other confidential information, or to
production downtimes and operational disruptions that could have an adverse effect on our ability to meet our commitmenits to
customers. An unknown security vulnerability or malicious software embedded in a supplier's product that is later integrated into a GE
product could lead to a vuinerability in the security of GE's product or if used internally in the GE network environment to & compromise

of the GE network, which could potentially lead to the loss of information or operational disruptions.

FINANCIAL RISKS. Financial risk relates to our ability to meet financial cbligations and mitigate expasure to broad market risks,
including funding and liquidity risks, such as risk related to our credit ratings and our availability and cost of funding; credit risk; and
volatility in foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates and commodity prices. Liquidity risk refers to the potential inability to meet
contractual or contingent financial obligations {whether on- or off-balance sheet) as they arise, and could potentially impact our financial
caondition or overall safety and soundness. Credit risk is the risk of financial loss arising from a customer or counterparty failure to meet
its contractual obligations, and we face credit risk arising from both our industrial businesses and fram GE Capital.



Leverage & borrowings - Our indebtedness levels could limit the flexibility of our businesses, and we could face further
constraints as a result of failing to decrease our leverage over time, further downgrades of our credit ratings or adverse
market conditions. Our ability to decrease our leverage as planned is dependent primarily on cash flows from operations, as well as
proceeds from dispositions. Continuing to de-lever and service our debt will require a significant amount of cash, and if we are unable to
generate cash flows in accordance with our plans we may be required to adopt one or more alternatives such as increasing borrowing
under credit lines, further reducing or delaying investments or capital expenditures, selling other businesses or assets, refinancing debt
or raising additional equity capital. in addition, we have significant pension and run-off insurance liabilities that are sensitive ta
numerous factors and assumptions that we use in our pension liability, GAAP insurance reserve and statutory insurance calculations.
For example, the impact of low or declining market interest rates on the discount rates that we use to calculate these long-term liabilities
(holding other variables constant) can adversely affect our earnings and cash flows, as well as the pace of progress toward our
leverage goals for GE and for GE Capital. Lower than expected cash generation by our businesses or disposition proceeds over time
could also adversely affect our progress toward our leverage goals. Our indebtedness could put us at a competitive disadvantage
compared to competitors with lower debt levels that may have greater financial flexibility to secure additional funding for their
operations, pursue strategic acquisitions, finance long-term projects or take other actions. Continuing to have substantial indebtedness
could also increase our vulnerability to general economic conditions, such as slowing economic growth or recession. It could also
increase our vulnerability to adverse industry-specific conditions or to increases in the capitat or liquidity needs at the GE or GE Capital
levets, and it could limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in the economy and the industries in which we compete. In
addition, our existing levels of indebtedness may impair our ability to obtain additional debt financing on favorable terms in the future,
particularly if coupled with further downgrades of our credit ratings or a deterioration of capital markets conditions more generally.
External conditions in the financial and credit markets, such as the increased cconomic uncertainty and reduced economic activity
resuiting from the COVID-18 pandemic, may limit the availability of funding at particular times or increase the cost of funding, which
could adversely affect our business, financial position and results of operations.

Liguidity - Failure to meet our cash flow targets, or additional credit downgrades, could adversely affect our liquidity, funding
costs and related margins. We rely primarily on cash from operations, as well as proceeds from business and asset dispositions and
access to the short- and long-term debt markets, to fund our operations, maintain a contingency buffer of liquidity and meet our financial
obligations and capital allocation priorities. If we do not meet our cash flow objectives, through both improved cash performance in our
businesses or successful execution of business and asset dispositions, our financial condition could be adversely affected. Our access
to the debt markets depends, in part, on our credit ratings. As previously reported, in April 2020, Moody's and S&P changed their credit
rating outlooks for GE and GE Capital from Stable to Negative, and Fitch lowered its credit ratings for GE and GE Capital. There can be
no assurance that we will not face additional credit downgrades as a result of factors such as our continued progress in decreasing our
leverage, the performance of our businesses, the failure to execute on dispositions or changes in rating application or methodology for
GE or GE Capital. Future downgrades could further adversely affect our cost of funds and related margins, liquidity, competitive position
and access to capital markets, and a significant downgrade could have an adverse commercial impact on our industrial businesses. In
addition, swap, forward and option contracts are executed under standard master agreements that typically contain mutual downgrade
provisions that provide the ability of the counterparty to require termination if the credit ratings of the applicable GE entity were to fall
below specified ratings levels agreed upon with the counterparty. For additional discussion about our current credit ratings and related
considerations, refer to the Capital Resources and Liguidity - Credit Ratings and Conditions section within MD&A.

GE Capital - A smaller GE Capital continues to have exposure to insurance, credit, legal and other risks and, in the event of
future adverse developments, may not be able to meet its business and financial objectives without further actions at GE
Capital or additional capital contributions by GE compared to current plans. To fund the statutory capital contributions that it
expects to make to its insurance subsidiaries over the next several years, as well as to meet its debt maturities and other obligations,
GE Capital expects to rely on its existing liquidity, cash generated from asset sales and cash flows from its businesses, as well as GE
repayments of intercompany loans and capital contributions from GE. However, as GE Capital's excess liquidity from past disposition
proceeds runs off, and as its future earnings are reduced as a result of business and asset sales, there is a risk that future adverse
developments could cause liquidity or funding stress for GE Capital. For example, it is possible that future requirements for capital
contributions to the insurance subsidiaries will be greater than currently estimated or could be accelerated by reguiators. Qur annual
testing of insurance reserves is subject to a variety of assumptions, including assumptions about the discount rate (which is sensitive to
changes in market interest rates}, morbidity, mortality and future long-term care premium increases. Any future adverse changes to
these assumptions (to the extent not offset by any favorable changes to these assumptions) could result in an increase to future policy
benefit reserves and, potentially, to the amount of capital we are required to contribute to the insurance subsidiaries (as discussed in
the Other ltems - Insurance section within MD&A). We also anticipate that the new insurance accounting standard scheduled to be
effective after 2022 (as discussed in the Other ltems - New Accounting Standards section within MD&A)} will significantly change the
accounting for measurements of cur long-duration insurance liabilities under GAAP and that the adoption of the accounting standard
will materially affect our financial statements. In addition, we continue to evaluate strategic options to accelerate the further reduction in
the size of GE Capital. Same of these options could have a material financial charge or other adverse effects depending on the timing,
negotiated terms and conditions of any ultimate arrangements. it is aiso possible that contingent liabilities and loss estimates from GE
Capital’s continuing or discontinued operations, such as those related to Bank BPH (see Note 23) will need to be recognized or
increase in the future and will become payable. f GE Capital's credit ratings are downgraded because of inadequate increases in its
capital levels over time, changes in rating application or methodology for GE Capital or other factors, GE Capital may aiso face
increased interest costs and limitations on its ability to access external funding in the future. There can be no assurance that future
liabilities, losses or impairments to the carrying value of financial assets would not materially and adversely affect GE Capital's
business, financial position, results of operations and capacity to provide financing to support orders from GE's industrial businesses, or
that factors causing sufficiently severe stress at GE Capital would not require GE to make larger than expected capital contributions to
GE Capital in the future.
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Customers & counterparties — Global economic, industry-specific or other developments that weaken the soundness of
significant customers, governments, financial institutions or other parties we deal with can adversely affect our business,
results of operations and cash flows. The business and operating results of our industrial businesses have been, and will continue to
be, affected by worldwide economic conditions, including conditions in the air transportation, power generation, renewable energy,
healthcare and other industries we serve. Existing or potential customers may delay or cancel plans to purchase our products and
services, including large infrastructure projects, and may not be able to fulfill their obligations to us in a timely fashion or at all as a result
of business deterioration, cash flow shortages or difficulty obtaining financing for particular projects or due to macrogconomic
conditions, geopolitical disruptions, changes in law or other challenges affecting the strength of the global economy. The airline industry,
for example, is highly cyclical, and the level of demand far air travel is correlated to the strength of the U.S. and international
economies. Aviation industry activity is also particularly influenced by a small group of large original equipment manufacturers, as well
as large aidines in various geographies, and our credit exposure to some of our largest aviation customers is significant. As described
above, the current extended disruption of regional and international air travel from the COVID-19 pandemic has had and is expected to
continue to have a material adverse effect on our airframer and airine customers. A potential future disruption in connection with a
terrorist incident, cyberattack, actual or threatened public health emergency or recessionary economic environment that results in the
loss of business and leisure traffic could also adversely affect these customers, their ability to fulfili their obligations to us in a timely
fashion or at all, demand for our products and services and the viability of a customer’s business. Secular, cyclical or other pressures
facing customers across our energy businesses, including in connection with decarbonization, industry consolidation and competition
and shifts in the availability of financing for certain types of projects, can also have a significant impact on the operating results and
outlooks for our businesses operating in those indusiries. GE Capital also has exposure to many different industries and counterparties,
including customers that are sovereign governments or located in emerging markets, and routinely exectites transactions with
counterparties in the financial services industry, including brokers and dealers, commercial banks, investment banks, insurance
companies and other institutional clients. Many of these transactions expose GE Capital and its subsidiaries to credit and other risks in
the event of insolvency or other default of its counterparty or client. For example, a portion of GE Capital’s run-off insurance operations’
assets that are held in trust accounts associated with UFLIC reinsurance contracts and reinsurance security trust agreements are
currently held in trusts for the benefit of insurance company subsidiaries of Genworth, which in January 2021 announced that it would
focus on a contingency plan to meet its near-term liabilities amidst uncertainty around the completion of its planned merger with China
Oceanwide. Solvency or other cancerns about Genworth or its insurance company subsidiaries may cause those subsidiaries or their
regulators to take or attempt to take actions that could adversely affect UFLIC, including control over assets in the relevant trusts. We
also at times face greater challenges collecting on receivables with customers that are sovereign governments or located in emerging
markets. If there is significant deterioration in the global economy, in our industries, in financial markets or with particular significant
counterparties, our results of operations, financial position and cash flows could be materially adversely affected.

Postretirement benefit plans - Increases in pension, healthcare and life insurance benefits obligations and costs can
adversely affect our earnings, cash flows and progress toward our leverage goals. Our results of operations may be positively or
negatively affected by the amount of income or expense we record for our defined benefit pension plans. GAAP requires that we
calculate income or expense for the plans using actuarial valuations, which reflect assumptions about financial markets, interest rates
and other economic conditions such as the discount rate and the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets. We are also required
to make an annual measurement of plan assets and liabilities, which may result in a significant reduction or increase to equity. The
factors that impact our pension calculations are subject to changes in key economic indicators, and future decreases in the discount
rate or low returns on plan assets can increase our funding obligations and adversely impact our financial results. In addition, although
GAAP expense and pension funding contributions are not directly related, key economic factors that affect GAAP expense would also
likely affect the amount of cash we would be required to contribute to pension plans under ERISA. Failure to achieve expected returns
on plan assets driven by various factors, which could include a continued environment of low interest rates or sustained market
volatility, could also result in an increase to the amount of cash we would be required to contribute to pension plans. In addition, there
may be upward pressure on the cost of providing healthcare benefits to current and future retirees, and life insurance benefits to eligible
retirees. There can be no assurance that the measures we have taken te control increases in these costs will succeed in limiting cost
increases, and continued upward pressure could reduce our profitability. For a discussion regarding how our financial statements have
been and can be affected by our pension and healthcare benefit obligations, see Note 13.

LEGAL & COMPLIANCE RISKS. Legal and compliance risk relates to risks arising from the government and regulatory environment
and action and from legal proceedings and compliance with integrity policies and procedures, including those relating to financial
reporting and environmental, health and safety matters. Government and regulatory risk includes the risk that the government or
regulatary actions will impose additional cost on us or require us to make adverse changes to our business models or practices.



Regulatory - We are subject to a wide variety of laws, regulations and government policies that may change in significant
ways. Our businesses are subject to regulation under a wide variety of U.S. federal and state and non-U.S. laws, regulations and
policies. There can be no assurance that laws, regulations and policies will not be changed or interpreted or enforced in ways that will
require us to modify our business models and objectives or affect our returns on investments by restricting existing activities and
preducts, subjecting them to escalating costs or prohibiting them outright. In particular, recent trends globally toward increased
protectionism, import and export controls and the use of tariffs and other trade barriers can result in actions by governments around the
world that have been and may continue to be disruptive and costly to our businesses, and can interfere with our global operating model
and weaken our competitive position. Other legislative and regulatory areas of significance for our businesses that U.S. and non-U.S.
governments have focused and continue to focus on include cybersecurity, data privacy and sovereignty, improper payments,
competition law, compliance with complex economic sanctions, climate change and greenhouse gas emissions, foreign exchange
intervention in response to currency volatility and currency controls that could restrict the movement of liquidity from particular
jurisdictions. Potential further changes to tax laws, including changes to taxation of global income, may have an effect on GE's, GE
Capital's or other regulated subsidiaries' structure, operations, sales, liquidity, capital requirements, effective tax rate and performance.
For example, legislative or regulatory measures by U.S. federal, states or non-U.S. governments, or rules, interpretations or audits
under the new or existing tax laws, could increase our costs or tax rate. In addition, efforts by public and private sectors to control
healthcare costs may lead to lower reimbursements and increased utilization controls related to the use of our products by healthcare
providers. Regulation or government scrutiny may impact the requirements for marketing our products and slow our ability to introduce
new products, resulting in an adverse impact on our business. Furthermore, we have been, and expect to continue, participating in U.5.
and international governmentat programs, which require us to comply with strict governmental regulations. Inability to comply with these
regulations could adversely affect our status in these projects and could have collateral consequences such as debarment. Debarment,
depending on the entity involved and length of time, can limit our ability to participate in other projects involving multilateral development
banks and adversely affect our results of operations, financial position and cash flows.

Legal proceedings - We are subject to legal proceedings, disputes, investigations and legal compliance risks, including
trailing liabilities from businesses that we dispose of or that are inactive. We are subject to a variety of legal proceedings,
commercial disputes, legal compliance risks and environmental, health and safety compliance risks in virtually every part of the world.
We, our representatives, and the industries in which we operate are subject to continuing scrutiny by regulators, other governmental
authorities and private sector entities or individuals in the 1.S., the European Union, China and other jurisdictions, which have led or
may, in certain circumstances, lead to enforcement actions, adverse changes to our business practices, fines and penalties, required
remedial actions such as contaminated site clean-up or the assertion of private litigation claims, and damages that could be material.
For example, following our acquisition of Alstom’s Thermal, Renewables and Grid businesses in 2015, we are subject ta legacy legal
proceedings and legal compliance risks that relate to claimed anti-competitive conduct or improper payments by Alstom in the pre-
acquisition period, and payments for settlements, judgments, penalties or other liabilities in connection with those matters have resulted
and will in the future result in cash outflows. In addition, while in December 2020 we entered into a sefflement to canciude the
previously disclosed SEC investigation of GE, we remain subject to a range of shareholder lawsuits related to the Company's financial
performance, accounting and disclosure practices and related legacy matters. We have observed that these proceedings related to
claims about past financial performance and reporting pose particular reputational risks for the Company that can cause new
allegations about past or current misconduct, even if unfounded, to have a more significant impact on our reputation and how we are
viewed by investors, custormers and others than they otherwise would. We have established reserves for legal matters when and as
appropriate; however, the estimation of legal reserves or possible losses involves significant judgment and may not reflect the full range
of uncertainties and unpredictable cutcomes inherent in litigation and investigations, and the actual losses arising from particular
matters may exceed our current estimates and adversely affect our results of operations. There can be no assurance that the risk
management and compliance programs we have adopted will mitigate legal and compliance risks, particularly in light of the global and
diverse nature of our operations and the current enforcement environment. We are also subject to material trailing legal liabilities from
businesses that we dispose of or that are inactive. We also expect that additional legal proceedings and other contingencies will arise
from time to time. Moreover, we sell praducts and services in growth markets where claims arising from alleged violations of law,
product failures or other incidents involving our products and services are adjudicated within legal systems that are less developed and
less reliable than those of the U.S. or other more developed markets, and this can create additional uncertainty about the outcome of
proceedings before courts or other governmental bodies in such markets. See Note 23 for further information about legal proceedings
and other loss contingencies.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS. Refer to Legal Matters and Environmental, Health and Safety Matters in Note 23 for information relating
to legal proceedings.



MANAGEMENT AND AUDITOR’S REPORTS

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION OF FINANCIAL RESPONSIBILITY. Management is responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements and related information that are presented in this report. The consolidated financial statements, which
intlude amounts based on management’s estimates and judgments, have been prepared in conformity with U.S generally accepted
accounting principles.

The Company designs and maintains accounting and internal control systems to provide reasonable assurance that assets are
safeguarded against loss from unauthorized use or disposition, and that the financial records are reliable for preparing consolidated
financial staternents and maintaining accountability for assets. These systems are enhanced by policies and procedures, an
organizational structure providing division of responsibilities, careful selection and training of qualified personnel, and a program of
internal audits.

The Company engaged KPMG LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, to audit and render an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements and internat control over financial reporting in accordance with the standards of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (PCAQOB). fn June 2020, we announced that the Audit Committee selected Deloitte and Touche LLP as the
Company's independent registered public accounting firm for the Company’s fiscal year ending December 31, 2021.

The Board of Directors, through its Audit Committee, which consists entirely of independent directors, meets periodically with
management, internal auditors, and our independent registered public accounting firm to ensure that each is meeting its responsibilities
and to discuss matters concerning internal contrals and financial reporting. KPMG LLP and the internal auditors each have full and free
access to the Audit Committee.

MANAGEMENT'S ANNUAL REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING. Management is responsible for
establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting for the Company. With our participation, an evaluation of
the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting was conducted as of December 31, 2020, based on the framework and
criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission.

Based on this evaluation, our management has concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December
31, 2020.

Our independent registered public accounting firm has issued an audit report on our internal control over financial reporting. Their report
follows.

/sf H. Lawrence Culp, Jr. s/ Carofina Dybeck Happe
H. Lawrence Culp, Jr. Carolina Dybeck Happe
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

February 12, 2021

DISCLOSURE CONTROLS. Under the direction of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we evaluated our disclosure
controls and procedures and internal controt over financial reperting and concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were
effective as of December 31, 2020. There have been no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting during the
Guarter ended December 31, 2020, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, its internal control aver
financial reporting.



REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders
of General Electric Company:

Opinions on the Consolidated Financial Statements and Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of financial position of General Electric Company and consolidated
affiliates {the Company) as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the related consclidated statements of eamings (loss), comprehensive
income (loss), changes in shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2020,
and the related notes {collectively, the consolidated financial statements). We also have audited the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, based on criteria established in intemaf Controfl — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred ta above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Company as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three-year
pericd ended December 31, 2020, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also in our opinion, the Company
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020 based on criteria
established in internal Control — integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission.

Basis for Opinions

The Company’s management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over
financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying
Management's Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company's consolidated financial statements and an opinion on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our
audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and
are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules
and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAQB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to
error or fraud, and whether effective internal control over financial reperting was maintained in all material respects.

Qur audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due te error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such
procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Qur audit of internal control over financial reporting
included obtaining an understanding of intemal contrel over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Qur audits also included
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinions.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Controf Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect
on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Accompanying Supplemental Information

The accompanying consalidating information appearing on pages 57, 59, and 61 (the supplemental information) has been subjected to
audit procedures perfarmed in conjunction with the audit of the Company's consolidated financial statements. The supplemental
information is the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our audit procedures included determining whether the supplemental
information reconciles to the consolidated financial statements or the underlying accounting and other records, as applicable, and
performing procedures to test the completeness and accuracy of the information presented in the supplemental information. In our
opinion, the supplemental information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the consolidated financial statements as a
whole.



Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements
that were communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are
material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The
communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consaolidated financial statements, taken as a whole,
and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on the
accounts or disclosures to which they relate.

Evaluation of revenue recognition on certain long-term service agreements

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company enters info long-term service agreements with some of

its customers. Certain long-term service agreements require the Company to provide maintenance services that may include levels of

assurance regarding asset performance and uptime throughout the contract period. Revenue for such long-term service agreements is
recognized using the percentage of completion method, based on costs incurred relative to total expected costs.

We identified the evaluation of revenue recognition on certain long-term service agreements as a critical audit matter because of the
comgplex auditer judgment required in evaluating some of the long-term estimates in such arrangements. Such estimates include the
amount of customer payments expected to be received over the contract term, which are generally based on a combination of both
historical customer utilization of the covered assets as well as forward-looking information such as market conditions. In addition, these
estimates include the total costs expected to be incurred to perform required maintenance services over the contract term and include
estimates of expected cost improvements when such cost improvements are supported by actual results or have been proven effective.
Further, contract modifications that extend or revise contract terms are not uncommon and require judgment in evaluating the related
revisions of the long-term estimates.

The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated the design and tested the
operating effectiveness of certain internal controls over the Company's revenue recognition process for long-term service agreements,
including controls related to estimating customer payments and costs expected to be incurred to perform required maintenance services
over the contract term. We evaluated the estimated customer payments by comparing the estimated customer utilization of the covered
assets to historical utilization and industry utilization data, specifically considering the information provided by the Company’s airline
customers about the current outtook in response to the COVID-19 pandemic for commercial air travel and after-market services within
the Awviation segment, where available. We evaluated the estimated costs expected to be incurred to perform required maintenance
services over the contract term by:

«  comparing estimated labor and part costs to historical labor and parts costs,

«  comparing the estimated useful life, which is referred to as part life, of certain component parts to historical data and regulatory
limits on part life, where applicable,

»  inspecting evidence underying the inclusion of cost improvements in estimated costs, including regulatory and engineering
approvals and actual reductions in production costs to date, and

«  ascertaining if major overhauls of covered assets are included in the cost estimates on a basis consistent with the estimated
customer utilization of the assets that is used in estimating customer payments.

1n addition, we involved valuation professionals with specialized skills and knowledge, who assisted in testing certain cost estimates,
including assessing statisticai models used by the Company to estimate the part life of certain component parts of the covered assets.

Evaluation of premium deficiency testing fo assess the adequacy of future policy benefit reserves

As discussed in Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company performs premium deficiency testing to assess the
adequacy of future palicy benefit reserves. This testing is performed on an annual basis, or whenever events and changes in
circumstances indicate that a premium deficiency event may have occurred. Significant uncertainties exist in testing cash flow
projections in the premium deficiency testing for these insurance contracts, including consideration of a wide range of possible
outcomes of future events over the life of the underlying contracts that can extend for long periods of time.

We identified the evaluation of premium deficiency testing to assess the adequacy of future policy benefit reserves as a critical audit
matter. Specifically, the evaluation of the following key assumptions in the premium deficiency testing required subjective auditor
judgment and specialized skills and knowledge: long-term care morbidity improvement and mortality improvement, discount rates, and
long-term care premium rate increases.

The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated the design and tested the
aperating effectiveness of certain internal contrals over the Company's premium deficiency testing process, including controls to
develop the key assumptions described above. In addition, we involved actuarial professionals with specialized skills and knowledge,
who assisted in:

+  assessing the Company’s key assumptions and results by evaluating the relevance, reliability. and consistency of the
assumptions with each other, the underlying data, relevant historical data, and industry data,

+  assessing the summary experience data and the corresponding actuarial assumptions for conformity with generally accepted
actuarial principles,

«  performing recalculations to assess that the key assumptions were reflected in the cash flow projections, and




+  comparing the current year and prior year cash flow projections to analyze the impact of the updated key assumptions on the
gross premium valuation used to assess the adequacy of the future policy benefit reserves.

We evaluated projected future long-term premium rate increases by comparing the proposed, attained, denied, and approved premium
rate increases to underlying source documentation. We also compared the current year premium rate increase projection to actual
historical rate increase experience.

Evaluation of the carrying value of goodwill in the Additive and GECAS reporting units

As discussed in Note B to the consolidated financial statements, the Company performs a goodwill impairment test on an annual basis
or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of a reporting unit might exceed its fair value. The
discount rate applied to projected cash flows and the selection of publicly traded companies are important elements used by the
Company in determining the fair value of each reporting unit and the amount of related goodwill impairment losses. In the second
quarter of 2020, the Company petformed an interim goodwill impairment test in response to the decline in current market conditions as
a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. The goodwill allocated to the Additive reporting unit and the goodwill allocated to the GE Capital
Aviation Services (GECAS) reporting unit were determined to be impaired, and impairment losses of $877 million and $839 million were
recorded, respectively.

We identified the evaluation of the discount rate appiied to projected cash flows used in the assessment of the carrying value of
goodwill for the Additive reporting unit, and the evaluation of publicly traded companies used in the assessment of the carrying value of
geodwill for the GECAS reporting unit, for which such assumptions are used by the Company in the determination of related goodwill
impairment losses, as a critical audit matter. Specifically, the evaluation of these assumptions required the application of subjective
auditor judgment because changes to these assumptions may have a substantial impact on the determination of fair value of each
reporting unit. We performed sensitivity analyses to determine the significance of the assumptions used to determine the fair vafue of
the Additive and GECAS reporting units, individually and in the aggregate, which required a higher degree of auditor judgment.

The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated the design and tested the
operating effectiveness of gertain internal controls over the Company's goodwill impairment process, including controls over the
Company's selection of the discount rate, and the relevance of the publicly traded companies selected by the Company’s specialists. In
our evaluation of the Additive reporting unit fair value, we evaluated the Company’s assessment of the value of the reporting unit under
the discounted cash flow method. We involved valuation professionals with specialized skills and knowledge, who assisted in evaluating
the reasonableness of the discount rate applied to projected cash flows selected by management by comparing the discount rate
selected by management against a discount rate that was independently developed using publicly available market data for comparable
entities. In our evaluation of the GECAS reporting unit fair value, we involved valuation professionais with specialized skills and
knowledge, who assisted in evaluating the Company's assessment of the value of the reporting unit under the market approach, We
evaluated the reasonableness of the market approach utilized and we evaluated the relevance of the publicly traded companies utilized
by:

- comparing the publicly traded companies selected in management's analysis over the GECAS reporting unit to similar

companies in the aircraft leasing industry, and

«  comparing management's determination of the fair value of the GECAS reporting unit to a range of fair values that was
independently developed.

Evaluation of the effects of particular tax positions

As discussed in Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company’s annual tax rate is based on the Company's income,
statutory tax rates, and the effects of tax positions taken in the various jurisdictions in which the Company operates. Tax laws are
complex and subject to different interpretations by taxpayers and respective government taxing authorities.

We identified the evaluation of the effects of particular tax positions as a critical audit matter. Complex auditor judgment was involved in
evaluating the Company’s interprelation of applicable tax laws and regulations for these tax positions, including the evaluation of
income tax uncertainties retated to the tax positions.

The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated the design and tested the
operating effectivenass of certain internal controls over the Company’s income tax process for particular tax positions, including controls
related to the Company’s interpretation of applicable tax laws and regulations and the evaluation of income tax uncertainties. We
inspected relevant documentation related to particular tax positions, including correspondence between the Company and taxing
authorities, In addition, we involved tax professionals with specialized skills and knowledge, who assisted in:

+  evaluating the Company’s interpretation and application of relevant tax laws and regulations related fo the tax positions, including
income tax uncertainties, and

+  assessing the Company's computation of the effects of the tax positions.

/si KPMG LLP
KPMG LLP

We have served as the Company's auditor since 1909.

Boston, Massachusetts
February 12, 2021



STATEMENT OF EARNINGS (LOSS)

Consgaiidated

Far the years ended December 31 {in millians; per-share amounts in doflars) 2020 2019 2018
Sales of goods $ 49464 § 58,049 % 60,148
Sales of services 23,558 28,538 28,792
GE Capital revenues from services 6,597 7,728 8,072
Total revenues (Note 25) 79,619 95,214 97,012
Cost of goads sold 42,041 45,902 47,570
Cost of services sold 18,380 21,009 21,833
Selling, general and administrative expenses 12,621 13,549 14,643
Research and development 2,565 3,118 3,415
Interest and other financial charges 3,273 4,227 4,766
Insurance losses and annuity benefits (Note 12) 2,397 3,294 2,790
Goodwill impairments (Note 8) 1,717 1,486 22,136
Non-operating benefit costs 2,433 2.844 2,753
Other costs and expenses 384 458 414
Total costs and expenses 85,809 96,287 120,320
Other income {Note 19) 11,387 2,222 2,321
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations
before income taxes 5187 1,149 {20,987)
Benefit (provision) for income taxes (Note 15) 474 (726) (93)
Earnings (loss} from continuing operations 5672 423 (21,080)
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations,
net of taxes (Note 2) (125) (5,335) {1,363)
Net earnings (loss) 5,546 (4,912) (22,443)
Less net earnings (foss) attributable to noncontrolling
interests (158) 66 (89)
Net earnings (loss) attributable to the Company 5704 (4,979 {22,355)
Preferred stock dividends (474) {460) (447)
Net earnings {loss) attributable to GE common
shareholders $ 5230 § (5.439) § (22.802)
Amounts attributable to GE common shareholders
Earnings (loss} from continuing operations 3 5672 % 423 % {(21,080)
Less net earnings (loss) attributable to
noncontrolling interests, continuing operations (158) 7 (90)
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations attributable
to the Company 5,829 416 {20,991)
Preferred stock dividends (474) (460) (447)
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations attributable
to GE common shareholders 5,355 (44) (21,438)
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations,
net of taxes (125) (5,335) {1,363)
Less net earnings (loss) attributabte to
noncontrolling interests, discontinued operations — 60 1
Net earnings (loss) attributable to
GE common shareholders 3 5230 % (5430 5 (22,802)
Per-share amounts (Note 18)
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations
Diluted earnings (loss) per share $ 059 % {(0.O1Y § (2.47)
Basic earnings (lass) per share $ 059 % o s (2.47)
Net earnings (loss)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share $ 058 5 (0.62) & (2.62)
Basic earnings {loss) per share 0.58 § (0.62) % (2.62)
Dividends declared per common share 0.04 § 004 § 0.37




STATEMENT OF EARNINGS (LOSS)

(CONTINUED) GE Industrial GE Capital
Far the years ended Decemper 31 (In miliians) 2020 2015 2018 2020 2019 2018
Sales of goods 49443 $ 59,138 § 60,147 § 57 $ 79 % 121
Sales of services 23,656 28,581 28,891 — — —
GE Capital revenues from services — — — 7,188 8,662 9,430
Total revenues (Note 25) 73,100 87,719 89,038 7,245 8,741 9,551
Cost of goods sold 42 030 46,115 47,591 48 61 95
Cost of services sold 15,951 19,051 19,869 2527 2,018 2,089
Selling, general and administrative expenses 12,073 13,404 13,851 823 931 1,341
Research and development 2,585 3,118 3,415 — — —
Interest and other financial charges 1,333 2,115 2.415 2,186 2,532 2,982
Insurance losses and annuity benefits (Note 12) - — — 2,438 3,353 2,849
Goodwill impairments (Note 8) 877 1,486 22,136 839 — —
MNon-operating benefit costs 2,424 2,828 2,740 9 16 12
Other costs and expenses —_ — (51) 469 480 568
Total costs and expenses 77,252 88,118 111,967 9,339 9,392 9,926
Other income (Note 19) 11,444 2,200 2,317 — — —
Earnings (loss} from continuing operations

before income taxes 7,291 1,801 (20,612) (2,095) (652) (375)
Benefit (provision) for income taxes (Note 15) (388} (1,309} (467) 862 582 374
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations 6,904 492 (21,079) (1,232) (69) ()
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations,

net of taxes {Note 2) (36} (5.527) 307 (90} 192 (1,670}
Net earnings (loss) 6,868 {5,035) {20,772) {1,322) 123 (1.672)
Less net earnings (loss) attributable to noncontrolling

interests (161) 66 (129) 3 1 40
Net earnings (loss) attributable to the Company 7.029 (5.101)  (20,643) (1.325) 122 (1,712)
Preferred stock dividends — — — (474) (460) (447)
Net earnings (loss) attributable to GE common
shareholders 7,029 $ (5101)% (20643) $ (1,800}% (338) § (2,159}
Amounts attributable to GE common shareholders:
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations 6,904 $ 492 % (21,079) § (1,232) % (69) % (1)
Less net earnings {l0ss) attributable to

noncontrolling interests, continuing operations (161) 3] (130) 3 1 40
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations attributable

to the Company 7,065 486 (20,949) (1,235) {70) (42)
Preferred stock dividends — — — (474) (460) {(447)
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations attributable

to GE common shareholders 7.065 486 (20,949) (1,710) (530} (489)
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations,

net of taxes {35) (5,527) 307 {90) 192 (1,670)
Less net earnings (loss) attributable to

noncontrolling interests, discontinued operations — 60 1 — — —
Net earnings (loss) attributable to

GE common shareholders 7020 % (5101)% (20643) § (1,800)% (338)$ (2.158)




STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION Consolidated
December 31 (In millions, except spare amounts) 202¢ 2013
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash(a) $ 36,630 & 35811
Investment securities (Note 3) 7,319 9,888
Current receivables (Note 4) 16,691 16,568
Financing receivables — net (Note 5) 1,265 1,077
Inventories, inciuding deferred inventory costs (Note 6} 15,890 17,215
Other GE Capital receivables 3,331 2,635
Receivable from GE Capital — —
Current contract assets (Note 9) 5,764 7.390
All other current assets (Note 10) 1,522 3,362
Assets of businesses held for sale (Note 2) —_ 9,149

Current assets 86,412 103,096
Investment securities (Note 3) 42,549 38,632
Financing receivables — net {Note 5) 1,771 2057
Qther GE Capital receivables 4,661 4,508
Property, plant and equipment - net (Note 7) 44,662 45,879
Receivable fram GE Capital — —
Goodwill {(Note 8) 25,524 26,734
Other intangible assets — net (Note 8) 9,774 10,653
Confract and other deferred assets (Note 9j 5,888 5737
All other assets (Note 10} 14,597 13,882
Deferred income taxes (Note 15) 12,081 9,889
Assets of discontinued operations (Note 2) 3,532 4,109
Total assets $ 253,452 % 265177
Short-term borrowings {Note 11) % 4778 & 23,641
Short-term borrowings assumed by GE (Note 11) — —
Accounts payable and equipment project accruals 16,476 17,357
Progress collections and deferred income {Note 9) 18,215 18,389
All other current liabilities (Note 14) 16,600 17,821
Liabilities of businesses held for sale (Note 2) — 1,658

Current liabilities 56,069 78,865
Deferred income (Note 9) 1,801 1,555
Long-term borrowings (Note 11} 70,288 67.241
Long-term borrowings assumed by GE (Note 11) — —
Insurance liabilities and annuity benefits (Note 12) 42,191 39,826
Non-current compensation and benefits 29,752 31,687
All other liabilities (Note 14) 16,077 15,938
Liabilities of discontinued operations (Note 2) 200 203
Total liabilities 216,378 235,316
Preferred stock (5,939,875 shares outstanding at both

December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019} B 6
Common stock {8,765,493,000 and 8,738,434,000 shares outstanding

at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively) 702 702
Accumulated other comprehensive income {loss) — net attributable to GE (9.749) (11,732)
Other capital 34,307 34,405
Retained earnings 92,247 87,732
Less common stock held in treasury (81.961) (82,797)
Total GE shareholders’ equity 35,652 28,316
Noncontrolling interests (Note 16) 1,522 1,545
Total equity 37,073 29,861
Total liabilities and equity $ 253,452 § 265,177

(a) Excluded $455 million and $583 million at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, in GE Capital insurance entities, which is
subject to requlatory restrictions. This balance is included in All other assets. See Note 10 for further information.



STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED) GE Industrial GE Capital
December 31 (In milhions. except share amounts) 2020 2019 2020 2019
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 23209 $ 17613 & 13421 % 18,198
Investment securities (Note 3) 7,319 9,888 — —
Current receivables (Note 4) 13,442 13,682 — —
Financing receivables — net (Note 5) — — 5,110 4,922
Inventories, including deferred inventory costs (Note 6) 15,890 17,215 — —
Other GE Capital receivables — — 5,069 6,881
Receivable from GE Capital 2,432 2,104 — —
Current contract assets (Note 9) 5,764 7,390 — —
All other current assets (Note 10) 835 852 1,021 2,936
Assets of businesses held for sale (Note 2) — 8,626 — 241

Current assets 68,892 77,371 24,621 33177
Investment securities (Note 3) 36 120 42,515 38,514
Financing receivables — net (Note 5) — — 1,771 2,057
Other GE Capital receivables — — 5,076 4,886
Praoperty, plant and equipment — net (Note 7) 16,433 17,447 29,600 29,886
Receivable from GE Capital 16,780 17,038 — —
Goodwill (Note 8) 25,524 25,895 — 839
Other intangible assets ~ net (Note 8) 9,632 10,461 143 192
Contract and other deferred assets (Note 9) 5,921 5,769 — —
All other assets (Note 10) 7,948 7,748 7,068 6,294
Deferred income laxes (Note 15} 9,350 8,189 273 1,700
Assels of discontinued operations (Note 2} 144 262 3,388 3,907
Total assets 160,668 $ 170238 $ 116,914 § 121,454
Short-term borrowings (Note 11) 918 3 5606 & 2028 % 13,598
Short-term borrowings assumed by GE {Note 11) 2,432 5473 2,432 2,104
Accounts payable and equipment project accruals 16,380 19,134 947 886
Progress collections and deferred incorne {Note 9) 18,371 18,575 — —
All other current liabilities (Note 14) 14,131 15,251 3,890 4,062
Liabilities of businesses held for sale (Note 2) — 1,620 — 52

Current liabilities 52,232 65,660 9,297 20,691
Ceferred income (Note 9) 1,801 1,665 — —
Long-term borrowings (Note 11} 19,428 15,085 30,202 26,261
Long-term borrowings assumed by GE (Note 11) 19,957 25,895 16,780 17,038
Insurance liabilities and annuity benefits (Note 12} — — 42,565 40,232
Non-current compensation and benefits 29,291 31,208 453 472
All other liabilities (Note 14) 16,440 16,306 1,151 1,226
Liabilities of discontinued operations (Note 2) 139 106 61 97
Total liabilities 139,289 155,815 101,210 106,016
Preferred stock (5,939,875 shares outstanding at both

December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019} 6 6 6 6
Commoan stack {8,765,493,000 and 8,738,434,000 shares outstanding

at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively) 702 702 — —
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) - net attributable to GE (8,945) {10,881) (804) {852)
Other capital 15,294 17,398 19,007 17,01
Retained earnings 94,910 88,589 (2,663) (857)
LLess common stock held in treasury (81,961) (82,797) — —
Total GE shareholders’ equity 20,008 13,017 15,545 15,299
Noncontrolling interests (Note 16) 1,363 1,406 159 139
Total equity 21,369 14,423 15,704 15,438
Total liabilities and equity 160,658 § 170,238 $ 1168914 § 121454




STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Consolidated

For the years ended December 31 {In millians) 2026 2019 2018
Net earnings (loss) 5546 § (4912) % (22,443}
(Earnings) loss from discontinued operations 125 5,335 1,363
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings {loss} to cash provided from
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization of property, plant and equipment {(Note 7) 4,636 4,026 4,419
Amortization of intangible assets (Note 8} 1,382 1,569 2,163
Goodwill impairments (Note 8) 1,717 1,486 22,136
{Gains) losses on purchases and sales of business interests (Note 19) {12,5286) (53) {1.522)
{Gains) losses on equity securities (Note 19) 2,105 (693) (166)
Principal pension plans cost (Note 13) 3,559 3,878 4,226
Principal pension plans employer contributions (Note 13) {2,8086) {298) (6,283)
Other postretirement benefit plans (net) (Note 13) (893) (1,228) {1,033)
Provision {benefit) for income taxes (Note 15) (474) 726 93
Cash recovered (paid) during the year for income taxes (Note 15) {1.441) (1,950) (1,404)
Changes in operating working capital:
Decrease (increase) in current receivables (1,319) {2,851) (358)
Decrease (increase} in inventories, including deferred inventory costs 1,105 (1,581) (573}
Decrease (increase) in current contract assets 1,631 891 751
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and
equipment project accruals (575) 2,674 666
Increase {decrease) in progress collections and
current deferred income (216) 1,531 (563)
All other operating activities 2,040 1,869 1,739
Cash from (used for) operating activities — continuing operations 3,597 10,419 3,210
Cash from (used for) aperating activities — discontinued operations — (1.647) 1,768
Cash from (used for) operating activities 3,597 8,772 4978
Additions to property, plant and equipment (3,252) (5.813) (6,627)
Dispositions of property, plant and equipment 1,644 3,718 4,003
Additions to internal-use software (151) (282} {320}
Net decrease (increase) in GE Capital financing receivables (20) 1,117 1,796
Proceeds from sale of discontinued operations — 5,864 29
Proceeds from principal business dispositions 20,596 4,683 8,425
Net cash from (payments for) principal businesses purchased (85) (68) (1
Capital contribution from GE Industrial to GE Capital — — —
Sales of retained ownership interests 417 3,383 —
Net (purchases) dispositions of GE Capital investment securities (Note 3) (1.352) {1,618) 2,534
All other investing activities (1,019) (301) 8,095
Cash from (used for) investing activities — continuing operations 16,778 10,684 18,925
Cash from {used for) investing activities — discontinued operations {136) (1,745) (645)
Cash from (used for) investing activities 16,642 8,939 18,280
Net increase (decrease) in borrowings (maturities of 80 days or less) (4,168) 280 (4,343)
Newly issued debt (maturities longer than 90 days) 15,028 2,185 3,120
Repayments and other reductions (maturities longer than 90 days) (29.876) (16,567) (20,319)
Capitatl contribution from GE Industrial to GE Capital — — it
Dividends paid to shareholders (648) (649) (4.474)
All other financing activities {188) (1,013) (1,328)
Cash from (used for) financing activities — continuing operations (19.853) (15,764) (27.,345)
Cash from (used for) financing activities - discontinued operations 1 (368) {4,462)
Cash from (used for) financing activities (19,852) (16,133) {31,806)
Effect of currency exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents
and restricted cash 145 {50} (628)
Increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 531 1,529 (9,176}
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year 37,077 35,548 44,724
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of year 37,608 37,077 35548
Less cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash of
discontinued operations at end of year 524 638 4,424
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash of continuing operations
at end of year 37,085 § 36,439 § 31,124
Supplemental disclosure of cash flows information
Cash paid during the year for interest (2,976} § (4,101) $ {4,508)




STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED) GE Industrial GE Capital

For the years ended December 31 {In millions) 2020 2019 2018 2020 2019 2018
Net earmnings (loss) $ 6,868 $ (5,035) $(20,772) $(1,322)$ 123 $(1,672)
{Eamings} loss from discontinued operations 35 5,627 (307) 90 (192) 1,670

Adjustments to reconcile net earnings (loss) to cash provided from
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization of property, plant and equipment {Note 7) 2,130 2,001 2,290 2534 2026 2110

Amortization of intangible assets (Note 8) 1,325 1,512 2,109 57 57 53
Goodwill impairments (Note 8) 877 1,486 22,136 838 — —
(Gains} losses on purchases and sales of business interests (Note 18)  (12,468) (3y (1,234) (58) (50) {288)
(Gains) losses on equity securities (Note 19) 2,080 (688) (185) 25 (6) 21
Principal pension plans cost (Note 13) 3,559 3,878 4,226 — — —
Principal pension plans emplayer contributions {Note 13) (2.806) (298) (6,283) — — —
Other postretirement benefit plans (net} (Note 13) (846) (1,213) (1,015 (47) {15) (18)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes {(Note 15) 388 1,309 467 (862) (582) {374)
Cash recovered (paid) during the year for income taxes (Note 15) (2,447) (1,904) (1,343) 1,007 (46} (61}
Changes in operating working capital:
Decrease (increase) in current receivables (558) (3,904) (966) — — —
Decrease (increase) in inventories, including deferred inventory costs 1,188 (1,349) (581) — — —
Decrease (increase) in current contract assets 1,631 891 751 — — —
Increase {decrease) in accounts payable and
equipment project accruals (2,556) 381 716 (29) {44) 2
Increase {decrease) in progress callections and
current deferred income (247} 1476 {424) - — —
All other operating activities 591 548 1,117 1,261 610 138
Cash from (used for) operating activities — continuing operations (1,254} 4,614 Fi 3,495 1,881 1,582
Cash from {used for) operating activilies — discontinued operations 32 {49) 2,05t (32) (1,917) (415)
Cash from (used for) operating activities (1,223) 4,565 2,752 3,463 (35} 1,186
Additions to property, plant and equipment (1,579} (2,216} (2,234) (1,765} (3,830) (4.569)
Dispositions of property, plant and equipment 202 371 271 1,450 3,248 3,853
Additions to internal-use software (143} (274) (306) 8] (8) (14}
Net decrease (increase) in GE Capital financing receivables {Note 5) — — — 199 3,389 9,986
Proceeds from sale of discontinued operations — 5,864 — — —_ 29
Proceeds from principal business dispositions 20,394 1,083 6,047 34 3,938 2,011
Net cash from {payments for} principal businesses purchased (85) (447) (h — -— —
Capital contribution from GE Industrial to GE Capital (2,000} (4,000} — — — —
Sales of retained ownership interests 417 3,383 — — — —
Net (purchases) dispositions of GE Capital investment securities {(Note 3} — — — {1,352} (1816) 2,634
All other investing activities 523 292 (640) 9673 4,233 (2,052)
Cash from (used for) investing activities — continuing operations 17,729 4,056 3,138 8,231 9453 11777
Cash from {used for) investing activities - discontinued operations (36) (3,449) (698) (100} 2,023 186
Cash from (used for) investing activities 17,693 607 2,439 8131 11476 11,964
Net increase (decrease) in borrowings (maturities of 80 days or less) (4,234) (595) (987) (525} (256} (4,308)
Newly issued debt {maturities longer than 90 days) 7,462 3 6,570 7.566 2,154 3,045
Repayments and other reductions (maturities longer than 90 days) (13,673) (6.458) (1,023) {(25,252) (11,632) (19,836)
Capital contribution from GE Industrial to GE Capital — — — 2,000 4,000 —
Dividends paid to shareholders (354) (352) (4,179) (469) (455) (371}
All other financing activities (141) (283) 1,090 (58) {819) (2,408)
Cash from (used for} financing activities — cantinuing operations (10,941) (7.658) 1470 (16,738) (7.007) (23.878)
Cash from (used for) financing activities — discontinued operations 1 (368) (4,462) — (1) —
Cash from {used for) financing activities (10,940) (8,026) (2,992) (16,738) (7.008) (23,878)
Effect of currency exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents
and restricted cash 61 (56) (494) 84 6 (134)
Increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 5591 (2,911) 1,706 (5060) 4,439 (10,882)
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year 17,617 20,528 18822 19460 15020 25902
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of year 23,209 17617 20,628 14400 19,460 15,020
Less cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash of
discontinued operations at end of year — 4 3,896 524 633 528
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash of continuing operations
at end of year $23,209 $17,613 $16,632 $13,876 518,826 $14,492
Supplemental disclosure of cash flows information
Cash paid during the year for interest $(1,276) % (1,975) § (2,201) ${1,957) $(2,632) § (2,883)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

For the years ended December 31 {in miltions} 2020 2019 2018
Net earnings (loss) $ 5546 3 (4,912) § (22.443)
Less net earnings (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests (158) 66 (89)
Net earnings (loss) attributable to the Company $ 5704 $ (4,979) $ (22,355)

Investment securities 3 (s 100 % 64
Currency translation adjustments 435 1,275 {1,664)
Cash flow hedges a7 36 (51)
Benefit plans 1,632 1,229 1,416
Other comprehensive income (loss) 1,989 2,641 (235)
Less other comprehensive income {loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests 6 (40) {225)

Other comprehensive income {loss}) attributable to the Company $ 1,984 3 2,681 3 (10)
Comprehensive income (loss) $ 7.536 % 2,272) $ (22,678)
Less comprehensive income {loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests {152) 26 (314)
Comprehensive income (toss} attributable to the Company $ 7,688 § {2,297) § (22,364)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Far the years ended December 31 (In millions) 2020 2019 2018
Preferred stock issued 3 6% 6 % 6
Common stock issued $ 702 § 702 $ 702
Beginning balance (11,732) {14,414) {14,404)
Investment securities (1) 100 63
Currency translation adjustments 433 1,315 (1.472)
Cash flow hedges (77} 35 (49)
Benefit plans 1,628 1,231 1,448
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) ending balance $ (9.749) § (11,732) (14.414)
Beginning balance 34,405 35,504 37,384
Gains {losses) on treasury stock dispositions {703) (925) (759)
Stock-based compensation 429 475 413
Other changes 176 (649) (1,534)
Other capital ending balance $ 34,307 & 34,405 $ 35,504
Beginning balance 87,732 93,109 117,245
Net earmnings {loss) attributable to the Company 5,704 (4,979) {22,355)
Dividends and ather transactions with shareholders (1,014} (766) (4,042)
Changes in accounting (Note 1) {175) 368 2,261
Retained earnings ending balance 5 92,247 $ 87,732 % 93,109
Beginning balance (82,797) (83.925) (84,902)
Purchases (28) (57) (268)
Dispositions 864 1,186 1,244
Common stock held in treasury ending balance $ (81,961) $ (82,797) $ (83,925)
GE shareholders' equity balance 35,552 28,316 30,981
Noncontrolling interests balance (Note 16) 1,522 1,545 20,500
Total equity balance at December 31(a) % 37073 % 29861 % 51,481

(a) Total equity balance decreased by $(14,408) million from December 31, 2018, primarily due to reduction of noncontrolling interest
balance of $(19,239) million attributable to Baker Hughes Class A shareholders at December 31, 2018, after-tax loss of $(8,238)
million in discontinued operations due to deconsolidation of Baker Hughes in 2019, and after-tax net realized and unrealized loss on
our remaining interest in Baker Hughes of $(936) million in 2019 and 2020, partially offset by after-tax gain of $11,213 million due to
the sale of our BioPharma business within our Healthcare segment, and after-tax gain of $2,508 million in discontinued operations
due to spin-off and subsequent merger of our Transportation business with Wabtec in 2019,
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NOTE 1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION. We present our financial statements in a three-column format, which allows investors to
see our industrial operations separately from our financial services operations. We believe that this provides useful supplemental
information to our consclidated financial statements. To the extent that we have transactions between GE Industrial and GE Capital,
these transactions are made on arms- length terms, are reported in the respective columns of our financial statements and are
eliminated in consolidation. See Note 24 for further information.

Effective December 31, 2020, in order to enhance our financial statement presentation, we voluntarily made the following reporting
changes for all periods presented:

= changed our presentation of GE Industrial restructuring program costs. Previously these costs were recorded within Corporate
Items and Eliminations. Now these costs are recorded within segment profit, except for significant, higher-cost programs that
continue to be recorded within Corporate Items and Eliminations;

= changed the presentation of our Statement of Financial Position to reflect the classification of assets and liabilities into current
and non-current and revised the definition of operating working capital in our Statement of Cash Flows. For the classification of
certain current assets and liabilities, we use the duration of our operating cycle, which may be longer than one year,;

<« began presenting research and development expenses separately as part of costs and expenses in our consolidated
Statement of Earnings (Loss). These costs were previously reported in costs of goods and services sold; and

«  ceased reporting GE Capital as an equity method investment within the GE industrial column. This change has no impact on
e GE Capilal or Consolidated columns. Consistent with our hwstorical practice, all commercial transactions between GE
industrial and GE Capital continue to be reported on arms-length terms and are eliminated upon consolidation.

Qur financial statements are prepared in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), which requires us to
make estimates based on assumptions abaut current, and for some estimates, future, economic and market conditions which affect
reported amounts and related disclosures in our financial statements. Although our current estimates contemplate current and expected
future conditions, as applicable, it is reasonably possible that actual conditions could differ from our expectations, which could materially
affect our results of operations and financial position. in particular, a number of estimates have been and will continue to be affected by
the ongoing Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic. The severity, magnitude and duration, as well as the economic
consequences of the COVID-19 pandemic, are uncertain, rapidly changing and difficult to predict. As a result, our accounting estimates
and assumptions may change over time in response to COVID-19. Such changes could result in future impairments of goodwill,
intangibles, long-lived assets and investment securities, revisicns to estimated profitability on long-term product service agreements,
incremental credit losses on receivables and debt securities, a decrease in the carrying amount of our tax assets, or an increase in our
insurance liabilities and pension obligations as of the time of a relevant measurement event.

In preparing our Statement of Cash Flows, we make certain adjustments to reflect cash flows that cannot otherwise be calculated by
changes in our Statement of Financial Position. These adjustments may include, but are not limited to, the effects of currency
exchange, acquisitions and dispositions of businesses, businesses classified as held for sale, the timing of settlements to suppliers for
property, plant and equipment, non-cash gains/losses and other balance sheet reclassifications,

We have reclassified certain prior-year amaunts to conform to the current-year's presentation. Unless otherwise noted, tables are
presented in UJ.S. dollars in millions. Certain columns and rows may not add due to the use of rounded numbers. Percentages
presented are calculated from the underlying numbers in millions. Earnings per share amounts are computed independently for
eamnings from continuing operations, earmings from discontinued operations and net earnings. As a result, the sum of per-share
amounts may not equal the total. Uniess otherwise indicated, information in these notes to consolidated financial statements relates to
continuing operations. Certain of our operations have been presented as discontinued. We present businesses whose disposal
represents a strategic shift that has, or will have, a major effect on our operations and financial results as discontinued operations when
the components meet the criteria for held far sale, are sold, or spun-off. See Note 2 for further information.

CONSOLIDATION. Our financial statements consolidate all of our affiliates, entities where we have a controlling financial interest, most
often because we hold a majority voting interest, or where we are required to apply the variable interest entity (VIE) model

because we have the power to direct the most economically significant activities of entities. We reevaluate whether we have a
controlling financial interest in all entities when our rights and interests change.

REVENUES FROM THE SALE OF EQUIPMENT. Performance Obligations Satisfied Over Time. We recognize revenue on
agreernents for the sale of customized goods including power generation equipment, long-term construction projects and military
development contracts on an over-time basis as we customize the customer's equipment during the manufacturing or integration
process and obtain right to payment for work performed.

We recognize revenue as we perform under the arrangements using the percentage of completion method which is based on our costs
incurred to date relative to our estimate of total expected costs. Qur estimate of costs to be incurred to fulfill our promise to a customer
is based on our history of manufacturing or constructing similar assets for customers and is updated routinely to reflect changes in
quantity or pricing of the inputs. We provide for potential losses on these agreements when it is probable that we will incur the loss.

Qur billing terms for these over-time contracts are generally based on achieving specified milestones. The differences between the
timing of our revenue recognized (based on costs incurred) and customer billings (based on contractual terms) results in changes to our
contract asset or contract liability positions. See Note 9 for further information.



Performance Obligations Satisfied at a Point in Time. We recognize revenue on agreements for non-customized equipment
including commercial aircraft engines, healthcare equipment and other goods we manufacture on a standardized basis for sale to the
market at the point in time that the customer obtains control of the good, which is generaliy no earlier than when the customer has
physical passession of the product. We use proof of delivery for certain large equipment with more complex logistics, whereas the
delivery of other equipment is estimated based on historical averages of in-transit periods (i.e., time between shipment and delivery}.

Where arrangements include customer acceptance provisions based on seller or customer-specified objective criteria, we recognize
revenue when we have concluded that the customer has control of the goods and that acceptance is likely to accur. We do not
provide for anticipated losses on point-in-time transactions prior to transferring control of the equipment to the customer.

Our billing terms for these point-in-time equipment contracts generally coincide with delivery to the customer; however, within certain
businesses, we receive progress collections from customers for large equipment purchases, to generally reserve production slots.

REVENUES FROM THE SALE OF SERVICES. Consistent with our Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations (MD&A]} discussion and the way we manage our busingsses, we refer to sales under service agreements, which
includes both goods (such as spare parts and equipment upgrades) and related services (such as monitering, maintenance and repairs)
as sales of "services,” which is an important part of our operations. We somstimes offer our customers financing discounts for the
purchase of certain GE Industrial products when sold in contemplation of long-term service agreements. These sales are accounted for
as financing arrangements when payments for the products are collected through higher usage-based fees from servicing the
equipment. See Note 9 for further information.

Performance Obligations Satisfied Over Time. We enter into long-term service agreements with our customers primarily within our
Aviation and Power segments. These agreements require us to provide preventative maintenance, overhauis, and standby "warranty-
type" services that include certain levels of assurance regarding asset performance and uptime throughout the contract periods, which
generafly range from 5 to 25 years. We account for items that are integral to the maintenance of the equipment as part of our
performance obligation, unless the customer has a substantive right to make a separate purchasing decision {e.g., equipment upgrade).
We recognize revenue as we perform under the arrangements using the percentage of completion method which is based on our costs
incurred to date relative to our estimate of total expected costs. Throughout the life of a contract, this measure of progress captures the
nature, timing and extent of our underying performance activities as our stand-ready services often fluctuate between routine
inspections and maintenance, unscheduled service events and major overhauls at pre-determined usage intervals. We provide for
potential losses on these agreements when it is probable that we will incur the loss.

QOur billing terms for these arrangements are generally based on the utilization of the asset (e.g., per hour of usage) or upon the
occurrence of a major maintenance event within the contract, such as an overhaul. The differences between the timing of our revenue
recognized (based on costs incurred) and customer billings (based on contractual terms) results in changes to our contract asset or
contract liability positions. See Note 9 for further information.

We also enter into long-term services agreements in our Healthcare and Renewable Energy segments. Revenues are recognized for
these arrangements on a straight-line basis consistent with the nature, timing and extent of our services, which primarily relate to
routine maintenance and as needed product repairs. We generally invoice periodically as services are provided.

Performance Obligations Satisfied at a Point in Time. We sell certain tangible products, largely spare parts, through our services
businesses. We recegnize revenues and bill our customers at the peint in time that the customer obtains control of the goed, which is at
the point in time we deliver the spare part to the customer.

COLLABORATIVE ARRANGEMENTS. Our Aviation business enters into collaborative arrangements and joint ventures with
manufacturers and suppliers of components used tc build and maintain certain engines. Under these arrangements, GE and its
collaborative partners share in the risks and rewards of these programs through various revenue, cost and profit sharing payment
structures. GE recognizes revenue and costs for these arrangements based on the scope of work GE is responsible for transferring to
its customers. GE's payments to participants are primarily recorded as either cost of services sold ($1,221 million, $1,939 million and
$1,809 million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively) or as cost of goods sold ($2,279 million, $2,974
million and $3,097 million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2012 and 2018, respectively). Our most significant collaborative
arrangement is with Safran Aircraft engines, a subsidiary of Safran Group of France, which selts LEAP and CFM56 engines through
CFM International, a jointly owned non-consolidated company. GE makes substantial sales of parts and services to CFM International
based on arms-length terms.

GE CAPITAL REVENUES FROM SERVICES. We recognize operating lease income on a straight-line basis over the terms of
underlying leases, and we use the interest method to recognize income on loans and finance leases. We stop accruing interest on
loans at the earlier of the time at which collection of an account becomes doubtful or the account becomes 90 days past due. Estimated
unguaranteed residual values for finance leases are based upon management's best estimates of the value of the leased asset at the
end of the lease term. We use various sources of data in determining these estimates, including information obtained from third parties,
which is adjusted for the attributes of the specific asset under lease. Guarantees of residual values by unrelated third parties are
included within minimum lease payments.



For traditional long-duration insurance contracts, we report premiums as revenue when due. Premiums received on non-traditional long-
duration insurance contracts and investment contracts, including annuities without significant mortality risk, are not reported as
revenues hut rather as deposit liabilities. We recognize revenues for charges and assessments on these contracts, mostly for mortality,
contract initiation, administration and surrender. Amounts credited to policyholder accounts are charged to expense.

CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH. Debt securities and money market instruments with original maturities of
three months or less are included in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash unless classified as available-for-sale investment
securities. Restricted cash primarily comprised collateral for receivahles sold and funds restricted in connection with certain ongoing
litigation matters and amounted to $411 million and $589 million at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2018, respectively.

INVESTMENT SECURITIES. We report investments in available-for-sale debt securities and certain equity securities at fair value.
Unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale debt securities are recorded to other comprehensive income, net of applicable taxes
and adjustments related to our insurance liabilities. Unrealized gains and losses on equity securities with readily determinable fair
values are recorded to earmings.

Although we generally do not have the intent to sell any specific debt securities in the ordinary course of managing our portfolio, we
may sell debt securities prior to their maturities for a variely of reasons, including diversification, credit quality, yield and liquidity
requirements and the funding of claims and abligations to policyholders.

We regularly review investment securities for impairment. For debt securities, if we do not intend to sell the security or it is not more
likely than not that we will be required to sell the security before recovery of our amortized cost, we evaluate qualitative criteria, such as
the financial health of and specific prospects for the issuer, to determine whether we do not expect to recover the amortized cost basis
of the security. We also evaluate quantitative criteria including determining whether there has been an adverse change in expected
future cash flows. If we do not expect to recover the entire amortized cost basis of the security, we consider the security to contain an
expected credit loss, and we record the difference between the security's amortized cost basis and its recoverable amount in earnings
as an allowance for credit loss and the difference between the security’s recoverable amount and fair value in other comprehensive
income. If we intend to sell the security or it is more likely than not we will be required to sell the security before recovery of its
amortized cost basis, the security is considered impaired, and we recognize the entire difference between the security's amortized cost
basis and its fair value in earnings. See Note 3 for further information.

CURRENT RECEIVABLES. Amounts due from customers arising from the sales of products and services are recorded at the
outstanding amount, less allowance for losses. We regularly monitor the recoverability of our receivables. See Note 4 for further
information.

ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES. When we record customer receivables, contract assets and financing receivables arising from
revenue transactions, as well as commercial mortgage loans and reinsurance recoverables in GE Capital's run-off insurance
operations, financial guarantees and certain commitments, we record an allowance for credit losses for the current expected credit
tosses (CECL) inherent in the asset over its expected life. The allowance for credit losses is a valuation account deducted from the
amortized cost basis of the assets to present their net carrying value at the amount expected to be collected. Each period the allowance
for credit losses is adjusted through earnings to reflect expected credit losses over the remaining lives of the assets. We evaluate debt
securities with unrealized losses to determine whether any of the fosses arise from concerns about the issuer's credit or the underlying
collateral and record an allowance for credit losses, if required.

We estimate expected credit losses based on relevant information about past events, inciuding historical experience, current conditions,
and reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect the collectability of the reported amount. When measuring expected credit losses,
we pool assets with similar country risk and credit risk characteristics. Changes in the relevant information may significantly affect the
estimates of expected credit losses.

FINANCING RECEIVABLES. Our financing receivables portfotio consists of a variety of loans and leases, including both larger-
balance, non-homogeneous loans and leases and smaller-balance homogeneous loans and leases. We routinely evaluate our entire
portfolio for potential specific credit or collection issues that might indicate an impairment. See Note 5 for further information.

INVENTORIES. All inventories are stated at lower of cost or realizable values. Cost of inventories is primarily determined on a first-in,
first-out (FIFO) basis. See Note & for further information.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT. The cost of GE industrial property, plant and equipment is generally depreciated on a
straight-line basis over its estimated economic life. The cost of GE Capital equipment leased to others on operating leases is
depreciated on a straight-line basis to estimated residual value over the lease term or over the estimated economic life of the
equipment. See Note 7 for further information.
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LEASE ACCOUNTING. Lessee Arrangements. At lease commencement, we record a lease liability and corresponding right-of-use
(ROU) asset. Options to extend the lease are included as part of the ROU lease asset and liability when it is reasonably certain the
Company will exercise the option. We have elected to include lease and non-lease components in determining our lease liability for all
leased assets except our vehicle leases. Non-lease components are generally services that the lessor performs for the Company
associated with the leased asset. The present value of our lease liability is determined using our incremental collateralized borrowing
rate at lease inception. For leases with an initial term of 12 months or less, an ROU asset and lease liability is not recognized and lease
expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. We test ROU assets whenever events or changes in circumstance
indicate that the asset may be impaired.

Lessor Arrangements. Equipment leased to others under operating leases are included in Property, plant and equipment, and leases
classified as finance leases are included in Financing receivables on our Statement of Financial Position. See Notes 5 and 7 for further
information.

GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS. We test goodwill at ieast annually for impairment at the reporting unit level. We
recognize an impairment charge if the carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value. When a portion of a reporting unit is
disposed, goodwill is allocated to the gain or loss on disposition based on the relative fair values of the business or businesses
disposed and the portion of the reporting unit that will be retained.

For other intangible assets that are not deemed indefinite-lived, cost is generally amortized on a straight-line basis aver the asset's
estimated economic life, except for individually significant customer-related intangible assets that are amortized in relation to total
related sales. Amortizable intangible assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
related carrying amounts may not be recoverable. In these circumstances, they are tested for impairment based on undiscounted cash
flows and, if impaired, written down to estimated fair value based on either discounted cash flows or appraised values. See Note 8 for
further information.

DERIVATIVES AND HEDGING. We use derivatives to manage a variety of risks, including risks related to interest rates, foreign
exchange, certain equity investments and commaodity prices. Accounting for derivatives as hedges requires that, at inception and over
the term of the arrangement, the hedged item and related derivative meet the requirements for hedge accounting. In evaluating whether
a particular retationship qualifies for hedge accounting, we test effectiveness at inception and each reporting period thereafter by
determining whether changes in the fair value of the derivative offset, within a specified range, changes in the fair value of the hedged
item. If fair value changes fail this test, we discontinue applying hedge accounting to that relationship prospectively. Fair values of both
the derivative instrument and the hedged item are calculated using internal valuation models incorporating market-based assumptions,
subject to third-party confirmation, as applicable. See Note 21 for further information.

DEFERRED INCOME TAXES. Deferred income tax balances reflect the effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities and their tax bases, as well as from net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards, and are stated at enacted
tax rates expected to be in effect when those taxes are paid or recovered. Deferred income tax assets represent amounts available to
reduce income taxes payable on taxable income in future years. We evaluate the recoverability of these future tax deductions and
credits by assessing the adequacy of future expected taxable income from all sources, including reversal of taxable temporary
differences, forecasted operating earnings and available tax planning strategies. To the extent we consider it more likely than not that a
deferred tax asset will not be recovered, a valuation allowance is established. Deferred taxes, as needed, are provided for our
investment in affiliates and associated companies when we pian to remit those earnings. See Note 15 for further informaticn.

INSURANCE LIABILITIES AND ANNUITY BENEFITS. Our run-off insurance operations include providing insurance and reinsurance
for life and health risks and providing certain annuity products. Primary product types include long-term care, structured settlement
annuities, life and disability insurance contracts and investment contracts. Insurance contracts are contracts with significant mortality
and/or morbidity risks, while investment contracts are contracts without such risks.

Liabilities for traditional long-duration insurance contracts include both future policy benefit reserves and claims reserves. Future policy
benefit reserves represent the present value of future policy benefits less the present value of future gross premiums based on actuarial
assumptions. Liabilities for investment contracts equal the account value, that is, the amount that accrues to the benefit of the contract
or policyholder including credited interest and assessments through the financial statement date.

Claim reserves are established when a claim is incurred or is estimated to have been incurred and represent our best estimate of the
present value of the ultimate obligations for future claim payments and claim adjustments expenses.

To the extent that unrealized gains on specific investment securities supporting our insurance contracts would result in a premium
deficiency, should those gains be realized, an increase in future policy benefit reserves is recorded, with an offsetting after-tax reduction
to net unrealized gains recorded in other comprehensive income.

Reinsurance recoverables are recorded when we cede insurance risk to third parties but are not relieved from our primary obligaticn to
policyhclders and cedents. When losses on ceded risks give rise to claims for recovery, we establish allowances for probable losses on
such receivables from reinsurers as required. See Note 12 for further information.



POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS. We sponsor a number of pension and retiree health and life insurance benefit plans that we
present in three categories, principal pension plans, other pension plans and principal retiree benefit plans. We use a December 31
measurement date for these plans. On our consolidated Statement of Financial Position, we measure our plan assets at fair value and
the obligations at the present value of the estimated payments to plan participants. Participants earn benefits based on their service and
pay. Those estimated future payment amounts are determined based on assumptions. Differences between our actual results and what
we assumed are recorded in a separate component of equity each period. These differences are amortized into earnings over the
remaining average future service of active employees or the expected life of inactive participants, as applicable, who participate in the
plan. See Note 13 for further information.

LOSS CONTINGENCIES. Loss contingencies are uncertain and unresolved matters that arise in the ordinary course of business and
result from events or actions by others that have the potential to result in a future loss. Such contingencies include, but are not limited to
environmental obligations, litigation, regulatory investigations and proceedings, product quality and losses resulting from other events
and developments. When a 10ss is considered probable and reasonably estimable, we record a liability in the amount of our best
estimate for the ultimate loss. When there appears to be a range of possible costs with equal likelihcod, liabilities are based on the low-
end of such range. Disclosure is provided for material loss contingencies when a loss is probable but a reasonable estimate cannct be
made, and when it is reasonably possible that a logs will be incurred or the amount of a loss will exceed the recorded provision, We
regularty review contingencies to determine whether the likelihood of loss has changed and to assess whether a reasonable estimate of
the loss or range of loss can be made. See Note 23 for further information.

SUPPLY CHAIN FINANCE PROGRAMS. We evaluate supply chain finance programs to ensure where we use a third-party
intermediary to setfle our trade payables, their involvement does not change the nature, existence, amount, or timing of our trade
payables and does not provide the Company with any direct economic benefit. If any characteristics of the trade payables change or we
receive a direct economic benefit, we reclassify the trade payables as borrowings.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS. The following sections describe the valuation methodologies we use to measure financial and non-
financial instruments accounted for at fair value including certain assets within our pension plans and retiree benefit plans. Observable
inputs reflect market data obtained from independent sources, while unobservable inputs reflect our market assumptions. These inputs
establish a fair value hierarchy:

Level 1 — Quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets.

Level 2 - Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are
not active; and model-derived valuations whose inputs are observable or whose significant value drivers are observable.

Level 3 - Significant inputs to the valuation model are unobservable.

RECURRING FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS. For financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis, primarily
investment securities and derivatives, fair value is the price we would receive to sell an asset or pay to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction with a market participant at the measurement date. In the absence of active markets for the identical assets or liabilities,
such measurements involve developing assumptions based on market observable data and, in the absence of such data, internal
information that is consistent with what market participants would use in a hypothetical transaction that occurs at the measurement
date. See Note 20 for further information.

Debt Securities. When available, we use quoted market prices to determine the fair value of debt securities which are included in Level
1. For our remaining debt securities, we obtain pricing information from an independent pricing vendor. The inputs and assumptions to
the pricing vendor’'s models are derived from market observable sources including benchmark yields, reported trades, broker/dealer
quotes, issuer spreads, benchmark securities, bids, offers and other market-related data. These investments are included in Level 2.
Our pricing vendors may also provide us with valuations that are based on significant unobservable inputs, and in those circumstances,
we classify the investment securities in Level 3.

Annually, we canduct reviews of our primary pricing vendor to validate that the inputs used in that vendor’s pricing process are deemed
to be market observable as defined in the standard. We believe that the prices received from our pricing vendor are representative of
prices that would be received to sell the assets at the measurement date (exit prices) and are classified appropriately in the hierarchy.

We use non-binding broker quotes and other third-party pricing services as our primary basis for valuation when there is limited, or no,
relevant market activity for a specific instrument or for other instruments that share similar characteristics. Debt securities priced in this
manner are included in Level 3.

Equity securities with readily determinable fair values. These publicly traded equity securities are valued using quoted prices and
are included in Level 1.

Derivatives. The majority of our derivatives are valued using internal models. The models maximize the use of market observable
inputs including interest rate curves and both forward and spot prices for currencies and commodities. Derivative assets and liabilities
included in Level 2 primarily represent interest rate swaps, cross-currency swaps and foreign currency and commeodity forward and
option contracts. Derivative assets and liabilities included in Level 3 primarily represent equity derivatives and interest rate products that
contain embedded optionality or prepayment features.



Investments in private equity, real estate and collective funds held within our pension plans. These investments are generally
valued using the net asset value (NAV) per share as a practical expedient for fair value provided certain criteria are met. The NAVs are
determined based on the fair values of the underlying investments in the funds. Investments that are measured at fair value using the
NAV practical expedient are not required to be classified in the fair value hierarchy. See Note 13 for further information.

NONRECURRING FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS. Certain assets are measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis. These assets
may include loans and long-lived assets reduced to fair value upon classification as held for sale, impaired loans based on the fair value
of the underlying collateral, impaired equity securities without readily determinable fair value, equity method investments and long-lived
assets, and remeasured retained investments in formerly consolidated subsidiaries upon a change in control that results in the
deconsolidation of that subsidiary and retention of a norcantrolling stake in the entity. Assets writtert down to fair value when impaired
and retained investments are not subsequently adjusted to fair value unless further impairment occurs.

Equity investments without readily determinable fair value and Associated companies. Equity investments without readily
determinable fair value and associated companies are valued using market cbservable data such as transaction prices when available.
When market observable data is unavailable, investments are valued using either a discounted cash flow meodel, comparative market
multiples, third-party pricing sources or a combination of these approaches as appropriate. These investments are generally included in
Level 3.

Long-lived Assets. Fair values of long-lived assets, including aircraft, are primarily derived internally and are based on observed sales
transactions for similar assets. In other instances for which we do not have comparable observed sales transaction data, coliateral
values are developed internaily and corrohorated by external appraisal information. Adjustments to third-party valuations may be
performed in circumstances where market comparables are not specific to the attributes of the specific collateral or appraisal
information may not be reflective of current market conditions due to the passage of time and the occurrence of market events since
receipt of the information.

ACCOUNTING CHANGES. On January 1, 2020, we adopted ASU No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses. ASU 2016-13
requires us to prospectively record an allowance for credit losses for the current expected credit losses inherent in the asset over its
expected life, replacing the incurred loss model that recognized losses onty when they became probable and estimable. We recorded a
$221 million increase in our allowance for credit losses and a $175 million decrease to retained earnings, net of tax, reflecting the
cumulative effect on retained earnings.

On January 1, 2020 we adopted ASU 2017-04, intangibles - Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Simpiifying the Test for Goodwill
impairment. The ASU eliminates Step 2 of the goodwill impairment test and the qualitative assessment for any reporting unit with a zero
or negative carrying amount. The ASLU also requires an entity to disclose the amount of goodwill allocated to each reporting unit with a
zerg or negative carrying amount. The adoption did not have an impact on our financial statements.

in March 2020, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued ASU 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the

Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting. On QOctober 1, 2020, we adopted the new standard, which provides optional

expedients and exceptions for applying generally accepted accounting principles to contracts, hedging relationships, and other

transactions affected by reference rate reform if certain criteria are met. We will apply the accounting relief as relevant contract and

hedge accounting relationship modifications are made during the reference rate reform transition period. We do not expect the standard

to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements. )

NOTE 2. BUSINESSES HELD FOR SALE AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES OF BUSINESSES HELD FOR SALE. On March 31, 2020, we completed the sale of our BioPharma
business within our Healthcare segment for total consideration of $21,112 million (after certain working capital adjustments). The
consideration consisted of $20,695 million in cash and $417 million of pension liabilities that were assumed by Danaher. In addition, we
incurred $185 million of cash payments directly associated with the transaction. As a result, we recognized a pre-tax gain of $12,362
million ($11,213 miffion after-tax) in our consolidated Statement of Earnings (Loss).

In the first half of 2020, we sold all our remaining businesses classified as held for sale, including the remaining Lighting business within
Corporate and the remaining PK AirFinance business within our Capital segment.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS. Discontinued operations primarily include certain businesses in our GE Capital segment (our
mortgage portfolio in Poland and trailing liabilities associated with the sale of our GE Capital businesses) and our Baker Hughes and
Transportation segments. Results of operations, financial position and cash flows for these businesses are reported as discontinued
operations for all periods presented.

In September 2019, we reduced our ownership interest in Baker Hughes from 50.2% to 36.8%. As a result, we deconsolidated our
Baker Hughes segment and reclassified its results to discontinued operations for all periods presented and recognized a loss of $8,715
million ($8,238 million after-tax).

We have continuing involvement with Baker Hughes (BKR) primarily through our remaining interest, ongoing purchases and sales of
products and services, transition services that we provide to BKR, as well as an aeroderivative joint venture {(JV) we formed with BKR in
the fourth quarter of 2019.

The JV is jointly controlled by GE and BKR and is consolidated by GE due to the significance of our investment in BKR. Qur Aviation
segment sells products and services to the JV. In turn, the JV sells products and services primarily to BKR and our Power segment.



Transactions between the JV and GE businesses are eliminated in consolidation. During 2020, we had sales of $563 million to BKR for
products and services from the JV, and we collected cash of $603 million from Baker Hughes. If our investment in BKR is reduced to

below 20%, we would no longer have significant influence in BKR and, as a result, we would not consciidate the JV. A potential

deconselidation of the JV is not expected to have a material impact on GE industrial free cash flows.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, we had sales of $839 million and purchases of $216 million with BKR far products and services
outside of the JV. We collected net cash of $855 million from BKR related to sales, purchases and transition services. In addition, we
received $204 million of repayments on the promissory note receivabie from BKR and dividends of $267 million on our investment.

In February 2019, we completed the spin-off and subsequent merger of our Transportation business with Wabtec. As a result, we
recorded a gain of $3,471 million ($2,508 million after-tax) in discontinued operations.

RESULTS OF DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Transportation

For the year ended December 31, 2020 Baker Hughes and Other GE Capital Total
Sales of goods and services % — § — % — 5 _
GE Capital revenues and other income {loss) — — 55 55
Cost of goods and services sold — — — —
Other income, costs and expenses 2 — (252) {249}
Earnings (loss) of discontinuad aperations hefore income taxes 2 — (197) (195}
Benefit (provision) for income taxes (13) 9 105 101
Earnings (loss) of discontinued operations, net of taxes(a) (10) 9 (92) {93}
Gain (loss) on disposal before income taxes (23) (12) 3 (31}
Benefit (provision) for income taxes — — {1) {1
Gain {loss) on disposal, net of taxes (23) (12) 2 (32)
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes $ (33) § (3) $ (90) % {125)
For the year ended December 31, 2019

Sales of goods and services $ 16,047 & 550 % — 5 16,598
GE Capital revenues and other income (loss) — — 33 33
Cost of gocds and services sold (13,317} (478) — (13,795)
Other income, costs and expenses {2.390) {19) (240) {2,650)
Earnings {loss) of discontinued operations before income taxes 340 53 (207} 186
Benefit (provision) for income taxes (176) (15) 344 153
Earnings (loss) of discontinued operations, net of taxes(a) 165 39 136 339
Gain (loss) on disposal before income taxes (8,715) 3,471 61 {5.183)
Benefit (provision) for income taxes 477 {963) (5) (491)
Gain (loss) on disposal, net of taxes (8,238) 2,508 56 {5,675)
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes $ (8,074) $ 2547 % 192 § (5,335)
For the year ended December 31, 2018

Sales of goods and services 3 22859 § 3,898 % — 3 26,757
GE Capital revenues and other income (loss) — — (1.347) (1,347)
Cost of goods and services sold (19,198} {2,809) — {22,007)
Other income, costs and expenses {3,346} {607} (407) (4,360)
Earnings (loss) of discontinuad operations before income taxes 315 482 (1,755) {958}
Benefit (provision) for income taxes (347} (143) 82 {408)
Earnings (loss) of discontinued operations, net of taxes(a) {33) 239 {1,673) (1,366)
Gain (loss) on disposal before income taxes — - 4 4
Benefit {provision) for income taxes — — {1} 1)
Gain {loss) on disposal, net of taxes — — 3 3
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes $ (33) $ 338 § {1,670} & {1,363)

{a) Earnings (loss) of discontinued operations attributable to the Company after income taxes was $(94) million, $279 million and

$(1,367) million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.



December 31 2020 2019

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 524 § 638
Investment securities — 202
Current receivables 61 81
Financing receivables held for sale (Polish mortgage portfolio} 2,437 2,485
Property, plant and equipment - net 109 123
Deferred income taxes 199 264
All other assets 202 317
Assets of discontinued operations(a) $ 3.532 % 4,109
Accounts payable & Progress collections and deferred income $ 20 % 40
All other liabilities 180 163
Liabilities of discontinued operations{a)(b) b 200 § 203

(@) Assets and liabilities of discontinued aperations included $3,388 million and $61 million related to GE Capital as of December 31,
2020.

(b) Included within All other liabilities of discontinued operations at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 are intercompany tax
receivables in the amount of $704 million and $839 million, respectively, primarily related to the financial services businesses that
were part of the GE Capital Exit Plan, which are eliminated upon consclidation.

NOTE 3. INVESTMENT SECURITIES

All of our debt securities are classified as available-for-sale and substantially all are investment-grade supporting obligations to
annuitants and policyholders in our run-off insurance operations. Changes in their fair value are recorded in Other comprehensive
income. Equity securities with readily determinable fair values are also included within this caption and changes in their fair value are
recorded in Other income within continuing operations. Where we adopt the fair value option for our investment i an associated
company, our investment in and any advances ‘o are recorded as Equity securities with readily determinable fair values. We classify
investment securities as current or non-current based on our intent regarding the usage of proceeds from those investments.
Investment securities held within insurance entities are classified as non-current as they support the long-duration insurance liabilities,

2020 2019
Gross Gross Gross Gross

Amortized  unrealized unrealized  Estimated Amartized  unrealized  unreafized  Estimated

December 31 cost gains losses  fairvalue cost gamns losses fair vaiue

Equity (Baker Hughes) $§ 7,319 % — % — % 7319 § 9888 § — § — $ 9888

Current investment securities $§ 7.319 % — § — % 7319 § 9888 $ — § — $ 9888
Debt

U.S. corporate $ 23604 3 6651 % (26)% 30230 $ 23037 § 4636 $ (1) % 27661

Non-U.S. corporate 2,283 458 (1) 2.740 2,161 260 (1) 2,420

State and municipal 3,387 878 (9) 4,256 3,086 598 {15) 3.669

Mortgage and asset-backed 3,652 171 7N 3,762 3,117 116 (4) 3,229

Government and agencies 1,169 184 — 1,353 1,391 126 - 1,516

Other equity 218 — — 218 136 — — 136

Non-current investment securities $ 34313 § 8342 § (106)$% 42549 § 32928 § 5736 § (31) % 38632

Total $ 41632 § 8342 3 (106)% 49868 § 42816 3 5736 3 (3% 48521

The amortized cost of debt securities as of December 31, 2020 excludes accrued interest of $414 million, which is reported in Other GE
Capital receivables.

The estimaled fair values of investment securities increased since December 31, 2018, primarily due to a decrease in market yields and
new investments in our insurance business, partially offset by the mark-to-market effects on our remaining interest in BKR.

Total estimated fair value of debt securities in an unrealized loss position were $1,765 million and $398 million, of which $165 million
and $274 million had gross unrealized losses of ${(20} million and $(20) millicn and had been in a loss position for 12 months or mere at
December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Gross unrealized losses of $(108) million at December 31, 2020 included $(26) million
related to U.S. corporate securities, primarily in the energy industry, and $(7¢) million related ta commercial mortgage-backed securities
(CMBS). Substantially all of our CMBS in an unrealized loss position have received investment-grade credit ratings from the major
rating agencies and are collateralized by pools of commercial mortgage loans on real estate.

Net unrealized gains (losses) for equity securities with readity determinable fair values were $(1,670) million, $800 million and an
insignificant amount for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Proceeds from debl and equity securities sales, early redemptions by issuers and principal payments on the BKR promissory note
totaled $5,060 mitlion, $7,967 mitlion and $3,222 million for the years ended Decernber 31, 202G, 2619, and 2018, respectively. Grass
realized gains on investment securities were $177 million, $115 million and $249 million, and gross realized losses and impairments
were $(364) million, $(203) million and $(41) million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.




GE Capital cash flows associated with purchases, dispositions and maturities of investment securities are as follows:

For the years ended December 31 2620 2018
Purchases of investment securities $ {6031} % (6,205)
Dispositions and maturities of investment securities 4,679 4,589
Net (purchases) dispositions of GE Capital investment securities $ (1,352} § {1,6186)

Contractual maturities of our debt securities (excluding mortgage and asset-backed securities) at December 31, 2020 are as follows:

Amortized Estimated
cost fair value

Due
Within one year % 494 § 501
After one year through five years 2,781 3,670
After five years through ten years 6,390 7,687
20,778 27,321

After ten years

We expect actual maturities to differ from contractual maturities because borrowers have the right to call or prepay certain obligations.

In addition to the equity securities described above, we hold $285 million and $517 million of equity securities without readily
determinable fair value at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively, that are classified within All other assets in our
consclidated Statement of Financial Position. Fair value adjustments, including impairments, recorded in earnings were $(161) million
for the year ended December 31, 2020 and insignificant amounts for both years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.

NOTE 4. CURRENT AND LONG-TERM RECEIVABLES

Consclidated GE Industrial
December 31 2020 2018 2020 2019
Power $ 3995 % 4689 § 2656 % 3,289
Renewable Energy 2,401 2,306 1,903 1,749
Aviation(a) 4.417 3,249 3,480 2,867
Healthcare 2,336 2,105 1.498 1,379
Corporate 314 246 293 223
Customer receivables 13,459 12,594 9,841 9,507
Sundry receivables(b}{(c) 4,395 4,848 4,763 5,047
Allowance for losses{d) (1,164) (874) (1.161) (872)
Total current receivables $ 16,691 $ 16,568 § 13,442 % 13.682

(a) Includes Aviation receivables from CFM due to 737 MAX temporary fleet grounding of $448 million and $1,397 million as of
December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. During 2020, CFM and Boeing reached an agreement to secure payment terms for
engines delivered in 2019 and 2020, net of progress collections. Based on the agreement, the receivable is expected to be collected
from Boeing through the first quarter of 2021.

(b} Includes supplier advances, revenue sharing programs receivables in our Aviation business, other non-income based tax
receivables, primarily value-added tax related to our operations in various countries outside of the U.S., receivables from disposed
businesses, including receivables for transactional agreements and certain intercompany balances that eliminate upon
consolidation. Revenue sharing programs receivables in Aviation are amounts due from third parties who participate in engine
programs by developing and supplying certain engine components through the life of the program. The participants share in
program revenues, receive a share of customer progress payments and share costs related to discounts and warranties.

{c) Consolidated current receivables include deferred purchase price which represents our retained risk with respect to current
customer receivables sold to third parties through one of the receivable facilities. The balance of the deferred purchase price held by
GE Capital at December 31, 2020 and 2019, was $413 million and $421 million, respectively.

(d) GE Industrial allowance for credit losses primarily increased due to net provisions of $274 mitlion, offset by write-offs and foreign
currency impact.



Sales of GE Industrial current customer receivables. When GE Industrial sells customer receivables to GE Capital or third parties, it
accelerates the receipt of cash that would have otherwise been collected from customers. In any given period, the amount of cash
received from sales of customer receivables compared to the cash GE Industrial would have otherwise collected had those customer
receivables not been sold represents the cash generated or used in the period relating to this activity. GE Industrial sales of customer
receivables to GE Capital or third parties are made on arms-iength terms and any discount related to time value of meney is recognized
by GE Industrial when the customer receivables are sold, In our Statement of Cash Flows, receivables purchased and retained by GE
Capital are reflected as cash from operating activities at GE Industrial, primarily as cash used for investing activities at GE Capital and
are eliminated in consolidation. Collections on receivables purchased by GE Capital are reflected primarily as cash from investing
activities at GE Capital and are reclassified to cash from operating activities in consolidation. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, GE
Industriat sold approximately 40% and 51%, respectively, of its gross customer receivables to GE Capital or third parties. Any difference
between the carrying value of receivables sold and total cash collected is recognized as financing costs by GE Industrial in Interest and
other financial charges in our consolidated Statement of Earnings (Loss). Costs of $264 million and $515 million were recognized during
the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The decrease in costs from prior year was driven by lower sales of
receivables as well as lower benchmark interest rates. Activity related to customer receivables sold by GE Industrial is as follows:

GE Capital Third Parties GE Capital Third Parties
2020 2019
Balance at January 1 $ 3,087 $ 6,757 3% 4,386 $ 7.880
GE Industrial sales to GE Capital 32,869 — 40,988 —_
GE Industriat sales to third parties — 863 — 5,286
GE Capital sales to third parties (18,654) 18,654 (28,073) 28,073
Collections and other (14,004) (23,283) (14,621) (34,482)
Reclassification from long-lerm customer receivables a — 407 —
Balance at December 31 $ 3,618 {a) $ 2992 § 3087 {ay % 6,757

(a) At December 31, 2020 and 2319, $505 million and $539 million, respectively, of the current receivables purchased and retained by
GE Capital, had been sold by GE Industrial to GE Capital with recourse (i.e., GE Industrial retains all or some risk of defauit). The
effect on GE Industrial cash flows from operating activities (CFOA) of claims by GE Capital on receivables scld with recourse was
insignificant for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019.

LONG-TERM RECEIVABLES Consolidated GE Industrial

December 31 2020 2019 2020 2019
Long-term customer receivables(a) $ 585 § 906 $ 474 § 506
Long-term sundry receivables(b) 1,748 1,705 2,097 2,035
Allowance for losses (142) (128) (142) {128)
Total long-term receivables $ 2191 § 2483 3§ 2,430 § 2,413

{a) As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, GE Capital held $111 million and $430 million, respectively, of GE industrial long-term customer
receivables, of which $98 million and $312 million had been purchased with recourse (i.e., GE Industrial retains all or some risk of
defautt). GE Industrial sold an insignificant amount of long-term customer receivables during the years ended December 31, 2020
and 2019.

(b) Includes supplier advances, revenue sharing programs receivables, other non-income based tax receivables and certain
intercampany batances that eliminate upon consolidation.

UNCONSOLIDATED RECEIVABLES FACILITIES. GE Capital has two revolving receivables facilities, under which customer
receivables purchased from GE Industrial are sold to third parties. In the first facility, which has a program size of $2,000 millicn, upen
the sale of receivables, we receive proceeds of cash and deferred purchase price and the Company’s remaining risk with respect to the
sold receivables is limited to the balance of the deferred purchase price. The program size of the first facility at December 31, 2019 was
$3.100 million. Under the second facility, upon the sale of receivables, we receive the proceeds of cash only and therefore the
Company has no remaining risk with respect to the sold receivables. In December 2020, GE Capital did not renew the second facility.
The pragram size of the second facility at December 31, 2012 was $1,200 million,

Activity retated to these facilities is included in GE Capital sales to third parties line in the sales of GE Industrial current custorner
receivables table above and is as follows:

For the years ended December 34 2020 2013
Customer receivables sald to receivables facilities $ 13591 § 21,695
Total cash purchase price for customer receivables 13,031 21,202
Cash collections re-invested to purchase customer receivables 11,567 18,012
Non-cash increases to deferred purchase price $ 481 § 257
Cash payments received on deferred purchase price 489 303

Cash payments received on deferred purchase price are reflected as cash from investing activities in both the GE Capital and
consolidated columns within our Statement of Cash Flows.




CONSOLIDATED SECURITIZATION ENTITIES. GE Capital consclidates three variable interest entities (VIEs) that purchased
customer receivables and long-term customer receivables from GE Industrial. At December 31, 2020 and 2019, these VIEs held current
customer receivables of $1,489 million and $2,080 million and long-term customer receivables of $93 million and $375 million,
respectively. At December 31, 2020 and 2019, the outstanding debt under their respeclive debt facilities was $892 million and $1,655
million, respectively.

NOTE 5. FINANCING RECEIVABLES AND ALLOWANCES

Consaolidated GE Capital
December 31 2620 2019 2026 2019
Loans, net of deferred income $ 1,300 $ 1,008 § 5124 § 4,927
Allowance for losses ~ (36) (21) (13) (5}
Current financing receivables - net 1,265 1,077 5110 4,922
Investment in financing leases, net of deferred income 1,805 2,070 1,805 2,070
Allowance for losses {34) (12) (34) {12)
Non-current financing receivables - net 1,771 2,057 1,771 2,057
Total financing receivables - net $ 3,036 § 3134 % 6,882 % 6,979

Cash flows associated with GF Capital financing receivables are as follows:

For the years ended December 31 2028 2013
Increase in loans to customers $ (15,155)% (15,022}
Principal coltections from customers - loans 15,311 18,083
Sales of financing receivables and other 42 3z2s
Net decrease {increase) in GE Capital financing receivables $ 199 § 3,389

Consolidated finance lease income was $144 million, $173 million and $275 million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2012 and
2018, respactively.
Direct financing and

NET INVESTMENT IN FINANCING LEASES Total finanging leases sales type leases{al Leveraged leases
December 31 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
Total minimum lease payments receivable § 1202 % 1828 § 654 799 % 548 % 829
Less principal and interest on third-party non-recourse debt {83) (216) — — (83) {216)
Net minimum lease payments receivable 1,119 1,412 654 799 465 613
Less deferred income (133) (178) {99) (139) (34) (39)
Discounted lease receivable 986 1,234 556 660 431 574
Estimated unguaranteed residual value of leased assets, net

of deferred income 819 B35 472 412 347 423

Investment in f-inancing leases, net of deferredincome{(b) $ 1805 &3 2070 $ 1028 % 1072 § 777 % 997
{a} Included $506 million of investment in sales type leases at both December 31, 2020 and 2019.
(b} See Note 15 for deferred tax amounts related to financing leases.

CONTRACTUAL MATURITIES, DUE IN 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025  Thereafter Total
Total loans $ 4199 % 261 % 142 5 134 § 318 § 68 § 5124
Net minimum lease payments receivable 294 200 281 193 68 83 1,119

We expect actual maturities to differ from contractual maturities, primarily as a result of prepayments,

We manage our GE Capital financing receivables portfolio using delinquency and nonaccrual data as key performance indicators. At
December 31, 2020, 5.7%, 5.0% and 5.3% of financing receivables were over 30 days past due, over 90 days past due and on
nonaccrual, respectively, with the vast majority of nonaccrual financing receivables secured by collateral. At December 31, 2019, 4.2%,
2.9% and 6.1% of financing receivables were over 30 days past due, over 90 days past due and on nonaccrual, respectively.

GE Capital financing receivables that comprise receivables purchased from GE Industrial are reclassified to either Current receivables
or All other assets in the consolidated Statement of Financial Position. To the extent these receivables are purchased with full or limited
recourse, they are excluded from the delinquency and nonaccrual data above. See Note 4 far further information.



NOTE 6. INVENTORIES, INCLUDING DEFERRED INVENTORY COSTS

December 31 2020 2018
Raw materials and work in process $ 7,937 $ 8,771
Finished goods 5,654 5,333
Deferred inventory costs{a) 2,299 3,111
Inventories, including deferred inventory costs $ 15,890 $ 17,215

(a) Represents cost deferral for shipped goods (such as components for wind turbine assemblies within our Renewable Energy
segment) and labor and overhead costs on time and material service contracts (primarily originating in Power and Aviation) and
other costs for which the criteria for revenue recognition has not yet been met. This was previously recorded in Contract and other
deferred assets.

NOTE 7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND OPERATING LEASES

Depreciable lives Qriginal Cost Net Carrying Value

December 3 {in years) 2020 2019 2020 2019
Land and improvements 8% 599 % 608 3 589 $ 596
Buildings, structures and related equipment 8-40 8,210 7.824 3,828 3,875
Machinery and equipment 4-20 20,915 20,082 7.869 8,360 |
Leasehold costs and manufacturing plant under construction 1-10 2,028 2,165 1,350 1,539 ‘
ROU operating lease assets 2,798 3,077
GE Industrial $ 31,751 & 30680 $ 16433 § 17,447
Land and improvements, buildings, structures and related
equipment 1-40 % 144 § 149 $ 23 % 29
Equipment leased to others (ELTO){a)

Aircraft 15-20 34,372 35,507 20,931 21,414

Engines 156 - 20 4,957 4,113 3,540 3,283

Helicopters 15-20 5,750 5,474 4,724 4,709

All other 15-35 235 237 194 214
RQU gperating lease assets 189 237
GE Capital $ 45458 § 45480 $ 29600 $ 29,886
Eliminations (1.282) (1,279) {1.372) (1.453)
Property, plant and equipment - net $ 75927 & 74880 § 44662 § 45879

(a) Included $1,475 million and $1,532 million of original cost of assets leased to GE Industrial with accumulated amortization of $(306)
million and ${251) miltion at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Consolidated depreciation and amortization related to property, plant and equipment was $4,636 miflion, $4,026 miliion and $4,419
million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Amortization of GE Capital ELTO was $2,527 million,
$2,019 million and $2,089 million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

In the third quarter of 2020, we recognized a non-cash pre-tax impairment charge of $316 million related to property, plant and
equipment at our Steam business within our Power segment due to our recent announcement to exit the new build coal power market.
We determined the fair value of these assets using an income approach. This charge was recorded by Corpoerate in Selling, general,
and administrative expenses in our consolidated Statement of Earnings {Loss).

During 2020, our GE Capital Aviation Services (GECAS) business recognized pre-tax impairments of $542 millicn, primarily on its fixed-
wing aircraft operating lease portfolio. Pre-tax impairments were $74 million for 2019. We determined the fair values of these assets
using primarily the income approach. These charges are included in costs of services sold within the Statement of Earnings (Loss) and
within our Capital segment.

Nongancellable future rentals due from customers for equipment on operating leases at December 31, 2020, are as follows:

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025  Thereafter Totai
$ 2833 % 2451 % 2072 % 1970% 1658 % 5316 § 16,300

Income on our operating lease portfalio, primarily from our GECAS business, was $3,342 million, $3,804 million, and $4,075 millicn for
the years ended December 31, 2020, 2018, and 2018, respectively, and comprises fixed lease income of $2,834 million, $3,045 million
and $3,243 million and variable lease income of $508 million, $759 million and $832 miltion, respectively.

Operating Lease Liabilities. Our consolidated operating lease liabilities, included within All other liabilities in our Statement of
Financial Position, were $2,973 million and $3,162 million as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, which included GE
Industrial operating lease liabilities of $3,133 million and $3,369 million, respectively. Substantiaily all of aur cperating leases have
remaining lease terms of 11 years or less, some of which may include options to extend.



OPERATING LEASE EXPENSE 2026 2019 2013

Long-term (fixed) % 745 § 834 § 966
Long-term (variable) 118 136 177
Short-term 209 206 133
Total operating lease expense 3 1072 & 1,176 § 1,276
MATURITY OF LEASE LIABILITIES 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 Thereafter Totat
Undiscounted lease payments [ 727 % 648 % 549 § 437 267 § BO5 § 3,433
Less: imputed interest (460)
Total lease liability as of December 31, 2020 $ 2,973
SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION RELATED TO OPERATING LEASES 2020 2019
Operating cash flows used for operating leases $ 7668 % 838
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new lease liabilities $ 600 % 746
Weighted-average remaining lease term 6.6 years 6.9 years
Weighted-average discount rate 4.5 % 49 %
NOTE 8. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
CHANGES IN GOODWILL BALANCES
2019 2620
Balance at Currency Balance at Currency Baiance at
December 31, exchange December 31, exchange December 31,
2018 Dispositions Impairments and other 2013 Acquisitions Impairments and other 2020
Power $ 139 § — % — % 6% 145 § — % — 5 — % 146
Renewable
Energy 4,730 — (1,486) 46 3,290 — — 11 3.401
Aviation 9,839 — — 20 9,859 — (877) 266 9,247
Healthcare 17,226 (5.558) — 60 11,728 89 — a7 11856
Capital 904 (39) — (26) 839 — (839) — —
Corporate(a} 1,136 — — (262) 873 — — 2 876
Total $ 33,974 § (5,597)% (1,486)% (156) % 26,734 % 0 $ (1,7177)% 417 % 25,524

(a) Corporate balance at December 31, 2020 and 2019 is our Digital business.

In the fourth quarter of 2020, we performed our annual impairment test. Based on the results of this test, the fair values of each of our
reporting units exceeded their carrying values.

We continue to monitor the operating resuits and cash flow forecasts of our Additive reporting unit in our Aviation segment as the fair
value of this reporting unit was not significantly in excess of its carrying value. At December 31, 2020, our Additive reporting unit had

goodwill of $243 million.

In the second quarter of 2020 we performed an interim impairment test at our Additive reporting unit within our Aviation segment and
GECAS reporting wnit within our Capital segment, both of which incorporated a combination of income and market valuation
approaches. The results of the analysis indicated that carrying values of both reporting units were in excess of their respective fair
values. Therefore, we recorded non-cash impairment losses of $877 million and $839 million for the Additive and GECAS repaorting
units, respectively, in the caption Goodwill impairments in our consolidated Statement of Earnings (Loss). All of the goodwill in Additive
was the result of the Arcam AR and Concept Laser GmBH acquisitions in 2016. Of the $839 million of goodwill for GECAS, $729 million
arose from the acquisition of Milestone Aviation, our hedicopter leasing business, in 2015. After the impairment charges, there was no
goodwill remaining in our GECAS reparting unit.

In 2019, goodwili decreased by $7,240 million, primarily as a result of transferring goodwill in our BioPharma business within gur
Healthcare segment to held for sale in the amount of $5,548 million, and recognizing a total non-cash goodwill impairment foss in our
Grid Solutions equipment and services and Hydro reporting units in our Renewable Energy segment of $744 million and $742 million,
respectively. After the impairment charges, the Grid Solutions equipment and services and Hydro reporting units have no remaining
goodwill.

Determining the fair value of reperting units requires the use of estimates and significant judgments that are based on a number of
factors including actual operating results. [t is reasonably possibie that the judgments and estimates described above could change in
future periods.
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2020 2019

Gross Gross

INTANGIBLE ASSETS SUBJECT TO Useful lives carrying  Accumulated carrying  Accumulated

AMORTIZATION December 31 {in years) amount amortization Net amount  amortization Net
Customer-related(a) 3-30% 6862 3% (3432)% 3430 § 67/0 % (3070)% 3,701
Patents and technology 2-25 8,191 (4,135) 4,056 8,180 (3,730} 4,450
Capitalized software 3-10 5,826 (3,840} 1,986 5,822 {3.651) 2171
Trademarks & other 3-50 778 (477} 301 737 (406) 332
Total $ 21657 § (11883})% 9774 $ 21510 3 (10,857)% 10,653

(a) Balance includes payments made to our customers, primarily within our Aviation business.

Intangible assets decreased in 2020, primarily as a result of amortization. Consolidated amortization expense was $1,382 million,
$1,569 million and $2,163 million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Included within amortization
expense for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 were non-cash pre-tax impairment charges of $113 miition, $103
million, and $428 miilion respectively.

In the third quarter of 2020, we recagnized a non-cash pre-tax impairment charge of $113 million related to intangible assets at our
Steam business within our Power segment due to our recent announcement to exit the new build coal power market. We determined
the fair value of these intangible assets using an income approach. This charge was recorded by Corporate in Selling, general, and
administrative expenses in our consolidated Statement of Earnings {Loss).

Estimated consolidated annual pre-tax amortization for intangible assets over the next five calendar years are as follows:

ESTIMATED 5 YEAR CONSOLIDATED AMORTIZATION 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
Estimated annual pre-tax amortization $ 1162 § 1085 % 992 § 889 § 817

During 2020, we recorded additions to intangible assets subject to amortization of $420 million with a weighted-average amortizable
period of 5.9 years, including capitalized software of $360 million, with a weighted-average amortizable period of 5.2 years.

NOTE 9. CONTRACT AND OTHER DEFERRED ASSETS & PROGRESS COLLECTIONS AND DEFERRED INCOME

Contract and other deferred assets decreased $1,474 million in 2020. Our long-term service agreements decreased primarily due to
billings of $9,571 million and a net unfavorable change in estimated profitability of $229 million at Power and $1,100 million at Aviation,
offset by revenues recognized of $8,971 million. The decrease in long-ierm service agreements included a $587 million pre-tax charge,
at Aviation, to reflect the cumulative COVID-19 pandemic-related impacts of changes to billing and cost assumptions for certain long-
term service agreements, reflecting lower engine utilization, anticipated customer fleet restructuring and centract medifications.
Additional adjustments could occur in future periods and could be material for certain long-term service agreements if actual customer
operating behavior differs significantly from Aviation's current estimates.

Renewabie

December 31, 2020 Power Aviation Energy Healthcare Other Total

Revenues in excess of billings $ 5282 % 3072 % — % — % — 5 8354

Billings in excess of revenues (1,640) {5,375) — — — (7,015)
Long-term service agreements $ 3642 % (2,304) % — 5 — § — 5 1,338
Short-term and other service agreements 129 282 106 173 29 719
Equipment contract revenues 2,015 59 1,127 306 201 3,707
Current contract assets $ 5786 % (1,963)% 1233 § 479 § 229 § 5764
Nonrecurring engineering costs(a) 16 2,409 34 31 — 2,490
Customer advances and other{b) 822 2,481 — 128 (32} 3,398
Non-current contract and other deferred assets $ 838 $ 4889 § 34 % 159 % {32)§ 5,888
Total contract and other deferred assets $ 6623 F 2927 § 1268 § 638 5 197 3 11653




Renewabie

December 31, 2019 Power Aviation Energy  Healthcare Other Totat
Revenues in excess of billings $ 5342 % 4480 3% — 5 — 5 — $ 9822
Billings in excess of revenues (1,561) (4,914) — _ — (6,476}

Long-term service agreements $ 3781 % (435 % — 3% — § — $ 3346

Shorl-lerm and other service agreements 180 316 43 169 — 717

Equipment contract revenues 1,599 82 1,217 324 106 3,327

Current contract assets $ 5569 % (37r% 1,260 § 492 § 106 $§ 7,390

Nonrecurring engineering costs(a) $ 44 $ 2257 § 47 § 35 % 8§ 23N

Customer advances and other(b) 909 2,313 — 156 (32} 3,346

Non-current contract and other deferred assets $ 953 & 4570 % 47 % 190 % (24)$ 5737

Total contract and other deferred assets $ 6522 % 4533 % 1307 $ 683 3 82 § 13127

{a} Included costs incurred prior to production {such as requisition engineering) for equipment production contracts, primarily within our
Aviation segment, which are allocated ratably to each unit produced.

{b) Included amounts due from customers at Aviation for the sales of engines, spare parts and services, and at Power, for the sale of
services upgrades, which we collect through incremental fixed or usage-based fees from servicing the equipment under long-term
service agreements. We have reclassified certain prior-year amounts from the long-term service agreements and equipment
contract revenues line items in the table above to contorm with the current year's presentation.

PROGRESS COLLECTIONS & DEFERRED INCOME. Progress collections represent cash received from customers under ordinary
commercial payment terms in advance of delivery. Progress collections on equipment contracts primarily comprise milestone payments
received from customers prior to the manufacture and delivery of customized equipment orders. Other pregress collections primarily
comprise down payments from customers to reserve production slots for standardized inventory orders such as advance payments
from customers when they place orders for wind turbines and blades within our Renewahle Energy segment and payments from
airframers and airlines for install and spare engines, respectively, within our Aviation segment.

Progress collections and deferred income increased $72 million in 2020 primarily due to the timing of new collections received in excess
of revenue recognition, primarily at Renewable Energy, Healthcare and Aviation. These increases were partially offset by revenue
recognized in excess of new collections at Power. Our Aviation Miiitary equipment business received new collections of $708 million in
the second quarter 2020 as part of the U.S. Department of Defense’s efforts to support vendors in its supply chain during the pandemic.

Revenues recognized for contracts included in a liability position at the beginning of the year were $12,314 million andg $11,020
millien for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Renewabile

December 31. 2020 Power Aviation Energy Healthcare Other Total

Progress collections on equipment contracts $ 4918 % 214 3 1,229 § — % — & 6,362

Other progress collections 458 4,623 4,604 414 {4) 10,096
Total prograss collections $ 5376 % 4837 § 5834 % 414 § 4% 16,458
Current deferred income 17 132 194 1,309 105 1,757
Progress collections and deferred income $ 5393 % 4969 % 6028 5 1724 § 102 § 18,215
Non-current deferred income 116 898 214 564 10 1,801
Total progress collections and deferred income $ 5509% 587 3% 6241 5 2288 % 112 § 20,016
December 31, 2019

Progress collections on equipment contracts $ 5857 % 115 8 1268 § — — % 7240

Other progress collections 413 4,748 4,193 305 2 9,662
Total progress collections $ 6270 % 4863 & 5461 § 3065 § Z § 16,802
Current deferred income 18 90 140 1,180 59 1,487
Progress collections and deferred income $ 8288 3% 4953 % 5602 % 1485 % 61 § 18,389
Non-current deferred income 3 874 144 467 39 1,655

Total progress collections and deferred income § 6319 % 5827 § 5745 % 1952 % 100 § 19,944




NOTE 10. ALL OTHER ASSETS

Degember 31 2020 2019
Prepaid taxes and deferred charges $ 368 $ 610
Derivative instruments (Note 21) 440 211
Other 27 31
GE Industrial All other current assets B35 § 852
Assets held for sale 871 % 2,294
Derivative instruments (Note 21) 42 529
Other 108 113
GE Capital All other current assets $ 1,021 § 2,936
Eliminations (334) (426)
Consolidated All other current assets ] 1,522 % 3,362
Equity method and other investments $ 3827 § 4,015
Long-term receivables (Note 4) 2,430 2,413
Prepaid taxes and deferred charges 817 870
Other 874 449
GE Industrial All other non-current assets $ 7,948 $ 7.748
Equity method and other investments $ 3,199 % 2,227
GECAS pre-delivery payments (Note 23) 2,871 2,934
Insurance cash and cash equivalents(a) 455 583
Other 543 551
GE Capital All other non-current assets $ 7.068 $ 5,294
Eliminations (419) (160)
Consolidated All other non-current assets $ 14,597 3 13,882
Total All other assets $ 16.119 § 17,244

(a) Cash and cash equivalents in GE Capital insurance entities is subject to regulatory restrictions and used for operations of those

entities. Therefore, the balance is included in All other assets.

Equity method investments. Unconsolidated entities over which we have significant influence are accounted for as equity method
investments and presented on a one-line basis in All other assets on our consolidated Statement of Financial Position. Equity method
income includes our share of the results of unconsolidated entities, gains (loss) from sales and impairments of investments, which is
inciuded in Other income for GE iIndustrial and in Revenues from services for GE Capital in our consolidated Statement of Earnings

{Loss). See Note 1 for further information.

Equity method investment halance

Equity method income [ioss)

December 31 2020 2019 2020 2019 2018
Fawer $ 576 $ 565 § 43 § 4§ {20)
Renewable Energy 724 630 13 (2) (1)
Aviation 2,032 2,073 (41} 204 126
Healthcare 2514 245 7 19 16
Capital{a) 3,110 2,159 77 217 (254)
Corporate items and eliminations 31 28 5 (11) (99)
Total consolidated 3 6724 % 5700 % 104 § 423 $ (233)

(a) Equity method investments in GE Capital increased $951 million driven primarily by an increase in renewable energy tax equity
investments at Energy Financial Services (EFS) and an increase in investments in our run-off insurance operations.



NOTE 11. BORROWINGS

December 31 2020 2019
Amount Average Rate Amount  Average Rate
Commercial paper [ — —%$ 3,008 1.62 %
Current pottion of long-term borrowings 36 5.03 766 0.36
Current portion of long-term borrowings assumed by GE Industrial 2,432 3.49 5,473 3.71
Other 882 1,832
Total GE Industrial short-term borrowings $ 3,350 $ 11079
Current portion of long-term borrowings Y 853 172% % 11,226 3.01 %
Intercompany payable to GE ndustrial 2,432 2,104
Nen-recourse borrowings of
consolidated securitization entities 892 0.81 1,569 1.26
Other 283 804
Total GE Capital short-term borrowings [ 4,461 3 15702
Eliminations (3.033) {3,140)
Total short-term borrowings % 4,778 $ 23641
Maturities Amount Average Hate Amount Average Rate
Senior notes 2022-2050 § 18,994 290% § 14,762 211 %
Senior notes assumed by GE Industrial 2022-2055 18,178 3.25 23,024 4.17
Subordinated notes assumed by GE Industrial 2035-2037 1,779 3.28 2,871 3.68
Other 435 324
Total GE Industrial long-term borrowings $ 39,386 $§ 40,980
Senior notes 2022-2042 § 30,132 341% 8% 25371 3.66 %
Subordinated notes 189 178
Intercompany payable to GE industrial 16,780 17,038
Non-recourse borrowings of
consolidated securitization entities — 86 2.82
Other 582 626
Total GE Capital long-term borrowings § 47683 $ 43299
Eliminations (16,780) (17,038)
Total long-term borrowings $ 70288 $ 6724
Total borrowings $ 75067 $ 90,882

At December 31, 2020, the outstanding GE Capital borrowings that had been assumed by GE Industrial as part of the GE Capital Exit
Plan was $22,390 million ($2.432 million short term and $19,957 million lang term), for which GE Industrial has an offsetting receivable
from GE Capital of $19,213 million. The difference of $3,177 million (zero in short-term borrowings and $3,177 million in long-term
borrowings) represents the amount of borrowings GE Capital had funded with available cash to GE Industrial via intercompany loans in
lieu of GE Industrial issuing borrowings externally. GE Industrial repaid a total of $9,049 million of intercompany joans from GE Capital
in 2020.

At December 31, 2020, total GE Industrial borrowings of $23,523 million comprised GE Industrial-issued borrowings of $20,346 million
and intercormnpany loans from GE Capital to GE Industrial of $3,177 million as described above.

GE Industrial has praovided a full and unconditional guarantee on the payment of the principal and interest on all tradable senior and
subordinated outstanding long-term debt securities issued or guaranteed by GE Capital. This Guarantee applied to $28,503 million and
$34,683 million of GE Capital debt at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively.

In the second quarter of 2020, GE Industrial issued a total of $7,500 million in aggregate principal amount of senior unsecured debt,
comprising $1,000 million of 3.450% Notes due 2027, $1,250 million of 3.625% Notes due 2030, $1,500 million of 4. 250% Notes due
2040, and $3,750 million of 4.350% Notes due 2050, and used these proceeds in addition to a portion of the proceeds from the
BioPharma sale to repay a total of $7,500 million of intercompany loans to GE Capital and to compiete a tender offer to purchase
$4,237 million in aggregate principal amount of certain GE Industrial unsecured debt, comprising $2,046 million of 2,700% Notes due
2022, €934 million ($1,011 million equivalent) of 0,375% Notes due 2022, €425 million (3460 million equivalent) of 1.250% Notes due
2023, €376 million ($407 million equivalent} of floating-rate Notes due 2020, and $312 million of 3.375% Notes due 2024. The total cash
consideration paid for these purchases was $4,282 million and the total carrying amount of the purchased notes was $4,228 million,
resulting in a loss of $63 million (including $9 million of fees and other costs associated with the tender) which was recorded in Interest
and other financial charges in the GE tndustrial Statement of Eamings (Loss). In addition to the purchase price, GE Industrial paid any
accrued and unpaid interest on the purchased notes through the date of purchase.
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in the second quarter of 2020, GE Capital issued a total of $6,000 million in aggregate principal amount of senior unsecured debt with
maturities ranging from 2025 to 2032, and used these proceeds in addition to the proceeds received from repayments of intercompany
loans from GE industrial to complete tender offers to purchase a total of $8,787 million in aggregale principal amount of certain senior
unsecured debt. The total cash consideration paid for these purchases was $9,950 million and the total carrying amount of the
purchased notes was $9,827 million, resulting in a total loss of $143 miliion (including $20 million of fees and other costs associated
with the tender) which was recorded in Interest and other financial charges in the GE Capital Statement of Earnings (Loss). In addition
to the purchase price, GE Capital paid any accrued and unpaid interest on the purchased notes through the date of purchase.

In the fourth quarter of 2020, GE Capital completed a tender offer to purchase a total of $2,157 milliort in aggregate principal amount of
certain senior unsecured debt. The total cash consideration paid for these purchases was $2,255 million and the carrying amount of the
purchased notes was $2,166 million, resulting in a total loss of $35 million {including $6 million of fees and other costs associated with
the tender) which was recorded in Interest and other financial charges in the GE Capital Statement of Earnings (Loss). In addition to the
purchase price, GE Capital paid any accrued and unpaid interest on the purchased notes through the date of purchase.

See Notes 4 and 22 for further information about non-recourse borrowings of consolidated securitization entities. See Note 21 for
further information about horrowings and asscciated interest rate swaps.

Long-term debt maturities over the next five years follow.

2021 2022 2022 2024 2025
GE Industrial excluding assumed debt 3$ 36 $ 2,016 $ 977 § 477 § 2,440
GE Capital debt assumed by GE Industrial 2,432 1,483 1,977 918 237
GE Capital other debt 853 (a) 1,469 1,771 142 3477

{a) Fixed and floating rate notes of $340 million contain put options with exercise dates in 2021, which have final maturity beyond 2025.

The total interest payments on consolidated borrowings are estimated to be $2,326 million, $2,210 million, $2,072 milticn, $2,006 million
and $1,932 million for 2021, 2022, 2023, 2024 and 2025, respectively.

NOTE 12. INSURANCE LIABILITIES AND ANNUITY BENEFITS. Insurance liabilities and annuity benefits comprise
substantially all obligations to annuitants and insureds in our run-off insurance operations.

Structured
settlement
Long-term care annuities & life
insurance insurance Other Other

December 31, 2020 contracts contracts contracts adjustments(a) Total
Future policy benefit reserves 3 16,934 § 9,207 § 181 % 8,160 % 34,482
Claim reserves(b) 4,393 275 1,068 — 5,736
Investment contracts — 1,034 1,016 — 2,049
Unearned premiums and other 19 189 89 — 298

21,3486 10.705 2,354 8,160 42,565
Eliminations — — (374) —_ (374}
Total $ 21,346 % 10,705 % 1,980 $ 8,160 3 42,191
December 31, 2019
Future policy benefit reserves $ 18,755 § 9511 % 183 % 5655 % 32,104
Claim reserves(b) 4,238 252 1,125 — 5615
Investment contracts — 1,136 1,055 - 2,191
Unearned premiums and other 30 196 96 — 322

21,023 11,095 2.459 5,655 40,232
Eliminations — — (406) — {406)
Total % 21023 % 11,095 % 2053 % 5655 § 39,826

(a) To the extent that unrealized gains on specific investment securities supporting our insurance contracts would result in a premium
deficiency should those gains be realized, an increase in future policy benefit reserves is recorded, with an after-tax reduction of net
unrealized gains recognized through Other comprehensive income in our consolidated Statement of Earnings (Loss).

(b) Cther contracts included claim reserves of $316 million and $342 million related to short-duration contracts at Electric Insurance
Company, net of eliminations, at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

The increase in insurance liabilities and annuity benefits of $2,365 million from December 31, 2019 to December 31, 2020 is primarily
due to an adjustment of $2,505 million resulting from an increase in unrealized gains on invesiment securities that would result in a
premium deficiency should those gains be realized.




Claim reserve activity included incurred claims of $1,801 million, $1,873 million and $2,106 million, of which ${1) million, $(36) million
and $(46) million related to the recognition of adjustments to prior year claim reserves arising from our periodic reserve evaluation in the
years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Paid claims were $1,728 million, $1,626 million and $1,837 million in the
years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Reinsurance recoveries are recorded as a reduction of insurance fosses and annuity benefits in our consolidated Statement of Earnings
{Loss) and amounted to $350 million, $362 million and $324 million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018,
respectively.

Reinsurance recoverables, net of allowances of $1,510 million and $1,355 million, are included in non-current Other GE Capital
receivables in our consolidated Statement of Financial Position, and amounted to $2,552 million and $2,418 million at December 31,
2020 and 2019, respectively. The vast majority of our remaining net reinsurance recoverables are secured by assets held in a trust for
which we are the beneficiary.

2020 Premium Deficiency Testing. We completed our annual premium deficiency testing in the aggregate across our run-off
insurance portfolio in the third quarter of 2020. The results of our testing indicated there was a positive margin of less than 2% of the
recorded future policy benefit reserves, excluding Other adjustments, at September 30, 2020. As a result, the assumptions updated in
connection with the premium deficiency recognized in 2019 remain locked-in and will remain so unless another premium deficiency
occurs in the future.

We also noted our projections as of third quarter 2020 indicate the present value of projected earnings in each future year to be
positive, and therefore, no further adjustments to our future policy benefit reserves were required at this time.

Considering the results of the 2020 premium deficiency test which resulted in a small margin, any future net adverse changes in our
assumptions may reduce the margin or result in a premium deficiency requiring an increase to future policy benefit reserves. Any future
net favorable changes to these assumptions could result in a lower projected present value of future cash flows and additional margin in
our premium deficiency test and higher income over the remaining duration of the portfolio, including higher investment income.

Statutory accounting practices, not GAAF, determine the required statutory capital levels of our insurance legal entities and, therefore,
may affect the amount or timing of capital contributions that may be required from GE Capital to its insurance legal entities. Statutory
accounting practices are set forth by the National Association of insurance Commissioners (NAIC) as well as state laws, regulation and
general administrative rules and differ in certain respects from GAAP. The 2020 premium deficiency testing described above was
performed on a GAAP basis. The adverse impact on our statutory additional actuarial reserves {(AAR) arising from our revised
assumptions in 2017, including the collectability of reinsurance recoverables, is expected to require GE Capital to contribute
approximately $14,500 million additional capital to its run-off insurance operations in 2018-2024. For statutory accounting purpases, the
Kansas Insurance Department (KID) approved our request for a permitted accounting practice to recognize the 2017 AAR increase over
a seven-year period. GE Capital provided capital contributions to its insurance subsidiaries of $2,000 million, $1,900 million and $3,500
million in the first quarters of 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. GE Capital expects to provide further capital contributions of
approximately $7,000 million through 2024 (of which approximately $2,000 million is expected to be contributed in the first quarter of
2021 pending completion of cur December 31, 2020 statutory reporting process, which includes asset adequacy testing), subject to
angoing monitoring by KID. GE is a party to capital maintenance agreements with its run-off insurance subsidiaries under which GE is
required to maintain their statutory capital levels at 300% of their year-end Authorized Control Level risk-based capital requirements as
defined from time to time by the NAIC.



NOTE 13. POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

PENSION BENEFITS AND RETIREE HEALTH AND LIFE BENEFITS. We sponsor a number of pension and retiree health and life
insurance benefit plans that we present in three categories, principal pension plans, other pension plans and principal retiree benefit
plans. Smaller pension plans with pension assets or obligations less than $50 million and other retiree benefit plans are not presented.
We use a December 31 measurement date for these plans.

DESCRIPTION OF OUR PLANS

Plan Category Participants Funding Other
This ptan has been closed to new
c US participants since 2012. Benefits for
Or;'ersan'ts' Our funding policy is to ~20,000 employees with salaried
parucipants. contribute amounts sufficientto  benefits were frozen effective

Principal Pension
Plans

GE Pension Plan

~176,500 retirees
and beneficiaries,
~93,000 vested
former employees
and ~26,500 active

meet minimum funding
requirements under employee
benefit and tax laws. We may
decide to contribute additional
amounts beyond this level.

January 1, 2021, and thereafter
these employees will receive
increased company contributions in
the company sponsored defined
contribution plan in lieu of

GE Supplementary
Pension Plan

employees. participation in a defined benefit
plan {(announced 10/2019}.
The annuity benefit has been closed
to new participants since 2011 and
Provides has been replaced by an installment

supplementary
benefits to higher-
level, langer-service
U.S. employees

This plan is unfunded. We pay
benefits from company cash.

benefit. Benefits for ~700
employees who became executives
before 2011 were frozen effective
January 1, 2021, and thereafter
these employees will accrue the
instaliment benefit offered to new
executives since 2011.

Other Pension
Plans

44 4.S. and non-
U.5. pension plans
with pension assets
oF pbligations
greater than $50
million

Covers ~56,500
retirees and
beneficiaries,
~49,500 vested
former employees
and ~20,000 active
employees

Qur funding policy is to
contribute amounts sufficient to
meet minimum funding
requirements under employee
benefit and tax laws in each
country. We pay benefits for
some plans from company cash.

In certain countries, benefit accruals
have ceased and/or have been
closed to new hires as of various
dates.

Principal Retiree
Benefit Plans

Provides health and
life insurance
benefits to certain
eligible participants

Covers U.S
participants.
~170,000 retirees
and dependeants

We fund retiree health benefits
on a pay-as-you-go basis and
the retiree life insurance trust at
our discretion.

Participants share in the cost of the
healthcare benefits.

FUNDING STATUS BY PLAN TYPE

Benefit Obligation

Fair Value of Assets

Deficit:(Surplus}

20290 2019 2020 2019 2020 2013

Principal Pension Plans:
GE Pension Plan (subject to regulatory funding)

$ 68,945 % 65,065

$58,843 552,633

$10,102 $ 12,432

GE Supplementary Pension Plan (not subject to regulatory funding) 7,353 6,691 — — 7,353 6,691
76,298 71,756 58,843 52,633 17,455 19,123

Other Pension Plans:
Subiject to regulatory funding 21,793 19,907 21,283 18,906 510 1,001
Not subject to regulatory funding 2,865 3,014 223 236 2,642 2,778
Principal retiree benefit ptans (not subject to regulatory funding) 5,019 5,160 134 289 4,885 4,871
Total plans subject to reguiatory funding 90,738 84,972 80,126 71,539 10,612 13,433
Total plans not subject to regulatory funding 15,237 14,865 357 525 14,880 14,340

Total plans

$105,975 § 99,837

$80,483 $72,084

$25492 § 27,773

FUNDING. The Employee Retirement Income Security Acl (ERISA) determines minimum pension funding requirements in the U.S. In
December 2020, we made a discretionary contribution of $2,500 million to the GE Pension Plan and, based on our current
assumptions, we do nol anticipate additional required contributions to the plan through 2023. We made a contribution to the GE
Pension Plan in 2018 which was sufficient to satisfy our minimum ERISA funding requirements for 2019 and 2020.



On an ERISA basis, our preliminary estimate is that the GE Pension Plan was approximately 94% and 93% funded at January 1, 2021
and 2020 respectively. The ERISA funded status is higher than the GAAP funded status (85% and 81% funded for 2020 and 2019
respectively) primarily because the ERISA prescribed interest rate for determining liabilities is calculated using a long-term average
interest rate. As a result, the ERISA interast rate is higher than the year-end GAAP discount rate. The higher ERISA interest rate lowers
pension liabilities for ERISA funding purposes.

We expect to pay approximately $325 miflion for benefit payments under our GE Supplementary Pension Plan and administrative
expenses of our principal pension plans and expect to contribute approximately $460 million to other pension plans in 2021. We fund
retiree health benefits on a pay-as-you-go basis and the retiree life insurance trust at our discretion. We expect to contribute
approximately $335 million in 2021 to fund such benefits.

ACTIONS. In December 2020, we transferred obligations of $1,706 million from the GE Pension Plan, representing the benefits of
approximately 70,000 of GE's relirees and beneficiaries, to a third-party insurance company by irrevocably committing to purchase
group annuity contracts. The transaction was funded directly by the assets of the plan and is reflected as a settlement.

in 2019, we offered approximately 100,000 former U.S. employees with a vested benefit in the GE Pension Plan a limited-time option to
take a lump sum distribution in lieu of future monthly payments. In December 2019, lump sum distributions of $2,657 million were made
from the assets of the plan and this event is reflected as a settiement.

COST OF OUR BENEFITS PLANS 2020 2019 2018

AND ASSUMPTIONS Principal Principal Principal
Pringipal Other retiree  Principal Other retiree  Principal QOther retiree
pension pension  benefit  peasion pension  henefit pension  pension  benefit

Components of expense {income)

Service cost - operating $657 $243 ¢ 59 $ 654 $ 246 $ 58 $888 § 323 $ 63

Interest cost 2,350 422 150 2,780 542 202 2,658 548 1986

Expected return on plan assets (2,993) (1,082) (11) (3,428} (1,144) {21y  (3,248) (1,285) (29)

Amortization of net actuarial loss (gain) 3,399 434 (82) 3,439 319 (118) 3,785 32 (79)

Amartization of prior service cost (credit) 146 1 {234) 135 3 (232) 143 {9y  (230)

Curtailment / settlement loss (gain){a) — 12 — 349 13 {38) 34 1 —

Non-operating $2902 $(213) $(177) $3.275 ${267) $(207) $3,372  § (433) $(142)

Net periodic expense (income) $3559 $ 30 $(118) $3929 § (21) 5(149) $4,260 $(110) $ (79)

Weighted-average assumptions used to

determine benefit obligations

Discount rate 261% 144% 215% 336% 197% 305% 434 % 275% 412%

Compensation increases 2.95 3.06 2.82 2.95 3.16 3.75 3.60 3.16 3.60

Initial healthcare trend rate(b) N/A N/A 5.90 N/A N/A 5.90 N/A N/A 6.00

Weighted-average assumptions used to

determine benefit cost

Discount rate(c) 336 1.97 3.05 4.07 2.75 4.12 3.64 2.41 3.43

Expected rate of return on ptan assels 6.25 5.69 7.00 B.75 6.76 7.00 6.75 6.75 7.00

(a) For 2019, the principal pension amount is a curtailment loss driven by freezing the GE Pension Plan benefits for certain participants.
{b} For 2020, ultimately declining to 5% for 2030 and thereafter.

(c) Weighted average 2019 discount rate for principal pension was 4.07%. Discount rate was 4.34% for January 1, 2019 through
September 30, 2019 and then changed to 3.24% for the remainder of 2019 due to the remeasurement of the plans for the U.S.
pension changes announced in October 2019.

We expect 2021 net periodic benefil costs for principal pension, other pension and principal retiree benefit plans to be about

$2,400 million, which is a decrease of approximately $1,100 miltion from 2020. The decrease is primarily due to the freezing of benefits
for certain participants under the GE Pension Plan and lower interest costs driven by the lower discount rate. The 2020 year-end
discount rate increases the amortization of net actuarial loss, but this increase is offset by less amortization of net actuarial loss related
o past years.

The companents of net periodic benefit costs, other than the service cost component, are included in Non-operating benefit costs in our
consolidated Statement of Earnings (Loss).



PLAN FUNDED STATUS AND AMOUNTS RECORDED IN ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

2020 2019
Principal Principat

Principal Other retiree Principal Cther retiree

pension pension benefit pension pension benefit
Change in benefit obligations
Balance at January 1 $ 71,756 $22,921 $ 5,160 % 68,500 $21,091 $ 5153
Service cost 657 243 59 654 248 58
Interest cost 2,350 422 150 2,780 542 202
Participant contributions 6% 28 63 77 29 61
Plan amendments — 27 (7) (42) (c} {17) (23)
Actuarial loss (gain) - net 7,057 (a) 1,927 {(a) 85 (a) 7,073 (d) 2,422 (a) 275 (a)
Benefits paid (3,885) (1,062) {491) (3,788} (1,043) (533)
Curtailments — (69) — (838) (32) {33)
Settlements (1,708} (b) — — (2,657) (e) — —
Dispositions/ acquisitions / other - net — (335} — (3) (1,030) —
Exchange rate adjustmenis — 556 — — 713 —
Balance at December 31 $ 76,298 (f} $24,658 $ 5019 {g) $71.756 (f) $22,921 $ 5160 (g)
Change in plan assets
Balance at January 1 52,633 19,142 289 50,009 17,537 362
Actual gain (loss) on plan assets 8,926 2,542 (22) 8,694 2,229 57
Employer contributions 2,806 509 285 298 716 342
Participant contributions 69 28 63 77 29 61
Benefits paid (3.885) (1,062) (481) (3,788) (1,043) (533)
Settlements (1,706) (b} — — (2,657) (e) — —
Dispositions/ acquisitions / other - net — (59} — — (1.030) —
Exchange rate adjustments — 406 — — 704 —
Balance at December 31 $ 58,843 $21,506 $ 134 $ 52,633 $19,142 $ 289
Funded status - deficit $ 17,455 $ 3152 $ 4,885 $ 19,123 $ 3.779 $ 4871
Amounts recorded in the consolidated
Statement of Financial Position
Non-current assets - other — 845 — -— 475 —
Current liabilities - other (315) (106) (330) (296) {123) (355)
Non-current liabilities - compensation and
benefits (17,140) (3,891) (4,555) {18,827) (4,131) (4,518)
Net amount recorded $(17,455) $(3,152) $ (4,885 $(19,123) $ (3,779) 5(4.871)
Amounts recorded in Accumulated
other comprehensive income (loss)
Prior service cost {credit) (80) 19 (2.148) 67 (16) (2,376)
Actuarial loss (gain) 5,687 4,582 (633) 7,961 4,665 (833)
Total recorded in Accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) $ 5,607 $ 4,601 $ (2781 $ 8,028 $ 4,649 $(3,209)

(a) Principally associated with discount rate changes.

(b} Irrevocable commitment to purchase group annuity contracts from a third-party insurance company in December 2020.

(c) GE Supplementary Pension Plan amendment for the U.S. pension changes announced in October 2018 offset by other plan
amendments adopted in 2019,

(d) Principally associated with discount rate changes offset by impact of the one-time lump sum payments under the GE Pension Plan.

(e) Payments made to former employees from the GE Pension Plan assets for the one-time lump sum payments.

(f) The benefit obligation for the GE Supplementary Pension Plan, which is an unfunded plan, was $7,353 million and $6,691 million at
year-end 2020 and 2019, respectively.

(g} The benefit obligation for retiree health plans was $3,094 million and $3,306 million at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

ASSUMPTIONS USED IN CALCULATIONS. Our defined benefit pension plans are accounted for on an actuarial basis, which requires
the selection of various assumptions, including a discount rate, an expected return on assets, mortality rates of participants and
expectation of mortality improvement.

Projected benefit obligations are measured as the present value of expected benefit payments. We discount those cash payments
using a discount rate. We determine the discount rate using the weighted-average yields on high-quality fixed-income securities with
maturities that correspond to the payment of benefits. Lower discount rates increase present values and generally increase
subsequent-year pension expense; higher discount rates decrease present values and generally reduce subsequent-year pension
expense.




The compensation assumption is used to estimate the annual rate at which pay of plan participants will grow. If the rate of growth
assumed increases, the size of the pension obligations will increase, as will the amount recorded in Accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss) (AQCI) in our consolidated Statement of Financial Position and amortized into earnings in subsequent periods.

The expected return on plan assets is the estimated long-term rate of return that will be earned on the investments used to fund the
benefit obligations. To determine the expected long-term rate of return on pension plan assets, we consider our asset allocation, as well
as historical and expected returns on various categories of plan assets. In developing future long-term return expectations for our
principal benefit plans’ assets, we formulate views on the future economic environment, both in the U.S. and abroad. We evaluate
general market trends and historical relationships among a number of key variables that impact asset class returns such as expected
earnings growth, inflation, valuations, yields and spreads, using both intemal and external sources. We also take into account expected
volatility by asset class and diversification across classes to determine expected overall portfolio results given our asset allocation.
Based on our analysis, we have assumed a 6.25% long-term expected return on our GE Pension Plan assets for cost recognition in
2020, as compared to 6.75% in 2019 and 2018.

The Society of Actuaries issued new mortality improvement tables in 2020 and new mortality base and improvement tables in 2019. We
updated mortality assumptions in the U.S. accordingly. These changes in assumptions decreased the December 31, 2020 and 2019
U.S. pension and retiree benefit plans’ obligations by $180 million and $529 million, respectively.

The healthcare trend assumptions apply to our pre-65 retiree medical plans. Our post-85 retiree plan has a fixed subsidy and therefore
is not subject to healthcare inflation.

We evaluate these critical assumptions at least annuaily on a plan and country-specific basis. We periodicaily evaluate other
assumptions involving demaographics facters such as retirement age and turnover, and update them to reflect our actual experience and
expectations for the future. Actual results in any given year will often differ from actuarial assumptions because of economic and other
factors. Differences between our actual results and what we assumed are recorded in Accumuiated other comprehensive income each
period. These differences are amortized into earnings over the remaining average future service of active participating employees or the
expected life of inactive participants, as applicable.

SENSITIVITIES TO KEY ASSUMPTIONS. Fluctuations in discount rates can significantly impact pension cost and obligations. A 25
basis point decrease in discount rate would increase principal pension plan cost in the following year by about $220 million and would
increase the principal pension projected benefit obligation at year-end by about $2,400 million. The deficit sensitivity to the discount rate
is lower than the projected benefit obligation sensitivity as a result of the liability hedging program incorporated in the plan’s asset
allocation A 50 basis point decrease in the expected return on assets would increase principal pension plan cost in the following year
by about $250 million.

THE COMPOSITION OF QUR PLAN ASSETS. The fair value of our pension plans' investments is presented below. The inputs and
valuation technigues used to measure the fair value of these assets are described in Note 1 and have been applied consistently.

2020 2019
Principal pension Other pension Principal pension Other pension
Global equities § 5552 §% 3674 % 6826 % 3,484
Debt securities
Fixed income and cash investment funds 6,831 10,003 4,398 8,089
U.S. corporate(a) 8,512 410 8,025 365
Other debt securities(h) 5,505 440 6,076 424
Real estate 2274 81 2,309 140
Private equities and other investments 490 499 23 452
Total 29,164 15,107 27,657 12,954
Plan assets measured at net asset value
Global equities 16,259 1415 14,616 1,450
Debt securities 5,445 1,268 3,744 914
Real estate 1,324 1,978 1,167 1,930
Private equities and other investments 6,651 1,738 5,449 1,894
Total plan assets at fair value $ 58,843 § 21,506 $ 52633 $ 18,142

(a) Primarily represented investment-grade bonds of U.8. issuers from diverse industries.
{b) Primarily represented investments in residential and commercial mortgage-backed securities, non-U.S. corporate and government
bonds and U.S. government, federal agency, state and municipal debt.

GE Pension Plan investments with a fair value of $2,721 million and $2,838 million at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, were
classified within Level 3 and primarily relate to real estate. The remaining investments were substantially all considered Level 1 and 2.
Other pension plans investments with a fair value of $87 million and $105 miliion at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, were
classified within Level 3. Principal retiree benefit plan investments with a fair value of $134 million and $289 million at December 31,
2020 and 2019, respectively, comprised equity and debt securities which are considered Level 1 and 2. There were no Level 3 principal
retiree benefit plan investments held in 2020 and 2019. Plan assets that were measured at fair value using NAY as practical expedient
were excluded from the fair value hierarchy.



ASSET ALLOCATION OF PENSION PLANS 2028 Target allocation 2020 Actual allocation

Cther Pension Other Pension
Principal {weighted Principal (weighted
Pension average) Pension average)

Global equities 30.0-470 % 22 % 37 % 25 %
Debt securities (including cash equivalents) 21.0-65.0 52 45 56
Real estate 35-135 9 6 10
Private equities & other investments 6.0-18.0 17 12 9

Plan fiduciaries of the GE Pension Plan set investment policies and strategies for the GE Pension Trust and oversee its investment
allocation, which includes selecting investment managers and setting long-term strategic targets. The plan fiduciaries' primary strategic
investment objectives are balancing investment risk and return and monitoring the plan’s liquidity position in order to meet the plan's
near-term benefit payment and other cash needs. The plan has incorporated de-risking objectives and liability hedging programs as part
of its long-term investment strategy. The plan utilizes a combination of long dated corporate bonds, treasuries, sirips and derivatives to
implement its investment strategies as well as for hedging asset and liability risks. Target allocation percentages are established at an
asset class level by plan fiduciaries. Target allocation ranges are guidelines, not limitations, and occasionally pfan fiduciaries will
approve allocations above or below a target range.

GE securities represented 0.6% of the GE Pension Trust assets at December 31, 2020 and 2019. The GE Pensicn Plan has a broadly
diversified portfolio of investments in equities, fixed income, private equities and real estate; these investments are both U.S. and non-
U.S. in nature. As of December 31, 2020, no sector concentration of assets exceeded 15% of total GE Pension Plan assets.

ANNUALIZED RETURNS 1 year 5 years 10 years 25 years
GE Pension Plan 17.6 % 8.7 % 8.0 % 8.0 %

Principal Principat retiree
EXPECTED FUTURE BENEFIT PAYMENTS OF OUR BENEFIT PLANS pensign Other pension benefit
2021 $ 3,725 $ 945 $ 460
2022 3,785 945 440
2023 3,820 955 420
2024 3,845 970 395
2025 3,865 995 380
2026 - 2030 19,410 5,185 1,615

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN. We have a defined contribution plan for eligible U.S. employees that provides employer
cantributions. Defined contribution costs were $318 million, $355 mifion and $410 million for the years ended December 31, 2020,
2019, and 2018, respectively.

COST OF POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS AND CHANGES IN OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the years ended December 31 2020 2013 2018
Principal Principal Principal
Principal ~ Other  retiree  Principal Other retiree  Principat  Cther  retiree
(Pre-tax) pension pension benefit  pension  pension benefit pensign  pension benefit
Cost (income) of postretirement benefit
plans $3559 6 30% (118 $3929 % (21)% (149 $ 4260 $ (11 % (79
Changes in other comprehensive income
Prior service cost (credit) - current year — 27 {7 (42) {(17) (23) —_ B2 —_
Actuarial loss (gain) - current year 1,124 529 119 971 1,592 240 (111) 464 (543)
Reclassifications out of AOCI
Curtailment / settiement gain (loss) — (3) — (353) (12) 4 {45) (2) —
Dispositions —  (166) — — {340) — — — —
Amortization of net actuarial gain (loss) (3.399) (434) 82 {3,439) (319) 118 (3,785) (312) 79
Amortization of prior service credit (cost) (146) (1) 234 (135) (3) 232 (143) 9 230
Total changes in other comprehensive
income (2.421) (48) 428 (2,998) 901 571 (4,084) 241 (234)

Cost of postretirement benefit plans and
changes in other comprehensiveincome § 1,138 § (18)% 310 $ 931 § 880 § 422 §$ 176 $§ 131 § (313)
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NOTE 14. CURRENT AND ALL OTHER LIABILITIES

December 31 2020 2019
Sales allowances, equipment projects and other commercial liabilities 5 5123 § 4277
Product warranties (Note 23) 1,197 1,371
Employee compensation and benefit liabilities 4,763 5,114
Taxes payable 413 429
Environmental, health and safety liabilities (Note 23) 359 330
Due to GE Capitai 984 1,080
Derivative instruments {Note 21) 250 171
Qther 1,044 2,479
GE Industrial Aill other current liabilities 14,131 15,251
Aircraft maintenance reserve, sales teposits and other commercial liabilities 1,465 2,336
Interest payahle 1,064 1,189
Derivative instruments (Note 21) 117 3
Qther 1,244 485
GE Capital All other current liabilities 3,880 4,052
Eliminations (1,422) (1,483)
Consolidated All other current liahilities $ 16,600 $ 17,821
Sales allowances, equipment projects and other commercial liabilities 3,917 3,923
Product warranties (Note 23) 857 793
Operating fease liabilities (Note 7) 3,133 3,369
Uncertain and other income taxes and related liabilities 3,652 3,410
Alstom legacy legal matters (Note 23} 858 875
Environmental, heaith and safety liabilities {(Note 23) 2,210 2,154
Redeemable noncontrolling interests (Note 16) 487 439
Other 1,326 1,342
GE Industrial All other non-current fiabilities 16,440 16,306
Other commercial liabilities 455 573
Operating lease liabilities {Note 7} 221 238
Uncertain and other income taxes and related liabilities 475 415
GE Capital All other non-current liabilities 1,151 1,226
Eliminations (1,514} {1,593)
Consolidated All other non-current liabilities $ 16,077 § 15,938
Total $ 32677 $ 33,759

We have reclassified certain prior-year amounts, including equipment project costs accruals of $1,432 million from GE Industrial All

other current liabilities to Accounts payable and equipment project accruals to conform with the current year’s presentation.

NOTE 15. INCOME TAXES. GE Industrial and GE Capital file a consolidated U.S. federal income tax return. This enables GE
Industrial and GE Capital to use tax deductions and credits of one member of the group to reduce the tax that otherwise would have
been payable by another member of the group. The effective tax rate reflects the benefit of these tax reductions in the consolidated
return. GE Industrial makes cash payments to GE Capital for tax reductions and GE Capital pays for tax increases at the time GE

Industriai’s tax payments are due.

Our businesses are subject to regulation under a wide variety of U.S. federal, state and foreign tax laws, regulations and policies.

Changes to these laws or regulations may affect our tax liability, return on investments and business operations.

(BENEFIT) PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES 2020 2019 2018
Current tax expense (benefit) 2123 § 2,551 % 1,743
Deferred tax expense (benefit) from temporary differences {1,735) (1,242) (1.276)
Total GE Industrial 388 1,309 457
Current tax expense (benefit) 329 (720) 596
Deferred tax expense (benefit) from temporary differences (1,191) 138 (970)
Total GE Capital {862) (582) (374)
Current tax expense (benefit) 2,452 1,831 2,339
Deferred tax expense (benefit) from temporary differences (2,926) (1,104) (2,245)
Total consolidated 474) % 726 % 93




CONSOLIDATED EARNINGS (LOSS) FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS

BEFORE INCOME TAXES 2020 2015 2018
U.S. earnings {loss) $ (8.325) $ 506 $ {9.861)
Non-U.S. earnings {loss) 10,522 643 (11,126)
Total $ 5197 % 1,148 § (20,987)
CONSOLIDATED (BENEFIT) PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES 2020 2013 2018
U.S. Federal

Current $ 939 $ 146 $ 1,019

Deferred (2,032) (1,266) {3,144)
Non - U.S.

Current 1,331 2,008 1,132

Deferred (793) 106 1,197
Other 80 (267) (111)
Total $ (474) % 726 § 93
INCOME TAXES PAID (RECOVERED) 2020 2019 2018
GE Industrial $ 2399 % 2183 & 1,803
GE Capital (1,108) 45 65
Totai(a) $ 1,291 § 2228 § 1,868

(a) Includes tax payments reported in discontinued operations.

RECONCILIATION OF U.S. FEDERAL Conselidated GE Industrial GE Capital

STATUTORY INCOME TAX RATE TO

ACTUAL INCOME TAX RATE 2020 2019 2018 2020 2019 2018 2020 2019 2018

U.S. federal statutory income tax rate 210% 210% 210% 210% 210% 210% 210% 210% 21.0%
Tax on global activities including exports(a)  (28.5) 91.0 {5.0) (16.3) 61.0 (5.1} 13.8 8.1 3.2
U.8. business credits(b) (3.3) (22.5) 26 (1.0) (6.4) 0.4 47 21.9 1200
Goodwill impairments 6.9 26.0 (21.5) 2.5 16.6 (21.9) (8.3} — —
Tax Cuts and Jobs Act enactment 0.9 0.2 (0.2) 0.7 h6 0.5 0.1 15.2 (36.5)
All other — netichd)(e) (6.1) (52.5) 2.7 (1.6) (25.1) 28 9.8 23.1 {8.0)

(30.1) 422 (21.4) (15.7}) 51.7 (23.3) 201 68.3 78.7
Actual income tax rate 91)% 8632% (0.4)% 53% 727% (23% 411% 893% 997%

{a) For the year ended December 31, 2020, included (27.8)%, (18.5)% and 4,6% in consolidated, GE Industrial and GE Capital,
respectively, related to the sale of our Biopharma business. For the year ended December 31, 2019, included 55.1% and 35.1% in
consolidated and GE Industrial, respectively related to the sale of our BioPharma business.

(b) U.S. general business credits, primarily the credit for energy produced from renewable sources and the credit for research
performed in the U.S.

{c) For the year ended December 31, 2020, included (2.7)%, (0.9)% and 3.6% in consolidated, GE Industrial and GE Capital,
respectively for the resolution of the IRS audit of our consolidated U.S. income tax returns for 2014-2015. For the year ended
December 31, 2019, included (32.9)%, (19.7)% and 3.5% in consolidated, GE Industrial and GE Capital, respectively for the
resolution of the IRS audit of our consolidated U.S. income tax returns for 2012-2013.

(d) For the year ended December 31, 2020, included (3.9)%, (2.1)% and 2.2% in consolidated, GE Industrial and GE Capital,
respectively, retated to deductible stock losses. For the year ended December 31, 2019, included (12.5)% and (8.0)% in
consolidated and GE industrial, respectively, related to the disposition of the Digital ServiceMax business. For the year ended
December 31, 2018, included 2.8% and 2.8% in consolidated and GE Industrial, respectively, related to deductible stock losses.

(e) Included for each period, the expense or bengfit for Other taxes reported above in the consolidated (benefit) provision for income
taxes. net of 21.0% federal effect.

U.S. TAX REFORM. On December 22, 2017, the U).S. enacted legisiation commonly known as the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (U.S. tax
reform) that lowered the statutory tax rate on U.S. earnings to 21%, taxes historic foreign earnings at a reduced rate of tax, establishes
a territorial tax system and enacts new taxes associated with global operations.

The impact of enactment of U.S. tax reform was recorded in 2317 on a provisional basis as the legislation provided for additional
guidance to be issued by the U.S. Department of the Treasury on several provisions including the computation of the transition tax, This
amount was adjusted in both 2018 and 2019 based on guidance issued during each of these years. Additional guidance may be issued
after 2020 and any resulting effects will be recorded in the guarter of issuance. Additionally, as part of U.S. tax reform, the U.S. has
enacted a minimum tax on foreign earnings (global intangible low tax income). We have not made an accrual for the deferred tax
aspects of this provision.
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For the year ended December 31, 2018, we finalized our provisional estimate of the enactment of U.S. tax reform and recorded an
additicnal tax expense of $41 million. For the year ended December 31, 2019, we recorded an additional tax expense of $2 million
based on the issuance in January 2019 of final regulations on the transition tax on historic fareign earnings. The cash impact of the
transition tax on historic foreign earnings was largely offset by accelerated use of deductions and tax credits and was substantially
incurred with the filing of the 2017 tax return with no amount subject to the deferred payment provision provided under faw. For the year
ended December 31, 2020, we recorded an additional tax expense of $49 million to reflect the impact of voluntary adjustments we
provided the government reflecting finalization of amounts reported on the 2017 tax return. There could be further adjustment to the
transition tax as a result of the current audit of the 2017 and 2018 tax years.

UNRECOGNIZED TAX POSITIONS. Annually, we file over 3,600 income tax returns in almost 300 globat taxing jurisdictions. We are
under examination or engaged in tax litigation in many of these jurisdictions. The IRS is currently auditing our consolidated U.S. income
tax returns for 2016-2018. In December 2020, the IRS completed the audit of our consolidated U.S. income tax returns for 2014-2015.
The Company recognized a continuing operations benefit of $140 million plus an additional net interest benefit of $96 million. tn
addition, GE Capital recorded a benefit in discontinued operations of $130 million of tax benefits and $25 million of net interest benefits.
tn June 2019, the IRS completed the audit of our consolidated U.S. income tax returns for 2012-2013. The Company recognized a
continuing operations tax benefit of $378 million pius an additional net interest benefit of $107 million. GE Capital recorded an additional
non-cash benefit in discontinued operations of $332 million of tax benefits and $46 million of net interest benefits. See Note 2 for further
information. The United Kingdom tax authorities disallowed interest deductions claimed by GE Capital for the years 2004-2015 that
could result in a potential impact of approximately $1.1 billion, which includes a possible assessment of tax and reduction of deferred
tax assets, not including interest and penalties. We are contesting the disallowance. We comply with all applicable tax laws and judicial
doctrines of the United Kingdom and believe that the entire benefit is more likely than not to be sustained on its technical merits. We
believe that there are no other jurisdictions in which the outcome of unresclved issues or claims is likely to be material to our results of
operations, financial position or cash flows. We further believe that we have made adequate provision for all income tax uncertainties.

The balance of unrecognized tax benefits, the amount of related interest and penalties we have provided and what we believe to be the
range of reasonably possible changes in the next 12 months were:

UNRECOGNIZED TAX BENEFITS December 31 2020 2019 2018
Unrecognized tax benefits $ 4,191 § 4169 $ 5,563
Portion that, if recognized, would reduce tax expense and effective tax rate(a) 2,986 2,701 4,265
Accrued interest on unrecognized tax benefits 628 722 934
Accrued penalties on unrecognized tax benefits 179 185 182
Reasonably possible reduction to the balance of unrecognized tax benefits

in succeeding 12 months 0-350 0-700 0-1,300
Portion that, if recognized, would reduce tax expense and effective tax rate(a) 0-250 0-650 0-1,200

(a} Some portion of such reduction may be reported as discontinued operations.

UNRECOGNIZED TAX BENEFITS RECONCILIATION 2020 2019 2018
Balance at January 1 $ 4169 § 5563 § 5,449
Additions for tax positions of the current year 836 403 300
Additions for tax positions of prior years 326 500 945
Reductions for tax positions of prior years(a) (863) {1,927) {(905)
Settlements with tax authorities (127} (155) (64)
Expiration of the statute of limitations (151} {214) (162)
Balance at December 31 $ 4191 % 4,169 § 5,563

(a) For 2019, reductions included $710 miltion related to the completion of the 2012-2013 IRS audit and $442 million related to the
deconsolidation of Baker Hughes.

We classify interest on tax deficiencies as interest expense; we classify income tax penalties as provision for income taxes. For the
years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, $(30) million, ${93) million and $127 million of interest expense (income),
respectively, and $(13) million, $20 miltion and $(7) million of tax expense (income) related to penalties, respectively, were recognized in
our consolidated Statement of Earnings (Loss).

DEFERRED INCOME TAXES. We have not provided deferred taxes on cumulative net earnings of non-U.S. affiliates and associated
companies of approximately $42 billion that have been reinvested indefinitely. Given U.S. tax reform, substantially all of our prior
unrepatriated net earnings were subject to U.5. tax and accordingly we expect to have the ability to repatriate available non-U.S. cash
without additional federal tax cost, and any foreign withholding tax on a repatriation to the U.S. would potentially be partially offset by a
U.S. foreign tax credit, However, because most of these earnings have been reinvested in active non-U.S. business operations, as of
December 31, 2020, we have not decided to repatriate these earnings to the U.S$. It is not practicable to determine the income tax
liability that would be payabie if such earmnings were not reinvested indefinitely.

The following table presents our net deferred tax assets and net deferred fax liabilities attributable to different tax jurisdictions or
different tax paying components.



DEFERRED INCOME TAXES December 31 2020 2019

GE Industrial $ 10,069 $ 8,888
GE Capital 3,610 2,500
Total assets 13,679 11,388
GE Industrial {719) (699)
GE Capital (879) (800)
Total liabilities (1,598) (1,499)
Net deferred income tax asset (liability) $ 12,081 § g,889
COMPONENTS OF THE NET DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSET (LIABILITY) December 31 2020 2019
Principal pension plans $ 3,666 $ 4,016
Provision for expenses 2,258 1,990
Other compensation and benefits 1,968 2,206
Principal retiree benefit plans 1,026 1,023
Capitalized expenditures 993 860
Non-U.S. loss carryforwards(a) 814 602
Intangible assets 486 1,315
Baker Hughes investment {973) (1,256)
Depreciation (676) (823)
Contract assets (460) (1.232)
Other — net(b) 248 512)
GE Industrial 9,350 8,189
Insurance company loss reserves 1,684 1,715
Non-U S. loss carryforwards(a) 1,194 1.274
Capitalized expenditures 799 742
Operating leases (1,900) (2,218)
Financing leases (393) (477}
Other — net{b) 1,347 664
GE Capital 2,73 1,700
Net deferred income tax asset (liability) $ 12,081 % 9,889

(a) Net of valuation allowances of $5,934 million and $4,801 million for GE tndustrial and $265 million and $201 million for GE Capital
as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Of the net deferred tax asset as of December 31, 2020 of $2,008 million, $19
million relates to net operating loss carryforwards that expire in various years ending from December 31, 2021 through December
31, 2023; $112 million relates to net operating losses that expire in various years ending from December 31, 2024 through
December 31, 2040 and $1,957 million retates to net operating loss carryforwards that may be carried forward indefinitely.

{b) Included valuation allowances related to assets other than non-U.S. loss carryforwards of $898 miltion and $1,897 million for GE
Industrial and $221 million and $248 million for GE Capital as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
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NOTE 16. SHAREHOLDERS® EQUITY

ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) 2020 2018 2018
Beginning balance $ 61 § {39) $ (102)
Other comprehensive income {loss) {OCI) before reclassifications — net of
deferred taxes of $10, $32 and $41{a) 55 141 87
Reclassifications fram QCI — net of deferred taxes of $(14), $(11) and §{6) {56} (42) (23)
QOther comprehensive income (loss) (1) 100 84
Less OCI attributable to noncontrolling interests — — —
Investment securities ending balance 3 60 $ 61 $ (39)
Beginning balance 3 (4,818) % (6,134) § (4.661)
OCI before reclassifications — net of deferred taxes of $(25), $(98) and $29 (265} 41 (2,076)
Reclassifications from OCI — net of deferred taxes of $0, $(9) and $89(b)}(c) 691 1,234 412
QOther comprehensive income (loss) 435 1,275 (1,664)
Less OCI attributable to noncontrolling interests 2 {40} (192)
Currency translation adjustments ending balance $ {4,386) § (4,818) $ (6,134)
Beginning balance $ 49 § 13 % 62
OCI before reclassifications — net of deferred taxes of $11, $6 and ${26) {94} (21} £149)
Reclassifications from OCI — net of deferred taxes of ${11), $2 and $4(b} 17 58 98
Other comprehensive income (loss) {77) 37 (51)
Less OCI attributable to nongontrolling interests — 2 (2)
Cash flow hedges ending balance 3 (28) § 49 % 13
Beginning balance $ (7.024) $ (8,254) § (9.702)
OCI before reclassifications — net of deferred taxes of $(283), $(418) and $115 {1,256) (2.097) 71
Reclassifications from OC| - net of deferred taxes of $805, $915 and $2,610 (b)c) 2,888 3,325 1,345
QOther comprehensive income (loss}) 1,632 1,228 1,416
Less QCI attributable to noncontrolling interests 4 (2) (32)
Benefit plans ending balance [ (5,395) § (7,024) $ (8.254)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) at December 31 $ (9,749) & (11,732) $ (14,414)

(a) Included adjustments of $(1,979) million, $(2,693) million and $1.825 million in 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively, related to
insurance liabilities and annuity benefits in our run-off insurance operations to reflect the effects that would have been recognized
had the related unrealized investment security gains been realized. See Note 12 for further information.

(b) The total reclassification from AOC! included $836 million, including currency translation of $688 million, net of taxes, in 2020,
related to the sale of our BioPharma business within our Healthcare segment.

(c) Currency translation and benefit plan gains and losses included $1,343 million, including currency translation of $1,066 million, net
of taxes, in 2019 eamings (toss) from discontinued operations related to deconsolidation of Baker Hughes.

In 2016, we issued $5,694 million of GE Series D preferred stock, in addition to $245 million of existing GE Series A, B and C preferred
stock, which are also outstanding. The total carrying vatue of GE Industrial preferred stock at December 31, 2020 was $5,918 million
and will increase to $5,940 million by the respective call dates through periodic accretion. Dividends on GE Industrial preferred stock
are payable semi-annually in June and December and accretion is recorded on a quarterly basis. Dividends on GE Industrial preferred
stock totaled $474 million, including cash dividends of $295 million, $460 million, including cash dividends of $295 million, and $447
million, including cash dividends of $295 million, for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. On January 21,
2021, the GE Series D preferred stock became caltable and its dividends converted from 5% fixed rate to 3-month LIBOR plus 3.33%.
As of the filing date of this Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020, the GE Series D preferred stock has not been called.

In conjunction with the 2016 exchange of GE Capital preferred stock into GE preferred stock, GE Capital issued preferred stock to GE
Industrial for which the amount and terms mirrored the GE Industrial external preferred stock. In 2018, GE Capital and GE Industrial
exchanged the existing Series D preferred stock issued ta GE Industrial for new Series D preferred stack, which is mandatorily
convertible into GE Capital common stock on January 21, 2021. In the first quarter of 2021, GE Capital and GE Industrial also agreed to
retire the Series A, B and C GE Capital preferred stock effective on the Series D conversion date of January 21, 2021. As a result of
these actions, effective January 21, 2021, there is no remaining preferred stock between GE Industrial and GE Capital, and accordingly
GE Capital will no longer pay preferred dividends to GE Industrial and all preferred stock dividend costs have become a GE Industrial
obligation effective January 21, 2021. The exchange of GE Capital Series D preferred stock has no impact on the GE Series D
preferred stock, which remains callable for $5,684 million effective on January 21, 2021 or thereafter on dividend payment dates.
Similarly, there were no changes to the GE Series A, B or C preferred steck, which become callable at various dates in 2022 and 2023.

GE has 50 million authorized shares of preferred stock ($1.00 par value), of which 5,938,875 shares are outstanding as of December
31, 2020, 2019 and 2018. GE's authorized common stock consists of 13,200 million shares having a par value of $0.06 each, with
11,694 million shares issued. To facilitate settlement of employee compensation programs, we repurchased shares of 0.5 million and
1.1 million, for a total of $15.3 million and $9.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.



Noncontroiling interests in equity of consolidated affiliates amounted to $1,522 million and $1,545 million at December 31, 2020 and

2019, respectively. Net eamings (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests were $(33) million, $33 million and $203 million in 2020,
2019 and 2018, respectively. Dividends attributable to nongontrolling interests were $(16} million, $(331) million and $(362) millien in

2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Redeemable noncontrolling interests presented in Al other liabilities in our consolidated Statement of Financial Position include
commoen shares issued by our affiliates that are redeemable at the option of the holder of those interests and amounted to $487 million
and $439 million as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Net earnings (loss} attributable to redeemable noncontrolling
interests was $(125) million, $33 million and $(281) million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

NOTE 17. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION. We grant stock options, restricted stock units and performance share units to
employees under the 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan. Grants made under all plans must be approved by the Management
Development and Compensaticn Committee of GE's Board of Directors, which is composed entirely of independent directors. We
record compensation expense for awards expected to vest over the vesting period. We estimate forfeitures based on experience and
adjust expense to reflect actual forfeitures. When options are exercised and restricted stock units vest, we issue shares from treasury
stock.

Stock options provide employees the opportunity to purchase GE shares in the future at the market price of our stock on the date the
award is granted (the strike price). The options become exercisable over the vesting period (typically three or five years) and expire 10
years from the grant date if not exercised. Restricted stock units (RSU) provide an employee with the right to receive shares of GE
stock when the restrictions lapse over the vesting period. Upon vesting, each RSU is converted into GE common stock on a one-for-one
basis. Performance share units (PSU) and performance shares provide an employee with the right to receive shares of GE stock based
upon achievement of certain performance or market metrics. Upon vesting (if applicable), each PSU is converted into GE common
stock on a one-for-one basis. We value stock options using a Black-Scholes option pricing model, RSUs using market price on grant
date, and PSUs and performance shares using both market price on grant date and a Monte Carlo simulation as needed based on
performance metrics.

WEIGHTED AVERAGE GRANT DATE FAIR VALUE 2020 2019 2018
Stock options $ 368 § 348 § 3.00
RSUs 7.91 10.12 13.96
PSUs/Performance shares 7.91 10.73 4.80

Key assumptions used in the Black-Scholes valuation for stock options include: risk free rates of 1.0%, 2.5%, and 2.8%, dividend yields
of 0.4%, 0.4%, and 2.3%, expected volatility of 36%, 33%, and 32%, expected lives of 6.1 years, 6.0 years, and 5.9 years, and strike
prices of $10.56, $10.00, and $12.13 for 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively.

Stock options RsUs
Weighted Weighted
Weighted average Weightad average
average contractual Intrinsic average contractual Intrinsic
STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION Shares (in exercise term {in value {in Shares (in  grant date term fin value {in
ACTIVITY millions) price years} miltions) millions)  fair value years} millions)
Qutstanding at January 1, 2020 458 $ 18.66 28 § 13.29
Granted 36 10.56 46 791
Exercised m 7.48 o) 14.44
Forfeited (15) 11.12 (4) 11.80
Expired (78) 19.14 N/A N/A
Outstanding at December 31, 2020 400 § 18.1B 45 % 156 60 § 9.04 218 653
Exercisable at December 31, 2020 305§ 2028 33 % 62 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Expected to vest 90 § 1150 82 % 87 49 % 9.41 19 % 533

Total ouistanding PSUs and performance shares at December 31, 2020 were 21 million shares with a weighted average fair value of
$8.62. The intrinsic value and weighted average contractual term of PSUs and performance shares outstanding were $232 million and
3.0 years, respectively.

2020 2019 2018
Compensation expense {after-tax){(a)b) $ 353 % 400 $ 336
Cash received from stock options exercised 8 69 24
Intrinsic value of stock options exercised and RSUs vested 81 154 83

(a) Unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested equity awards as of December 31, 2020 was $543 million, which will be
amortized over a weighted average period of 1.3 years.

{b) Income tax benefit recognized in eamings was $10 million, $20 million and $40 million in 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively.



NOTE 18. EARNINGS PER SHARE INFORMATION

{Earnings for per-share calculation;
per-share amounts in dofiars}

Earnings (loss) from continuing operations

Preferred stock dividends

Accretion of redeemable noncentrolting interests,

net of tax{a}

Earmings {loss) from continuing operations attributable to

common shareholders

Earnings (loss} from discentinued operations
Net earnings (loss) attributable to GE common

shareholders

Shares of GE common stock outstanding
Employee compensation-related shares {including

stock options) and warrants(a}

Total average equivalent shares

Earnings ({loss)} per share from continuing operations
Earnings {loss} per share from discontinucd operations

Net earnings (loss) per share

Potentially dilutive securities(b)

2018 2018
Basic Diluted Basic Giluted Basie¢
5817 % 416 $ 416 § (20997) % (20,997)
(474) (460) (460} (447) (447)
{(151) — — — —
5191 § 45) % (45) $ (21,445)% (21.445)
(125) (5,396) {5,396} (1,372) (1.372)
5,068 (5,440) (5,440) (22,809) {22,809)
8,753 8,724 8,724 8,691 8,691
8,753 8,724 8,724 8,691 8,691
059 § 001) % (0.01) % (247) % (2.47)
(0.01) (0.62) (0.682) (0.16) (0.16)
0.58 (0.62) (0.62) (2.62) (2.62)
450 420

(a) Represents accretion adjustment of redeemable noncontrolling interests in our Additive business within our Aviation segment.

(b) Outstanding stock awards not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share because their effect was antidilutive.

Our unvested restricted stock unit awards that contain non-forfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalents are considered

participating securities and, therefore, are included in the computation of earnings per share pursuant to the two-class method. For the
year ended December 31, 2020, application of this treatment had an insignificant effect. For the years ended December 31, 2019 and
2018, as a result of excess dividends in respect to the current period earnings, losses were not allocated to the participating securities.

NOTE 19. OTHER INCOME

2029 2019 2018
Purchases and sales of business interests{(a} -3 12,468 § 38 1,234
Licensing and royalty income 161 256 218
Equity method income 206 21
Net interest and investment income(b) {1,546) 1,220 562
Other items 334 515 282
GE Industrial 11,444 2,200 2,317
Eliminations (57) 22 4
Total $ 11,387 § 2222 % 2,321

{a) Included a pre-tax gain of $12,362 million on the sale of BioPharma in 2020. Included a pre-tax gain of $224 million on the sale of
ServiceMax partiaily offset by charges to the valuation allowance on businesses classified as held for sale of $245 mitlion in 2019.
Included pre-tax gains of $737 million on the sale of Distributed Power, $681 million on the sale of Value-Based Care and $267
million on the sale of Industrial Solutions, partially offset by charges to the valuation allowance on businesses ciassified as held for

sale of $554 million in 2018. See Note 2 for further information.

(b) Included a realized and unrealized pre-tax loss of $2,037 million and unrealized pre-tax gain of $793 million related to our interest in
Baker Hughes in 2020 and 2019, respectively. Included interest incorne associated with customer advances of $146 million, $143
million and $136 mitlion in 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. See Notes 3, 9 and 26,
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NOTE 20. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Our assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis include debt securities mainly supporting obligations to annuitants
and policyholders in our run-off insurance operations, our remaining equity interest in Baker Hughes and derivatives.

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE ON A RECURRING BASIS

Netting
Level 1 Levei 2 Level 3{a} adjustment(d) Net balance(b)
December 31 2020 2019 2020 2018 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
Investment securities $ 7319 % 9704 3 36684 $ 33606 § 5866 $ 5210 § — % — § 49,868 § 48,521
Derivatives — - 3,057 2,561 8 11 (2.582) (1,832) 483 740
Total assets $ 7319 § 9704 $ 39,741 § 36,167 & 5874 $ 5221 § (2,582) % (1,832) $ 50,352 § 49,261
Derivatives $ — % — 5% 1112 § 834 3 73 19 % (752)% (651) 8 367 § 202
Other{c) — — 780 807 — — — — 780 807
Total liabilities $ — 5 — § 1892 § 1641 % 7% 19 % (752)% (65138 1,147 § 1,008

(a) Included debt securities classified within Level 3 of $4, 185 million of U.S. corporate and $976 million of Mortgage and asset-backed
securities at December 31, 2020, and $3,977 million of U.S. corporate and $330 million of Government and agencies securities at
December 31, 2019.

(b) See Notes 3 and 21 for further information on the composition of our investment securities and derivative portfolios.

(c) Primarily represents the liabilities associated with certain of our deferred incentive compensation plans.

{d) The netting of derivative receivables and payables is permitted when a legaily enforceable master netting agreement exists.
Amounts include fair value adjustments related to our own and counterparty non-performance risk.

LEVEL 3 INSTRUMENTS. The majority of our Level 3 balances comprised debt securities classified as available-for-sale with changes
in fair vaiue recorded in Other comprehensive income.

Net realized/ Transfers Transfers
Balance at unrealized Sales & into out of Balance at
January 1 gains{losses)a) Purchases(b} Settlements Level 3 Level 3 December 31
2020
Investment securities $ 5210 § 357 § 1,301 § (958) $ 2% (45) § 5,866
2019
Investment securities  $ 4013 % 399 § 2,159 § {(1,308) $ — 5 (53) 8 5,210

(a) Primarily included net unrealized gains (losses) of $323 million and $404 million in Other comprehensive income for the years ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

{b) Included $745 million of Mortgage and asset-backed securities for the year ended December 31, 2020, and $875 million of U.S.
corporate debt securities for the year ended December 31, 2019,

Substantially al! of these Level 3 securities are fair valued using non-binding broker quotes or other third-party sources that utilize a
number of different unobservable inputs not subject to meaningful aggregation.

NOTE 21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The following tahle provides information about assets and liabilities not carried at fair value and excludes finance leases, equity
securities without readily determinable fair value and non-financial assets and liabilities. Substantially alt of these assets are considered
to be Level 3 and the vast majority of our liabifities' fair value are considered Level 2.

Decembaer 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
Carrying Carrying
amount Estimated amount Estimated
{net) fair value net) fair vaiue
Assets
Loans and gther receivables $ 3842 § 3970 % 4113 % 4,208
Liabilities
Borrowings (Note 11) $ 75,067 § 86,171 % 90,882 $ 97,754
Investrent contracts (Note 12) 2,049 2,547 2,191 2,588

The higher fair value in relation to carrying value for borrowings at December 31, 2020 compared to December 31, 2019 was driven
primarily by a decline in market interest rates. Unlike the carrying amount, the estimated fair value of borrowings included $898 million
and $1,106 million of accrued interest at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Assets and liabilities that are reflected in the accompanying financial statements at fair value are not included in the above disclosures;
such items include cash and eguivalents, investment securities and derivative financial instruments.
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DERIVATIVES AND HEDGING. Our poiicy requires that derivatives are used solely for managing risks and not for speculative
purposes. Total gross notional was $95,874 million ($45,672 miltion in GE Capital and $50,202 million in GE Industrial) and $98,018
million ($55,704 million in GE Capital and $42,314 million in GE industrial) at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. GE Capital
national relates primarily to managing interest rate and currency risk between financial assets and liabilities, and GE Industrial notional
relates primarily to managing currency risks related to foreign exchange, certain equity investments and commodity prices.

GE Industrial and GE Capital use cash flow hedges primarily to reduce or eliminate the effects of foreign exchange rate changes. In
addition, GE Capital uses fair value hedges to hedge the effects of interest rate and currency changes on debt it has issued as well as
net investment hedges to hedge investments in foreign operations. Both GE Industrial and GE Capital also use derivatives not
designated as hedges from an accounting standpoint {and therefore we do not apply hedge accounting fo the relationship) but
otherwise serve the same economic purpose as other hedging arrangements. We use economic hedges when we have exposures to
currency exchange risk for which we are unable to meet the requirements for hedge accounting or when changes in the carrying
amount of the hedged item are already recorded in earnings in the same period as the derivative making hedge accounting
unnecessary. Even though the derivative is an effective economic hedge, there may be a net effect on earnings in each period due to
differences in the timing of earnings recognition between the derivative and the hedged item.

FAIR VALUE OF DERIVATIVES December 31, 2020 December 31, 2013
Gross All other All other Gross All gther All other
Notional assels liabilities Notional assets tiabilities
Interest rate contracts $ 20500 § 1612 § 7 % 23918 % 1636 % 11
Currency exchange contracts 7,512 165 128 7,044 99 46
Derivatives accounted for as hedges $ 28011 % 2077 & 135 § 30961 § 1,734 § 57
Interest rate contracts ) 448 § 6% 1 3 3185 § 18 $ 12
Currency exchange contracts 65,379 764 913 62,165 697 744
Other contracts 2,036 218 71 1,706 123 40
Derivatives not accounted for as hedges $ 67863 % 988 $ 983 $ 67056 § 838 § 796
Gross derivatives 3 95874 $ 3,065 § 1,118 § 98,018 § 2572 % 853
Netting and credit adjustments 3 (6471 % (647) 5 (546) % (546)
Cash collateral adjustments (1.935) (104) (1,286) (105)
Net derivatives recognized in Statement of
Financial Position $ 483 % 367 $ 740 % 202
Net accrued interest % — % — $ 182 % 1
Securities held as collateral (2} e (469} —
Net amount $ 480 § 367 % 452 % 203

It is standard market practice to post or receive cash collateral with our derivative counterparties in order to minimize counterparty
exposure. Inctuded in GE Capital cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash was total net cash collateral received on derivatives of
$3,289 million {comprising $4,203 million received and $914 million posted) at December 31, 2020, and $1,584 million (comprising
$2,294 million received and $710 million posted) at December 31, 2019. Of these amounts, $1,968 million and $695 million at
December 31, 2020 and Decermber 31, 2019, respectively, were received on interest rate derivatives traded through clearing houses,
which are recorded as a reduction of derivative assets.

Also included in total net cash collateral received are amounts presented as cash collateral adjustments in the table above, amounts
related to accrued interest on interest rate derivatives presented as a reduction of Net accrued interest of $292 million and $207 million
at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively, and excess net cash collateral posted of $802 million (comprising

$3 million received and $805 million posted) at December 31, 2020, and $499 million (comprising $104 million received and

$603 million posted) at December 31, 2019, which are excluded from cash collateral adjustments in the table above.

Securities held as collateral excluded excess collateral received of zero and $27 million at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019,
respectively. In the third quarter of 2020, one of our counterparties converted its collateral from securities to cash, which is in line with
our other derivative counterparties,

Fair value of derivatives in our consolidated Statement of Financial Position excludes accrued interest.

FAIR VALUE HEDGES. We use derivatives to hedge the effects of interest rate and currency exchange rate changes on our
borrowings. At December 31, 2020, the curmulative amount of hedging adjustments of $5,687 million (including $2,248 million on
discontinued hedging relationships) was included in the carrying amount of the hedged liability of $29,374 million. At December 31,
2019, the cumulative amount of hedging adjustments of $4,234 million {including $2,458 million on discontinued hedging relationships)
was included in the carrying amount of the hedged liability of $42,759 million. The cumulative amount of hedging adjustments was

primarily recorded in long-term borrowings.



CASH FLOW HEDGES. We use cash flow hedging primarily to reduce or eliminate the effects of foreign exchange rate changes on
purchase and sale contracts in aur industrial businesses and to convert foreign currency debt that we have issued in our financial
services business back to our functional currency. Changes in the fair value of cash flow hedges are recorded in AOCI and recorded in
earnings in the period in which the hedged transaction occurs. The gain (loss) recognized in AOCI was $(61) million, $25 million and
$(154) million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The gain {loss) reclassified from ACCI to earnings
was $(7) million, $(60) million and $(102) miliion for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. These amounts
were primarily related to currency exchange and interest rate contracts.

The total armount in AOCI redated to cash flow hedges of forecasted transactions was a $16 million gain at December 31, 2020. We
expect to reclassify $32 million of loss to earnings in the next 12 months contemporaneously with the earnings effects of the related
forecasted transactions. For all periods presented we recognized an immaterial amount related to hedged forecasted transactions and
firm commitments that did not occur by the end of the originally specified period. At December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, the maximum
term of derivative instruments that hedge forecasted transactions was 14 years, 13 years and 14 years, respectively.

NET INVESTMENT HEDGES. We invest in foreign operations that conduct their financial services activities in currencies other than the
U.S. dollar. We hedge the currency risk associated with those investments primarily using non-derivative instruments such as debt
denominated in a foreign currency and short-term currency exchange contracts under which we receive U.S. dollars and pay foreign
currency. For these hedges, the portion of the fair value changes of the derivatives or debt instruments that relates to changes in spot
currency exchange rates is recorded in a separate component of AQCI. The porticn of the fair value changes of the derivatives related
to differences between spot and forward rates is recorded in earnings each period. The amounts recorded in AQCI affect earnings if the
hedged investment is sold, substantially liquidated, or control is lost.

The total gain (loss) recognized in AOCI on hedging instruments for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 was $(675)
million, $120 million and $646 millicn, respectively, comprising $(41) mitlion, $(36) million and $162 million on currency exchange
contracts and $(633) million, $156 million and $484 mitlion on foreign currency debt, respectively. For all periods presented we
recognized an immaterial amount excluded from assessment and recognized in earnings.

The carrying value of foreign currency debt designated as net investment hedges was $8,348 million, $3,190 million and $12,458 million
at Decernber 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 respectively. The total reclassified from AQCI into earnings was zero, $7 million and ${1) million
for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

EFFECTS OF DERIVATIVES ON EARNINGS. All derivatives are marked to fair value on our Statement of Financial Position, whether
they are designated in a hedging relationship for accounting purposes or are used as economic hedges. For derivatives not designated
as hedging instruments, substantially all of the gain or loss recognized in earnings is offset by either the current period change in value
of underlying exposures which is recorded in earnings in the current period or a future period when the recording of the exposures
oCeurs.

The table below presents the effect of our derivative financial instruments in the consolidated Statement of Earnings (Loss):

2020 2019
Costof  Interest Cther Costof  Interest Other
Revenues  sales  Expense  SG&A Income  Revenues  sales  Expense SG&A  income
Total amounts presented in
the consolidated Statement
of Earnings (Loss) $ 79,819 $60.421 § 3273 $12,621 $11,387 § 95214 $66,911 § 4227 $13,949 § 2222
Total effect of cash flow
hedges $ 88 3 (56)% (40)% 1% — 8 5% (249% (3N (s —
Hedged items ${(1,775) § (1,276)
Derivatives designated as
hedging instruments 1,743 1,229
Total effect of fair value
hedges $  (31) $ (48)
Interest rate contracts $ (35) % — 3% (1S — 3 8 $ 24) $ — % (5O — % (6)
Currency exchange contracts (328) 16 — 129 19 180 (353 — (6) (59
Other — — — 86 (46) (2) — 195 — 7

Total effect of derivatives
notdesignated ashedges $§ (362)$ 16 % (11)$ 2158 (19903 154 % (355 145§ {6)% (58)

The gain (loss) excluded for cash flow hedges was $25 million and ${1) million for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019,
respectively. This amount is recognized primarily in Revenues in our consolidated Statement of Eamings (Loss).
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COUNTERPARTY CREDIT RISK. We manage the risk that counterparties will default and net make payments to us according to the
terms of cur agreements on an individual counterparty basis. Where we have agreed to netting of derivative exposures with a
counterparty, we net our exposures with that counterparty and apply the value of collateral posted to us to determine the exposure. We
actively monitor these net exposures against defined limits and take appropriate actions in response, including requiring additional
collateral. Our exposures to caunterparties (including accrued interest), net of collateral we held, was $388 million and $368 million at
December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Counterparties’ exposures to our derivative liability (including accrued interest), net of
collateral posted by us, was $304 million and $159 million at December 31, 2020 and 2018, respectively.

NOTE 22. VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES. In addition to the three VIEs detailed in Note 4, in our consolidated Statement of
Financial Position, we have additional consolidated VIEs with assets of $1,888 million and $1,740 million, and liabilities of $812 rmiilion
and $943 million, inclusive of intercompany eliminations, at December 31, 2020 and 2018, respectively. These entities have no features
that could expose us to losses that would significantly exceed the difference between the consolidated assets and liabilities.
Substantially all the assets of our consolidated VIEs at December 31, 2020 can only be used to settle the liabilities of those VIEs.

Our investments in unconsolidated VIEs were $3,378 million and $1,937 million, at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. These
investments are primarily owned by GE Capital businesses of which $1,141 million and $621 million were owned by EFS and
comprised of equity method investments, primarily renewable energy tax equity investments, at December 31, 202¢ and 2019,
respectively. In addition, $1,833 million and $896 million were owned by our run-off insurance operations, primarily comprising
investment securities, at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, The increase in investments in unconsolidated VIEs in our run-off
insurance operations reflects implementation of our revised reinvestment plan which incorporates the introduction of strategic initiatives
to invest in higher-yielding asset classes. Our maximum exposure to loss In respect of unconsolidated VIEs is increased by our
commitments to make additional investments in these entities described in Note 23.

NOTE 23. COMMITMENTS, GUARANTEES, PRODUCT WARRANTIES AND OTHER LOSS CONTINGENCIES

COMMITMENTS. The GECAS business within our Capital segment has placed multiple-year orders with various Boeing, Airbus and
other aircraft manufacturers with list prices approximating $26,760 million, excluding pre-delivery payments made in advance (including
279 new aircraft with delivery dates of 25% in 2021, 14% in 2022 and 61% in 2023 through 2026) and secondary orders with airlines for
used aircraft of approximately $1,985 million (inchuding 43 used aircraft with delivery dates of 72% in 2021, 21% in 2022 and 7% in
2023) at December 31, 2020. When we purchase aircraft, it is at a contractual price, which is usually less than the aircraft
manufacturer’s list price. As of December 31, 2020, we have made $2,871 million of pre-delivery payments to aircraft manufacturers.

During 2020, GECAS agreed with Beeing to restructure its 737 MAX orderbook including previously canceled positions, resulting in 77
orders now remaining.

GE Capital had total investment commitments of $1,957 million at December 31, 2020. The commitments primarily comprise project
financing investments in thermal and wind energy projects of $684 million and investments by our run-off insurance operations in
investment securities and other assets of $1,248 million, and included within these cammitments are obligations to make additional
investments in unconsolidated VIEs of $549 million and $1,047 million, respectively. See Note 22 for further information.

As of December 31, 2020, in our Aviation segment, we have committed to provide financing assistance of $1,935 million of future
customer acquisitions of aircraft equipped with our engines.

GUARANTEES. At December 31, 2020, we were committed under the following guarantee arrangements:

Credit Support. At December 31, 2020, we have provided $1,525 million of credit support on behalf of certain customers or associated
companies, predominantly joint ventures and partnerships, using arrangements such as standby letters of credit and performance
guarantees. The liability for such credit support was $46 million.

Indemnification Agreements - Continuing Operations. At December 31, 2020, we have $1,455 million of other indemnification
commitments, including representations and warranties in sales of businesses or assets, for which we recorded a liability of $142
million.

Indemnification Agreements ~ Discontinued Operations. At December 31, 2020, we have provided specific indemnities to buyers of
GE Capital's assets that, in the aggregate, represent a maximum potential claim of $630 million with the related reserves of $104
million.

PRODUCT WARRANTIES. We provide for estimated product warranty expenses when we sell the related products. Because warranty
estimates are forecasts that are based on the best available information, mostly historical claims experience, claims costs may differ
from amounts provided. An analysis of changes in the liability for product warranties folfows.

2020 2018 2018

Balance at January 1 $ 2,165 % 2,192 % 2,103
Current-year provisions 788 713 945
Expenditures (913) {715) (788)
Other changes 14 (26) {69)
“Balance at December 31 $ 2,054 § 2.165 § 2,192




LEGAL MATTERS. In the narmal course of our business, we are involved from time to time in various arbitrations, class actions,
commercial litigation, investigations and other legal, regulatory or governmental actions, including the significant matters described
below that could have a material impact on our results of operations. In many proceedings, including the specific matters described
below, it is inherently difficult to determine whether any loss is probable or even reasonably possible or to estimate the size or range of
the possible loss, and accruals for legal matters are not recorded until a loss for a particular matter is considered probable and
reasonably estimable. Given the nature of legal matters and the complexities involved, it is often difficult to predict and determine a
meaningful estimate of loss or range of loss until we know, among other factors, the particular claims involved, the likelihood of success
of our defenses to those claims, the damages or other relief sought, how discovery or other procedural considerations will affect the
outcome, the settlement posture of other parties and other factors that may have a material effect on the outcome. For these matters,
unless otherwise specified, we da not believe it is possible to provide a meaningful estimate of loss at this time. Moreover, it is not
uncommon for legal matters to be resolved over many years, during which time relevant developments and new information must be
continuously evaluated.

Alstom legacy legal matters. On November 2, 2015, we acquired the Thermal, Renewables and Grid businesses from Alstom. Prior to
the acquisition, the seller was the subject of two significant cases invalving anti-competitive activities and improper payments: (1) in
January 2007, Alstom was fined €65 million by the European Commission for participating in a gas insulated switchgear cartel that
operated from 1988 to 2004 (that fine was later reduced to €59 million), and (2) in December 2014, Alstom pled guilty in the United
States to multiple violations of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and paid a criminal penalty of $772 million. As part of GE's accounting
for the acquisition, we established a reserve amounting to $858 million for legal and compliance matters related to the legacy business
practices that were the subject of these and related cases in various jurisdictions, including the previously reported legal proceedings in
Slovenia that are described below. The reserve balance was $858 million and $875 million at December 31, 2020 and December 31,
2019, respectively.

Regardless of jurisdictian, the allegations relate to claimed anti-competitive conduct or improper payments in the pre-acquisition period
as the source of legal viplations and/or damages. Given the significant litigation and compliance activity related to these matters and our
ongoing efforts to resolve them, it is difficult to assess whether the disbursements will ultimately be consistent with the reserve
established. The estimation of this reserve involved significant judgment and may not reftect the full range of uncertainties and
unpredictable outcomes inherent in litigation and investigations of this nature, and at this time we are unable to develop a meaningful
estimate of the range of reasonably possible additional losses beyond the amount of this reserve. Damages sought may include
disgorgement of profits on the underlying business transactions, fines and/or penalties, interest, or other forms of resolution. Factors
that can affect the ultimate amount of losses associated with these and related matters include the way cooperation is assessed and
valued, prosecutorial discretion in the determination of damages, formulas for determining fines and penalties, the duration and amount
of legal and investigative resources applied, political and social influences within each jurisdiction, and tax consequences of any
settlements or previous deductions, among other considerations. Actual losses arising from claims in these and related matters could
exceed the amount provided.

in connecticn with alleged improper payments by Alstom relating to contracts wen in 2006 and 2008 for work on a state-owned power
plant in 3ostanj, Slovenia, the power plant owner in January 2017 filed an arbitration claim for damages of approximately $430 million
before the International Chamber of Commerce Court of Arbitration in Vienna, Austria. In February 2017, a government investigation in
Slovenia of the same underlying conduct proceeded to an investigative phase overseen by a judge of the Celje District Court. In
September 2020, the relevant Alstom legacy entity was served with an indictment, which we had anticipated as we are working with the
parties to resolve these matters.

Shareholder and related lawsuits. Since November 2017, several putative shareholder class actions under the federal securities laws
have been filed against GE and certain affiliated individuals and consolidated into a single action currently pending in the U.S. District
Court for the Southern District of New York {the Hachem case). In October 2019, the lead plaintiff filed a fifth amended consolidated
class action compiaint naming as defendants GE and current and former GE executive officers. It alleges violations of Sections 10(b)
and 20(a) and Rule 10b-5 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 related to insurance reserves and accounting for long-term service
agreements and seeks damages on behalf of shareholders who acquired GE stock between February 27, 2013 and January 23, 2018.
GE filed a mation to dismiss in December 2019. In January 2021, the court granted defendants’ motion to dismiss as to the majority of
the claims. Specifically, the court dismissed all claims related to insurance reserves, as well as all claims related to accounting for long-
term service agreements, with the exception of certain claims about historic disclosures related to factoring in the Power business that
survive as to GE and its former CFO Jeffrey S. Bornstein. All other individual defendants have been dismissed from the case. In
addition, the court denied the plaintiffs’ request to amend their complaint again.

Since February 2018, multiple shareholder derivative lawsuits have also been filed against current and former GE executive officers
and members of GE's Board of Directors and GE (as nominal defendant). Six shareholder derivative lawsuits are currently pending: the
Bennett case, which was filed in Massachusetlts state court; the Cuker, Lindsey, Priest and Tola cases, which were filed in New York
state court; and the Burden case, which was filed in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York. These lawsuits have
alleged violations of securities laws, breaches of fiduciary duties, unjust enrichment, waste of corporate assets, abuse of control and
gross mismanagement, aithough the specific matters underlying the allegations in the lawsuits have varied. The allegations in the
Bennett, Lindsey, Priest, Tola and Burden cases relate to substantially the same facts as those underlying the securities class action
described above, and the allegations in the Cuker case relate to alleged corruption in China. The plaintiffs seek unspecified damages
and improvements in GE's carporate governance and internal procedures. The Bennett case has been stayed pending final resolution
of another shareholder derivative lawsuit {the Gammel case) that was previously dismissed. In August 2019, the Cuker plaintiffs filed an
amended complaint, and GE in September 2019 filed a mation to dismiss the amended complaint. The Lindsey case has been stayed
by agreement of the parties.




In June 2018, a lawsuit (the Bezio case) was filed in New York state court derivatively on behalf of participants in GE’s 401(k) plan (the
GE Retirement Savings Plan (RSP)), and alternatively as a class action on behalf of shareholders who acquired GE stock between
February 26, 2013 and January 24, 2018, alleging violations of Section 11 of the Securities Act of 1933 based on alleged misstatements
and omissions related to insurance reserves and performance of GE's business segments in a GE RSP registration statement and
documents incorporated therein by reference. In November 2018, the plaintiffs filed an amended derivative complaint naming as
defendants GE, former GE executive officers and Fidelity Management Trust Company, as trustee for the GE RSP. In January 2019, GE
filed a motion to dismiss, and in November 2019, the court dismissed the remaining claims and the plaintiffs filed a notice of appeal. In
December 2019, the plaintiffs filed a second amended derivative complaint, and in January 2020, GE filed a motion to dismiss. In
December 2020, the court granted GE's motion to dismiss and dismissed the second amended complaint with prejudice.

In July 2018, a putative class action (the Mahar case) was filed in New York state court naming as defendants GE, former GE executive
officers, a former member of GE's Board of Directors and KPMG. It alleged violations of Sections 11, 12 and 15 of the Securities Act of
1933 based on alleged misstalements related to insurance reserves and performance of GE's business segments in GE Stock Direct
Plan registration statements and documents incorporated therein by reference and seeks damages on behalf of shareholders who
acquired GE stock between July 20, 2015 and July 19, 2018 through the GE Stock Direct Plan. In February 2019, this case was
dismissed. In March 2019, plaintiffs fiiled an amended derivative complaint naming the same defendants. In April 2019, GE filed a
motion to dismiss the amended complaint. In Qctober 2019, the court denied GE's motion to dismiss and stayed the case pending the
outcome of the Hachem case. In November 2019, the plaintiffs moved to re-argue to challenge the stay, and GE cross-moved to re-
argue the denial of the motion to dismiss and filed a notice of appeal. The court denied both motions for re-argument, and in November
2020, the Appellate Division First Department affirmed the court's denial of GE's motion to dismiss. In January 2021, GE filed a motion
for leave to appeal to the New York Court of Appeals.

In October 2018, a putative class action (the Houston case) was filed in New York state court naming as defendants GE, certain GE
subsidiaries and current and former GE executive officers and employees. It alleges violations of Sections 11, 12 and 15 of the
Securities Act of 1933 and seeks damages on behalf of purchasers of senior notes issued in 2016 and rescission of transactions
involving those notes. This case has been stayed pending resolution of the motion to dismiss the Hachem case.

In December 2018, a putative class action (the Varga case) was filed in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of New York
naming GE and a former GE executive officer as defendants in connection with the oversight of the GE RSP. It atleges that the
defendants breached fiduciary duties under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (ERISA) by failing to advise GE RSP
participants that GE Capital insurance subsidiaries were allegedly under-reserved and continued to retain a GE stock fund as an
investment option in the GE RSP. The plaintiffs seek unspecified damages on behalf of a class of GE RSP participants and
beneficiaries from January 1, 2010 through January 19, 2018 or later. In April 2019, GE filed a motion to dismiss. In March 2020, the
court granted GE's motion to dismiss the case, and in February 2021, the Second Circuit in the plaintiffs’ appeal afirmed the lower
court's dismissal.

In February 2019, two putative class actions (the Birnbaum case and the Sheet Metal Workers Local 17 Trust Funds case) were filed in
the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York naming as defendants GE and current and former GE executive officers. In
April 2019, the court issued an order consolidating these two actions. In June 2019, the lead plaintiff filed an amended consolidated
complaint. 1t alleges violations of Section 10{(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1834 based on alleged misstatements
regarding GE's H-class turbines and goodwill related to GE's Power business. The lawsuit seeks damages on behalf of shareholders
who acquired GE stock between December 4, 2017 and December 6, 2018. In August 2019, the lead plaintiff filed a second amended
complaint. In September 2019, GE filed a motion to dismiss the second amended complaint. In May 2020, the court granted GE’s
motion to dismiss the case, and in February 2021, the Second Circuit in the plaintiffs’ appeal affirmed the lower court's dismissal.

In February 2019, a securities action {the Touchstone case) was filed in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York
naming as defendants GE and current and former GE executive officers. It alleges violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Section 1707 .43 of the Ohio Securities Act and common law fraud based on alleged
misstatements regarding insurance reserves, GE Power’s revenue recognition practices related to long term service agreements, GE's
acquisition of Alstom, and the goodwill recognized in connection with that transaction. The lawsuit seeks damages on behalf of six
institutional investors who purchased GE common stock between August 1, 2014 and October 30, 2018 and rescission of those
purchases. This case has been stayed pending resolution of the motion to dismiss the Hachem case.



As previously reported by Baker Hughes, in March 2019, two derivative lawsuits were filed in the Delaware Court of Chancery naming
as defendants GE, directors of Baker Hughes (including former members of GE's Board of Directors and current and former GE
executive officers) and Baker Hughes (as nominal defendant), and the court issued an order consolidating these two actions (the
Schippnick case). The complaint as amended in May 2019 alleges, among other things, that GE and the Baker Hughes directors
breached their fiduciary duties and that GE was unjustly enriched by entering into transactions and agreements related to GE's sales of
approximately 12% of its ownership interest in Baker Hughes in November 2018. The complaint seeks declaratory relief, disgorgement
of profits, an award of damages, pre- and post-judgment interest and attorneys’ fees and costs. In May 2019, the plaintiffs voluntarily
dismissed their claims against the directors who were members of the Baker Hughes Conflicts Committee and a former Baker Hughes
director. In October 2019, the Court denied the remaining defendants” motions to dismiss, except with respect to the unjust enrichment
claim against GE, which has been dismissed. In Navember 2019, the defendants filed their answer to the complaint, and a special
litigaticn committee of the Baker Hughes Board of Directors moved for an order staying all proceedings in this action pending
completion of the commitlee's investigation of the allegations and claims asserted in the complaint. in October 2020, the special
litigation committee filed a report with the Court recommending that the derivative action be terminated.

In August 2019, a putative class action {the Tri-State case) was filed in the Delaware Court of Chancery naming as defendants GE and
the former Board of Directors of Baker Hughes Incorporated (BHI). It alleges fraud, aiding and abetting breaches of fiduciary duty, and
aiding and abetting breaches of duty of disclosure by GE based on allegations regarding financial statements that GE provided the
former BHI board, management and shareholders in connection with BHI's merger with GE's Qil and Gas Business in July 2017. The
plaintiff seeks damages on behalf of BHI shareholders during the period between October 7, 2016 and July 5, 2017. In Octeber 2019,
the City of Providence filed a complaint containing allegations substantially similar to those in the Tri-State complaint. The cases were
consolidated in November 2019, and in December 2018, the plaintiffs filed an amended consolidated complaint which is similar to the
prior complaints but does not include fraud claims against GE. In February 2020, GE and the other defendants filed a motion to dismiss
the amended consolidated complaint. In October 2020, the court dismissed all claims asserted against GE, allowing only the claim
against the former BHI CEQ to maove forward.

SEC investigation. As previously reported in a Form 8-K filing on December 9, 2020, GE reached a settlement with the SEC in
connection with the SEC investigation that we had previously disclosed. Consistent with common SEC practice, GE neither admits nor
denies the findings in the administrative order that the SEC issued in connection with the settlement. Under the terms of the settlement,
GE in December 2020 paid a civil penalty of $200 million and consented to an order requiring it to cease and desist from violations of
specified provisions of the federal securities laws and rules promulgated thereunder. in addition, GE agreed to cooperation obligations
and to report during a one-year period to the SEC about compliance related to its Power business and GE Capital's run-off insurance
operations.

The SEC's order contains findings related to disclosures with respect to GE's Power business during the 2015-2017 time period and
disclosures and internal controls with respect to GE Capital's run-off insurance operations during the third quarter of 2015 through the
first quarter of 2017. The settlement concluded and resolved the SEC investigation of GE in its entirety.

The SEC’s order makes no allegatian that prior period financial statements were misstated. This settlement did not require corrections
or restatements of GE's previously reported financial statements, and GE stands behind its financial reporting.

GE cooperated with the SEC over the course of its investigation. As noted in the order, GE has taken a number of steps since the time
periods covered by the investigation to enhance its investor disclasures regarding power and insurance trends and risks, as well as
enhancing internal controls on its insurance premium deficiency testing {(aiso known as loss recognition testing) process and adding
disclosure controls and procedures concerning its insurance liabilities.

Other GE Retirement Savings Plan class actions. Four putative class action lawsuits have been filed regarding the oversight of the
GE RSP, and those class actions have been consolidated into a single action in the U.S, District Court for the District of Massachusetts.
The censolidated complaint names as defendants GE, GE Asset Managament, current and former GE and GE Asset Management
executive officers and employees who served on fiduciary bodies responsible for aspects of the GE RSP during the class period. Like
similar lawsuits that have been brought against other companies in recent years, this action alleges that the defendants breached their
fiduciary duties under ERISA in their oversight of the GE RSP, principally by retaining five proprietary funds that plaintiffs allege were
underperforming as investment options for plan participants and by charging higher management fees than some alternative funds. The
plaintiffs seek unspecified damages on behalf of a class of GE RSP participants and beneficiaries from September 26, 2011 through the
date of any judgment. In August and December 2018, the court issued orders dismissing one count of the complaint and denying GE's
mgtion to dismiss the remaining counts. We believe we have defenses to the claims and are responding accordingly.

Bank BPH. As previously reported, GE Capital's subsidiary Bank BPH, along with other Polish banks, has been subject to ongoing
litigation in Poland reiated to its portfolio of floating rate residential mortgage loans, with cases brought by individual borrowers seeking
relief related to their foreign currency-denominated mortgage loans in various courts throughout Poland. At December 31, 2020,
approximately 87% of the Bank BPH portfolio is indexed to or denominated in foreign currencies (primarily Swiss francs), and the total
portfolio had a carrying value of $2,437 million. We continue to observe an increase in the number of lawsuits being brought against
Bank BPH and other banks in Poland, and this is likely to continue in future reporting periods.




We estimate potential losses for Bank BPH in connection with borrower litigation cases that are pending by recording legal reserves, as
well as in connection with potential future cases or other adverse developments as part of our ongeing valuation of the Bank BPH
portfolic, which we record at the lower of cost or fair value, less cost to sell. At December 31, 2020, the total amount of such estimated
losses was $315 million. We have updated our assumptions underlying this amount over time in response to the trends we have
previously reported of there being an increase in the number of lawsuits filed, more findings of liability and more severe remedies being
ordered against Polish banks, including Bank BPH. We also expect these trends to continue in future reporting periods, afthough Bank
BPH is unable at this time to develop a meaningful estimate of reasonably possible losses associated with active and inactive Bank
BPH mortgage loans beyond the amounts currently recorded. These estimates invaolve significant judgment, including assumptions
about the number of borrowers that will file lawsuits, whether liability will be established in lawsuits and the nature of the remedy thata
court will order if liability is established, as well as the following factors: uncertainty related to how Polish courts will interpret and apply
prior judicial decisions; the pendency of potentially significant judicial decisions that we anticipate will be issued in the first half of 2021,
inctuding a decision by the European Court of Justice (ECJ) on the case involving a Bank BPH mortgage loan that was referred to the
ECJ in January 2020 and one or mare binding resolutions from the Polish Supreme Court; uncertainty related to a proposal by the
Chairman of the Polish Financial Supervisory Authority in December 2020 that banks voluntarily offer borrowers an opportunity to
convert their foreign currency-denominated mortgage loans to Polish zlotys using an exchange rate applicable at the date of loan
origination, and about the approaches that other Polish banks will adopt in response to this proposal; and uncertainty arising from a
decisian of the Polish Office of Competition and Consumer Protection (UOKIK) in December 2020 which found that certain foreign
exchange clauses that appear in certain of Bank BPH's mortgage loan agreements are unfair contractual terms under Polish law.
Future adverse developments related to any of these factors, or other factors such as potential regulatory or legislative relief across the
Polish banking industry, could have a material adverse effect on Bank BPH and the carrying value of its mortgage loan portfelio and
could result in significant losses beyond the amount that we currently estimate.

ENVIRONMENTAL, HEALTH AND SAFETY MATTERS. Our operations, like operations of other companies engaged in similar
businesses, involve the use, dispasal and cleanup of substances regulated under environmental protection laws and nuclear
decommissioning regulations. Additionally, like many other industrial companies, we and our subsidiaries are defendants in various
lawsuits related to alleged worker exposure to asbestos or other hazardous materials. Liabilities for environmental remediation, nuclear
decommissioning and worker exposure claims exclude possible insurance recoveries. It is reasonably possible that our exposure will
exceed amounts accrued. However, due to uncertainties about the status of laws, regulations, technology and information related to
individuai sites and lawsuits, such amounts are not reasonably estimable. Total reserves related to environmental remediation, nuclear
decommissioning and worker exposure claims were $2,569 million and $2,484 million at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

As previously reported, in 2000, GE and the Environmental Protection Agency {EPA} entered into a consent decree relating to PCB
cleanup of the Housatonic River in Massachusetts. Fallowing the EPA's release in September 2015 of an intended final remediation
decision, GE and the EPA engaged in mediation and the first step of the dispute resolution process contemplated by the consent
decree. In October 2016, the EPA issued its final decision pursuant to the consent decree, which GE and several other interested
parties appealed to the EPA's Environmental Appeais Board (EAB). The EAB issued its decision in January 2018, affirming parts of the
EPA's decision and granting relief to GE on certain significant elements of its challenge. The EAB remanded the decision back to the
EPA to address those elements and reissue a revised final remedy, and the EPA convened a mediation process with GE and interested
stakeholders. In February 2020, the EPA announced an agreement between the EPA and many of the mediation stakeholders, including
GE, concerning a revised Housatonic River remedy. Based on the mediated resolution, the EPA solicited public comment on a draft
permit in July 2020 and issued the final revised permit effective January 4, 2021. As of December 31, 2020, and based on its
assessment of current facts and circumstances and its defenses, GE believes that it has recorded adequate reserves to cover future
obligations associated with the proposed final remedy.

Expenditures for site remediation, nuclear decommissioning and worker exposure claims amounted to approximately $247 milion, $236
million and $214 million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. We presently expect that such
expenditures will be approximately $350 million and $240 million in 2021 and 2022, respectively.

~



NOTE 24. INTERCOMPANY TRANSACTIONS

Presented below is a walk of intercompany eliminations from the combined GE Industrial and GE Capital totals to the consclidated cash
flows for continuing operations.

2020 2819 2018
Combined GE Industrial and GE Capital cash from (used for} operating activities $ 2,240 § 65,495 § 2,282
GE Industrial current receivables sold to GE Capital(a) (597) 1,081 5
GE Industrial long-term receivables sold to GE Capital(b} 312 468 1.079
Supply chain finance programs{c) 2,002 2,289 (18)
Other reclassifications and eliminations (360) 86 (138)
Consclidated cash from (used for) operating activities $ 3597 5§ 10419 § 3,210
Combined GE Industrial and GE Capital cash from (used for} investing activities $ 25960 § 13509 § 14915
GE Industrial current receivables sold to GE Capital 498 (1.677) (839)
GE Industrial long-term receivables seld to GE Capital(b) (312) (468) (1.079)
Supply chain finance programs{c} (2,002) (2,289) 18
GE Capital loans to GE Industrial — - 6,479
Repayment of GE Capital loans by GE Industrial (9.049) (1,523) —
Capital contribution from GE Industrial to GE Capital 2,000 4,000 —
Other reclassifications and eliminations (315) (868} (570)
Consolidated cash from {used for) investing activities $ 16778 § 10684 $§ 18,925
Combined GE Industrial and GE Capital cash from (used for} financing activities $ (27678)% (14665) % (22,408)
GE Industrial current receivables sold to GE Capital 102 596 835
GE Capital leans to GE Industrial — — (6,479)
Repayment of GE Capital loans by GE Industrial 9,049 1,523 —
Capital contribution from GE Industrial to GE Capital (2,000) (4,000) —
Other reclassifications and eliminations 675 782 706
Consolidated cash from (used for) financing activities $ (19853)% (15,764} % (27,345)

(2) Included the elimination of $14,677 million, $14,716 million and $20,675 million payments to GE Industrial for current receivables
purchased and retained by GE Capital and the related rectassification to CFOA of $14,079 miltion, $15,797 million and
$20,680 million due to GE Capital collections and other activity in our consolidated Statement of Cash Fiows for the years ended
December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

(b} Primarily included the reclassification of long-term receivables purchased and retained by GE Capital to current receivables.

(c) Represents the elimination of net payments from GE Industrial to GE Capital related to the funded participation in a supply chain
finance pregram with GE Capital. The reduction of the GE Industrial liability associated with this program is primarily as a result of
GE Capital's sale of the program platform to MUFG Union Bank, N.A. (MUFG} in 2019.

NOTE 25. OPERATING SEGMENTS

BASIS FOR PRESENTATION. Our operating businesses are organized based on the nature of markets and customers. Segment
accounting policies are the same as described and referenced in Note 1. Segment results for our financial services businesses reflect
the discrete tax effect of transactions.

A description of our operating segments as of December 31, 2020 can be found in the Segment Operation section within MD&A.

REVENUES Total revenues{a} Intersegment revenuesibj{c) External revenues
Years ended December 31 2920 2019 2018 2020 2019 2018 202¢ 2019 2018
Power $ 17589 § 18625 § 22150 & 352 % /7 % 152 $ 17,237 § 18,267 § 21,997
Renewable Energy 15,666 15,337 14,288 142 139 186 15,523 15,198 14,102
Aviation 22,042 32,875 30,566 1,445 758 375 20,597 32,117 30,191
Healthcare 18,009 19,942 19,784 1 — — 18,008 19,942 19,784
Capital 7,245 8,741 9,551 566 971 1,384 6,679 7,770 8,167
Corporate items

and eliminations (932) (305) 673 (2,507) (2,225) (2,097} 1,575 1,820 2,770
Total $ 79619 $ 95214 $ 97012 § — § — 3 — § 79619 § 95214 § 97,012

{(a) Revenues of GE Industrial businesses include income from sales of gocds and services to customers.

{b) Sales from one component to another generally are priced at equivalent commercial selling prices.

(c) The increase in intersegment revenues in 2020 at Aviation is primarily driven by higher sales to the Aeroderivative joint venture
between cur Power segment and Baker Hughes, partially offset by lower spare sales to our GECAS business.

The equipment and services revenues classification in the table below is consistent with our segment MD&A presentation.




Years ended December 31

2620 2019 2013
Equipment Services Total Equipment  Services Total Equipment  Services Total
Power $ 6,707 $10,883 $17589 $ 6,247 $12,378 $18625 $§ 8,077 $14,073 $22150
Renewable Energy 12,859 2,807 15,666 12,267 3,069 15337 11,419 2,870 14,288
Aviation 8,582 13460 22042 12,737 20,138 32875 11499 19,067 30,566
Healthcare 9,992 8,017 18,009 11,585 8,357 19,842 11,422 8,363 19,784
Corporate items and industrial
eliminations (520) 314 (206) 243 697 940 1,263 987 2,250
Total GE Industrial revenues $ 37620 $35480 $73,100 $ 43,080 $44,639 $87,719 3% 43,679 $45359 $ 89,038
SEGMENT REVENUES Years ended December 31
2029 2019 2018
Gas Power $ 12,655 § 13,122 % 13,296
Power Portfolio 4,935 5,503 8,853
Power $ 17,589 18,625 $ 22,150
Onshore Wind $ 10,881 10421 § 8,220
Grid Solutions equipment and services 3,585 4,016 4,579
Hydro, Offshore Wind and Hybrid Solutions 1,200 900 1,489
Renewabie Energy 15,666 15337 § 14,288
Commercial Engines & Services 13,017 24217 § 22,724
Military 4,572 4,389 4,103
Systems & Other 4,453 4,269 3,740
Aviation 22,042 32875 % 30,566
Healthcare Systems 15,387 14,648 % 14,886
Pharmaceutical Diagnostics 1,792 2,005 1,888
BioPharma 830 3,289 3,010
Healthcare 18,009 19,942 $ 19,784
Corporate items and industrial eliminations (206) $ 940 % 2,250
Total GE Industrial revenues 73,100 87,718 89,038
Capital(a) $ 7.245 § 8741 § 9,551
GE Capital-GE Indystriai eliminations (726) (1,245) (1,577)
Consolidated revenues $ 79619 % 95214 % 97.012

(a) Substantially all of our revenues at GE Capital are outside of the scope of ASC 606.

Revenues are classified according to the region to which products and services are sold. For purposes of this analysis, the U.S. is
presented separately from the remainder of the Americas.

Corporate
Renewable items and
Year ended December 31, 2020 Power Energy Aviation Healthcare Capital eliminations Total
u.s. $ 618 % 7846 $ 11,239 $ 761 § 3550 § (1.117) $ 35314
Non-U.S.
Europe 2,895 3,047 4 288 3,952 1,395 155 15,733
Asia 3,961 2,640 3,920 4,719 997 {20} 16,218
Americas 1,483 819 882 879 639 (2} 4,701
Middle East and Africa 3,064 1,314 1,713 848 664 52 7,655
Total Non-U.S. $ 11403 $ 7820 $ 10803 $ 10388 §$ 3695 § 185 § 44,305
Total geographic revenues $ 17589 § 15686 § 22042 § 18009 § 7245 § (932) § 79,619
Non-U.S. revenues as a % of
consolidated revenyes 65 % 50 % 49 % 58 % 51 % 56 %




Corporate

Renewable items and
Year ended December 31, 2019 Power Energy Aviatian Healthcare Capital eliminations Total
us. $ 5992 §$ 7413 13384 $ 8526 § 4,149 3 (93) § 39,372
Non-U.S.
Eurppe 3,140 2,925 7,452 4,132 1,677 (135) 19,092
Asig 4,018 2,737 6,641 5,436 1,454 (130) 20,156
Americas 1,915 1,064 1,593 1,056 742 (33) 6,336
Middle East and Africa 3,560 1,198 3,805 792 819 86 10,259
Total Non-U).S. $ 126833 § 7924 19491 § 11416 § 4592 % (212} § 55,843
Total geographic revenues $ 18625 $ 15,337 32875 % 19942 § B741 $ (305) § 95214
Non-1).S. revenues as a % of
consolidated revenues 68 % 52 % 59 % 57 % 53 % 59 %
Year ended December 31, 2018
u.s. $ 7456 § 4912 12529 % 8574 § 5282 % 1,124 § 39,876
Non-U.S.
Europe 4,538 3,212 7,027 4,164 1,383 (496} 19,828
Asig 4,072 2,933 5,787 5,219 1,368 {79} 19,300
Americas 2,546 2179 1,459 988 632 87 7,892
Middle East and Africa 3,538 1,052 3,764 839 886 37 10,117
Total Non-U.S. $ 14694 $ 9,376 18037 % 11,210 $ 4269 3 (451) $ 57,136
Total geographic revenues $ 22,450 $ 14288 30566 $ 19784 § 9551 & 673 § 97012
Non-U.8. revenues as a % of
consolidated revenues 66 % 66 % 59 % 57 % 45 % 59 %

REMAINING PERFORMANCE OBLIGATION. As of December 31, 2020, the aggregate amount of the contracted revenues allocated
to our unsatisfied {or partially unsatisfied) performance obligations was $230,600 million. We expect to recognize revenue as we satisfy
our remaining performance obligations as follows; 1) equipment-related remaining performance obligation of $45,991 millicn of which
58%, 80% and 98% is expected to be recognized within 1, 2 and 5 years, respectively, and the remaining thereafter; and 2} services-
related remaining performance obligations of $184,6G8 million of which 14%, 45%, 65% and 81% is expected to he recagnized withint 1,
5. 10 and 15 years, respectively, and the remaining thereafter. Contract modifications could affect both the timing to complete as well as
the amount to be received as we fulfill the related remaining performance obligations.

Total sales of goods and services o agencies of the U.8. Government were 7%, 5% and 5% of GE Industrial revenues for the years
ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Within our Aviation segment, defense-related sales were 6%, 5% and 4% of
GE Industriai revenues for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

PROFIT AND EARNINGS For the years ended December 31 2020 2019 2018
Power $ 274 § 291 3§ (1.105)
Renewable Energy (715) (791} 140

Aviation 1,229 6,812 6,454

Healthcare 3,060 3,737 3,522

Capital (1.710) (530) (489)
Total segment profit 2,138 9,519 8,521

Corporate items and eliminations 8,239 {1,825) (2,201}
GE Industrial goodwill impairments (877} (1,486) (22,136)
GE Industrial interest and other financial charges (1,333} (2,115) (2,415)
GE Industrial nan-operating benefit costs {2.424) (2,828) (2.740)
GE Industrial provision for income taxes (388) {1,309) (467)
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations attributable to GE common shareholders 5,355 (44) (21,438)
Earnings (loss) from discantinued operations, net of taxes (125} (5,335) (1,363)
Less net earnings {loss} attributable to noncontrolling interests, discontinued operations — 60 1

Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes and noncontrolling interests (125) (5,395) (1,364)
Consolidated net earnings (loss) attributable to GE common shareholders $ 5230 $ (5439) % (22,802)




Interest and other financial charges Benefit (provision) for income taxes

For the years ended December 31 2020 2019 2018 2020 2019 2018
Capital $ 2,186 % 2532 % 2982 % 862 3 582 § 374
Corporate items and eliminations(a) 1,087 1,695 1,784 (388) (1,309} (467)
Total $ 3273 § 4,227 $ 4766 § 474 % (726) $ {93)

(a) Included amounts for Power, Renewable Energy, Aviation and Healthcare, for which our measure of segment profit excludes interest
and other financiaf charges and income taxes.

Property. plant and

Assets equipment additions{a} Depreciation and amortization{b)

At December 31 For the years ended December 31 For the years ended December 31
2020 2019 2018 2020 2019 2018 2020 2018 2018
Power $ 24453 $ 26,731 § 27389 % 245 % 277 § 358 § 749 % 880 § 1,307
Renewable Energy 15,927 15,935 16,400 302 455 303 413 425 474
Aviation 38,634 41,083 37,488 737 1,031 1,070 1,142 1,150 1,042
Healthcare 22,229 30,503 28,037 256 395 378 628 702 832
Capital(c) 113,526 117,546 119,329 1,765 3,830 4,568 2,590 2,083 2,163

Corporate items

and eliminations(d) 35,151 29,269 18,043 (51) (175) (46) 494 355 763
Total continuing $249920 $261068 $246686 $ 3252 § 5813 %3 6632 § 6018 3 5595 § 6,582

(a) Additions to property, plant and equipment include amounts relating to principal businesses purchased.

(b) Included amortization expense related to intangible assets.
(c) Included Capital deferred income taxes that are presented as assets for purposes of our balance sheet presentation.

(d) Included GE Indystrial deferred income taxes that are presented as assets for purposes of our balance sheet presentation.

We classify certain assets that cannot meaningfully be associated with specific geographic areas as “Other Global” for this purpose.

December 31 2020 2019
u.s. $ 148,963 $ 143,534
Non-U.S.
Europe 58,301 70,565
Asia 20,630 22,085
Americas 10,795 13,435
Other Global 11,230 11,445
Total Non-U.S. $ 100956 $ 117,534

Total assets (Continuing Operations) $ 249920 $ 261,068

The decrease in continuing assets in 2020 was primarily driven by lower volume and the impact of COVID-19, higher net repayment of
borrowings, and funding of the GE Pension Plan. The sale of our BioPharma business caused a decrease in assets in different regions,
but was more than affset by the proceeds from the sale in the U.S.

Property, plant and equipment — net associated with operations based in the United States were $13,010 million and $13,447 million at
December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Property, plant and equipment — net associated with operations based outside the United
States were $31.651 million and $32.,432 millicn at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.



NOTE 26. BAKER HUGHES SUMMARIZED FINANCIAL INFORMATION. We account for our remaining interest in Baker
Hughes (comprising 349.4 million shares with 33.8% ownership and a promissory note receivable as of December 31, 2020) at fair
value. The fair value of our interest in Baker Hughes at December 31, 2020 and 2019, was $7,319 million and $9,888 million,
respectively. We recognized a realized and unrealized pre-tax loss of $2,037 million (81,562 million after-tax) based on a share price of
$20.85 and a pre-tax unrealized gain of $793 million ($626 million after-tax) based on a share price of $25.63 for the years ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The 2020 loss included a $54 million pre-tax derivative loss associated with the forward
sale of Baker Hughes shares pursuant to our previously announced program to monetize our Baker Hughes position. In October 2020,
we completed a forward sale of 28 million shares and received proceeds of $417 million. In January 2021, we completed a forward sale
of 38 millien shares and received proceeds of $735 million. See Notes 2 and 3 for further information.

Summarized financial information of Baker Hughes is as follows.

For the years endad Dacember 31 2020 2019{a)
Revenues $ 20705 % 7,751
Gross Profit 3,199 1,558
Net income {loss) (15,761) 120
Net income (foss) attributable to the entity (9,940} 60

(a) Financial information is from September 16, 2019 (date of deconsolidation) to December 31, 2019.

As of December 31 2020 2019
Current $ 16,455 § 15,222
Noncurrent 21,5582 38,147
Total assets $ 38,007 % 53,369
Current 3 10,227 $ 10,014
Noncurrent 9,538 8,857

Total liabilities 19,765 $ 18,871

8|

Noncontrolling interests 5349 $ 12,570

Baker Hughes is a SEC registrant with separate filing requirements, and its financial information can be obtained from www.sec.gov or
www.bakerhughes.com.



DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information about our Executive Officers (As of February 1, 2021)

Date assumed
Executive
Nama Position Age Officer Position
H. Lawrence Culp, Jr. Chairman of the Board & Chief Executive Officer 57  Qctober 2018
Carolina Dybeck Happe Senior Vice President & Chief Financial Officer 48  March 2020
Michael J. Holston Senior Vice President, General Counsel & Secretary 58  April 2018
David L. Joyce Vice Chairman of General Electric Company 64  September 2016
L. Kevin Cox Senior Vice President, Chief Human Resources Officer 57  February 2019
Kieran P. Murphy Senior Vice President of General Electric Company; 57  Seplember 2018
President & CEQ, GE Heaithcare
Jérdme X. Pécresse Senior Vice President of General Electric Company, 53  September 2018
President & CEOQ, GE Renewable Energy
John Slattery Senior Vice President of Generat Electric Company; Y2  September 2020
President & CEQ, GE Aviation
Russell Stokes Senior Vice President of General Electric Company; 49  September 2018
President & CEQ, GE Aviation Services, and Chairman, GE Power Portfolio
Scott L. Strazik Senior Vice President of Generai Electric Company, 42  January 2018
CEQ, GE Gas Power
Thaomas S. Timko Vice President, Controller & Chief Accounting Officer 52  September 2018

All Executive Officers are elected by the Board of Directors for an initial term that continues until the Board meeting immediately
preceding the next annual statutory meeting of shareholders, and thereafter are elected for one-year terms or until their successors
have been elected. All Executive Officers have been executives of General Electric Company for the last five years except for Messrs.
Culp, Cox, Holston, Slattery and Timko, and Ms. Dybeck Happe.

Prior to joining GE in April 2018 as an independent director and being elected fo the position of Chairman and CEO in October 2018,
Mr. Culp served as CEQ at Danaher Corp. {2001-2014); as a senior advisor at Danaher Corp. (2014-2016); as a senior lecturer at
Harvard Business School (2015-2018); and as a senior adviser at Bain Capital Private Equity, LP (2017-2018).

Prior to joining GE in February 2019, Mr. Cox had been Chief Human Resources Officer al American Express since 2005.

Prior to joining GE in March 2020, Ms. Dybeck Happe had been Chief Financiat Officer of A.P. Moller - Maersk A/S since 2019 after
serving as Chief Financial Officer of Assa Abloy AB since 2012 until 2018.

Prior to joining GE in April 2018, Mr. Holston had been general counsel at Merck since 2015, after joining the drugmaker as chief ethics
and compliance officer in 2012.

Prior to Joining GE in July 2020, Mr. Slattery had been President and Chief Executive Officer of Commercial Aviation for Embraer, S.A.
since 2016 after serving as the Chief Commercial Officer for Embraer Commercial Aviation since 2012.

Prior to joining GE in September 2018, Mr. Timko was Vice President, Controller and Chief Accounting Officer at General Motors since
2013

The remaining information called for by this item is incorporated by reference to “Election of Directors,” "Other Governance Policies &

Practices” and “Board Operations” in our definitive proxy statement for our 2021 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held May 4,
2021, which will be filed within 120 days of the end of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2020 (the 2021 Proxy Statement).
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EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

{a)1. Financial Statements
Included in the "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” section of this report:

Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Statement of Earnings (Loss) for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2G18

Statement of Financial Position at December 31, 2020 and 2019

Statement of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 '
Statement of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018

Statement of Changes in Shareholders' Equity for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018

Notes to consolidated financial statements

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Summary of Operating Segments

(a)2. Financial Statement Schedules

The schedules listed in Reg. 210.5-04 have been omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is shown in the
consglidated financial statements or notes thereto.

{a)3. Exhibit Index

Exhibit Description
Number

2(a) Transaction Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of October 30, 2016 among General Electric, Baker Hughes
Incorporated, Bear Mergersub, Inc. and Bear Newco, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to GE’s Current Report
on Form 8-K, dated November 3, 2016 (Commission file number 001-00035)}.

2({b} Amendment to Transaction Agreement and Plan of Merger dated March 27, 2017 between General Electric Company,
Baker Hughes Incorporated, Bear Newco, Inc., Bear MergerSub, Inc., BHI Newco, Inc., and Bear MergerSub 2, Inc.
(Incorporated by reference to Bear Newco, Inc.'s Registration Statement on Form S-4, pages A-li-l through G-16, filed
pursuant to Rule 424(b}{3) on May 30, 2017 (Commission file number 333-216991)).

3(i} The Restated Certificate of Incorporation of General Electric Company (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3(i) to GE's
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013}, as amended by the Certificate of Amendment,
dated December 2, 2015 {Incorporated by reference to £xhibit 3.1 to GE's Cumrent Report on Form 8-K, dated December
3, 2015), as further amended by the Certificate of Amendment, dated January 19, 2016 {Incarperated by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 to GE's Current Report on Form 8-K, dated January 20, 2016}, as further amended by the Certificate of
Change of General Electric Company (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3(1) to GE's Current Report on Form 8-K,
dated September 1, 2018, as further amended by the Certificate of Amendment, dated May 13, 2019 (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 to GE’s Current Report on Form 8-K, dated May 13, 2019), and as further amended by the
Certificate of Change of General Electric Company (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to GE's Current Report on
Form 8-K, dated December 8, 2019) {in each case, under Commission file number 001-00035).

3(ii) The By-Laws of General Electric Company, as amended on May 13, 2019 {Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to
GE's Current Report on Form 8-K dated May 13, 2019) (Commission file number 001-00035)).
4(a) Amended and Restated General Electric Capital Corporation Standard Global Multiple Series Indenture Provisions dated

as of February 27, 1997 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4(a) to General Electric Capital Corporation's Registration
Statement on Form S-3, File No. 333-59707 (Commission file number 001-06461)).

4(b) Third Amended and Restated Indenture dated as of February 27, 1997, between General Electric Capital Corporation and
The Bank of New York Mellon, as successor trustee (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4{c) to General Electric Capital
Corporation’s Registration Statement on Form S-3, File No. 333-59707 (Commission file number 001-06461}).

4{c) First Supplemental Indenture dated as of May 3, 1999, supplemental to Third Amended and Restated Indenture dated as
of February 27, 1997 {Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4(dd) to General Electric Capitalt Corporation’s Post-Effective
Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement on Form S-3, Fite No. 333-76479 (Commission file number 001-0646€1)).

4{d} Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of July 2, 2001, supplemental to Third Amended and Restated Indenture dated
as of February 27, 1997 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4(f) to General Electric Capital Corporation’s Post-Effective
Amendment No.1 to Registration Statement on Form $-3, File No. 333-40880 (Commission file number 001-06461)).

4(e) Third Supplemental Indenture dated as of November 22, 2002, supplemental to Third Amended and Restated Indenture
dated as of February 27, 1997 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4{cc} to General Electric Capital Corporation's Post-
Effective Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-3, File No, 333-100527 {Commission file number
001-06461)).

4(f) Fourth Supplemental Indenture dated as of August 24, 2007, supplemental to Third Amended and Restated Indenture
dated as of February 27, 1997 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4(g) to General Electric Capital Corporation's
Registration Statement on Form S-3, File number 333-156929 (Commission file number 001-06461)).

Hg) Senior Note indenture, dated Qctober 9, 2012, by and between the Company and The Bank of New York Mellon, as
trustee (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of GE's Current Report on Form 8-K dated Qctober 9, 2012 (Commission
file number 001-00035)).

4(h) Indenture dated as of October 26, 2015, among GE Capital International Funding Company, as issuer, General Electric
Company and General Electric Capital Corporation, as guarantors and The Bank of New York Melion, as trustee
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99 to General Electric’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 26, 2015
{Commission file number 001-00035)).




A1)

44)

k)

4{1)
(10)

Global Supplemental Indenture dated as of April 10, 2015, among General Electric Capital Cerporation, General Electric
Company and The Bank of New York Mellon, as trustee. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4(i} to GE's Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015 (Commission file number 001-00035)).

Second Global Supplemental Indenture dated as of December 2, 2015, among General Electric Capital Corporation,
General Electric Company and The Bank of New York Mellon, as successor trustee {Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
4.2 to General Electric’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 3, 2015 (Commission file number 001-00035)).

Agreement 1o furnish to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon reguest a copy of instruments defining the rights
of holders of certain long-term debt of the registrant and consclidated subsidiaries.*

Description of the Registrant's Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.*
Except for 10(gg) and {hh) below, all of the following exhibits consist of Executive Compensation Plans or Arrangements:

(a)

H
(9)
()

0]

(k)

b

(n}
(0}

(@

)
(s)
(t)
(u)

(v)

{x}

General Electric Incentive Compensation Plan, as amended effective July 1, 1991 (Incarporated by reference to
Exhibit 10(a} to GE's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1991 (Commission file
number 001-00035)).

General Electric Financial Planning Program, as amended through September 1993 (Incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10(h) to GE's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1993 {Commission
file number 001-00035)).

General Electric Executive Life Insurance Plan, as amended and restated January 1, 2020.*

General Electric Directors’ Charitable Gift Plan, as amended through December 2002 (Incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10{) to GE’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002 {Commission
file number 001-00035)).

General Electric Leadership Life Insurance Program, effective January 1, 1994 (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10(r) to GE's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1993 (Commission file
number 001-00035)).

General Electric Supplementary Pension Plan, as amended effective January 1, 2020.*

General Electric Restoration Plan, effective January 1, 2021.*

General Electric 2003 Non-Employee Director Compensation Plan, Amended and Restated as of December 7,
2018 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(g) to GE's Annual Report on Ferm 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2018{Commission file number 001-G0035)).

Form of Director Indemnification Agreement {Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(cc) to GE's Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018 (Commission file number 001-00035)).
Amendment to Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plans, dated as of December 14, 2004 (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10{w) to the GE's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004
{Commission file number 001-00035)).

GE Retirement for the Good of the Company Program, as amended effective January 1, 2018.*

GE US Executive Severance Plan, effective January 1, 2021.7

GE Excess Benefits Plan, effective January 1, 2009 {Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1¢(k) to GE's Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008 (Commission file number 001-00035)}.

Amendment to GE Excess Benefits Plan, effective December 31, 2020.*

General Electric 2006 Executive Deferred Salary Plan, as amended January 1, 2009 (Incerporated by reference
to Exhibit 10(1) to GE’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008 (Commission
file number 001-00035)).

GE 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan as amended and restated April 26, 2017, and as further amended and
restated February 15, 2019 {Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(]) to GE's Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018 {Commission file number 001-00035)).

Amendment, dated August 18, 2020, to the GE 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan (as amended and restated April
26, 2017, and as further amended and restated February 15, 2019) {Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(c) to
GE’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2020 (Commission file number
001-00035)).

Form of Agreement for Stock Option Grants to Executive Officers under the General Electric Company 2007
Long-Term Incentive Plan, as of March 2020.”

Form of Agreement for Restricted Stock Unit Grants to Executive Officers under the General Electric Company
2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan, as of March 2020.*

Form of Agreement for Leadership Restricted Stock Unit Grants to Executive Officers under the General Electric
Company 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan, as of September 2020.*

Form of Agreement for Performance Stock Unit Grants to Executive Officers in 2019 under the General Electric
Company 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan {Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(r) to GE’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 (Commission file number 001-00035)).

Form of Agreement for Performance Stock Unit Grants to Executive Officers in 2020 under the General Electric
Company 2007 Long-Term Incentive Flan.*

General Electric International Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended and restated on April 25, 2018
{Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to GE’s Registration Statement on Form S-8, dated May 1, 2018, File
No. 333-224587 (Commission file number 001-00035})).

General Electric Company Annual Executive Incentive Plan, effective January 1, 2020 (Incorporated by reference
te Exhibit 10(a} to GE's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2020 (Commissicn file
number 001-00035)).



(1m
(21
(22)
{23)
{24)
31(a)
31(h)
(32)
99(a)

99(b)

99(c)
(101)

(104)

"

{y} Employment Agreement between H. Lawrence Culp, Jr. and General Electric Company, effective October 1, 2018
{Incarporated by reference to Exhibit 10(z) to GE's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2018 {Commission file number 001-00035)).

{z) Amendment No.1, effective August 18, 2020, to the Employment Agreement between H. Lawrence Culp, Jr. and
General Electric Company, effective October 1, 2018 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to General
Electric Company's Current Report on Farm 8-K, dated August 20, 2020 (Commission file number 001-00035)).

{aa) Performance Share Grant Agreement for H. Lawrence Culp, Jr., dated August 18, 2020 {Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to General Electric Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, dated August 20, 2020
{Commission file number 001-00035)).

(bb) Employment Agreement between Carolina Dybeck Happe and General Electric Company, effective November
24,2019 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(z) to GE's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2019 (Commissicn file number 001-00035)).

{cc) Memorandum of Understanding between General Electric Company and Carolina Dybeck Happe, effective
March 1, 2020 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(c) to GE’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended March 31, 2020 (Commission file number 001-00035)}.

{dd} Amendment No. 1, effective September 2, 2020, to the Employment Agreement between Carclina Dybeck Happe
and General Electric Company, effective November 24, 2018 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(d) to GE's
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2020 (Commission file number
001-00035)).

(ee) Performance Stock Unit Grant Agreement for Carolina Dybeck Happe, dated September 3, 2020 (Incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10{e} to GE’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2020
(Commission file number 001-00035)).

(ff) Separation Agreement & Release between General Electric Company and Jamie Miller, dated February 17, 2020
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.01 to GE's Current Report on Form 8-K, dated February 20, 2020
(Commission file number 001-00035)).

{9g) Amended and Restated Agreement, dated Aprit 10, 2015, between General Electric Company and Generat
Electric Capital Corporation (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 to GE's Current Report on Form 8-K, dated
April 10, 2015 (Commission file number 001-00035)).

(hh} Three-Year Credit Agreement, dated as of April 17, 2020, among General Electric Company, as the Borrower,
JPMorgan Chase, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and the lenders party thereto (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to GE's Current Report on Form 8-K, dated April 20, 2020 (Commission file number 001-00035)}.

Statement re Computation of Per Share Earnings.**

Subsidiaries of Registrant.”

List of Subsidiary Guarantors and Issuers of Guaranteed Securities.”

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.*

Power of Attorney.*

Certification Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a} or 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.”
Certification Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) or 15d-14{a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.”
Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350."

Undertaking for inclusion in Registration Statements on Form S-8 of General Electric Company (Incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 99(b) to General Electric Annuat Report on Form 10-K (Commission file number 001-00035} for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 1992).

Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 12(a) to GE Capital's Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014 {Commission file number 001-06461)).

Supplement to Present Required Information in Searchable Format.*

The following materials from General Electric Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2020, formatted as Inline XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language); (i) Statement of Earnings {Loss) for the years
ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, {ii) Statement of Financial Position at December 31, 2020 and 2019, iii)
Statement of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, (iv) Statement of Comprehensive
Income (Loss) for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, (v) Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2018 and 2018, and {vi) the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.”

Cover Page interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).
Filed electronically herewith.

Information required to be presented in Exhibit 11 is provided in Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements in this
Form 10-K Report in accordance with the provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards
Codification 260, Earnings Per Share.




FORM 10-K CROSS REFERENCE INDEX

Item Number Page(s)
Part |
Iltem 1. Business 4, 10-18, 103-104
ltem 1A, Risk Factors 44-51
ltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments Not applicable
Item 2. Properties 4
Item 3. Legal Proceedings 98-101
ltem 4. Mine Safety Disclosures Not applicable
Part Il
Market for Registrant’'s Common Equity, Related Stockhoider Matters and Issuer Purchases
ltem 5. of Equity Securities 44
ltem 6. Selected Financial Data Not applicable
ltem 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 543
Item 7A. Quanititative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 27, 94-97
ltem 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data 56-106
ltem 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Finangial Disclosure Not applicable
Iltem 9A. Controls and Procedures 52
ltem 9B. Other information Not applicable
Part 1l
item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance 107
ftem 11. Executive Compensatian (a)
Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockhotder
Iltermn 12. Matters (b}, 92
Iterm 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence (¢}
Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services (d)
Part IV
ltem 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules 108-110
ltem 16. Form 10-K Summary Not applicable
Signatures 12

{a) Incorporated by reference to “Compensation” in the 2021 Proxy Statement.
(b) Incorporated by reference to "Stock Ownership Information” in the 2021 Proxy Statement.
(¢) Incerporated by reference to "Related Person Transactions™ and "How We Assess Director Independence” in the 2021 Proxy

Statement.

(d) Incorporated by reference to “Independent Auditor Information” in the 2021 Proxy Statement.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this annuai
report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020, to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, and in the capacities
indicated, thereunto duly authorized in the City of Boston and Commonwealth of Massachusetts on the 12" day of February 2021.

By

General Electric Company
(Registrant)

/s/f Thomas S. Timko

Thomas S, Timko

Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer and
Controller

(Principal Accounting QOfficer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

By

Signer Title Date

/s/ Carolina Dybeck Happe Principal Financial Officer February 12, 2021

Carolina Dybeck Happe
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

s/ Thomas S. Timko Principal Accounting Officer February 12, 2021

Thomas S. Timko
Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer and
Cantrofler

s/ H. Lawrence Culp, Jr. Principal Executive Officer February 12, 2021

H. Lawrence Culp, Jr.*
Chairman of the Board of Directors

Sébastien M. Bazin* Director
Ashton B. Carter Director
Francisco D'Souza* Director
Edward P. Garden* Director
Thomas W. Horton* Director
Risa l.avizzo-Mourey” Director
Catherine A. Lesjak” Director
Paula Rosput Reynolds*® Director
Leslie F. Seidman* Director
James S. Tisch* Director

A majority of the Board of Directors

/s/ Christoph A_ Pereira

Christoph A_ Pereira
Attorney-in-fact

February 12, 2021
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Exhibit 31(a)

Certification Pursuant to
Rules 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Amended

I, H. Lawrence Culp, Jr., certify that:

1.

2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of General Electric Company;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made,
not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in
all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particulary during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

b} Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting
to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report
our conclusions aboul the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control
aver financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

aj} All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely Lo adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role
in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 12, 2021

/s/ H. Lawrence Cuip, Jr.

H. Lawrence Culp, Jr.
Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31(b)
Certification Pursuant to
Rules 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Amended

{, Carolina Dybeck Happe, certify that:

1.

2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Farm 10-K of General Electric Company;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made,
not misleading with respect to the pericd covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in
all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)} and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal contral over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting
to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal guarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal guarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors {or persons
performing the equivalent functions}):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role
in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 12, 2021

/s/ Carolina Dybeck Happe

Carolina Dybeck Happe
Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 32

Certification Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350

In connection with the Annual Report of General Electric Company (the “"registrant”) on Form 10-K for the period ended
Becember 31, 2020, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “report”), we, H. Lawrence
Culp, Jr. and Carolina Dybeck Happe, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, respectively, of the registrant, certify,
pursuant to 18 U.5.C, § 1350, that to our knowledge:

(1} The report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securilies Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended; and

(2} The information contained in the report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial conditien and results of
operations of the registrant.

February 12, 2021

fs/ H. Lawrence Culp, Jr.
H., Lawrence Culp, Jr.
Chief Executive Officer

/s/ Carolina Dybeck Happe
Carolina Dybeck Happe
Chief Financial Officer




